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ROYAL WARRANT 
RATIFYING AND CONFIRMING THE TERMS OF THE COMMISSION 

ISSUED IN THE REIGN OF HIS LATE MAJESTY. 

GEORGE, R. 1. 

GEORGE THE FIFTH, by the Grace of God, of the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Ireland and of the British Dominions beyond 
the Seas King, Defender of the Faith, to all to whom these 
Presents shall come,-Greeting! 

Whereas it pleased His late Majesty from time to time to issue 
Royal Commissions for various purposes therein specified: 

And whereas, in the case of .... the Ancient Monuments 
(Scotland) Commission, .. . . the Commissioners appointed by His 
late Majesty, or such of them as were then acting as Commissioners, 
were at the late Demise of the Crown still engaged upon the 
business entrusted to them: 

And whereas We deem it expedient that the said Commissioners 
should continue their labours notwithstanding the late Demise of the 
Crown: 

Now know ye that We, reposing great trust and confidence in the 
zeal, discretion and ability of the present members of each of the 
said Commissions, do by these Presents authorise them to continue 
their labours, and do hereby in every essential particular ratify and 
confirm the terms of the said several Commissions. 

And We do further ordain that the said Commissioners do report 
to Us under their hands and seals, or under the hands and seals of 
such of their number as may be specified in the said Commissions 
respectively, their opinion upon the matters presented for their 
consideration; and that any proceedings which they or any of them 
may have taken under and in pursuance of the said Commissions 
since the late Demise of the Crown and before the issue of these 
Presents shall be deemed and adjudged to have been taken under and 
in virtue of this Our Commission. 

Given at Our Court at Marlborough House, the second day of 
June, one thousand nine hundred and ten, in the 
first year of Our Reign. 

By His Majesty's Command. 

PENTLAND. 

Wt. 32869/1025.-500.-1/11. - N. & Co., Ltd.-Gp. H. Sch. B. 



SEOOND REPORT 

OF THE 

ROYAL COMMISSION ON THE ANCIENT AND 
HISTORICAL MONUMENTS OF SCOTLAND, 

To THE KING'S MOST EXCELLENT MAJESTY. 

MAY IT PLEASE YOUR MAJESTY,-
We, your Majesty's Commissioners, appointed to make an 

Inventory of the Ancient and Historical Monuments and Construc­
tions connected with or illustrative of the contemporary culture, 
civilisation, and conditions of life of the people in Scotland from the 
earliest times to the year 1707, and to specify those which seem most 
worthy of preservation, humbly present to your Majesty this our 
second Report. 

During the summer and autumn of 1909, Mr A. O. Curle, 
Secretary to the Commission, undertook a survey and examination of 
the monuments and constructions in the county of Sutherland, and 
has compiled an Inventory thereof, showing the situation and 
characteristics of each, along with a bibliography, a reference to the 
Ordnance Survey sheet (6-inch scale) on which it is noted, and the 
date on which it was visited. Photographs and ground-plans have 
been appended where these have been considered necessary to explain 
the text. In order to render the Inventory more serviceable, maps 
have been annexed, on which the positions of the various monuments 
and constructions, or groups thereof, are indicated by numbers refer­
able to the Inventory. Annexed as an appendix to this Report is R 

list of those monuments and constructions which, in the opinion of 
your Commissioners, seem most worthy of preservation. These, as 
formerly, have been divided into two classes, viz.: (a) those which 
appear to be specially in need of protection, and (b) those worthy of 
preservation but not in imminent risk of demolition or decay. A 
detailed and illustrated account of all the monuments, etc., will be 
found in the Inventory which has been issued as a Stationery 
Office publication. 

The monuments and constructions of Sutherland were found 
greatly to exceed in number and importance those previously known 
to exist, and they mainly belong to prehistoric times. Not only 
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have many examples of well-known types been noted for the first 
time, but a large number of constructions, representing types of early 
habitations, which have not hitherto been made the subject of special 
observation on the mainland of Scotland, have been examined and 
planned. There have been enumerated in the Inventory groups of 
objects as well as single objects, so that the actual numbers do not 
indicate the fulness of the record. Very few of the objects noted 
have hitherto been described. Owing to the great extent of the 
county and the sparseness of its population, trustworthy information 
regarding its ancient monuments was difficult to obtain, and we 
believe that there still exist a certain number of objects which have 
not come under our observation. We trust, however, that the 
publication of the Inventory will attract attention to such monu­
ments, and that intimation of their existence may be ultimately 
made to us. 

Full facilities have been granted by proprietors and tenants 
to inspect the mOlluments on their ground, and general interest 
has been shown in the work of your Majesty's Commission. 
To the Ministers of the Gospel as well as the Parish School­
masters, and to others throughout the county occupying no 
official position, your Commissioners have been indebted for much 
assistance. 

We view with much regret the destruction which has overtaken 
so many remarkable prehistoric monuments and constructions 
throughout the county owing to the facilit·ies they have afforded 
for a supply of stones for road-metal and building purposes, 
but we have pleasure in bringing to ' your Majesty's notice the 
efforts of the County Council, which for the present have been 
successful in checking further mischief. Vigilance, however, 
will be required to prevent a repetition of these objectionable 
practices. 

The attention of proprietors may be drawn to the damage 
frequently done to anciept constructions through the practice of 
planting trees upon or immediately adjacent to them. 

The attention of your Commissioners has been directed to frequent 
instances throughout the county of the excavation of monuments 
without any record having been kept of the results, or plans made 
of the structures. This is much to be regretted, as it involves the 
loss of valuable evidence regarding the racial characteristics and 
culture of the prehistoric inhabitants. 

In further execution of your Majesty's Commission we have 
requested the co-operation of the Towu Councils of the Royal Burghs 
throughout Scotlalld, and have asked them to assist by preparing lists 
of ancient buildings and other objects existing within their bounds. 
The response to this request has been most gratifying, and we have 
much pleasure in hringing to your Majesty's notice the great trouble 
which in many instances has been taken to further the objects of the 
Commission. 

During the year a number of intimations have reached us of the 
threatened destruction of ancient monuments in various parts of 
Scotland, and we have been able by representations to assist towards 
their preservation. 

A survey of the monuments and constructions in the county of 
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Caithness has been completed during the past summer, and the 
Inventory thereof is in preparation. 

We cannot conclude this Report without expressing recognition 
of the continued good service rendered to us by the Secretary 
of the Commission, who has grudged no time and spared no 
personal exertion in the work of inspecting and catalogui.ng the 
monuments scattered over a very wide and sparsely populated 
district. 

HERBERT MAXWELL, ClLainnan. 
CHARLES J. GUTHRIE. 
G. BALD WIN BROWN. 
THOMAS H. BRYCE. 

EDINBURGH, Nuvembe1' 1910. 

FRANCIS C. BUCHANAN. 
W. T. OLDRIEVE. 
THOMAS ROSS. 
ALEXR. O. CURLE, Secreta1·Y. 



LIST OF ANCIENT AND HISTOR.ICAL MONUMENTS 
AND CONSTRUCTIONS 

IN THE 

COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND 

WHICH THE COMMISSIONERS DEEM MOST WORTHY 

OF PRESERVATION. 

I.-MONUMENTS AND CONSTRUCTIONS SPECIALLY. IN 
NEED OF PROTEOTION. 

DEFENSiVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

Brochs-
An Dun, Loch Ardbhair (No. 4*) 

Do. Loch a' Chairu Bhain (No. 168) 
Backies (No. 272) 
"Carn Liatb," Uppat (No. 270) 
Canol, Loch Brora (No. 27) . 
Castle Cole, or Caisteal na Coilie, Black "Water 

(No. 25). . 
Clachtoll (No. 7) . 
Dail Langwell (No. 49) . 
Dun Creagach, Loch Newel' (No. 175) 
Dun DOl'llaigil or Dornadilla, Stl'athmore 

(No. 155) . 
Dun na Maigh, Kyle of Tongue (No. 527) 
Dunrobin Wood (No. 271) 
East Kinnauld, Strath Fleet (No. 477) . 
Feranach, Stl'ath na Frithe (No. 314) 
Grum-more, Loch Navel' (No. 174) 
Kilphedir, Stl'ath of Kildonan (No. 307) 
Kintradwell or Cinn Trolla, Kintrarlwell 

(No. 467) . 
Langdale Burn, Syre, ~tl'athnaver (No. 177) 
Salachadh, Loch Shin (No. 392) 
Skelpick, Stratlmaver (No. 182) 

SEPU LCHRAL CONS'l'RUCTIONS. 

Uharnbe1'ed Oaims­
Achaidh (No. 82) . 
Coillellaborgie, Strathna vel' (horned long 

cairn) (No. 243) . . 
Kinln'ace Burn, Strath of Kildollan (No. 37~). 
Loch Borrolan (No. 14) . . 
Skelpir.k, Strathnavel' (horned long cairn) 

(No. 241) . 

PARISH. 

Assynt. 
Eddrachillis. 
Golspie. 

Do. 
Clyne. 

Do. 
Assynt. 
Creich . 
Fan. 

DUl'lless. 
Tongue. 
Golspie. 
Rogart. 
Kildonan. 
Fan. 
Kildonan. 

Loth. 
Farr. 
Lail'g 
Farr. 

Creich. 

Fan. 
Kildonan. 
Assynt. 

Farr. 
* The num bel's throughout the list refer to the In ventol'Y. 
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SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUC'l'IONS (continued). 
Stone Oi'rcles-

A berscross (No. 291) 
Auchindu,ich (No. 91) 
"Clach an Righ," Dailbarraild, Strathnaver 

(No. 247) . 
Cnoc an Liath-bhaid, Strath Brorit (No. 51S) . 
Druim Ba~le fiur, Achany (No. 461) 
Learable, Strath of Kildonan (No. 374) . 
River Shin (No. 462) 

MISCELLANEOUS OBJECTS. 

Sculptured Cross, Strathy (No. 260) 
Standing Stones-

AUt Breac, Strath of Kildonan (No. 379) 
Learable Hill, do. (No. 381) 
Torrish Burn, do. (No. 378) 

PARISH. 

Golspie. 
Creich. 

Farr. 
Rogart. 
Lairg. 
Kildonan. 
Lairg. 

Farr. 

Kildollan. 
Do. 
Do. 

n.-MONUMENTS AND CONSTRUCTIONS DESERVING PROTEC­
TION BUT NOT IN IMMINENT RISK OF DEMOLITION 
OR DECAY. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTURES. PARISH. 

Belfry tower, Clynekirkton (No. 22) Clyne. 
Sepulchral monument in Durness Church 

(No. 154) . Durness. 

CASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

Ard vreck Castle (No. 2) 
Dunrobin Castle, Golspie (No. 269) 
Castle Varrich or Bhurraich (N o. 526) 
Helmsdale Castle (No. 306) 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

Brochs-
Ach an Duin (No. 156). 
Achcoilleuaborgie, Strathnaver (No. lS3) 
AUt a' Choire Mboir, Strath of Kildonan 

(No. 312) . . 
AUt Breac (No. 395) 
Brae (No. 107) 
"Carn Bran," Glen Loth (No. 46S) 
Camus an Duin (No. 157) . 
Coill'Ach a' Chuil, Loch Navel' (No. 176) 
Dun Carnachaidh, Stratbnaver (No. 180) 
Dun Chealamy, do. (No. 179) 
Dun Viden, do. (No. IS1) 
Eldrable, Strath of Kildonan (No. 309) . 
Inshlampie, Skail, Stratllnaver (No. 178) 
Skelbo Wood (No. 106) 
Suisgill, Strath of Kildonan (No. 30S) 
"The Borg," Forsinain, Strath Halladale 

(No. IS6) . 
"The Sandy Dun," Baile Mhargait, Strathnaver 

(No. lS4) . 

Assynt. 
Golspie. 
Tongue. 
Kildonan. 

Durness. 
Farr. 

Kildonall. 
Lairg. 
Dornoch. 
Loth. 
Durness. 
Farr. 
Do. 
Do. 
Do. 

Kildonan. 
Farr. 
Dornoch. 
Kildonan. 

Farr. 

Do. 
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FORTS AND FORTIFIED ENCLOSURES, &C. 

FOl'ts-
Ben Griam Beg, Strath of Kildonan (hill 

fort) (No. 316) . 
Duchary Rock (No. 29) . 
Dun Creich (vitrified fort), DOrIloch Firth 

(No. 54) . 
East Kinnauld, Strath Fleet (No. 479) 

F01·tifted Enclosures­
Auchinduich (No. 55) . 
Dalnamain (No. 118) 
Circular enclosure, The Ord (No. 3\:16) 
Rectangular construction, "Grianan," on islet 

in Lochan Hacoin (No. 531) 
Earth-houses-

Achinnearin, SuisgiU, Strath of Kildonan 
(No. 343) . 

Kirkton (No. 274) 
Salscraggie, Strath of Kildonan (No. 324) 

Hut Circles, g-c.-
Aberscross Hill, Strath Fleet (No. 279) . 
Achltagarron (No. 487) . 
AUt Cille Pheadair, Strath of Kildonan (Nos. 

327 and 328) 
Between Dailharraild and 8yre, Strathnaver 

(No. 207) . . 
Bighouse, Strath Halladale (No. 226) 
Brae, Strath Carnaig (No. 129) 
Caen Burn, Strath of Kildonan (No. 318) 
Carnachaidh, Stratlmaver (No. 211) 
Cnoc an Liath-bhaid (No. 506) 
Coich Burn, Sciberscross, Strath Brora (N o. 36) 
Creag an Amalaidh, Loch Fleet (Nos. 111-113) 
Creag Ruidh nan Caorach, Strath of Kildonan 

(No. 351) . 
Dail a' Bhaite, Strathy Water (No. 230) 
Dalhalvaig, Strath Halladale (No. 2:24) 
Dremergid (No. 503) 
Dulaich (No. 417) 
Feith Osdail (No. 434) . 
Forsinard, Strath Halladale (No. 223) 
Kildonan, Strath of Kildonan (Nos. 344 and 

345) . 
Kinbrace Hill, do. (No. 352) . 
Knockarthur (Nos. 498- 500) 
Sciberscross, Strath Brora (Nos. 32 and 33) 

Do. do. (No. 511) 
Scottarie Burn, do. (No. 37) 
Skaig (No. 490). . . . . 
S. of Lairg Station, Strath Shin (No. 56) 
Strath Fleet (No. 414). ' . ' 
Swordale, Kyle of Sutherland (No. 63) 
Tannachy (No. 512) 
Torboll, Strath Carnaig (No. 126) 
Tulloch, Kyle of Sutherland (No. 69) 
Uppat Wood (No. 281) 

PARISH. 

Kildonan. 
Clyne. 

Creich. 
Rogart. 

Creich. 
Dornoch. 
Lairg. 

Tongue. 

Kildonan. 
Golspie. 
Kildonan. 

Golspie. 
Rogart. 

Kildonan. 

Farr. 
Do. 

Dornoch. 
Kildonan. 
Farr. 
Rogart. 
Clyne. 
Dornoch. 

Kildonan. 
Farr. 
Do. 

Rogart. 
Lairg. 

Do. 
Farr. 

Kildonan. 
Do. 

Rogart. 
Clyne. 
Rogart. 
Clyne. 
Rogart. 
Creich. 
Lairg. 
Creich. 
Rogart. 
Dornoch. 
Creich. 
Golspie. 
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CAIRNS. 

Chambered-
Achany (No 447) . 
Achcheargary, Strathnaver (No. 244) 
AIlt nam Ban (No. 44) . . 
Badnabay (remains) (No. 172) 
Balcharn (No. 457) . . 
Benbhraggie Wood (remains) (No. 289) . 
Caen, Strath of Kildonan (long cairn) (No. 

359) . . . . . . . . 
Caen Burn, Strath of Kildonan (long cairns) 

(N os. 356 and 358) . 
"Carn Tigh nan Coileach" (long cairn), Allt 

ach na h-Uaigh (No. 373) . 
Cnoc an D~imh (No. 169) 
Evelix (No. 143) . 
Illvershin (remains) (No. 90) . 
Kilournan, Strath of Kildonan (long cail'll) 

(No. 361) . . 
Kyleoag (No. 83) . . 
Lairg Moor (Nos. 453 and 454) 
Ledmore W ood (No. 84) 
Lothbeg (long cairn) (No. 472) 
Skail, Strathnaver (remaills) (No. 233) 
Skelpick, do. (horned cairn ) (No. 238) 
The Ord (remaills) (No. 444) 
Torboll (No. 134) . 

With Oists and of unascertained chamdej'-

PARISH. 

Lairg. 
Farr. 
Clyne. 
Eddrachillis. 
Lab·g. 
Golspie. 

Kildonall. 

Do. 

Do. 
Eddrachillis. 
Dornoch. 
Creich. 

Kildonan. 
Creich. 
Lairg. 
Creich. 
Loth. 
Farr 
Do. 

Lairg. 
Doruoch. 

Aherscross (No. 288) Golspie. 
Achany (Nos. 448-451) Lairg. 
AUt a' Chaoruinu (No. 163) Durness. 
AUt nllll Eult (No. 79) . Creich. 
Balnacoil (No. 42) Clyne. 
Cam Loch (No. 12) Assynt. 
Camore Wood (No. 141) . Dornoch. 
"Cam an Fheidh," Harriet Plantation (No. 138) Do. 
Clash more (No. 144) Do. 
Creag an Amalaidh (No. 133) . . . Do. 
Crcag Ruidh nan Caorach, Strath Beag (N o. 367) Kildonan. 
Dalcharn, Strath na Frithe (No. 366) Do. 
Dornoch (No. 137) . ., DOflloch. 
Ferallach, Strath na Frithe (No. 365) Kildonan. 
Fiscary (Nos. 234-237) . . Farr. 
Harriet Plantation (No. 139) . . Dornoch. 
Kinbrace Hill, Slrath of Kildonan (No. 368) Kildonan. 
Kinloch (No. 539) Tongue. 
Loch a' Chairn Bhain (No. 170) Eddrachillis. 
Loch Awe (No. 10) Assynt. 
Loch Loyal (No. 538) . 'l'onglle. 
lYIaikle (No. 89). . . Creich. 
Skelpick, Strathnaver (No. 242) Farr. 
The Ord (Nos. 443 and 445) " Lairg. 
Torrish Burn, Strath of Kildonan (No. 362) Kildonau. 
Traligill Burn, Inchnadamph (No. 9) Assynt. 

Stone Oi1·cle-
Learable, Strath of Kildonan (No. 374) Kildonan. 
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MISCELLANEOUS OBJECTS. 

Oup-mal'ked Stones­
Dornoch (No. 137) 
Grum-beg, Loch Naver (No. 252) 
Rillloch (No. 542) 
Learable, Strath of Rildonan (No. 383) 
Lochan Hacoin (No. 541) 
Torrisdail (No. 540) 

Rectangular Const?'uction-
"Lettie's Grave," Blarich (No. 520) 

SculptU?'ed C"osses­
Creich (No. 95) 
Farr (No. 258) 
Grum-bllg, Loch Naver (No. 250) 
Kildonan, Strath of RildoIlan (No. 377) . 
Klibreck, Loch Naver (No. 248) 
Learable Hill , Strath of Kildonan (No. 380) 
Skail, Strathnaver (No. 256) . . . 

Standing Stones­
Achnagarron (No. 519) . 
Camora Wood (No. 148) 
"Carradh naIl O1ach," Glen Loth (No. 473) 
"Clach Mhic Mhios," do. (No. 474) 
"Clach a' Chana," Ospisdale (No. 97) 
Invershin Mains (No. 96) 

rARISH. 

Dornoch. 
Farr. 
Tongue. 
Kildonan. 
Tongue. 

Do. 

Rogart. 

Creich. 
Farr. 
Do. 

Rildonall. 
Farr. 
Kildonan. 
Do. 

Rogart. 
Dornoch. 
Loth. 

Do. 
Creich. 

Do. 



INTRODUOTION 
TO 

INVENTORY OF ANCIENT AND HISTORICAL 
MONUMENTS AND CONSTRUCTIONS 

IN THE COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 

SUTHERLAND is a large county containing an area of upwards of 
1880 square miles. As a field for archreological research, it presents 
many attractions; for not only do prehistoric remains exist in great 
numbers, but the sparseness of the population and the relatively small 
area of ground broken up by agriculture have left many of these in 
a better state of preservation than elsewhere. These remains, how­
ever, are by no means equally distributed over the whole area of the 
county. Its western half, from its mountainous and barren character, 
is extremely unfavourable to the support of human life, and it need 
occasion no surprise that comparatively few traces of the occupation 
of the prehistoric people are to be found in these infertile districts. 
Where man exists to-day man existed in former ages, and the majority 
of the objects of antiquity must be sought in the eastern half of the 
county, along the seashore, or by the margin of some productive loch 
or kyle, on the sides of the principal straths, and by the main 
arteries of communication. Occasionally in the heart of a deer 
fo rest the site of some ancient settlement may be discovered, but this 
is an exception which only gives prominellce to the rule. 

On the mallY problems as to the origin and affinities of the 
Celtic races the ancient monuments of Sutherland throw little light. 
Something, however, we learn of the earliest inhabitants of the 
county from such memorials. The men who first penetrated into 
this northern land through the pille forests whereof the blackened 
stumps stand so thick in the peat cuttings, have left evidence 
in their chambered cairns, their polished stone tools or weapons, 
and pottery, that they belonged to a race that hailed from the 
Mediterranean seaboard, and reached the north probably up the 
western coasts of Britain. The round cairns containing cists, 
the stone circles and rarer stone rows, as well as the cinerary vessels 
from cisted interments, enable us to recognise their Bronze Age 
successors. W hen, however, bronze for tools and weapons had given 
place. to ~'on, sepulchral customs are no longer an aid to racial 
IdentIficatlOn, and the eLhnologist must turn to evidence derived 
from ornament and habitable structures. The broch, the most 
cha.racteristic structure of the Iron Age, reveals a Celtic influence, 
whIle numerous ornamented objects of this period found in the 
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county bear the impress of the prevailing Late Oeltic art. The 
faint glimmer of light preceding the dawn of history, at a time 
when the brochs were certainly in occupation, shows the country 
under the rule of the Picts. With the northward expansion of the 
Scottish kingdom of Dalriada in the west may be connected the 
spread of Ohristianity into Sutherland and the gradual extension 
of the influence of the Scots which, culminated in the union of the 
Scottish and Pictish crowns in the middle of the 9th century and 
extinction by absorption of the Pictish race as a distinct nationality. 
Whether any class of construction noted in the Inventory belongs to 
this Scoto-Pictish period is unknown. With the commencement of 
history in the 8th or 9th century the Norsemen began their plunder­
ing expeditions on the coasts of Scotland, and abundant traces of their 
influence may be recognised in the place-names of this county. 
Though this etymological influence was extensive and tells of the 
penetration of the Norsemen into many a strath far from the seaboard, 
no single structure or construction has been met with in the county 
whose origin or occupation is assignable to these invaders. Nor are 
personal relics recovered which show that the Oeltic art was in any 
way influenced by that of Scandinavia. . 

It is recorded in the Lllndnamabok that, about the year 874, 
Thorstein the Red, son of Olaf the White, Norse King of Dublin, 
and grandson of the famous Ketill Flatnose, subdued" Katanes and 
Sudrland" (Oaithness and Sutherland). According to the L axdmla 
Saga, the Pictish King Oonstantin acquiesced in this conquest, 
which doubtless he was in no position to dispute. Thorstein's rule 
was brief; the Chronicle of the Picts and Scots allows him only one 
year, and this is corroborated by the Annals of Ulste?', where it is 
stated that he was treacherously slain in 875 by the people of Alba 
(i.e. the Picts or Scots). How beit, a more permanent Norse occupa­
tion began about twelve years later, when Sigurd the Powerful, Jarl 
of Orkney, again conquered Oaithness and Sutherland, establishing 
a dominion over them which lasted until shortly after the 
beginning of the 13th century, when the line of the Norse Earls 
failed. 

After that, the Oeltic element in the population resumed pre­
dominance, though it cannot be doubted that a strong infusion of 
Scandinavian blood remains as the effect of three centuries of 
Norse occupation. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTURES . 

. Few indeed are the objects in the county that fall to be noticed 
under this heading. Place-names such as Kildonan, Kilphedir, 
and Kilournan, the number of early monuments sculptured with 
Oeltic ornaments and symbols (most of which are safely housed in 
the museum at Dunrobin), and the ancient graveyards, all point to 
the existence of numerous cells or churches existing in the past, of 
which at tJlis day not a trace remains. Here and there only, as in 
the graveyard on the island of Handa, or in tha.t near Klibreck on Loch 
Naver, is a foundation traceable below the turf which may be that 
of a religious building. The oldest church of which any remains 
exist is probably the Cathedral at Dornoch (No. 102), first erected 
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by Bishop Gilbert de Moravia in the early half of the 13th century. 
It has suffered at the hands of its friends as well as of its foes, for 
the ruins which the Master of Oaithness and Mackay of Strathnaver 
left smouldering in 1570, and the tempest further wrecked in 1605, 
were swept away for the most part in the well-meaning restoration 
of 1835-37. An illustration in Oordiner's Ruin.s, and the pointed 
arches rising from clustered columns supporting the tower, show it 
to have been a building of the Transitional and First Pointed styles 
of Gothic architecture. The ruined church of Durness (No. 153), 
dating from 1619, presents no structural features of particular 
interest; but the tomb of Donald Makmurchou (No. 154), contained 
in a recess on the left of the doorway, bears a quaint inscription 
dated 1623, worthy of remembrance. In the churchyard is the grave 
of Rob. Donn, a notable Gaelic poet. He is known as the Burns of 
the North, and died in 1777. 

OASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

Few castellated buildings of allY note remain in the county, and 
of these none showing characteristics belonging to an earlier date 
than the 16th century. Of these, Dunrobin Castle (No. 269) is pre­
eminently the most important. Its keep, now entirely enclosed 
within a pile of 17th century and later building, occupies the site, 
and probably incorporates the remains of a much earlier structure. 
The continuous mouldings in place of corbelling beneath the parapet 
and the angle bartisans are features of a late date. Attention may 
be drawn to its fine iron" yett" with a wicket-gate through it, now 
removed from the doorway but preserved against an adjoining wall. 
All that remains of the Bishop's Palace at Dornoch (No. 104) is a 
fragment which, after passing through various vicissitudes, is now in· 
corporated in a dwelling-house. It belongs to the end of the 16th 
century. These are the only two castellated buildings now capable 
of habitation. The ruined Castle of Helmsdale (No. 306), beautifully 
situated above the high bank of the Helmsdale river overlooking the 
toW]), is said to have been reconstructed in 1616 from an older 
edifice. Its chief claim to interest lies, not in its architecture, but in 
the grim tragedy enacted here in 1567, previous to the reconstruction, 
when, at the instigation of the Earl of Oaithness, John, the 11th 
Earl of Sutherland, and his Oountess were poisoned at supper by the 
Earl's aunt, Isobel Sin clair, in order to divert the succession of the 
title to her own son. Her plan, however, miscarried, for while the 
heir to the Sutherland title . escaped, her son accidentally drank of 
the poison and perished along with the Earl and Oountess.* The 
ruins of Skelbo Castle (No. 105) are now unimportant. Inver­
shin or Duffus (No. 100), and Proncy (No. 152), are reduced to 
foundations. The mounds the two latter have occupied, more or less 
artificially constructed, and each protected by an encircling moat, 
suggest an early date for their original erection. Castle Varrich or 
Bhurraich (No. (26), such a conspicuous object at the head of the 
Kyle of Tongue, though it has had attributed to it a great antiquity, 
presents no features suggestive of an earlier date for the existing 
structure than th'e 16th century. Ardvreck Castle (No. 2), a ruin on 

* Gordon's Earldom of Sutherland, p. 146. 
b 
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Loch Assynt, is a picturesque specimen of a late 16th century tower. 
Historically, it is interesting as the place to which the Marquess of 
Montrose was led a prisoner by Macleod of Assynt in 1650. Of 
Borve Castle (No. 264), once a stronghold of the Mackays on the north 
coast, practically nothing remains. Tongue House (No. 525), lying 
among pleasant gardens and woods by the shore of the Kyle of 
Tongue, is the only structure representative of the domestic archi­
tecture of the latter half of the 17th century, but it has been altered 
and added to since its first erection in 1678. Sir Robert Gordon, 
in his Ea1·ldom of Sutherland, states the existence of "castles and 
pyles" at the following places in the first half of the 17th century, 
viz. :-" Skibo (wher ther is a fair orchard, in the which ther be 
excellent cherreis)," "Dulrossie, Golspikirktoun, Torrish (built 
by Sir Alexander Gordon in 1621), Cratok, Cuttle, Clyn, Enbo, 
Durnies, Abirscors, Ospisdale, and Clentredwale." Of these, no trace 
now remains. The existence of various islands in lochs, probably of 
partially artificial character, has been noted in the Inventory. They 
are referred to by Sir Robert Gordon as pleasant habitations in 
summer; and on one of them, viz.-the island in Loch Brora, there 
are still foundations of a building. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

Of the defensive constructions, the brochs, or massive circular dry­
built towers, must take precedence by reason not only of their 
number, which far exceeds that of all other objects of this class, 
but also for the peculiar interest which attaches to these structures. 
From the few better-preserved examples existing in various parts of 
Scotland, as well as from the plans of those which have been excavated, 
a more or less complete knowledge is obtainable of their original form 
and arrangement. In construction they are built of undressed, 
roughly shaped stones, without mortar or cementing material of any 
kind. In plan they are round, almost invariably circular, with a wall 
of from 12' to 18' in thickness at base, with a batter for the first 8' 
or 10' as it mounts upwards, enclosing an interior court open to the 
sky with a diameter of from 28' to 34', any measurement less or 
more being exceptional. The height of the structure is presumed to 
have been from 40' to 60'. An entrance some 3' wide and 4' 6/1 to 5' 
high, roofed with flagstones, leads to the interior through a narrow 
passage, having checks for a door a few feet inward, and a guard­
chamber on the right in the thickness of the wall, with occasionally 
another chamber on the opposite side. Save the entrance, no other 
aperture pierced the wall of the broch from the exterior. From the 
interior court thore opened one or more small chambers in the thick­
ness of the wall, roofed with converging stones, lighted at times by 
an opening above the doorway, carried inward as a shaft along the 
roof of the chamber passage. A staircase within the thickness of 
the wall, approached through an entrance situated on the left of the 
court, wound to the top, giving access to a number o~ floors or 
galleries carried round the tower, the flagged roof of each gallery 
being the floor of that above. From the galleries a series of openings 
on to the courtyard, rising one above the other, served as windows 
and supplied the light. Nowhere out of Scotland is a broch known 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. XIX 

to exist, and within it, while their numbers preponderate in the 
northern counties, their range is from Orkney and Shetland to 
Berwickshire. The relics found in them, as well as a faint analogy, 
from the construction and position of their chambers with other dry­
stone buildings of the Early Iron Age to be found elsewhere in the 
Oeltic area, demonstrate that they belong to that period, while the 
fragments of Samian ware occasionally discovered in them testify 
to their having been in occupation at some time during the period 
of the Roman invasions of Scotland, in the first three centuries of 
the Ohristian era. When they were first erected, or when ~hey 
ceased at length to be occupied, are both alike unknown. The 
only historical references io occupation relate to the broch of Mousa, 
on the small island of that name lying off the E. coast of Shetland, and 
are contained in the Orkneyinga Saga. There it is stated that about 
A.D. 1155 Erlend carried off the widow of Maddad, Earl of Athol, 
and took up his residence in Moseyarborg-the broch of Mousa 
-where he was besieged without avail by her son, Harald, Earl 
of Orkney. The Saga of Egil Skalagrirnson tells also of a temporary 
occupation of the same broch about A.D. 900. * 

In Sutherland the brochs still in existence or of which the sites are 
recognisable, or recorded, number 67. Of these, 48 show measurable 
features, while the remaining 19 have either been entirely demolished 
or are represented by structureless heaps of stones. Two structures 
included with the existing remains are doubtful brochs, viz. that at 
Camus an Duin, Loch Eireboll (No. 157), and the circular construc­
tion near Learable in the Strath of Kildonan (Broch (supposed) 
Learablil, No. 315). In regard to the buildings themselves, no single 
example exists rising higher than the lower part of the first gallery, 
except Dun Dornaigil or Dornadilla, in Strathmore (No. 155); and 
the portion of the walling there, which reaches to a height of 22', is 
merely the outer half of the wall above the entrance, supported by 
a modern buttress built up from the interior. A number of others 
have an elevation of from 8' to 12', notably Carrol (No. 27), Carn 
Liath (No. 270), Backies (No. 272), Sallachadh (No. 392), and 
Kintradwell (No. 467), all of which have been excavated, and 
Clachtoll (No. 7), Castle Cole (No. 25), Dun Dornaigil or Dornadilla, 
Dun Creagach (No. 175), "The Borg," Forsinain (No. 186) and 
Dunna Maigh (No. 527), and those at Dail Langwell (No. 49), 
Grum-more (No. 174), Skelpick (No. 182), Kilphedir (No. 307), and 
Feranaeh (No. 314). Taking the interior diameter as the gauge of 
the size of the structures, it is noticeable that there is a great uniformity 
among them. The greatest number have that factor lying between 
28' and 32', while below that scale there are only 8 or 9 of the 48 
measurable examples, and above it 5 or 6. The smallest broch, and 
also perhaps the most inaccessible, is Castle Cole, on the Black 
Water, with an interior diameter of only 21' ; while the largest in the 
county appears to have been that situated near Achaneas (No. 51), 
on a meadow by the river Oassley, which, though reduced to its 
very foundations and much overgrown with turf, shows an interior 
diameter of 42' with a wa1118' in thickness. The broch at Suisgill 
(No. 308) approac.hes this with 40'; while the next largest is that at 

* The Orkneyinga Saga (Edinburgh, 1873), p. cxi and chap. 92, quoted in 
Anderllon, The l1'on Age. 
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Feranach, with a diameter of 36'. Another broch of very small 
dimensions is that on the Armadale Burn (No. 190), which in its 
isolation as well as its size resembles Castle Cole, standing some six 
miles distant as the crow flies from its nearest neighbour, and 
measuring only 23' across the interior. The thickness of the wall 
of the brochs varies from about 10' 6", as in the broch at Kylesku 
(N o. 168), to 18' 6/1, as measured along the entrance passage of that 
at Dail Langwell. As might be expected, the thickness of the wall 
increases with the diameter of the interior. The wall of Castle Cole 
measures 12' in thickness, while that of the example mentioned at 
Achaneas is 18'. Where so few have been excavated and so many 
are little more than structureless ruins, definite information regard­
ing details of their plan is difficult to procure. Certain features, how­
ever, are remarkable for their cOllstancy. Of the Hi brochs which 
possess guard-chambers or in which these are recognisable, 15 have 
them placed on the right of the passage, while 4 of these, viz. 
Clachtoll, Dail Langwell, SaUachadh, and AUt Breac (No. 395), 
show one situated on the other side as well. Only in the broch on 
the AUt a' Choire Mhoir (No. 312) are there indications of a gnard­
chamber on the left side only; but this broch is so dilapidated that, 
without excavation, it is hardly safe to assert that no guard-chamber 
existed on the right of the passage. The guard·chamber is not, how­
ever, an invariable feature, and in 5 brochs, viz. AUt an Duin 
(No. 182), An Dun, Kylesku, An Dun, Loch Ardbhair (No. 4), 
Backies, and Kilphedir, there are no indications of such a chamber 
ever having existed. The evidence is strengthened by the fact that 
both Backies and the dun on Loch Ardbhair have been cleared of 
debris. In the broch on the AUt an Duin above Skelpick the curve 
which the passage makes as it passes inwards is a feature observed 
nowhere else. The other arrangement from which departure is 
exceptional is the position of the entrance to the stair, which is to 
be found to the left of the main entrance in the interior. In 10 
brochs this feature'is discernible, and the rule holds in regard to 9. 
In the exception, viz. Kilphedir, the entrance is situated in the 
wall directly opposite the main entrance to the broch. In no single 
instance is there any indication of the stair entering from the right 
of the interior or passing upwards in the opposite direction. The 
number of chambers contained in the thickness of the wall varies, 
but knowledge of their existence obtainable without excavation is 
necessarily incomplete. While the broch near Kylesku and that 
on Loch Ardbhair reveal no traces of chambers whatever on the 
ground-level, those at Feranach, and on the AUt Breac near Lairg, 
including their guard-chambers, show five such apartments. As 
far as the limited data admit of a generalisation, the usual 
arrangement appears to have been either a guard-chamber with a 
single chamber situated at the foot of the stair, or that accommoda­
tion with an additional chamber entering off the interior. Of the 
brochs where the plan is evident, a guard-chamber and one other 
chamber are to be found in the brochs at SaUachadh and Carrol, 
while the guard-chamber and two other chambers exist in those of 
KintradweU and Backies, and probably also of Dun Dornaigil or 
Dornadilla, "Carn Bran" (No. 468), and Castle Cole. In " Carn 
Liath" the only entrance from the interior is that of the stair, while 
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in the structures at Kylesku and on Loch Ardbhair even that 
characteristic is not apparent. 

The distribution of the brochs calls for some comment. The 
region where they are found is mainly the eastern half of the county, 
and there, up the straths and glens, by the sides of the lochs, and on 
the fringe of the seashore: frequently they occur in groups at no 
great distance from each other, but also occasionally isolated. In 
Strathnaver from Loch Naver to the sea; in the Strath of Kildonan 
and up its lateral valleys; from Forsinain down Strath Halladale 
to Melvich; by the shores of the Kyle of Tongue; around Loch Shin 
at its lower end, where the land is capable of cultivation; in Strath 
Fleet and Strath Brora, and along the coast-line from Golspie to 
Helmsdale. They are few in number along the north coast, except 
near Tongue, where, of the three that stood beside the Kyle, only _ 
Dun na Maigh now exists. Ach an Duin, between Lochs Hope 
and Eireboll, seems to mark the range westward; for the structure 
about 2 m. to the S. by the Callius an Duin on the eastern shore of 
the latter loch, though included in the list of brochs, would possibly 
be more accurately designated a dun. Besides its elliptical form, 
the absence of debris in the interior and its general character raise 
doubts as to its being a broch. From the Ach an Duin therefore 
westward past the Kyle of Durness to Cape Wrath and southward 
as far as Loch a' Chairn Bhain the broch-builders have left no traces, 
and even when the broch is met with again at Kylesku it shows an 
absence of the characteristic features encountered elsewhere. In 
addition to the broch at Kylesku, only two other brochs are to be 
found down the W. coast, viz. that on Loch Ardbhair on the 
opposite side of Loch a' Chairn Bhain to Kylesku, and showing similar 
peculiarities to the broch there, and Clachtoll near Stoer. This last 
presents a striking contrast to the two others, in that it shows all 
the features of the fully developed type and is one of the finest 
examples in the county. The other structures to be found on rocky 
headlands in this region belong to another class of defensive work, 
and will be treated of elsewhere. 

The external details of the brochs, as well as their internal 
arrangements, demand some notice. Though these in certain cases 
may be complicated by the addition of secondary buildings, an en­
circling or partially-encircling wall was frequently a feature of the 
original plan. This served as an additional defence, and formed an en­
closure wherein the stock might be safely housed. At Dun Creagach, 
Coill'ach a' Chuil (No. 176), Dun Viden (No. 181), Sallachadh, and 
probably" Carn Bran," a wall or rampart forms a loop enclosing 
about one-half of the broch, including the entrance. Backies, 
"Carn Liath," and the broch in Dunrobin Wood (No. 271) and 
that in Skelbo Wood (No. 106) have each been entirely surrounded 
by a rampart or wall; while the brochs at Clachtoll, Carrol, 
Kilphedir, Suisgill, AUt an Duin, and Kilbrare (No. 24) have had 
still more formidable outworks. A striking anomaly characterises 
the positions in which the towers have sometimes been placed, as 
well as the means adopted to strengthen them by outworks. When 
perched high on the flanks of the hills, or crowning the summits of 
isolated knolls, on islets connected wit? the shore by causeways 
half or wholly submerged, they seem to place attack at defiance; 
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but when situated on the low ground along the main arteries of 
communication, even occupying, as "Cam Bran," the very throat 
of a pass, they appear from their position actually to court it. Nor 
must the fact that both classes of position are occupied in the same 
district be overlooked. All down Strathnaver to the sea, on both 
sides of the river, the ruins of brochs overhang the road that 
winds along the bottom of the strath, with one exception. At 
Achcoillenaborgie (No. 183), not far from the mouth of the river, 
are the remains of a broch which lie on level ground in a meadow 
absolutely devoid of any natural protection observable at the 
present time, and with little sign of outer defences. The two 
nearest brochs-" The Sandy Dun" (No. 184) on the opposite side 
of the river, and that on the AUt an Duin near Skelpick-present 
the very antithesis of situation. As the occupation of the brochs 
is believed to have extended over many centuries, it is not to be 
supposed that they were all built at the same time, and experience 
as well as the requirements of the actual date of building must have 
affected the choice of situation. The fact of proximity qoes not of 
necessity imply a similar date of erection, and while resemblances 
in such circumstances as noted below may suggest this, a striking 
dissimilarity may indicate the conv;erse. In this consideration it is 
of interest to note the site of two brochs on the haugh at Achaneas 
in Glencassley (Nos. 50 and 51) which have been situated within a 
few hundred yards of each other. The former is not measurable, but 
there is no indication that it has been at all large, while the latter 
gives the greatest diameter of any broch in the county. The Carrol 
broch stands within a walled enclosure protected by a trench. 
Around its neighbour by the Duchary Rock (No. 28), about 1 m. 
distant, is an utter absence of such outworks. -

Oonsidered topographically, it will be seen that certain peculiarities 
of situation or structure tend to be reproduced in particular groups. 
Three brochs are situated around Loch Navel', two of them (Nos. 175 
and 176) on islets connected to the mainland by causeways, and the 
third, though FlOW above the summer level of the loch, yet so near it 
that the waves almost lap the base of its wall. Down the strath 
the brochs of Langdale (No. 177), Inshlampie (No. 178), Dun 
Chealamy (No. 179), Dun Vi den, and Dun Carnachaidh (No. 180) 
all occupy similar striking positions and present little difference in 
size, the interior diameter of the first being 31', of the second 29', 
and of each of the remaining three, which are nearest to one another, 
30'. The two brochs on either side of Loch a' Ohairn Bhain on the 
W. coast are remarkable, in both being situated on islets connected 
by causeways with the shore, and in the structural detail, as already 
noted. The broch of Kilphedir stands on a hillock encircled by a 
broad ditch, with an additional outwork adjoining the entry through 
the defences. Its neighbour at SuisgiU has a very similar scheme 
of protection. The brochs at Bunahoun (No. 187) and Trantlemore 
(No. 188), adjacent to each other, appear to have had over all an 
identical diameter of 58'. And lastly, as already mentioned, the 
brochs in Skelbo Wood, of "Carn Liath" near Dunrbbin, Backies 
in the same district, and that in Dunrobin Wood are each encircled 
by a wall at no great distance from the base. 

With regard to their relation to other prehistoric structures, it is 
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important to note that the majority of the brochs do not appear to 
have been situated in close proximity to the hut circles and their 
associated mounds; though in certain cases, as at Kilphedir and on 
the haugh below Dun Chealamy, these abound, in general their 
absence is noteworthy. The instances where small mounds uncon­
nected with hut circles lie in their immediate vicinity are fewer still, 
the neighbourhood of the" Sandy Dun" opposite Bettyhill being one 
of the few places where this peculiarity was observed. 

The relics recovered from the brochs of this county comprise the 
usual steatite cups, querns, etc., but of special note are the two 
hammer-marked plates of brass found in "Carn Liath," Dunrobin, 
and the portions of the antlers of reindeer from ' the broch of 
Kintradwell. The presence of the reindeer horns gives credence 
to the statement in the Orkneyinga Saga, that (Ci1'C. A.D. 1158) the 
Orkney Earls Rognvald and Harald, "every summer were wont to 
go over to Caithness and up into the forests to hunt the red deer 
or the reindeer." 

The remaining defensive constructions may be divided into three 
main classes, viz. :-

(1) Promontory forts. 
(2) Hill forts. 
(3) Small constructions, circular and otherwise, of a defensive 

character. 
The first class may be again subdivided into earth-works and 

stone-works. Of the former variety only two came under observa­
tion, both of which were on the N. coast though far separated from 
each other, viz. " An Tornaidh Bhuidhe " near Port Skerry (No. 193), 
and the" Seanachaisteal " near Durness (No. 158). The first named 
occupies a most remarkable position, and its parapet or rampart 
follows the outline of the plateau on which it is situated. So 
hazardous has nature made the approach to it that further defences 
would have been superfluous. The latter fort has been formed by 
the usual method of cutting a trench across the neck of the promontory 
and raising a rampart in rear of it. With these features and the 
depressions, presumably for huts, in the interior, it ranks with a class 
of fort well represented in other parts of Scotland.* Of the stone­
works little can be said. So fragmentary are the remains that they 
are no more than sufficient to indicate their stone-built character. 
They occupy the summits of projecting rocks of small extent, and are 
four in number (Nos. 5, 6, 191, and 192); two being on the W. coast 
and two on the N. Dun Mhairtein, Baligil (No. 191), and the Dun 
of Culkein (No. 6) have outer defences on the landward side which 
the positions of the other two did not necessitate. The underground 
passage running from the centre of Dun Mhail'tein to the face of the 
cliff is a peculiar feature. To what period these structures belong it 
is difficult in their present condition to determine. The structure at 
Camus an Duin, Loch Eireboll (No. 157), already referred to among 
the brochs, may possibly belong to this class, though it stands, not 
on a promontory, but on a low projecting rock by the water. 

There appear to be only five hill forts known in the county, all 

* Since the completion of the Inventory the Commissioners have been informed 
of the existence of another similar construction not far from the ferry on the W. 
side of the Kyle of Durness. 
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situated in the eastern half. Of these; Dun Creich (No. 54), is note­
worthy as being vitrified, but to what extent only excavation could 
disclose. The ramparts are much overgrown with turf. Two others 
stand apart by themselves, distinguished by their size and character. 
These are the fort on the summit of Ben Griam Beg (No. 316), and 
that on the Duchary Rock above Loch Brora (No. 29). Both of 
these are surrounded by massive stone-built walls. Except where the 
precipitous flanks serve the purpose of defences, a single wall encircles 
the summit of the Duchary Rock, with an entrance through it at 
either end, and with the remains of a chamber visible within it at 
the S. extremity of the fort. A flanking wall seems to have protected 
the main entrance, which is 6' wide. Much more complicated are 
the lines of defences around Ben Griam Beg, and the theory has 
been advanced that they formed, not a fortress, but a deer-trap, the 
animals being driven up the hill and forced by the position of the 
walls over the precipitous rocks which terminate the mountain to the 
westwards. A consideration of the facts observed on the spot, 
however, does not tend to confirm this idea. The construction has 
the character of a fort, and escape down the rocks would be far from 
impossible to the deer. (The millstones mentioned as lying in the 
ruins and about the hill have probably no relation to the fort.) A 
similar theory appears to have been held in regard to the fort on the 
Duchary Rock, but in that C9.se it is even less tenable. The small 
fort on the hillock at Dalnamain (No. 108) is included in this class 
rather from the extent of its fortifications than from its position; and 
the ruin at East Kinnauld (No. 479) appears to be of the same 
character, though, from its condition, difficult to classify. 

The third class includes a fortified site at Syre (No. 194), to 
which a modern attribution has been given locally, but which is 
possibly prehistoric. A smaller construction surrounded by a ditch 
on The Ord at Lairg (N o. 396) seems to be akin to the hut circles 
that exist in its neighbourhood, and with the same suggestion of 
relationship the enclosure at Auchinduich (No. 55) may be con­
sidered. 

One small ruin, differing from all the foregoing, remains to be 
noticed by itself. It is the oblong building occupying the islet in 

. Lochan Hacoin, and known as "Grianan" (No. 531), a name literally 
meaning" a sunny place," and used in literature to signify a summer 
house or a royal palace. Its position and the strength of its walls 
bespeak its defensive character. The absence of any doorway is 
puzzling, while its rectangular plan implies a date for its erection 
within historic times. 

HUT CIRCLES, ETC. 

No objects of antiquity are so numerous throughout this county 
as the hut circles and their associated constructions. Representing 
as they do, in their various forms, the dwellings of the people from 
prehistoric times, possibly down to the comparatively modern period 
when round buildings were finally superseded by those of rectangular 
plan, they are deserving of much consideration. The term "hut 
circle," in default of a better, has been accepted for these remains. 
It is, however, somewhat inacclirate, as the structures were not, 
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properly speaking, huts, nor are they invariably circular. How, if 
at all, they were roofed in remains a matter of speculation, and 
possibly some of the peculiar features hereafter noted may have been 
adopted to facilitate this end by lessening the span of the interior. 
Considerable variation in structure and plan has been observed 
among them, from which, on more complete examination, their 
continuous development may be evolved. But however this may 
suggest itself to superficial observation, the intimate knowledge 
necessary to render a classification reliable can only be procured 
by excavation. Though the hut circles exist over the county in 
great numbers, there is no reeord of a single example having been 
thoroughly or scientifically excavated, consequently allowance must 
be made in reading the following remarks for the incomplete data 
on which they are based. 

With regard to the antiquity of" hut circles," the labours of the 
Dartmoor Exploration Committee of the Devonshire Archreological 
Society have demonstrated that structures on Dartmoor resembling 
certain of the Sutherland examples belong to the early Bronze Age, 
if not to late neolithic times , and a like conclusion has been arrived 
at from the exploration of others in the island of Anglesea; but, as 
dwellings of a cognate, though not identical, form were actually 
observed in use in the island of Lewis so recently as the middle of 
the 19th century, and were described in the Proceedin!Js of the Society 
of Antiqu,a1'ies of Scotland, the survival of these archaic types of 
dwellings in remote parts of the mainland to a late date is a 
probability to be borne in mind. In the county of Sutherland their 
range is concurrent with that of the other antiquities. On the 
west coast W. of Loch Eireboll no example came under observation, 
nor is a single instance of their existence in that region noted on the 
Ordnance Survey maps. Though certain variations are confined to 
particular districts , one form is found everywhere, and may be 
regarded as the type. This throughout the Inventory is described 
as the simple form. It is an oval or pear-shaped structure formed 
with a bank of earth or turf, and stones, or sometimes merely of the 
former, now rarely above 2' in height, enclosing an area measuring 
some 5' more in length than in width, the longest axis being in line 
of the Entrance. There is great variety in size, but the variation of 
the diameter across is usually from 20' to 30'. The enclosing bank 
is some 5' to 6' in thickness, and of a uniform thickness throughout. 
The entrance, which varies in width from, apparently, 1t' to 3', with 
rare exceptions, faces the SE. Though the entrances are generally 
too indefinite to afford an accurate measurement, it is observed that 
in many of the larger circles they have been wider, affording sufficient 
space for the access of sheep or cattle, and it is presumed con­
sequently that these may have been folds. Closely associated with 
those of simple form are invariably to be found the small mounds, 
in many cases no doubt sepulchral, afterwards to be considered. 
The presence of two circles in close proximity to each other, one of 
which is not infrequently larger and circular, is occasionally noticed, 
also the conjunction of two of the simple form, but of different 
dimensions (Nos. 417 and 511, figs. 60 and 74). Of this variety are 
others again to which a much smaller circle is attached on one side 
of the entrance (No. 207, fig. 20). The first departure from the 
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simple form seems to have been brought about by the widening of 
the bank on either side of the entrance, thus increasing the length 
of the passage to the interior by several feet; and a further develop­
ment of this plan is to be observed in the addition of a small 
chamber or chambers, resembling the guard-chambers of a broch, on 
the sides of the passage (No. 398, fig. 57). In the eastern half of 
the county, where these structures exist in greatest number and 
variety, subdivision of the interior on various plans was met with; 
but it is noteworthy that only in one instance, and that in the 
parish of Tongue, was this departure observed in the western half, 
while down Strathnaver, though hut circles are numerous, they are 
also of the simple form, diversified only in a few instances by the 
lengthening of the entrance passage. As the interior tends to a 
circular form, a setting of flat-sided boulders, in some cases set 
contiguously So as to form a facing along the inner periphery, is 
found (see Nos. 126 and 398). In many of the hut circles of the. 
simple form, with the object apparently of restricting the interior 
area, a bank of turf, or more frequently a wall of boulders, is met 
with, carried in a curve from side to side, cutting off a portion of 
the interior at the back, and reducing the remainder to a more 
circular form (see fig. 414). As a passage through such a wall 
was only in une instance observed, it seems probable that this 
modification is to be attributed to a secondary occupation. In further 
confirmation of this view is the fact that this inner cross wall was 
never found in any of those stone-built circles to be described here­
after, except in one instance, where, however, its object was evident, 
for, having its convexity towards the entrance, it formed a definite 
chamber against the back wall (No. 506, fig. 73). A still fur.ther 
variation is observable in the substitution of stone walls (some 8/ in 
thickness and built without mortar) for turf and stone banks. The 
walls are usually much ruined and seldom stand above 2/ to 3' in 
height, and the amount of debris does not suggest an original height 
of more than 4/ or 5/. When the walls are of stone, the interiors 
are almost always circular, or approximately so, and display a con­
sider.able diversity in their arrangement, a feature in common with 
the interiors of some of the stone-lined circles. Bases of walls are 
observed running from one side of the entrance inwards, or out 
from the back, dividing the interior into two unequal and irregular 
compartments (Nos. 351 and 499, figs. 47 and 69), and chambers 
appear in the thickness of the enclosing walls (Nos. 112 and 113, 
figs. 13 and 14). Occasionally the ruins of small circular stone 
huts are found in the interior (Nos. 69 and 345, figs. 9 and 45), and 
within one particular hut circle (No. 499, fig. 69) there has been 
a large circular structure, apparently a solid building with small 
chambers within it, probably each under a separate roof. The regular 
position of the entrance, froll! the SE., which characterised those of 
the simple form is in these circular varieties more frequently departed 
from; and the association of the small mounds lying in the neighbour­
hood, though still occasionally observed, is not so constant as with 
the former. It is to be further noted that the more complicated 
and stone-built circles are usually to be found in groups by them­
selves. Of such are the groups at Oreag an Amalaidh in Dornoch 
parish, the Allt Oille Pheadair in Kildonan parish, and near Knock-
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arthur in Rogart parish. A further departure shows a number of 
smaller circles either attached to one of greater size (Nos. 111 alld 
230, figs. 12 and 26), or themselves conjoined (No. 223, figs. 21 and 
22). Lastly, an oblong or elliptical form with the ruins of a small 
dwelling at its inner end approaches to a modern type; and the 
singular structure at Uppat (No. 281, fig. 33), though retaining in 
the features of its entrance characteristics of a hut circle, nearly 
approaches in plan to a rectangular building. Connected to the stone­
built circles, and running among them where they are found in groups, 
are frequently to be seen the remains of old banks or walls, showing 
that enclosing in some measure was practised when this form was in 
vogue. With circles of the simple form this feature is much less 
frequently encountered. 

Turning from these general characteristics to a consideration of 
particular features, the geographical limitations of certain forms 
and peculiarities are manifest. In the Strath of Kildonan the earth­
house appears to have been a not infrequent adjunct of the hut 
circle. In no other part of the county was there the slightest 
indication of such relationship. Two small conjoined groups of a 
plan not observed elsewhere (figs. 21 and 22) were found in Strath 
Halladale, below Forsinain, though with them may be compared 
an example at Dail a' Bhaite, above the Strathy Water, in the same 
region. A circle at Dail a' Bhaite (No. 230, fig. 27) was peculiar 
by reason of the mound in the centre and a small enclosure 
abutting on the outside to the left of the entrance. A few miles 
to the W., on the moor near Bighouse, an almost identical form 
was met with (No. 226, fig. 25), but. nowhere else. Similarly, in small 
details the repetition is likewise noticeable. A hut circle near 
Achnagarron in Rogart parish (No. 487, fig. 66) shows the bank 
on one side of the entrance projecting for a considerable distance 
beyond that on the other side, in such a manner as to be remark­
able. A similar feature of the entrance is seen on another circle 
(No. 490, fig. 67) at Skiag, 1 m. to the SE., and not elsewhere. 
Of particular interest are the examples which show a small inner 
circle contained within the outer one (Nos. 36 and 487, figs. 5 
and 66), as if for the joint accommodation of the people and their 
stock, both situated within a few miles of each other in the 
parishes of Rogart and Clyne respectively; and a striking develop­
ment of this plan, illustrated in Nos. 498 and 63, figs. 68 and 8 
(the former of which is also in Rogal't parish), shows an arrange­
ment whereby the inconvenience of a common access was obviated, 
on the presumption that the wide entrance implies an enclosure 
for stock and the narrow one tha t for the owners. 

No. 503, fig. 72, in the parish of Rogart, is a remarkable example 
of what may be termed a homestead. The hut circle, which is sub­
divided, contains several chambers, and also recesses, which appear 
to have been hearths, in the division wall. The horseshoe-shaped 
construction in the rear has the appearance of a shelter, while the 
circular enclosure with which it is connected has probably been a 
fold. Similar horseshoe-shaped constructions, it may be stated, were 
observed in two other instances in this neighbourhood, viz. one quite 
close to the previous example, and the other a short distance away, 
near Sciberscross (No. 34). 
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A hut circle near the Kildonan Burn (No. 345, fig. 45), alone of 
all those examined, contained near the centre of the built entrance 
passage, which was 20' in length, jambs for a door. It also was one 
of the examples already referred to containing the ruins of a small 
circular hut in the interior. 

Attention may be drawn to the hut circles (Nos. 318 and 328, 
figs. 37 and 42) in the Strath of Kildonan, which have earth-houses 
attached to them. It will be observed that that on the bank of the 
Cille Pheadair Burn is a circular stone-lined or interiorly revetted 
construction with a great mound formed to contain or cover the earth­
house existing on one side, evidently a part of the original plan. 
Such a mound, it may be observed, would not tend to conceal the 
existence of the subterraneous structure. The position of the sunken 
chamber to the right of the entrance of the hut circle (No. 344, 
fig. 44) by the Kildonan Burn is equally evident. In the hut 
circle by the Caen Burn, no such external evidence proclaims 
the existence of the gallery which passes under the natural surface. 
There is evidence of alteration, however, in the plan of this circle, 
and the earth-house may possibly belong to a secondary occupation. 
Besides the above instances in which the underground chambers or 
galleries are visible, three of the hut circles in the strath show such 
remarkable extensions of the enclosing bank as to suggest the 
possibility of their containing similar structures. In two of these 
cases (Nos. 327 and 350, figs. 41 aud 46) the extension occurs on the 
left of the entrance; and in the other (No. 352, fig. 48), near Kinbrace,* 
it occurs about a third of the distance round the periphery, on the left. 
In the first of these three circles a stone-built circular fmclosure is 
contained within another of pear-shaped plan. The earth-house in 
front of Salscraggie (No. 324, fig. 39) was discovered beneath a 
mound of earth some 25' in diameter and some 6' to 8' in height, 
but as the ground about it had been partially levelled many years 
ago, no remains of an associated construction were observed. 

Occasionally small hut circles are met with in connection with 
the entrances of large walled enclosures as on Lairg Moor (No. 419) 
or on the Cnoc a' Chatha (No. 426), or occupying a position in the 
centre of a continllous wall or bank as on The Ord at Lairg (No. 404). 

In regard to the whole class in this county, the absence of defensive 
works connected with them is particularly noteworthy, as in the south 
of Scotland, with rare exceptions, the hut circle is unknown except 
within the ditch and rampart of a fort, or kindred structure. As 
these enclosures are thus devoid of any defensive character, they 
appear to be connected with the peaceful occupations of a pastoral 
people. 

Certain groups are the remains of the sheilings to which, till late 
in historic times, the young women betook themselves in the summer 
with the cows and goaLs to make the cneese for the winter's con­
sumption. The huts so occupied appear to have been small and 
oblong rather than round, and the situaLions selected for them small 
sheltered meadows by the sides of streams. Such groups are noted 

* Since going to press, an earth-bouse bas been located in tbis but circle, 
entering from the interior near tbe centre of tbe left side, and curving towards 
tbe left. For the first 5' or so of its length it is broken down, but thereafter it 
remains intact for 20', with a width of 4', and height of 5' 6". 
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by the Skelpick Burn (No. 217), beside the AUt Ardbhair (No. 8), 
and by the Feith Osdail near Lairg (No. 439). The small trefoil­
shaped constructions observed by the last-mentioned stream and near 
Loch Coire nam Feuran (No. 200) probably belong to this class, and 
may have been shelters for the calves. 

Yet another class of circular dwelling falls to be considered, to 
which it is difficult to assign a period of occupation. Frequently in 
places where evidellces of early occupation abound are to be observed 
a number of small circular ruins of stone structures rising a foot or 
two above the ground-level, measuring from 16' to 18' in diameter, 
and distinguishable from the more or less conical mounds overgrown 
with vegetation. The centre of the ruin being slightly lower in 
elevation than elsewhere, and the stones there being fully exposed, the 
whole presents the appearance of a small cairn partially excavated. 
There is no admixture of earth and turf with the stones, and there is 
noticeable an absence of vegetation over the surface, except for a fringe 
some 3' to 4' wide around the outer edge. Occasionally several of 
these structures are linked together by walls, or have curving lines 
of walling projecting from them as if to protect their entrances from 
the storms, while running hither and thither among them in sinuous 
lines may be detected the remains of old enclosing banks and walls. 
These huts appear to have existed in many places, but are most notice­
able at Dalhalvaig (No. 224, fig. 23), and on Meall Mor a' Bhealaich 
(N o. 225) in Strath Halladale, on The TuUoch . near Bonar Bridge 
(No. 69), and on Cnoc a' Chatha (No. 431) near Lairg. In a few 
cases the ruins of similar constructions may be seen in the interior of 
hut circles of the circular type (Nos. 69 and 345, figs. 9 and 45) and at 
the inner end of certain oblong or elliptical examples (Nos. 37 (fig. 6) 
and 224). Though the ruination is usually so complete that with­
out removal of the debris no walling is visible, yet in one case (on 
Meall Mor a' Bhealaich) the inner wall face remained to a height of 
2', showing that the interior diameter of the hut had been about 6', 
and the diameter over all about 18'. 

According to local tradition, these ruins, as well as the groups of 
mounds, are graves marking the sites of ancient battlefields, and the 
fact that all knowledge of their occupation has died out infers a 
remote period for their origin. 

Closely associated in locality with the hut circles, more especially 
of the simple form, are a number of other constructions. Some of 
these are very probably sepulchral, though conclusive evidence of 
interment in them is rarely obtained, while others seem to have been 
connected with the pastoral occupations of the people. To all these 
objects, formed for the most part of stones and turf, or earth, and 
overgrown with grass and heather, the term "mound" has been 
applied as being more strictly descriptive and lacking the significance 
-at times inaccurate-which the word" tumulus" as employed on 
the O.S. maps implies. The mounds for which a sepulchral character is 
assumed are by far the most numerous, and call for particular remark. 
Everyone who is at all familiar with this county or with other parts 
of the Highlands of Scotland must have observed the numerous 
groups of small ~ounds which stretch along the sides of the straths, 
or indent the skyline on the low shoulders of the hills at an eleva­
tion frequently of from 500' to 600' over sea-level. Though believed 



xxx HISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

locally to be battlefields, a careful search among the mounds of any 
group will usually reveal the presence of one or more hut circle,s, 
generally of the simple form. If the group be a small one, the 
relation of the mounds to the circles is more obvious from their 
relative situation, mounds to the number of ten or twelve being 
frequently disposed around a circle at no great distance from it. 
Occasionally a mound is ' found so close as to be actually in contact 
with the bank or close to the entrance. But though this association 
is the rule, there are cases where no hut circle is observable among 
numerous mounds, and other cases where hut circles appear to have 
existed only in a small ratio to the mounds. Even in these cases, how­
ever, no argument can safely be based on the absence of the circles, 
as instances were observed of the almost complete extinction of hut 
circles owing to the encircling bank having been formed entirely of 
earth. The dimensions of these mounds are not always the same in 
each group, nor have they a uniform shape. In general, however, 
they are circular and slightly conical, measuring in diameter some 
12' to 26', and in height from l' 6" to 3' 6". In a few instances a 
single upright stone was observed erected on the top (but not 
necessarily the centre) of the mound, and occasionally the mounds 
themselves were raised against large earth-fast boulders or rocks. Of 
the numbers that have been excavated in various parts of Scotland, few 
have revealed any signs of interments, though occasionally a short 
cist has been discovered within one. A close inspection of a con­
siderable number throughout the county of Sutherland, the interiors of 
which had been laid open in the process of forming roads, etc" revealed 
no sign of interment or structure except in one instance, viz. on 
Druim na Ooup near Beinn Laoghal (No. 535), where a cist was 
exposed, while the recorded discovery of another at Syre has been 
noted (No. 209). Of those of circular form the most conspicuous 
from their size are situated near Dalreavoch on the Brora, where, . 
with a diameter of 26' and over, a number attain a height of from 
3' 6" to 5'. Besides the circular form, they are frequently met 
with oblong or oval on plan, having an average length of from 24' 
to 28', and a breadth of about one-half that extent. These do not 
appear to be oriented in any particular way. In one unique case 
near Sciberscross (No. 35) a sma.!l round mound measuring some 
11' in diameter was set on the extremity of one of the oblong variety. 
More rarely they are observed of a conjoined or" dumb-bell" form, 
two mounds of the usual circular variety being connected by a narrow 
neck (Nos. 407 and 279). This form seems to have been designedly 
adopted and not produced by accident, as a close examination fails to 
convey the impression that the neck is due to dilapidation of either 
mound. A few instances were observed where the mounds were of 
considerable length, and formed in three divisions, not in alignment. 
The best example of this formation is to be seen near Knockarthur 
(No. 501, fig. 71) in the parish of Rogart, where the three portions 
measured 15', 18', and 18' respectively in length, some 9' in breadth, 
and from 2' to 2' 6" in height. A small circular mound lay about 
6' distant at one end. In the immediate vicinity there was no sign 
of any enclosing bank of which this might have formed a part. 
Somewhat similar in character are certain long mounds on the haugh 
near the Oarnachaidh Burn (No. 211), on the right bank of the Navel' 
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between Dailharraild and Syre (No. 207), near Loch Coire nam 
Feuran (No. 200), and at Conaisaite (No. 536), at the base of Beinn 
Laoghal, where the example bears the name of " Dhiarmid's Grave." 
More remarkable still are those of greater rarity which take the 
form of the letter s. The most perfect instance found is situated 
in a remarkable group of constructions on the haugh by the 
Carnachaidh Burn (No. 211). It measures Ill' in length following 
the cu-rve, and is some 3' in height. Whether these last two 
forms in any circumstances can be regarded as sepulchral, in the 
present state of our knowledge it is impossible to say. Careful ex­
cavation might possibly reveal the fact. There is also a possibility 
that some of the round and oblong mounds may likewise be the ruins 
of small huts, though beyond their outline and dimensions there is no 
feature to suggest it. 

The mounds for which no sepulchral character is suggested are 
fewer in number, but are similarly met with near the hut circles. 
The large crescentic mounds measuring some 8' to 12' in thickness 
across the base, tapering to either extremity, some 25' to 30' between 
the points of the crescent, and with a concavity some 5' to 8' deep 
in the centre are probably shelters for stock. Without exception 
they are placed with the convex outline towards the upper slope of 
the hill. 

Another class of construction frequently observed remains of 
doubtful definition, though the excavation of a single specimen led to 
the belief that it, at least, had been a kiln. These objects, similarly 
associated, are formed of two mounds some 20' to 30' in length, 12' 
to 14' in thickness at base, and 3' to 4' in height, laid in the main 
parallel though converging towards one end, and leaving between them 
a circular depression some 6' to 8' in diameter. Between the con­
verging ends the bank is low and occasionally shows signs of walling. 
At the open end in two instances lintels were observed resting on or 
fallen from low supports covering a gallery some 2' wide leading into 
the interior. The immixture of stones and charcoal and the evidences 
of fire on the blackened stones in the interior of the construction 
which was excavated suggested that it had been used as a kiln, of 
which the gallery was the passage for the draught. In certain cases 
they were found divided in two by a low foundation, crossing the 
interior, and they were also observed of a size much exceeding the 
dimensions given above, which, however, may be taken as descriptive 
of an average example. It is noteworthy that these constructions 
are usually to be found associated with the hut circles of the simple 
oval form. 

Small circular hollows of I' to l' 6/1 in depth, evidently artificially 
formed, have also been occasionally noted associated with the hut 
circles and mounds of various classes. The purpose for which these 
were formed is not ascertainable from a superficial examination. 

EARTH -HOUSES. 

With the hut circles have been linked in classification the earth­
houses, or subterraneous galleries, with which, as shown in the fore­
going pages, they ·have at times been found connected. Of those in 
Sutherland there are three varieties, distinguishable by their plans. 
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First, those having access from one end only, measuring 20' to 40' or 
thereby in length, with no definite chamber attached other than that 
produced by a slight expansion at the end, curving in their course in­
wards more or less to the right, with a width along the gallery .of from 
2' 6'~ to 3', and a slightly greater width towards the inner end. Though 
very low at the entrance, the height increases inwards to from 4' 6" to 
6', but as the floors of several of them are covered with boulders this 
dimension is not always ascertainable with accuracy. The existence 
of ten of this variety is known in the county, ranging from Loch 
Eireboll in the N. to Beinn a' Bhraggie in the SE., and five of these 

• are to be found in the Strath of Kildonan. In structure they are 
all similar. The sides, slightly converging upwards, are usually built 
of boulders; and the roof is formed of flags laid horizontally across 
from wall to wall, and slightly overlapping each other with a view 
probably to hinder the percolation of water from the surface. 

Those of the second variety differ conspicuously from the first by 
having an opening at both ends and definitely formed chambers. 
There are but two examples, viz. one at Kirkton (No. 274, fig. 31) and 
the other at Kintradwell (No. 469). The one opening or entrance is 
from the ground-level down a short flight of steps, and the other at 
the opposite end through a very narrow apert,ure opening on to 
the top of a bank. In plan, though dissimilar, both these examples 
differ from the simple gallery variety. The earth-house at Kirkton 
is cl'Uciform, with two side chambers opening off the main gallery; 
while that at Kintradwell, though now in part ruined, contained 
two chambers separated by a low division wall. In construction 
they also are rudely built on the sides and flagged on the roof. 

The examples which form the third variety resemble the so· called 
" pit-dwellings." They have been oval chambers with their sides 
built and only partially sunk in the ground. Three of these are 
noted, but as all are roo£less, few details are obtainable regarding 
them without excavation. One by the Kildonan Burn (No. 344, 
fig. 44) is connected with a hut circle, while that situated by the 
Silver Rock near The Mound (No. 283) and the other close to the 
broch of Carrol (No. 27) show no remains of a related structure 
adjoining them. 

Whether such places are to be regarded as sleeping-chambers, 
or habitations during the rigorous months of winter, secret retreats 
in time of danger, or merely storehouses, are questions still open to 
discussion. The extreme narrowness of the first variety and the 
small dimensions of the expansions at the inner end, together with 
the lack of air and light, make them very unsuitable places for 
human habitation; but if these galleries were used as granaries, the 
presence of querns, as in that at Salscraggie, is easily understood. 
Nor, if they were intended as places of retreat in times of danger, 
or for concealment of such treasure as the inhabitants possessed, does 
it seem probable that the fact of their existence would have been made 
so conspicuous as it appears to have been in certain cases, notably in 
the hut circle by the Cille Pheadair Burn (No. 328, fig. 42) with its 
huge covering bank, or in that of the third variety by the Kildonan 
Burn (No. 344, fig. 44), which must have displayed a marked elevation 
close to the entrance of the hut circle. Situated as some of these 
are, opening out of conspicuous hut circles, presumably the daily 
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abodes of the people, they do not seem to answer to the requirements 
of a secure retreat. Attention may also be drawn to the intake or 
check which was observed both in the earth-house at Cracknie (No. 
220) and in that on the Caen Burn (No. 318, fig. 37), formed by a 
constriction of the gallery. Though the check is not on both sides, 
such an arrangement would admit of the inner end being closed by 
a door opening outwards only. None of these limitations apply to 
the second variety, and it is noteworthy that much food refuse, as 
well as other signs of occupation, were discovered in both examples. 
In both cases the entrance from the upper slope of t.he ground was 
down steps visible only from near at hand, while the opening at the 
opposite end was not more than capable of affording passage-room to 
a full-grown man. With very little difference in their present en­
vironment, the existence of both constructions would be perfectly 
concealed. This variety resembles the underground room mentioned 
in the Saga of Gisli the O~dlaw, written in the 12th century, and 
relating to events occurring between the years 930 and 980. There it 
is stated how Thorgerda in Vadil concealed the outlawed Gisli in an 
underground room one end of which opened on the river bank and 
the other below her hall. The Roman dressed stones in the earth­
houses discovered many years ago at Newstead near Melrose, and at 
Orichton Mains in Midlothian, show their occupation to be subsequent 
to one or other of the Roman invasions of Scotland, while the dis­
coveryof Samian ware in several others links their date nearer to 
these events. 

OAIRNS. 

Before considering this subject, it may be stated that throughout 
the Inventory the term" cairn" is used to denote a construction of 
greater or less extent, formed entirely of stones, and whose sepulchral 
character is not open to doubt. Where a construction completely 
overgrown with vegetation presents features which suggest a different 
formation, such as stones and earth, or turf, whereby its sepulchral 
character, though probable, is uncertain, it has been designated a 
"mound." 

The cairns containing the burials of the prehistoric people, from 
the evidence their structure and contents may afford of culture and 
racial characteristics, claim no small amount of attention. The 
chambered cairns, moreover, as far as we at present know, are the 
only monuments of Neolithic times which have come down to us. 
The total number of cairns examined throughout the county is 117, 
following very much the geographical distribution of the brochs, but, 
unlike these structures, capable of subdivision into various classes 
which differ greatly in point of antiquity. The earliest cairns and 
those in which Neolithic man deposited his dead, burnt and unburnt, 
are provided in the interior each with a carefully constructed chamber 
or chambers, and are designated" chambered cairns." These again 
fall to be divided into four distinct classes:- . 

(1) Horned long cairns; 
(2) Horned round cairns; 
(3) U nhorned long cairns; 
(4) Round chambered cairns. 

c 
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In the annexed table it will be seen that the total number of cairns 
whose chambered character is definitely ascertainable without further 
excavation is 45, and of these the remains of two only were observed 
down the whole W. coast of the county from Durness to Lochinver, 
viz. at Badnabay (No. 172) and on the Cnoc an Daimh near Badcall 
Bay (No. 169) respectively, both in the parish of Eddrachillis. Nor 
were there any other cairns noted in these regions which might 
possibly be proved to be chambered on closer examination. In the 
more habitable districts, however, in close company with the other 
remains their distribution is general. Taking into consideration first 
the horned long cairns, as being probably the earliest group, as it is 
certainly the most remarkable, their rarity is as notable as the 
restricted area of their existence. These cairns, which are of great 
length (the longest measuring some 230'), expand towards one end 
and terminate in projecting arms or horns forming a crescentic or 
semicircular outline. From the centre of this crescent at the 
broadest end a passage leads inwards to the chamber. The three 
examples (Nos. 241-243) are all situated within 2 m. of each 
other, on the right bank of the River Naver, not far from its 
mouth on the N, coast. An almost similar geographical limitation 
characterises the long unhorned group. The characteristics of this 
class are also great length as well as form, being narrow and low at 
the W. end, rising and broadening out towards the E. Seven of 
these occur in the Strath of Kildonan towards its lower end, while 
one outside that area is situated but a few miles distant to the 
S. at Lothbeg. One solitary example in Dornoch parish, also on the 
E. coast but further S" is included, though slightly dissimilar in form 
and length to the others. Two large cairns (Nos. 369 and 370) on 
Kinbrace Hill, some 15 m. up the strath, though not included in 
this computation, may also be considered long cairns, but do not 
appear to be of the same type. Their length is not so remarkable, 
nor does their height increase, nor their breadth expand, from one 
end to the other in the same manner. 

The horned character of the round cairns, from their smaller size 
and the state of dilapidation into which they have mostly fallen, is 
more difficult to determine. They are recognisable by having two 
pairs of arms or horns projeeting some 10' to 20' from the base of an 
otherwise round cairn, the entrance to the passage being usually at 
the E. end, from a point midway between the horns. The cairns of 
this class are also observed in a group of three (Nos. 82-84) in the 
vicinity of Spinningdale in the parish of Oreich, while a single 
example at Skelpick (No. 238) lies adjacent to one of the horned 
long cairns. The other three, in Golspie (No. 286), Kildonan (No. 
367), and Lairg (No. 454), are all doubtful; the first of these, in fact, 
only showing evidence of a single projection. 

Passing in review the plan of the chambers, considerable dis­
tinctions fall to be noticed. Of the horned long cairns, two are three­
chambered, while the other appears to have had but one chamber, in 
each instance entered by a passage from the N. end. The three 
cairns lie N. and S., in the direction of the valley in which they are 
situated, with their broad horned extremities towards the N. In only 
one of the nine unhorned long cairns, viz. that at Lothbeg, is the 
chamber visible or remaining, and without removal of the debris that 
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fills it its plan is uuascertainable. All these latter, in contradistinction 
to the previously mentioned group, lie with their longest axes 
approximately E. and W., and have their broadest ends towards 
the former direction. From this direction the Lothbeg cairn is 
entered. 

Only one of the horned round cairns has been explored, viz. that 
at Achaidh in Creich parish (No. 82). It was found to have a single 
undivided chamber, entered by a passage from the ESE. 

In the ordinary round chambered cairns the prevailing plan 
throughout the county is that of a single chamber divided into two 
unequal compartments by two low partition stones set across the 
chamber on either side some l' 6" to 2' apart. The inner compart­
ment measures usually about 7' in length by 6' in width, while the 
outer is somewhat less. The walls of the chamber are formed of 
large flat slabs placed opposite to each other in the sides, and one 
occupying the back, while neatly laid horizontal building fills the 
interspaces, the whole being covered with a roof formed of converging 
stones. The chamber is entered by a passage some 2' square leading 
directly into the smaller compartment, usually from a direction 
approximately SE. The cairns on the W. coast are notable excep­
tions, that at Badnabay having had its entrance passage from the S., 
and that at Badcall apparently from the N. Of this class there are 
eleven ascertainable examples. 

In three instances three chambers or compartments occur in the 
round cairns, viz. near Loch Brora (No. 44), near Rhives (No. 289), 
and n~ar Kinbrace (No. 372). Of the cairn at Rhives only the 

'megalithic slabs remain. The other two show a distinct feature: 
the slabs are of less size than in the chambers last mentioned, and 
there is a marked increase in the amount of building in the walls. 
Unfortunately the cairn by Loch Brora is in a very ruinous condition, 
and there being no published record existing of the details disclosed 
on its excavation, full particulars are not obtainable. In the other 
cairn, that near Kinbrace, this feature of the building is particularly 
evident, the side slabs of the central chamber being comparatively 
small. It is again remarkable that these two tripartite, or more 
properly three-chambered, cairns (each compartment being separately 
roofed) lie comparatively near each other, both on the E. coast, and 
adjacent to the county of Caithness, where the same type prevails. 

Of cairns with single undivided chambers, only three came under 
observation: one near Aultnacealgach (No. 14), another the horned 
cairn at Achaidh (No. 82), and the third at Coillenaborgie (No. 
243), near the mouth of the river Navel'. They are not situated 
in the same neighbourhood, nor are they in structure identical. 
All have been excavated, but while the chambers of the first two 
are patent to observation, that of the other is partially filled with 
debris. 

The first mentioned is peculiar in having a well-built recess on 
one side, a feature resembling the cells in the chambered cairns of 
Orkney and the cairn near Bruan in Caithness, while the pottery 
obtained from it, though consisting only of a few fragments, is of 
a quality more frequently associated with Bronze Age than with 
Neolithic interments, consequently indicating a later period for its 
use. From the second cairn, however, the fragment of pottery 
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recovered, associated with an unburnt interment, was of the fine hard 
quality characteristic of N eoli thic burial. 

In 26 other cairns which show a chambered character the details 
of the chambers were unascertainable. 

Round cairns of uncertain type with a diameter of 40' and over 
number 43. Of theee, a considerable proportion lllay prove on 
excavation to be chambered; but though occasionally a depression 
on the top is suggestive, no definite characteristics have disclosed 
thems.elves. 

Cairns of a less diameter than 40' exist to the number of 29, and 
in 12 of these cists have been exposed, placing them in order of 
antiquity subsequent to the Neolithic period. 

A feature in the cairns, usually of the smaller size, which 
frequently asserts itself is the kerb of boulders of from I' to 2' in 
height placed contiguously, or approximately so, around the base. 
This has been observed in thirteen instances (Nos. 41, 136,286,287, 
288, 362, 363, 364, 445, 446, and 538). In nine of these the 
character of the cairn is still indeterminate, while in four, short cists 
have been found. No record exists of what relics, if any, were 
discovered when three of them were opened, but in the case of the 
fourth-that on Learable Hill-the beads of jet show it to be a 
monument of the Bronze Age. 

Unlike the brochs, the association in locality of cairns with the 
small mounds and hut circles, or with the former alone, is frequent, 
and this is true of the large chambered cairns as well as of the smaller 
cairns with cists and of those of indeterminate character. · This 
proximity of situation is particularly emphasised in the following 
cases :-In Dornoch parish, near the cairns on Cnoe Odhar and 
Creag an Amalaidh, at Torboll, and on Aberseross Hill. In Farr, 
to a remarkable extent at Fiseary near Bettyhill, also near the 
horned and other cairns at Skelpiek, and near Aeheheargary (No. 
244). In Kildonan, on Learable Hill, and near the" Carn Tigh 
nan Coileaeh" by Harvieston. In Lairg, most conspicuously on 
The Ord, and also on Lairg Moor. The comlJlete absence of such 
association on the W. coast, where the cairns that came under 
observation were few, is worthy of note. 

In addition to the general characteristics mentioned above, a few 
special features have been noted. The large cairn at Fiseary (No. 
235) is distinctly set on a platform of stones with a definite outline 
which extends some 25' out from the base of the· cairn, and a similar 
feature characterises the large cairn near the summit of The Ord at 
Lairg (No. 443). A few cairns, instead of being approximately 
circular, are distinctly elliptical. Such is the cairn near Aehany in 
Lairg Parish (No. 449), and to a lesser extent the cairn near Torboll 
(No. 135). The staliths which are so prominent at the N. end of the 
Coillenaborgie horned cairn (No. 243) are well known. They are not, 
however, free standing-stones, but have been set in the outlines of the 
crescent; and similar stones, though less prominent, are visible along 
the flanks of the cairn itself. A crescentic setting of large slabs 
appears protruding through the.surface of the chambered cairn near the 
Gruidie Burn at Aehany (No. 447), apparently on either side of the 
entrance passage. The outline of the cairn in front seems definitely 
marked, and the meaning of this setting is not obvious. Round one 
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side of the cairn near the AUt a' Chaoruinn on the Kyle of Durness 
(No. 164) runs a trench or ditch. This was the only instance observed 
of such a feature. 

STONE OmCLEs. 

The stone circles, a class of sepulchral monument of the Bronze 
Age, are not very numerous in Sutherland. To the two previously 
recorded, six new examples have been added, exclusive of one at 
Linsidemore (No. 92) which is doubtful. These eight are situated 
on the E. side of the county, viz. three at no great distance from each 
other to the S. of Lairg (Nos. 91,461, and 462, figs. 10,63, and 64), 
two at Learable in the Strath of Kildonan (Nos 374 and 375, figs. 
50 and 51), and three in different localities, viz. at Aberscross (No. 
291), Dailharraild (No. 247, fig. 29), and on the Cnoc an Liath­
bhaid near Braegrudie (No. 518, PI. IX.). They may be divided into 
two main classes, viz. those consisting of a single circle and those 
consisting of two concentric circles. Of the former class there are 
six examples, of the latter two. The single circles vary considerably 
both in regard to their diameter and the number and size of the 
stones of which they are composed. The circle at Dailharraild has 
been formed of large stones, but is of small size. That at Achany 
(No. 461) is the largest, with a diameter of some 88'; while the 
circle not far distant from it beside the River Shin (No. 462) is the 
smallest, with a diameter of only 13' to 14'. The stone circle at 
Aberscross is formed of stones similar in size to those at Dailhar­
raild, and has exactly the same diameter, viz. 22'. Of the stone 
circles on Learable Hill, one is formed of very small stones and 
the other of large pointed blocks. Of the latter, only three stones 
remain. The diameter of the first of these two circles has been 
about 60', and though that of the second cannot be obtained with 
exactitude, it appears to have been identical. A striking uniformity 
characterises the two double circles situated near Auchinduich and 
Braegrudie respectively, some 8 m. apart. The diameter of the 
outer circumference of both is 22', and, contrary to the usual practice, 
in each case the stones forming the circle have been set with their 
broad faces at right angles to the line of the circumference. This 
exceptional feature also appears to have been present in the circle 
at Dailharraild. To certain special features attention may be 
directed. In the centre of the circle at Dailharraild are the remains 
of a low cairn rising little above the general surface level, and a 
single recumbent stone, which has all the appearance of being in situ, 
lies at the base of one of the standing-stones, pointing slightly out­
side the line of the -circumference. In the centre of the circle at 
Aberscross, which in appearance resembles that at Dailharraild, was 
found a cremated interment, and beneath it a cist which contained no 
remains. Near the centre of the circle on the top of Learable Hill 
lies a small round mound, but from the presence of others in the 
immediate vicinity it is doubtful if it has any connection with the 
circle as originally erected. Lastly, the cup-marks and separate ring on 
the fallen stone of the other circle at Learable are notable features, 
especially in regard to the near vicinity of another cup-marked stone. 
No one of these stone circles stands far apart from the evidences 
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of earli settlements, and at times the local association is very marked. 
N ear- the stone circle on Learable Hill (No. 374) are cairns (one of 
which (No. 362) contained a Bronze Age interment), numerous 
mounds, and also the stone rows referred to hereafter (No. 381 ). Not 
far from the neighbouring stone circle (No. 375) are mounds, hut 
circles, and a cup-marked stone. Similarly, mounds and hut circles 
are situated in the vicinity of the stone circles at Auchinduich and 
Dailharraild, and by the River Shin. The stone circle on Druim 
Baile fiur, Achany, is closely associated in locality with cairns, hut 
circles, and mounds; while close to that on the Cnoc an Liath­
bhaid near Braegrudie are hut circles and numerous mounds of 
exceptional size. 

OUP-MARKED STONES. 

Ten cup-marked stones have been noted, three of which on broken 
slabs of schist or sandstone are not in situ, viz. those at Dornoch 
Manse (No. 147), Grum-beg Graveyard (No. 252), and in Dunrobin 
Museum, (No. 301) respectively. In two cases the marks may be 
regarded as definitely associated with sepulture, namely, on the 
fallen stone of the stone circle at Learable (No. 375, fig. 51), where 
also is an unconnected ring-mark, and on the cist cover of the cairn 
near Embo, Dornoch (No. 137). The other cup-marks are all on 
earth-fast boulders, and in each case are numerous. The only 
markings surrounded by rings occur on the boulder at the side of 
Lochan Hacoin (No. 541). 

OROSSES. 

The slabs bearing crosses and other Ohristian symbols with Oeltic 
ornament, especially of early date, are numerous, and have for the 
most part been collected into Dunrobin Museum: Two fine examples, 
however, remain in situ, viz. the magnificent Oeltic cross slab in 
Farr churchyard, and the less ornate cross near the church of Creich. 
All these crosses have been fully described in l'he EaTly Christian 
Monurnents of Scotland, and need not be further treated of here. Two, 
however, of considerable interest, not previously recorded (Nos. 250 
and 251, fig. 30), are lying on the top of the wall of the disused 
graveyard at Grum-beg in Strathnaver. They are both of types 
dating from the 10th to the 12th century, rare in Scotland, and 
here to be met with only on the W. coast, but of frequent occurrence 
in Ireland. Several plain crosses of distinctively Oeltic form incised 
on slabs have been noted for the first time. Attention may be 
drawn to a cross on a slab in Creich churchyard (No. 94), the 
peculiarity of which is the oblique termination of the arms. This is 
a late 16th-century type, several examples of which were observed 
in Berwickshire. 

STANDING-STONES. 

Several remarkable standing-stones exist in the county. Two tall 
pointed pillars of similar character stand not many miles from each 
other, the one in the Camore Wood near Dornoch (No. 148), and 
the other on the roadside near Ospisdale (No. 97). The latter is 
over 11' in height above ground, and the former a foot or two less. 
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An impressive monument of a different shape is the" Olach Mhic 
Mhios" (No. 474), a huge slab 11' high, and nearly 5' broad towards 
its upper extremity and less at base, raised up on the moor near the 
head of Glen Loth. It is the more remarkable from being set with 
its broad end uppermost. ' 

N one of the other standing-stones are particularly noticeable. 

IRON SMELTING . . 
Wherever heaps of scoria or slag, indicating the sites of early 

iron workings, were met with, they have been recorded. These are 
situated usually on the banks of burns, and twice they were observed 
in the immediate vicinity of brochs (Nos. 393 and 463), That these 
heaps are the refuse from prehistoric smeltings seems probable from 
the remote situations in which they are found. 

STONE Hows. 

Included among the miscellaneous monuments, though their 
sepulchral character has in some cases elsewhere been definitely 
ascertained, are various settings of stone rows. The settings on 
Learable Hill (No. 381, fig. 54) have been noted before, and appear 
to represent the remains of at least four different groups, each 
composed of numerous parallel or radiating rows. Associated in 
locality with them is a stone circle (No, 374, fig. 50), an excavated 
cairn of the Bronze Age (No. 364), and numerous mounds, presumably 
sepulchral, but the connection of anyone of them with the rows is in 
no case apparent. The other two settings (Nos. 378 and 379) have been 
observed for the first time, nor is the relation of either of them to any 
sepulchral construction obvious. It is noteworthy tha.t all these 
settings are situated within a short distance of each other in the 
Strath of Kildonan, close by the border of the county of Caithness. 
In no other part of the county of Sutherland have such settings been 
observed, nor elsewhere in Scotland, except in the neighbouring 
county of Caithness, has their existence been . recorded. In England 
they are said to be found on Dartmoor, in Cornwall, in Northumber­
land, and also in Wales. 

RECTANGULAR SETTINGS OF STONES. 

Lastly, attention may be directed to the object known as "Lettie's 
Grave" (No. 520, plate X.), in Hogart Parish, and the similar construc­
tions situated in its immediate vicinity. These are small rectangular 
enclosures, measuring interiorly some 5' or 6' square, formed of longish 
stones laid on edge, and, in the case of the first-mentioned, with 
upright stones still erect at two corners. As the other corners have, 
however, been disturbed, it is impossible to say if they also were 
marked by similar stones or not. The meaning or purpose of these 
constructions is not apparent. 
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TABLE OF BROCHS IN THE COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND, 
SHOWING THE INTERIOR DIAMETER IN EACH CASE 
WHERE ASCER'fAIN ABLE. 

ASSYNT. 

1. An Dun, Loch Ardbhair 
2. Clachtoll 

CLYNE. 

3. Coich Burn 
4. Kilbrare 
5. Castle Cole or Caisteal lIa Coille . 
6. Killin 
7. Carrol 
8. Duchary 

CREICH. 

9. Dail Langwell 
10. Achaneas 
11. Do. 
12. Doir a' Chatha 
13. "Carn Mor," Swordale 

DORNOCH. 

14. Skelbo Wood 
15. Brae . 

DURNESS 

16. Dun Dornaigil or Dornadilla 
17. Ach an Duin 
18. Cam us an Duin . 

EODRACHILLIS. 

19. An Dun, Kylesku 

FARR. 

20. Grum-more 
21. Dun Creagach 
22. Coill'ach a' Chuil 
23. Langdale Burn 
24. Inshlampie 
25. Dun Chea1amy 
26. Dun Carnachaidh 
27. Dun Viden 
28. Skelpick 
29 Achcoillenaborgie 
30. "The Sandy Dun" 
31. Borgie Bridge 
32. "The Borg," Forsinain 
33. "Carn Liath," Bunahoun 
34. Trantlemore 
35. Loch Mol' . 
36. Armadale Burn 
37. Clerkhill 

No. IN INYJ,NTORY. INTERIOR DIAMETER. 

• 

4 
7 

23 
24 (site) 
25 
26 
27 
28 

49 
50 
51 
52 
53 

106 
107 

155 
156 
157 

168 

174 
175 
176 
177 
178 
179 
180 
181 
182 
183 
184 
185 
186 
187 
188 
189 
190 
265 (site) 

24' 
32' 

28' 

21' 
Unascertainable. 

31' 
58' over all. 

31' 
U nascertaina ble. 

78' to 80' over all. 
U nascertai na ble. 
U nascertaina ble. 

60' over all. 
27' 

27' 
26' 

55' and 42' 

28' 6" 

30' 
31' 
28' 
31' 
29' 
30' 
30' 
30' 
28' 
28' 
29' 

About 52' over all. 
34' and 26' 6" 

About 30' 
58' over all. 
55' over all. 

23' 

• 
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GOLSPIE. No. IN INVENTORY. INTERIOR DIAMETER. 

38. " Oarn Liath " 270 30' 
39. Dunrobin Wood. 271 23' to 28' 
40. Backies 272 27' 

KILDONAN. 
41- Kilphedir . 307 32' and 33' 
42. Suisgill 308 40' 
43. Eldrable 309 25' 
44. Kilournan . 310 (site) 
45. Gylable Burn 311 31' 
46. AUt a' Ohoire Mhoir 312 58' over all. 
47. AUt an Duin 313 (site) 
48. Feranach 314 36' 
49. Learable (supposed broch) 315 78' over all. 
50. Onoc Ohaisteal 386 (site) 
51. Dun Phail, Gartymore 387 (site) 

LAIRG. 
52. SE. end of Loch Shin 391 56' over all. 
53. Salachadh. 392 32' 6" 
54. Shinness 393 Unascertainable. 
55. Dalchork 394 U nascertaina bIe. 
56. Allt Breac . 395 31' 6" 

LOTH. 
57. Kintradwell or Oinn Trolla. 467 31' 
58. "Carn Bran" 468 55' over all. 
59. Wilkhouse. 476 (site) 
60. Midgarty 476 (site) 

ROGART. 
6l. E. Kinnauld 477 31' 
62. A' Mheirle . 478 Unascertainable. 

TONGUE. 
63. Dun na Maigh 527 27' and 31· 
64. Torrisdail . 528 (site) 
65. Dun Riaskidh 529 (site) 
66. Reidh theanga 530 (site) 
67. Dun Buidhe 544 (site) 
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TABLE SHOWING THE CHARAOTER AND DISTRIBUTION OF 
CAIRNS AND THEIR CHAMBERS IN THE COUNTY OF 
SUTHERLAND. 

PARISHES • 

. ~ 
~ 

:;3 
. ..; ,,; ~ ,; 

...:i <:) ID <:) 

'" ,; 0 '" ~ 's. 
I>, I'l .S I'l El ..: ID 
ID ~ '" 

... '0 ... "0 ID ... 0 '" '0 .. . ~ Co) Co) A A I'iI ~ Cl 

Horned long cairns ... ... ... ... .. . ... 3 .. . 
Do. round cairns ... ... 3 ... ... .. . 1 1 

Unhorned long cairns . ... ... ... 1 .. . ... ... .. 
Round chambered cairns 3 2 3 4 ... 2 5 1 

Round cairns of uncertain 
type, with diameter of 40' 
and over 4 1 5 5 4 ... 5 ... 

Small cairns of uncertain type, 
with less diameter ... [1 1 .. . [ 1 [ ... [ 2 121 1 

Cairns in which cists have 

.. ·1 2121 21 .. ,[, .. [ 21 been exposed 3 

Cairns of uncertain type in· 
eluded above, with kerbs 
of boulders round base ... 1 ... 1 ... 

Do., chambered, do. ... .. , ... ... ... 
Do., with cists, do. ... 2 ... ... ... 

Chambers of horned cairns-
Tri partite . ... ... ... .. . ... 
Undivided . . . ... .. . 1 ... ... 

Chambers of unhorned cairns-
Tripartite . ... 1 ... ... ... 
Bipartite . 1 ... 1 3 .. . 
Undivided 1 ... ... ... .. . 
Uncertain. 1 1 4 2 ... 

Chambered cairns. . . 
Large cail'lls of uncertain type. 
Smaller cairns of !In certain type 
Cairns with cists 

Total number of cairns . 

... .. . 2 

... ... .. ... ... 1 

... 2 ... 

... 1 .. . 

.. . . , . 1 
1 2 1 
... ... ... 
1 4 ... 

.:l 
'" ,; 
I'l ~ 
0 pP ...:i 

... '" :::l '" b.O :$ .:;; ..., b.O '" i:<l 0 ~ 0 0 
....:l ....:l Eo-< Eo-< 

... .. . ... .. . ... 3 
1 1 ... ... .. . 7 
7 ..: 1 ... .. . 9 
1 4 ... ... 1 26 

--
45 

8 8 ... 2 1 43 

1·1,1···1 · .. 1···1" 

[ 1 

2 
... 
1 

.. . 

. .. 
1 
.. . 
... 

10 

I···I···I··· I···! 
2 
... 
... 

... 

... 

.. . 2 

... 2 

45 
43 17 12 

117 

.. . 

.. . 

.. . 

... 

... 

.. . 

... ... 
1 

... 1 

... .. . 

.. . .. . 

... .. . 

.. . ... 

.. . ... 

... ... 

... ... 

.. . 1 

12 

9 
... 
4 

2 2 
3 

11 
1 27 
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LIST OF GROUND PLANS AND ILLUSTRATIONS 

IN INVENTORY FOR THE 

COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 

I.-GROUND PLANS. 

PARISH. FIGUHE. NAME. No. I N 
I KVENTORY. 

Clyne 1 Broch, Castle Cole 25 
2 Broch, Carrol 27 
3 Hut circle, Sciberscross 32 
4 Mounds, do. 33 
5 Hut circle, do. 36 
6 Hut circle, Scottarie Burn 37 

Creich 7 Do. S. of Lairg Station 56 
8 Do. Swordale, 63 
9 Do. Tulloch 69 

10 Stone circle, Auchillduich 91 
11 Sculptured cross, Creich 95 

Doruoch 12 Hut circle, Creag an Amalaidh 111 
13 Do. do. 112 
14 Do. do. 113 
15 Do. do. 116 
16 Do. Torboll 126 
17 Do. Brae 129 
18 Chambered cairn, Torboll 134 
19 Do. Evelix 143 

Farr . 20 Hut circle, Dailharraild 207 
21 Do. Forsinard 223 
22 Do. do. 223 
23 Hut ruins, Dalhalvaig 224 
24 Hut ruin, do. 224 
25 Hut circle, B{ghouse 226 
26 Do. Dail a' Bhaite 230 
27 Do. do. 230 
28 Horned cairn, Skelpick 238 
29 Stone circle, Dailharraild 247 

- 30 Sculptured cross, Grumbeg 250 

Golspie 31 Earth-house, Kirkton 274 
32 Hut circle, Aberscross Hill 279 
33 Hut enclosure, Uppat Wood 281 
34 Chambered cairn, Benbhraggie Wood 289 
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Lairg 

Rogart 

PARISH. 

Clyne 

Kildonan . 

FIGURE. 

35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 
47 
48 
49 
50 
51 
52 
53 
54 

55 
56 
57 
58 
59 
60 
61 
62 
63 
64 

65 
66 
67 
68 
69 
70 
71 
72 
73 
74 
75 
76 

NAME. 

Broch, Kilphedir 
Do. Feranach 

Hut circle, Caen Burn 
Do. do. 

Earth-house, Salscraggie Lodge 
Hut circle, AUt Cille Pheadair 

Do. do. 
Do. do. 

Earth-house, Achinnearin 
Hut circle, Kildonan Burn. 

Do. do. 
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INVENTORY. 

307 
314 
318 
320 
324 
325 
327 
328 
343 
344 

Do. Creag Ruidh nan Caorach 
345 
350 
351 
352 
372 
~74 

Do. do. 
Do. Kinbrace Hill 

Chambered cairn, Kinbrace Burn 
Stone circle, Learable 

Do. do. 
Stone rows, Torrish Burn 

Do. Allt Breac 
Do. Learable Hill 

Brooh, Sallachadh 
Do. Allt Breac 

Hut circle, The Ord 
Do. do. 
Do. Strath Fleet 
Do. Dulaich 

Hut foundations, Feith Osdail 
Chambered cairn, Achany 
Stone circle, Druim Baile fiur 

Do. River Shin 

Broch, East Kinnauld 
Hut circle, Achnagarron 

Do. Skiag 
Do. Knockarthur 
Do. do. 
Do. do. 

Mound, do. 
Hut circle, etc., Dremergid 

Do. Cnoc an Liath·bhaid 
Do. Sciberscross 
Do. Tannachy 

Stone circle, Cnoc an Liath-bhaid 

375 
378 

(folder) 379 
(folder) 381 

392 
395 
398 
399 
414 
417 
439 
447 
461 
462 

477 
487 
490 
498 
499 
500 
501 

(folder) 503 
-506 
511 
512 
518 

Il.-ILL USTRA TlONS. 

PLATE. 

I. 
n. 

Ill. 
IV. 
V. 

VI. 

NAME. 

Broch, Castle Cole. 
Broch, Carrol (entrance 

interior) 
Broch, Kilphedir 
Cairns, Kinbraee Hill 
Stone rows, Torrish Burn 

Do. Learable Hill 

No. IN 
I NVENTORY. 

25 
passage from 27 

307 
368-370 

378 
381 
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from interior) 
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518 
520 

LIST OF PARISHES. 

Assynt . 
Clyne 
Creich 
Dornoch 
Durness. 
Eddrachillis 
Farr 

PAGE 
1 Golspie . 
7 Kildonan 

18 Lairg 
36 Loth 
52 Rogart 
56 Tongue 
58 

BIBLIOGRAPHY. 

Annals of Ulster. 
Antiquities and Scenery of the North of Scotland 

(Cordiner) 
A 1'chreologia Scotica 
Archaic Sculpturings (Sir J. Y. Simpson). 
Castellated and Domestic Architecture of Scotland 

(Macgibbon and Ross) 
Chronicle of the Picts and Scots. 
Early Christian Monuments of Scotland (Romilly 

Allen and Anderson) . 
Ecclesiastical Architecture of Scotland (Macgibbon 

and Ross) . 
Ecclesiological Notes (N eale) 
General View of the Agriculture of Sutherland 

(Henderson) 
Guide to Sutherland and Caithness (Morrison) 
Guide to the Highlands (Anderson) 

Landamabo7c. 
Laxdmla Saga. 
Macfarlane's Geographical Collections-Scot. Hist. 

Soc. 
Memorabilia Domestica (Sage). 
Old Lore Miscellany of Orkney, Shetland, Caithness, 

and Sutherland (Viking Club) 
Origines Pal'ochiales Scotire 
Or7cneyinga Saga. 

PAGB 
90 

104 
135 
160 
164 
183 

Abbreviated Reference. 

Cordiner's 
Antiquities. 

A1·ch. Scot. 

Cast. and Dom. A1"Ch. 

EaTly ChTist. Mon. 

Eccles. ATCh. 
N eale's Eccles. Notes. 
AgTicultuTe of 

Sttthe1"land. 
Morrison's Guide. 
Anderson's Gztide to 

the Highland!!. 

Macfarlane's Geog. 
Coll. 

Old LOTe Miscellany, 
etc. 

01·igines. 



xlvi HISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

Proceedings of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland 
Remarkable Ruins, etc., of North Britain (Cordiner) 
Saga, Laxdrela. 
Saga of Egil Skalagrimson. 
Saga of Gisli the Outlaw. 
Saga, Or7cneyinga. 
Scotlandin Pagan Times-The Bronze and Stone 

Ages (Anderson) 
Scotland in Pagan Times-The Iron Age (Anderson) 

Scottish Market Crosses (Small) 
Statistical Account 
Statistical Account, New 

Sutherland and the Reay Country (Gunn and Mackay). 
The Book of Mackay (Mackay). 
The Earldom of Sutherland (Gordon) 
The Scottish Gael (Logan). 
Torfams' History (Pope) 
Tour in Scotland (Pennant) 
TourR in Scotland (Pococke)-Scot. Hist. Soc. 
Transactions of the Aberdeen Ecclesiological Society, 

1891 
Transactions of the Gaelic Society of Inverness 

Transactions of the Inverness Scientific Society and 
Field Club . 

Vertebrate Fauna of Sutherland, Caithness, and 
West Cromarty (Harvie-Brown and Buckley) 

Views in Orkney and on the North-Eastern Coast of 
Scotland. Taken MDCCCV. and etched 
MDCCCVII. (Duchess of Sutherland) 

Abbreviated Reference. 
Antiqlla?·ies. 
Cordiner's Ruins. 

Anderson, TheB?'onze 
and Stone Ages. 

Anderson, The hon 
Age. 

Small's Crosses. 
Stat. Acct. 
New Stat. Acct. 

Suth., etc. 

Gordon. 

Torfreus. 
Pennant. 
Pococke. 
Tmns. Aberdeen 

Eccles. Soc. 
Trans. Gaelic Soc. 

Inv. 
Tmns. Inv. Scient. 

Soc. 
Vertebrate Fauna of 

Suth., etc. 

Views in Orkney, etc. , 



OF THE ANCIENT AND HISTORICAL MONUMENTS AND 

OONSTRUOTIONS IN THE -OOUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 

PARISH OF ASSYNT. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTURES. 

1. Burial Va~tlt, Inckna,dampk.-An arched burial vault within 
the churchyard is said to have formed part of the ancient Parish 
Ohurch, but it presents no features of architectural interest. It was 
the burial-place of the Macleods of Assynt. There are no monu­
ments or inscribed stones of any importance within it. 

See Origines, ii. pt. ii. p. 693; New Stat. Acct. Sutk., etc., xv. 
p. 111. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxi.* Visited, 9th June 1909. 

OASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

2. A1'dm'ec!c Castle is situated on the N. side of Loch Assynt, 
about 1i m. from Inchnadamph, on the neck of a long rocky 
peninsula. It has been a simple rectangular keep, with a round 
stair-case tower at the SE. angle, cor belIed out on the upper floors to 
form square rooms, the turret stair to the upper rooms being carried 
on corbelling in the re-entering angle. In the basement have been 
three vaulted apartments, that running parallel with the S. wall 
being merely a passage 3' 9" wide, into which t,he doorway entered 
from the E. The first floor has also been vaulted. The castle is in 
a very ruinous state. The N. wall has entirely disappeared and the 
E. and W. are fragmentary, It is said to have been built towards the 
end of the 16th century, and that the Ma.rquess of Montrose was 
taken t·o it after his capture in 1650. 

See Cast. and Dam. Ank., iii. p. 631 (plan and illus.); New Stat. 
Acct. Sutk., etc., xv. p. 111. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxi. Visited, 10th June 1909. 

3. Calda House, locally known as " the White House," is also situ­
ated on the N. side of Loch Assynt, about 1 m. from Inchnadamph, at 
its SE. end and not far from Ardvreck Castle. The structure is much 
ruined. It is an oblong block 54' long by 43' wide, divided in two 
by a wall running down the centre. The side facing the loch has 
entirely disappeared. It is said to have been erected in 1660 by the 
3rd E. of Seafort.h. 

See Cast. and Dam. Ank., iii. p. 632 (illus.); New Stat. Acct. 
Sutk., etc., xv. p. 111. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxi. Visited, 10th June 1909. 
* This reference throughout is to the Ordnance Survey maps, 6-inch maps. 

1 
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PARISH OF ASSYNT. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

4. An D'un, Looh A1'dbhai1'.-This broch or dun stands on an 
isolated rock at. the S. end of Loch Ardbhair on its east shore, about 
100 feet from the mainland, to which it is connected by a rough 
Ioadway of boulders, now in part displaced. The broch is only 
approachable at low tide, and at high water there is little space 
between the edge of the rock and the base of the building. It is a 
circular dry-built construction with an interior diameter of 24', the wall 
being 10' 6/1 thick near the base. The entrance passage is from the S., 
is only 2' wide at the interior end, and remains to a height of 3' 6/1 on 
the left side. The exterior end is not measurable. Of the outside wall 
only one or two of the lowest courses of the building remain visible 
in places, and the rest is concealed by ruins. The interior' has 
probably been cleared of debris, and there the wall exists to a height 
of 7' 4/1. There are no signs of chambers in the wall, nor of galleries; 
the building is poor; the stones are not carefully selected and laid, 
and the numerous interstices are packed with small angular 
fragments. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xlix. Visited, 7th June 1909. 

5. An Dun, Clashnessie.-On the W. sioe of the Bay of Clash­
nessie are the remains of a dun. On a prominent flat-topped rock 
which rises abruptly to a height of some 30' above the shelf that 
fringes the shore, are the remains of an irregular elliptical structure 
following to some extent the outline of the rock and measuring over 
all about 36' X 26'. Only the foundations remain. The entrance has 
been at the landward end. On either side the rock is cut off by 
a deep chasm, up which the waves dash, and to seawards it is 
precipitous. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lviii. Visited, 8th June 1909. 

6. An Dunain, Cullcein.-At the N. end of the Bay of Culkein are 
the remains of a fortress of great strength. A promontory is divided 
into two portions by a chasm bridged over by a neck of rock 80me 3' 
to 4' long, about 5' deep, and not more than I' 6/1 broad. The outward 
portion to which this bridge leads rises abruptly from the shelving 
rocks below to a height of about 50'. Its surface is some 50' long by 
20' broad. At the W., or landward end, for a distance of some 20' 
there are remains of building, which, above the cliff to the N., is still 
visible to a height of 3' or 4'; elsewhere there are only indications of a 
wall running along the N. side. About 40' landward from the bridge 
the neck of the promontory has been traversed by a wall of great 
strength, about 7' thick, faced out,wardly with huge blocks of stone­
one on the left of the entrance being 3' high, 2' 10" across the base, 
and 2' thick. The entrance has been at the S. end of this wall, through 
a passage 8' long and apparently 3' 6/1 wide. The right side is com­
pletely ruined. The area enclosed within the wall is roughly oval, 
measuring about 40' by 37'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xlviii. Visited, 8th June 1909. 

7. Brooh, Claohtoll.-At Clachtoll, on the edge of the flat ledges 
of rock that fringe the shore at the S. end of the Bay of Stoer, 
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is a broch. Its position is not a very strong one to the landward 
side, and its outworks on that account are somewhat exceptional. 
About 100 yards distant are the remains of a massive outer wall, 
much ruined, crossing the uncultivated land to the E. The land to 
the S. being all cultivated, the out works in that direction have been 
demolished. At 40' distant from the broch is another wall built of 
great stones, 2' to 3' in height and some 6' in thickness, which leads 
from either side of the entrance and was evidently carried round to 
enflank the building. On the S. the details are still evident. At 
the turning it enclosed a mound of stone and earth about 8' across, 
faced with building on the inner side. The distance between the 
stone uprights of the gateway through this wall is 6'. The broch is 
in a fairly good state of preservation, except towards the sea, where 
it has been for a short distance almost demolished. The interior is 
very full of debris, and the greatest height of wall showing above it 
is only about 3'. On the outside the wall is in places 6' to 7' high, 
and the top of the interior face is 3' to 4' above that. The thickness 
of the wall at its highest level is 12', but as the ruins block the 
passage in the interior it is not possible to obtain that measurement 
at base. The interior diameter is 32'. The entrance is from the E. 
A large triangular stone, 4' 6/1 long, 3' 10/1 high, and I' thick, forms the 
outer lintel, as at Dornadilla (No. 155). At the outside the entrance 
passage is 3' wide and now about 3' 6/1 high. At 4' from the exterior are 
door jambs on either side, beyond which the passage suddenly widens 
to 3' 10/1, and gradually expands as it leads inwards to a width of 
4' 2/1 opposite to the entrances to guard chambers, which are reached 
3' in rear of the door jambs. These chambers are opposite to each 
other, and the entrances to them are about 2" 5/1 wide, and, at 
present, only 2' high. Except for a short portion near the middle, 
the roof of the passage is entirely covered with flags. The 
chamber on the right of the entrance extends inwards following the 
curve of the wall for 12', and the highest point of its overlapping 
roof is 6' from the present floor level. The chamber on the left is 
small and low, and a hole in the back of it suggests a connection 
with something beyond. In the interior of the broch, and directly 
opposite the entrance, the top of the stairway is visible. The stair 
itself probably exists for 12' or 14' downwards, but is concealed by 
debris to within 3' of the roof, which partially covers it. It 
apparently was entered from the wall on the interior to the left of the 
main entrance. The masonry of this broch is good owing to the 
horizontal cleavage of the sandstone of which it is built. 

A steatite cup was found many years ago in a recess of the wall 
of the guard chamber, on the right of the entrance passage, by the 
Rev. J. M. Joass, LL.D., Golspie, in whose possession it still is. 

The O.S. map indicates" Tumuli " about 100 yards to the S. of 
the broch. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lviii. Visited, 8th June 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES AND ASSOCIATED OONSTRUCTIO:tiS. 

8. AUt A1·dbhair.-On the left bank of the Allt Ardbhair, about 
1- m. above Loch Ardbhair, on a fertile little haugh fringed in with 
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birch woods, are the remains of several small circular huts. One 
towards the E. end of the haugh has an interior diameter of 5'. 
Another is somewhat larger. They are set on low hillocks. 

About 80 yards further down the burn is an oval enclosure 
measuring interiorly some 18' x 6', and another, about 50 yards 
on wards, measures 7' X I)'. 

These are probably the remains of summer sheilings. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xlix. (unnoted). Visited, 7th .June 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

9. Oai1'n, T1'aligill BU1'n, Inchnadamph.-On the right bank of 
the Traligill Burn, about 1 m. E. by N. from Inchnadamph Hotel, on 
the summit of a slight rocky ridge, is a cairn. It is considerably 
dilapidated, and its original outline can only be conjectured, but it 
appears to have been circular, with a diameter of about 50'. It is 
still 6' to 7' in height. Several large fiat stones are ex.posed lying 
unevenly about the top, but there is no sign of a chamber or cist 
ha ving been opened. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxi. (unnoted). Visited, 10th June 1909. 

10. Oaim, Loch Awe.-Immediately W. of the S. end of Loch 
Awe, at an elevation of about 200' above it, and just above an old 
enclosure studded with heaps of stones (which do not appear to be 
of a sepulchral character), is a cairn. It is circular, or rather slightly 
oval, with a diameter of 63' from N. to S. and 70' from E. to W., but 
as the ground falls away sharply to the E., the extra length of the 
diameter may be due to the fall of the stones down the slope. On 
the top, 15' from the N. edge, is a depression running S. for about 
20' and measuring 10' across at its greatest width;' and there is 
another hollow towards the E. Neither of these shows signs of 
recent excavation. There are some large slabs lying about on the top 
of the cairn, but there is no sign of either chamber or cist exposed. 
The cairn is still 7' to 8' high. 

11. Ohambered Oaim, Ledbeg Rive1'.-On the top of a knoll, just 
to the S. of the road bridge over the Ledbeg River at Lyne, and 
about 50' E. of the road, are the remains of a large circular cairn, 
much dilapidated, and in great part removed. Three of the large 
upright blocks which have formed the sides and end of the chamber 
remain in situ, and a small stone protrudes between two of the 
larger ones at the NW. The two largest stones measure 4' across 
the base, are l' 5" thick, and 3' to 4' high, The diameter of the 
cairn has been about 36'. The end stone of the chamber is about 23' 
from the S. edge. The side stones, which are slightly divergent, are 
6' apart. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxii. (unnoted). Visited, 11th June 1909. 

12. Oairn, Oam Loch.-About ~ m. ESE. of the most south-easterly 
arm of Cam Loch, on the low-lying ground between the high road 
and the river, is a large circular cairn, with a diameter of 60' from 
N. to S. and 54' from E. to W. At 21' from the N. edge the top of a 
large slab is visible standing upright facing N. and S., measuring 4' 
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across, but there is no chamber or cist exposed, The cairn at highest 
is about 6' high. It has been much disturbed on the top. 

13. Ohambered Oaim, Loch B01'1'olan,-About i m. from the NW. 
end of Loch Borrolan, between the road and the loch at the land ward 
end of a point which projects into the latter, is a circular cairn, totally 
demolished on the E. side. It has had a diameter of about 60', At 
19' in from where the edge has been on the E. side are two large 
slabs facing each other 4' 10" apart, and 7' further W, are two low 
partition stones of a chamber, with their ends facing each other 2' 6" 
apart. 7' E. of the partition slabs two slabs just visible above the 
ground probably mark the E. end of the chamber, The greatest 
height of the remaining portion of the cairn is 7'. 

14. Do. do.-About t m. NW. of Aultnacealgach Hotel, on the 
slope of the hill about lOO' above Loch Borrolan, is a cairn which has 
been very completely excavated. It has a diameter of 44'. 16' in 
from the outer edge is a chamber measuring about 10' long and 6' 3" 
broad across the centre, with its longest axis WNW. and ESE. It 
is polygonal in form, constructed of six large slabs having the 
inters paces filled with building, except between the two large stones 
at the ESE., where the space is filled up with round boulders and 
earth, and in the NNW. corner, where there is a recess. This recess 
is 4' 6" in length and 2' 6/1 in depth, and is roofed with overlapping 
stones. Its outer edge is marked off by a double line of fiat stones, 
partially superimposed, about 6" or 8" in breadth. There are no 
signs of paving behind it. The greatest height frolD the floor of the 
chamber to the top of the cairn is 6' 6". No sign of an entrance 
passage is visible, but the filling between the two slabs at the ESE. 
indicates its existence. 

Several small fragments of unornamented pottery, parts of a single 
vessel with walls about i" in thickness, were recovered on excava­
tion. They are coarse in quality, the clay being immixed with 
numerous small pieces of quartz and stone. The interior surface 
is blackened and smooth. They are preserved in the Museum at 
Dunrobin. 

15. (Jai1'n, do.-About 400 yards NNW. of Allltnacealgach Hotel, 
on the side of the hill, and about lOO' above Loch Borrolan, is a 
circular cairn, with a diameter of some 50' and height of from 5' to 6'. 
There is an irregular depression on the top, and some large stones 
have been displaced, but no chamber or cist has been revealed. The 
cairn has been broken into for a short distance on the E. side. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xci. (unnoted). Visited, 11th June 1909, 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

16. Old Gmveya1'd, Loch A1·dbhai1'. - At the head of Loch 
Ardbhair, on the S. shore, nearly opposite the broch (No. 4) and 
just to the SE. of the sheep-folds, is situated an ancient graveyard. 
It is so covered with small stones as to suggest at first that it is the 
site of a settlement, but closer inspection shows that the graves have 
each been outlined and covered with stones, probably to prevent 
their desecration by wild animals. No symbols or letters are 
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observable on any of the stones. The graveyard, which roughly 
measures 78 ' x 51', has been at one time enclosed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xlix. Visited, 7th June 1909. 
17. Old Gmveya1'd and Ruins, Oldany Island.-On the W. side of 

the vale or "flow" which runs through the cen tre of the Island of 
Oldany, and rather nearer the N. end than the centre, on the top of a 
low spur of the hill, is an ancient burial ground. The graves here 
have all been outlined with flat stones, and similar stones have in 
some instances been placed on the top of them. The spot bears the 
name" Baile na Cille." 

At the back of the burial ground, against the hill, are tbe ruins of 
a rude structure outlined with great slabs of rock set on end, the 
largest 3' high, 3' broad, and l' thick. It is roughly rectangular, and 
lies almost N. and S., measuring interiorly some 12' x 10', with an 
entrance from the E. Attached to it is a smaller building about 13' 
long by 8" wide , with a circular structure, possibly an oven, in the 
NE. corner about 3' high and 5' diameter. 

In the vicinity are the remains of several small circular and oval 
huts of 5' or 6' diameter. 

See Stat . .Acct., xvi. p. 205. 
O.S.M .. SUTH., xlviii. Visited, 8th June 1909. 

18. Enclosu1'e, Inchnadamph.-On the haugh, by the side of the 
graveyard at Inchnadamph, is an oval enclosure surrounded by a 
bank some 2' to 3' high and 25' broad at base, the interior of which 
measures 134' X 86'. A slight hollow running alongside the mound 
on its inner side is probably due to the ' formation of the latter. 
There appear to be two entrances from the N. and E. respectively.* 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxi. Visited, 10th June 1909. 
19. Oaves, Inchnadamph.-About 1 m. up the Allt nan Uamh, a 

tributary of the River Loanan, which flows into Loch Assynt at its 
upper end, are a series of caves in a limestone cliff some 200' above 
the level of the stream on the S. Evidences of human occupation 
were found in one of these which was excavated, about 2' below the 
surface; and from 3' to 4' in depth there was also found, among 
other osseous fragments, a finely preserved canine tooth of the brown 
bear. 

See Tmns. Inv. Scient. Soc., iv. p. 118. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxii. 
SITES. 

20. Ohapel and Gmveyard, Feadain, Loch Roe.-The site of this 
chapel is said to lie about 25' back from the N. bank of Loch 
Fasg an t-Seana Chlaidh, to the E. of Feadain, near an old rowan tree; 
but a heap of stones, structureless and featureless, is all that. remains. 

A small level area in front of the crofter's house, kept un­
cultivated, is said to be the site of the graveyard. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxix. Visited, 9th June 1909. 
* This is said to have been the place where the Chief of the Macleods slept, 

surrounded by his followers, in time of'danger. It is, however, in a very assail­
able position. 
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21. An Dun, Stoll'l'.-The O.S. map indicates a construction 

" An Dun" towards the NW. end of Loch-an-Aigeil, and between the 
loch and the Bay of Stoer, but there is nothing now observable on 
the site. 

O.S.M., SUTH., Iviii . Visited, 8th June 1909. 

. PARISH O:F CLYNE. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTURES. 

22. Belfry Towe1', Olyneki1·kton.-Situated on the top of a knoll 
some 12' to 13' high, to the NW. of the church at Clynekirkton, 
is a small circular tower some 29' in circumference and about 10' 
in height to the base of its conical roof and 14' to the apex, pierced 
with small square openings at the top of the wall. Before the present 
roof was put on, the belfry had two large square apertures opposite 
each other in the roof. The present square openings beneath the 
roof were the recesses for the beam ends connected with the support 
of the bell. 

See Oast. and Dom. Anh., v. p. 221. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xcviii. Visited, 9th August 1909. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 
23. Brooh, Ooioh BU1·n.-Situated on the top of a bank some 60' or 

70' above the bed of the Ooich Burn, i m. above its junction with 
the River Brora, and on its E. bank, about 1 m. ENE. of Sciberscross, 
are the remains of a broch. Little of the structure is left. On the 
SW. the wall has been entirely demolished, and on the NW. the 
exterior face of the wall exists to a height of about 3', and that only 
for a short distance. In the interior a small portion of wall, about 
4' high, remaills on the E. side. The interior diameter has been 28' 
and the thickness of the wall 13'. In the wall towards the NW. the 
top of a chamber, about 3' across, is exposed. No other details are 
visible. 

O.S.M., Sun!., xcvii. Visited, 19th August 1909. 
24. B1'ooh, Kilb1'are, Scotta1'ie Burn.-On the right bank of the 

Scottarie Burn, about! m. above its junction with the River Brora, 
and near the shepherd's house at Kilbrare, the O.S. map indicates 
a "brough." The broch, which has occupied a most commanding 
position on an isolated knoll, has entirely disappeared and a sheep 
stell has taken its place. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. Visited, 19th August 1909. 
25. Brooh, Oastle Oole or Oaisteal na Ooille.-This is perhaps the 

most picturesquely situated broch in the county. It. occupies an 
almost impregnable position on the left bank of the Blackwater, 
about 2 m. above the junction of that stream with the River Brora. 
Below a gorge where the Blackwater has cut its way through cliffs 
which rise to a height of 70' or 80' is an isolated rock, precipitous 
towards the river, which flows past it on two sides, and steep to 
landward. From the moorland in rear of it, it is cut off by a 
gully down which a small stream flows. On thi.s rock stands the 
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broch. It is entered from the ESE. through a passage 12' 10" in 
length, 2' 8" in width at the exterior end, and 3' 6" in the interior. 
At 5' in from the outside is a rebate of 6" on either side for a door, and 
4' 8" further in is a similar rebate 8" wide. On the right of the 
passage beyond the first door check, but at what exact distance is 
uncertain owing to the ruin of the wall, was the entrance to a 
guard chamber. It led through a passage some 4' in length, one 
lintel of which at the inner end, measuring 3' 7" in length, still 
remains. The chamber, which is largely filled with debris, measures, 
as far as exposed, 5' 8" in length by 5' in breactth. Two lintel slabs 
remain in position at the exterior end of the entrance to the broch, 
and the height of the doorway at present is about 5'. The broch 
is circular in the interior, with a diameter of 21'. Towards the SW., 
above the river, the wall has entirely disappeared to the foundation, 
which is 12' across. On the N. the wall is 8' high, which is the 

l~ttflltHlI~+tllll#lr_-+r __ f-l-°_-4rfu.T 
FIG. l.-Broch, Castle Cole (No. 25). 

greatest height in the interior, and on the exterior the greatest 
elevation is towards the E., where it is 10' high. At its greatest 
height the wall is 10' in thickness. There are remains of a chamber 
in the thickness of the wall visible 6' from the back wall of the 
guard chamber. The upper part only is exposed above the debris 
with which it is filled and is 4' wide; its length is unascertainable. 
At a point 11' 6" back from the inner end of the entrance on the 
S. side and 4' in from the interior, the wall of another chamber is 
visible among the ruins. N either of the entrances to these chambers 
remains apparent. At 6' to the left of the entrance on the interior 
is a recess on the present ground level 2' square, and at intervals 
in the interior about the same level are four other small square 
recesses, measuring three of them respectively l' 4" across, l' 6", and 
9". Where the wall has fallen away there are indications of another, 
aDd above the first two recesses from the right of the entrance are 
others measuring l' X 10". The third and fourth recesses from the 
right of the entrance are at 6" higher level than the other two. The 
base of the rock on the landward side has been protected by a wall 
running for a part of its length along the top of a rocky outcrop. 
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PLATE I.- Broch, Castle Cole (No. 25)' 

'/'11 face I'. 8. 
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A small portion of it is visible at the SE. and towards the N. A 
similar wall appears to have encircled the summit (fig. 1 and PI. 1.). 

See Antiqu,a1'ies, xv. p. 310 (plan); Anderson, The Iron Age, 
p. ] 85 (ill us.) ; Agriculture of Sutherland, p. 170 (illus.); New Stat. 
Acct. Suth., etc., xv. p. 154; J.'he Scottish Gael, i. p. 17. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxviii. Visited, 20th August 1909. 

26. B1'och, Killin.-About li m. SE. of Oldtown and i m. back 
from the old road leading thence to Wester Olynekirktoll, at an 
elevation of some 650' above the sea, are the ruins of a broch, now 
a stl'uctureless mass of stones. What was probably the entrance 
is exposed towards the WNW. by one side of the passage for a 
distance of about 10'. At the inner end of the wall face, placed at 
right angles to the line of its direction, is a remarkable slab standing 
5' 4" above present level and 3' broad by 6" to 8" thick, which may 
have formed one of the jambs of the doorway. A very small portion 
of the outer wall is visible for a foot 01' two of its height on the N. 
and a part of the outer wall of a chamber on the S. The inner face 
of the broch wall is in no place exposed, and without excavation it is 
not possible to obtain accurate measurements. The massive rampart 
which protects the broch on the W., some 200 yards distant, appears 
to be of natural formation. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. Visited, 24th August 1909. 

27. Broch, Can·ol.-On the W. side of Loch Brora, about i ill. S. of 
Oarrol Rock and 4k m. NW. of Brora, at an elevation of about 200' 
above the level of the loch,is situated the broch of Oarrol. The entrance 
is from the ESE. through a passage 14' in length, 2' 9" wide at the 
outer end, and 3' 9" at the inner. The passage has been protected by 
two doors, the checks of which occur at 3' 4" and 9' I" from the outside. 
Within the outer checks the passage is 3' 10" wide. Its greatest 
height is 5' 8", and the roofing remains almost complete, only two 
slabs being awanting. Behind the inner jambs are bar holes at 
2' and 2' 4" respectively from present ground level. That on the W. 
side passes through the wall into the chamber to the S. of the stair. 
At a distance of 2' behind the outer checks, or 5' 11" from the outside, 
on the right of the passage, is the entrance to a guard-chamber 2' wide, 
3' 6" long, and 3' 11" high. The chamber closely resembles that at 
Kintradwell. It is oval, 8' 6" long by 6' 4" wide, and 9' 6" high. The 
roof is entire, except for an aperture in the apex about 2' square. The 
diameter of the interior of tbe broch is from 30' 6" to 31', At 19' 
distant from the W. side of the doorway on the interior is the entrance 
to a chamber and stair 3' 6" above the present floor level, through a 
passage 6' long, 2' 10" wide at the entrance, and 3' 7" in the interior. 
The stair rises to the right for 11'. Thirteen steps are visible, varying 
,from 2' 6" to 3' 3" in length, 7" to 8" across the tread, and 4" 1,0 5" in 
height . . To the left a narrow passage 18' long and about 2' 6" wide 
leads to a chamber some 7' 6" long and 4' wide at the back, which is 
straight. Only a small portion of the roof remains at the back of 
the chamber, which is 9' high above present floor level. The steps 
which have been described as leading down to this chamber are now 
obscured with debris. The breadth of wall across the top of the 
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stair is 14' 8". The greatest height of wall above the present floor level 
in the interior is 13', and the average height about 10'. Some 9' above 
floor level is a scar cement about I ' 6" wide. The greatest height of wall 
visible on the exterior is 5'. From a point 7' distant from the side 
of the entrance passage towards the E. a portion of a gallery remains 
for 25', with a width of from l ' 8" t.o 2'. The width of the opening 
on to the interior above the entrance passage is about 2' 11". 

Outside the broch a well-built wall from 7' to 8' thick surrounds it 
at a distance of about 23' on the N., 28' on the NW., and 13' on the 
S., having a ditch or trench outside it about 20' in width. The 
approach through these defences is in line with the entrance to the 
broch. The main wall, where it passes through it, is some 38' dis­
tant; and an outer wall, 7' thick, which here takes the place of the 

FIG. 2.-Broch, Carrol (No. 27). 

counterscarp of the ditch, is about 52' distant. From the main or 
inner wall a passage 5' wide, walled on either side, leads to the broch. 
Some 53' to the S. of the entrance a small passage leads through the 
wall on the inner side of the ditch under a lintel, 3' wide, and, from 
present level, 2' high. The moor to the W. is marshy, and, in conse­
quence, the ditch appears to have been discontinued in that direction. 

The setting of flagstones inside the broch on the left of the 
entrance, measnring 7' by 3', is in rather a ruinous state, and the 
flags are getting displaced. Lying in the interior is a round stone, 
with a circular depression on the top, in which the pivot of a door has 
evidently worked. 

The broch has been excavated, and the relics found are preserved 
in the Museum at DUlll'obin. These included a steatite cup, with a 
side handle; a rude shale ring; and a concave oval plate of ox horn, 
like the bowl of a large spoon, with four rivet holes at one end and 
two iron rivets in situ (fig. 2 and PI. n.). 

Some 40 yards to the N. of the broch is an ill-defined enclosure 
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PLAT'!;: II.- Broch , Canol: Elltrance Passage from Interior (Nu. 27). 

To face p. 10. 
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measuring about 66' in length by 33' at the W. end and considerably 
less at the E. 

The shallow weem-ljke structure noted in A1'Ch. Scat., 8' in diameter 
at top, and with well- built wall, is visible about 80 yards to the SE. 
of the entrance to the broch. The walling around it is now almost 
obscured by grass. The trench running NE. from it is still apparent, 
and is also visible running towards the bank of the Allt Coire 
Aghaisgeig on the SW. 

See A1'Ch. Scat., v. pt. i. p. 107; (relics illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. Visited, 25th September 1909. 

28. B1'och, Ducha1·y.-Towards the S. end of Lo.ch Brora, about 
1 m. SE. of the Carrol broch, and some 300 yards W. of the road, on 
a slight knoll, whose green surface is conspicuous in the heather, are 
the remains of a broch. It is much overgrown with vegetation, and 
in no place is the face of the inner wall visible. The diameter over 
all has been 58'. The entrance seems to have been from the E. On 
the right or N. of its presumed position are signs of a chamber, with 
suggestions of another on the S. side. Slightly to the S. of a point 
directly opposite the entrance are remains of another cham bel'. The 
height of the mound formed by the ruins is about 5'. A small 
enclosure, about 15' in width, has extended round about i of the 
circumference of the broch from NE. to N. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 30th September 1909. 

29. P01't, Ducha1'Y Rock.-Froltl Kilmain, a crofter township 2 m. 
W. of Brora, an old peat road leads NW. into the deer forest for 
nearly 2 m. To the E. of this road near its termination rises 
abruptly a massive rock, precipitous on the E. and W., with a steer 
slope at the S. end, and a comparatively easy approach from the 
NW. It bears the name of the Duchary Rock. The level summit 
whl3re, not defended by nature, has been strongly fortified by a wall. 
This wall at the N. or NW. end is 12' in thickness, in places 3' high, 
and well built of flat stones. It is pierced towards the NW. by an 
entrance passage 6' wide between the faces of the . opposing walls. 
The wall forming the W. side of the entrance passage is faced with 
two large fiat slabs apparently in situ. Some 14' outside the wall at 
this entrance are the foundations of an outer wall some 7' thick 
seeming to run from a point on the main wall about 10' E. of the 
opening and to meet it again at the edge of the steep slope 80' or 100' 
to westward, thus covering the entrance. Between the steep cliffs 
at the S. end is another wall some 70' in length and 10' thick through 
which is an entrance 4' wide. On the W. side of it is an indication 
of a chamber in the v.;all. The total length of the interior is some 
260 yards, and the average width about 60 yards. The immense 
mass of debris indicates that the height of the walls was con-
siderable. . 

Some 30' below the outer wall at the SE. is a natural rock shelter, 
the covered area measuring about 12' X 17'. 

In the rocks facing eastwards some 100 yards NE. of the NW. 
entrance under a large rock is the entrance to an underground passage 
apparently natural. At its commeneement it is about 2' wide and ::V 



12 lIISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

PARISH OF CLYNE. 

high. It passes inwards in a southerly direction for about 13', then, 
turning sharply to the right, runs onward for 18' or 20' further with 
a width of some 15". 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 30th September 1909. 

HUT OIRCLES, AND ASSOCIATED OONSTRUCTIONS. 

30. Easte1' Clyneki1"kton.-On the moorland above the eastmost 
crofts of Easter Olynekirkton is a scattered group of ,mounds, small 
and inconspicuous. 

31. Clyne1nilton.-On the hillside, about! m.NNW. of Olynemilton 
West, at an elevation of about 300' above sea-level, is a group of 
prominent mounds of the small type, all of which appear to have been 
excavated. They have numbered about fifteen. 

At the extreme upper end of the group is a hut circle, much 
worn away, and showing no peculiar features. Some 40' W. of it is a 
depression of about 10' interior diameter, encircled with a bank about 
5' thick The bottom of the depression is some 2' below the top of 
the bank and l' 6" below the natural level. 

Some 30' SE. of the last is a hut circle, the entrance to which 
has been excavated. The interior diameter is about 24' x 31'. The 
thickness of the encircling bank is about 5', increasing to about 9' on 
either side of the entrance, which is from the SE. Adjoining it, at 
the S. side of the entrance, is a mound which has been excavated. 
Some 40 yards S. is another hut circle of ordinary type, with the 
entrance from the SE., and about 100 yards W. is another small hut 
circle of simple oval form. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcviii. Visited, 9th August 1909. 

32. Scibe1·sC1"Oss.-Sorne 40 yards NNW. of Sciberscross House is a 
hut circle, with a group of five or six small mounds around it. The 

circle measures interiorly some 31' x 35', and the enclosing bank or 
wall is about 5' in thickness. Some 14' in from what appears to be the 
entrance, which is from the SE., a bank or wall, 3' in thickness, curves 
across the circle from one side to the other, thus cutting off the back 
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portion and forming another enclosure some 13' X 14' facing th~ 
entrance. Adjoining the entrance in the outer bank or wall are 
two large upright stones, conspicuous from the lower ,slope of the 
hill, but though they are set with their broad faces across the direc­
tion of the bank, the space between them appears to have been built 
up. The position of the entrance, if such existed, to the back part 
of the circle is not apparent (unnoted) (fig. 3). 

33. Do.-Some 600 yards NNW. of the farm-house of Sciberscross, 
on the E. side of the road that leads across the moor to Ben Armine 
Lodge, is a small group of mounds larger and more conspicuous than 
usual. The mound nearest to the road 
has a diameter of 24' and height of 
about 3'; another, 3~' N., is 29' in 
diameter and in height 3' 6" to 4'. On 
the top of the latter is a depression of 
about 8" in depth and 6' in diameter. 

Some 100 yards E. of the road is a 
19.ng low mound about 3' high, with its 
longest axis NNE. and SSW. 39' in 
length, 19' in breadth at the SSW. end, 
and 11' at the NNE. extremity. 12' 
distant from it, at the N. end, lies a 
small mound of 11' diameter, and 9' away 
at the opposite end is another, 13' in 
diameter (fig. 4). 

To the S. of the mounds are the faint 
indications of an ancient enclosing bank. 
Where it forms an angle there appears to 
have been an entrance, and abutting on 
one side of it a small enclosure measur-

t 

ing about 9' X 12' in interior diameter. ~\}?-. 
In the vicinity are several small circular ..::::: =:::. 
enclosures of about ID' interior diameter, -::1i71~ 
with banks about 4' thick and entrances \' 
from the SE. One of these is set against l.°IIlIl~",F · t loruT 
the end of a fairly large mound, which FIG. 4.-Mounds, Scibel'scl'osS 
has, in cl)nsequence, been slightly dilapi- (No. 33). 

dated. Many other mounds lie around. 
34. Do.-Some 400 yards N. of the farm-honse is a considerable 

group of mounds, SOllle of them larger than usual, and in conjunction 
with those above mentioned, they stretch along the hillside eastward 
for nearly! m. 

One mound near the W. ~nd of the group, lying ESE. and WNW., 
measures 29' in length by 13' at tbe W. end, and ID' at the E. It is 
about 2' higb. Another near it, lying N. and S., measures 25' X 15'. 

, Olo~~ .by i~ a large circular enclosure, well defined, measuring 
44 X 46 mtenorly, surrounded by a bank about ID' in thickness 
and having an entrance probably from the SE., but indefinite. ' 

Facing southward near it is a semicircular enclosure 52' across the 
opening, with a bank about 2' high and 8' to 10' across. A mound 
near it measures 33' in diameter. 
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The. mounds of this group are large and very numerous, some of 
them measuring from 20' to 30' in diameter, and from 3' to 3' 6/1 in 
height. Towards the NE. they are rather smaller, and some have 
been excavated, but there are no cists exposed. At this end is a 
small hut circle,- measurillg 13' X 19' interiorly, with a bank 5' thick 
in the circumference widening to 13' on either side of the entrance. 
There are remains of numerous old banks or walls running along the 
hillside. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (unnoted). Visited, 19th August 1909. 

35. Do.-Some t m. NE. of the farm-house is an elliptical 
enclosure 23' long by 7' wide, with an entrance 2' 6/1 wide towards the 
E. passing through the wall near the S. end by the side of a large 
earth-fast boulder. 

Near the lower end of the group of mounds, etc., directly above 
the point where the highest part of the birch wood to the K of 
Sciberscross terminates towards the W., and about 150 yards distant 
from it, is a mound formed of largish stones, considerably overgrown 
with peat, lying with its longest axis NNW. and SSE. It is 30' 
in length by 15' in breadth and I' to 2' in height. On the NW. 
extremity of it is placed a small round mound of 11' diameter and 
1r to 2' in height. 

36. Ooich Burn.-On the hill to the NE. of the Coich Burn, 
beginning about 200 yards NE. of the broch (No. 23), there is a 
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FIG. 5.-Hut Circle, Sciberscross (No. 36). 

group of mounds. Some of them, especially those high up on the 
hill, are larger than usual, and resemble those near Sciberscross. 
Among them run the remains of banks of old enclosures, and there 
are other signs of occupancy of the ground. 

On the lower slope of the hill, towards the SE. of the group, on a 
natural terrace, is a large hut circle of indefinite detail. Some 100 
yards NE. of it is another showing the remains of much stone work 
in its construction. It has an interior diameter of )l.bout 36'.. The 
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entrance is from the SE. through a passage 11' long and 2' 6" wide. 
At the back of the interior, abutting on the bank or wall on the R, is 
a smaller enclosure measuring interiorly 20' X 22' , with a wall 3' 6" 
in thickness, and an entrance opposite the main entrance 2' wide. 
At one side of the entrance to this inner enclosure its wall curves 
inwards for a distance of 7'. The wall of the main enclosure is 
about 5' thick, widening towards the entrance on either side (fig. 5). 

About 150 yards to the eastward is a stone-built circle, with 
an interior diameter of about 26'. The entrance is from the SE., and 
the wall is about 6' thick. There are no division walls in the 
interior. From its E. side the remains of an allcient wall pass 
indefinitely dowll the hill. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 19th August 1909. 
'37. Scotta1'ie Bum.-About 100 yards SW. of the site of the 

Lroch at Kilbrare, on the Scottarie Burn, is a small circular en­
closure of about 17' interior diameter. The entrance is from the 
SE. and is about 2' wide. The bank or wall, which is about 5' thick, 
is on its inner face lined with large contiguous houlders from I' to 
If high and If to 2' across. One or two small mounds lie near. 

On the hillside, to the SW. of the shepherd's house at Kilbrare, 
is a group of small mounds, some of which have been opened. 

Below the upper end of the group is a hut circle of simple oval 
form, the outline of which, however, is rather indefinite. 

About t m. up the glen of the Scottarie Burn, OD its W. side, 
is a stone-built hut circle of 34' interior diameter. The entrance 
is from the E. through a passage 9' long and 3' wide. The wall, now 
broken down, is about 5' 6" in thickness, widening towards the 
entrance. 

Some 150 yards higher up the glen are the ruins of an oblong 

FIG. 6.-Hut Circle, Scottarie Burn (No. 37). 

structure, with walls entirely of stone, in the construction of which 
very large boulders have been used. The entrance is from the SE. 
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The total length of the interior is 46', and the greatest width 18'. 
The wall is 7' thick, expanding to 10' on either side of the entrance, 
which is 4' wide. At the back of the interior are the ruins of a 
circular building measuring 15' X 14' over all, but as the space 
occupied by it is entirely covered by the ruins, the thickness of its 
wall and position and details of the entrance are not ascertainable 
(fig. 6). 

About 170 yards up the glen is a group of a score or so of 
mounds, well defined, measuring from 10' to 26' in diameter. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 19th August 1909. 
38. AUt Ach nam Bathaich.-On the E. bank of the .AlIt .Ach nam 

Bathaich, from about I! m. above its junction with the River Brora 
downwards, are a number of hut circles and small mounds. Most of 
the former are overgrown with deep heather, but they appear to ' be 
of the simple oval or pear-shaped type, with banks of earth and 
stone about 5' wide, and entrance from the SE. 

One, situated a short distance above the influx of the Back Burn, 
which flows in from the W., measures interiorly some 25' X 29', and 
is entered from the ESE. through a passage 8' long and probably about 
3' across, but the width is doubtful. .At 17' in from the entrance a 
semicircular wall 3' wide stretches from side to side, thus cutting off 
the back portion of the circle and forming another enclosure facing 
the entrance. About half a dozen small mounds lie in rear of this 
construction. Between it and the burn are the remains of other 
indistinct enclosures and mounds. 

Directly opposite the confluence of the burns is a well-preserved 
circular enclosUl~e, with an entrance from the SE., presenting no 
particular features of interest. 

39. Loch B1·om.-On the top of ah eminence NE. of the island, 
at the lower end of Loch Brora, and about 1 m. back from the E. 
bank of the loch, is a slIJall mound, outlined with large and almost 
contiguous boulders. It is about 16' in diameter and not more than 
2' in height. It does not seem to contain a great quantity of stone, 
and there is a very considerable growth of peat on it. To the N. 
and NE. are a numbel' of small mounds. Eight or ten lie some 30 
yards to the NE. and several on the slope of the hill to the N. 

40. Do. -On either side of the old road which leads from Oldtown 
to Wester Clynekirktoll, from about! m. SE. of the former place, 
for a considerable distance are numerous mounds of the usual small 
type, and another group is situated about 11 m. NW. of the latter 
place. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. and xcviii. (unnoted). 
Visited, 24th .August 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

41. Caims, Scibm'sc9·oss.-Some 350 yards ]£SE. of the farm-house, 
OIl a slight eminence in the middle of a meadow, are the remains of a 
cairn. The upper part of it has been removed, and a cist exposed, 
of which the covering slab, ends, and Olle side remain. It lies WSW. 
and ENE. The covering slab measures 4' 4" X 2' 9", and Lhe length 
of the interior is 3' 7". The diameter of the cairn is about 33', and 
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its present height about 4'. The outline of the cairn has been 
marked with large contiguous boulders of from If to 2' in length . 

Some 30' E. is another cairn which has been excavated and the 
cist displaced. It is 30' 9/1 in diameter, and is about 4' high. 
Around the base is a setting of large, but not contiguous, boulders. 

Some 20' N. of the first cairn is a mound about 5' high and 19' 
in diameter, from the slope of which some large stones protrude. It 
is probably another cairn. 

Some 40 yards W. of the sam!~ cairn is a natural mound, with 
a cairn on the top of it, measuring 27' in diameter, and having an ' 
outline of contiguous boulders. It appears to have been excavated, 
but no cist is visible. It is overgrown with grass. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 19th August 1909. 
42. Oaim, etc., Balnacoil.-Near the top of the hill at Balnacoil, 

and somewhat less than! m. NE. of the lodge, is a cairn of from 
48' to 50' diameter and about 4' high. Slight excavations have 
been made in several places, but no cist is exposed. 

Between the cairn and the lodge, and also ulong the S. slope and 
level summit of the hill for a considerable distance to the eastward, 
are numerous small mounds of the usual type. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxviii. Visited, 25th August 1909. 

43. Oairn, AUt a' Mhuilinn.-l'o the E. of the Allt a' Mhuilinn , 
about i m. NNE. of Ascoile, is a cairn of about 66' diameter. It !las 
been excavated. Two large displaced stones, which may have formed 
part of a chamber, are lying in the interior about 26' from the S. side. 
The height of the cairn is about 6' where undisturbed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxviii. (CC Brough "). 
Visited, 25th August 1909. 

44. Ohambend Oaim, AUt nam Ban.-On the left bank of the 
Allt nam Ban, which flows into the middle. one of the three divisions 
of Loch Brora, near the centre of the E. bank and about 30 yards 
back from the road, in a birch wood, are the remains of an excavated 
chambered cairn. The passage which approaches the chamber from 
the W. has been removed almost up to the lintel covering the 
entrance, which is at 20' from what appears to have been the outside. 
The passage exists for the last 3' 8/1, including the part covered by the 
lintel, and is 3' wide. The portals which support the lintel are 2' 
high, and have on the top of each an additional stone, raising them to 
2' 9/1. The lintel is 5' long, I' 8/1 deep, and I ' 4/1 across. The 
chamber appears to have been tripartite. The first compartment is 
5' long: the S. side has fallen, but the width has been auout 7'. The 
sides have been curved, and are entirely built instead of having large 
upright slabs forming a portion of the walls. Two partition ston·es 
3' long by I' thick and 3' in height, as far as exposed, and about 2' 
apart, separate the first and second compartments. The second 
compartmen t, which is also built, is 4' 9/1 in length by 8' 3' in breadth. 
At the back are two other division stones I' 9/1 apart: that on the 
N. 3' 6/1 long, that on the S. 3'. They are in great measure covered 
with debris, and no part of the chamber beyond is visible. The 
diameter of the cairn along the line of the direction of the chamber 

2 
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from E. to W. has been about 54' and across the chamber about 46'. 
The remains of the cairn are covered with moss and fern. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 25th August 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

45. Const1'1.wtions (nmains oj) and Old G1'a1Jeya1'd, Scibe?'SC1·OSS.-In 
the haugh beside the River Bl'ora, to the SSE. of Sciberscross House, 
are the remains of several constructions and an ancient burying­
ground called" Cladh Maireannach." No stones with symbols are 
visible in the latter. The haugh has all been under cultivation . 

46. Ci1'C'ula1' Enclosu1'e , Scibersc1·oss.-On the haugh to the E. of the 
old graveyard at Sciberscross, about 50' from the river, is a circular 
enclosure-presumably a sheep or cattle-fold, with an interior diameter 
of about 30', which has been noted, as it shows an arm projected past 
the entrance, for protection from storms-a characteristic observed in 
the case of some hut circles. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. (unnoted). Visited, 19th August 1909. 

SITES. 

47. Island, Loch B1'01'a,-Situated on Loch Brora, towards the 
S. end, is a small island formed of boulders, said to be artificiaL 
named on the O.S. map "Eilean nam :Faoileag." No signs of 
building remain visible on the level top, but along the E. face for 
30' or 40' are the remains of a retaining wall some 4' to 5' high. On 
the E. and W. faces, nrar the N. end, two built recesses probably 
indicate the position of the stairs mentioned in the New Statistical 
Acconnt. At the S. end a circular depression may mark the site of 
the well. The island appears to have been occupied by the Earl 
of Sutherland as a hunting seat in the 17th century. Sir Robert 
Gordon thus mentions it: "Ill Loch Bl'oray there is ane ileand where 
the Erle of Southerland has a delectable habitation and pleasant for 
hunting of reed deir and roes in the woods on both syds of the laik. " 

See Gordon, p. 5; Stat. Acct., x. p. 303; New Stat. Acct. 
S~Gth., etc., xv. p. 155. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvii. Visited, 25th September 1909. 

PARISH OF OREIOH. 

OASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

48. Caisteal na coi1'e. -Some i m. SW. of Rosehall, in a low-lying 
meadow, almost formed into an island by the River Oykell and a 
creek which runs W. from the river for about i m. , are the frag­
mentary ruins of a small rectangular building. The NW. wall has 
entirely disappeared, the other walls are much ruined, and no details 
of the structure remain. The exterior measurements appear to have 
been about 29' x 23', and the thickness of the walls 7'. There is no 
sign of vaulting. The castle seems to have been encircled by a ditch. 

O.S,M" 8uTH., cL Visited, 30th June 1909. 
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DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

49. B1'och, Dail Langwell.-On the W. side of GIencassley, about 
7i m. above the junction of the River Cassley with the River Oykel, 
on the slope of the hill some 80' above the river, are the ruins of a 
bra ch. The ground falls sharply away from its position on the N. 
and NE. sides and towards the river. It is much dilapidated on the 
S., on which side large sheep!folds have been erected from its material. 
The interior is very full of debris, the wall being nowhere visible for 
more than 5' above it. The highest portion of wall exposed is towards 
the NW., where on the exterior it is 11' high, and on the inside 
opposite rises some 5' to 6' higher. The thickness of the wall at its 
highest level is about 11' 6", and Oll the SSW., at about 5' from the 
ground, it is 14' 8", but on this side the easier slope of the ground has 
made the position more assail able. The interior diameter is some 31'. 
The entrance has heen from the E. through a passage about 18' 6" in 
length. Measuring from the exterior, the first 5' 6" are blocked with 
ruins, for the next 3' the side walls are exposed, and for the last 10' 
the passage is complete, roofed with flags throughout. At 8' 6" from 
the exterior, on the right side, is the entrance to the guard-chamber, 
only l ' 6" wide and now l' 8" high. It is entered through a passage, 
gradually widening, 4' in length, beyond wbich the chamber curves 
round to the left, and is roofed with overlapping stones. The roof 
appears to be intact. At 4' inwards from the entrance to the guard­
chamber two door jambs project across the' passage, leaving a space 
bfltween them of l ' 8". They are slabs 4" thick, and do not act as 
supports-there beng no lintel above them. In the walls behind 
them, 2' 2" from the roof, are the holes for the bar, measuring about 
6" X 7". That on the left goes l' 2" into the wall, that on the right 
2' 6", and appears to have passed into the guard-chamber beyond, as 
light is visible at the back of it. Outwards from the jambs the 
passage is 3' wide, and the walls diverge till at 5' 6" from the exterior, 
where last measurable, it is 4' 8" wide. Inwards from the jambs it is 
5' wide, and now about 4' high.* On the S. side of the broch a portioll 
of a gallery or chamber is exposed, still crossed py one huge stone 
7' long. 2' broad, and 10" thick. The chamber has been 3' 6" wide. 
To the N. is an opening from it into the interior 3' across. A 
portion of the same gallery is visible on the W. About 7' S. of 
the entrance the opposing ends of an oval chamber are visible on the 
ground level about 10' in length, with an entrance from the interior 
3' across. Some of the stones used in the structure are very large. 
One on the S., whose upper surface is 5' above the ground level, is 5' 
long, 3' across, and l' thick. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciii. Visited, 16th June 1909. 

50. B1'och, Achaneas.-On the haugh to the W. of Achaneas Farm, 
between the road and the River Cassley, on a knoll about 50 yards 
back from the latter, are indications of the existence of a broch. 
Only a stone or two of the outer wall is visible. The site is over­
grown with grass and the dimensions are unobtainable. 

* It is probable that there have been two portals in the passage, any existing 
trace, however, of that towards the exterior is obscured by the ruins. 
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51. Do., do.-About 300 yards N., at the uppel' end of the haugh, 
is the site of another broch, of which a very little more is apparent. 
It has been of great size, and has had a diameter over all of from 78' 
to 80'. The wall appears to have been 18' thick. Its lower course on 
the exterior is quite visible on the N. and SE., and a slight elevation 
marks the foundation. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ci. Visited, 16th June 1909. 

52. B1'och, Doi1" a' Ohatka.-Close beside the farm-house of Durcha, 
! m. NE. of Achurigill, are the remains of a broch. It is now a 
structureless heap of ruins, from which most of the large stones have 
been removed. It has apparently been of great size, and the ruin 
measures 106' across, but, as no wall faces are visible, the actual 
dim ensions of the structure are not obtainable. 

See Pococke, p. 115. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. Visited, 30th June 1909. 

53. Brock, "Oa1'n Mor," Swo1·dale.-In a field at Swordale, to the 
S. of the Combination Poorhouse, is the site of a broch known as 
" Carn Mor." Only a low mound of small stones remains. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 2nd October 1909. 

54. Vit1"ijied FM·t, Dun Oreich.-On the summit of a wooded hill 
which projects into the Dornoch Firth from its N. bank, about 3t m. 
SE. of Bonarbridge, is situated the Dun of Creich. To seaward it 
presents an almost precipitous front, and hardly less accessible are 
the slopes on its N. and S. flanks. The hill attains an altitude of 
370', and, from the westward, is easily ascended along a narrow 
ridge, which culminates in a rocky summit. Here a single rampart 
of stone encloses a circular area measuring about 260' from NE. to 
SW. by 220' from NW. to SE. (O.S. measurement). The highest 
portion of this area, which is towards the N., has again been further 
fortified by an inner rampart, now insignificant, along the top of a 
rocky scarp, and measures about 167' from E. to W. by 96' from 
N. to S. In the centre of this inner area, and enclosed within a low 
bank about 10' from its walls, are the fragmentary wins of a rect­
angular mortar-built structure measuring 18' by 25', said to be the 
castle built by Paul Mactire in the 13th century. The main outer 
rampart of the original construction is highest towards the S., 
where it measures some 4' high and 12' wide on base. The principal 
approach appears to have led up a steep slope from the NE. to an 
entrance at the seaward end of the fort. Within the interior on the 
N. of this entrance is a depression which appears to be round and 
lined with stone, measuring about 12' by 8', while on the opposite 
side are indications of similar remains. The width of the entrance 
is indefinite, and there is much vegetation, which obscures the details. 
Towards the S. there appears to have been another entrance of less 
importance. At the W. or landward end of the inner enclosure is a 
natural bastion, and at the base of this lies a large mass of wall, 
vitrified throughout. At the highest point on the S. side of the outer 
rampart there is a partially vitrified stone projecting. The natural 
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rock is a reddish micaceous schist. The ramparts are much overgrown 
with turf. 

See Gordon, pp. 8, 37; New Stat. Acct. Suth., etc., xv. p. 18; 
SutheTland and the Reay Count1'y, p. 108. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 27th July 1909. 

55. F01·tified Enclosu1'e, Auchinduich.-Some -i m. S. of Auchin­
duich Lodge, at the edge of a birch wood between the road and the 
railway, and some 150 yards W. of the former, is a circular enclosure. 
It is surrounded by the base of a stony bank or wall, well defined 
on the outer and inner circumference with large contiguous boulders. 
The interior appears to have been subdivided into numerous chambers, 
but as it is entirely overgrown with turf and bracken, the details are 
unobtainable. The interior diameter from N. to S. is 51' and from 
E. to W . 48'. The thickness of the wall is 10', except at the entrance, 
where on either side it is 14'. The entrance passage is 3' wide, and 
leads inwards from the W. . 

O.S.M., Sum., ciii. (unnoted). Visited, 2nd July 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

56. S. of Lai1'g Station.-About 200 yards short of the first 
milestone beyond ~airg Station, on the E. side of the road to Bonar­
bridge, immediately above it, and in the birch wood, are a group of 
a dozen small round mounds and the remains of a hut circle of 
simple oval form. 

FIG. 7.-Hut Circle, S. of Lairg Statiou (No. 56). 
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About 300 yards further S., and just past the milestone, on the 
same side of the road, is anot,her group of about fourteen mounds 
and a well-preserved hut circle about 30 yards from the road. The 
circle measures 38' across, but as the bank at the entrance has been 
thickened in the interior so as to make the passage 13' in length, 
the diameter from the NW. to SE. is only 32'. The eutrance faces 
the SE. The bank is thicker, and seems more peaty than usual. 
Abutting on the exterior of the bank at the S. is a smaller enclosure 
of about 16' X 13' interior measurement, with an entrance apparently 
from the SE., but it has been much broken down (fig. 7). 

About 100 yards E. of the last is another circle of usual form. 
On either side of the entrance, which is in the customary direction, 
the outer edge of the bank has been outlined for 10' or 12' with 
large stones. Three mounds lie adjacent-one within 12' of the 
entrance. 

Some 500 yards E. of the road, on the hillside, is another con­
siderable group of mounds, and near them a large pear-shaped 
enclosure, measuring some 46' x 70', with a wide entrance from the 
S. about 20' across. The E. wall is continued round past the front 
of the entrance and follows the S. side of a hollow down hill to the 
W. for about 100 yards. Some 60' N. of this wall another wall runs 
from the W. side of the enclosure roughly parallel along the other 
side of the hollow, and at about 100 yards turns sharply to the S. 
and passes the end of the first wall so as to leave an entrance way 
between them about 10' in width. To the N. of the large enclosure 
is a small circle, with interior diameter of about 10' enclosed within 
a bank of stone. and turf. To the S. of the enclosure and along 
the hillside to the S. for half a mile are numerous mounds and 
hut circles. 

About t m. N. of the Allt na Fearna Mol', and some 400 yards 
E. of the road, is a double hut circle. The circle on the W. is of 
the usual form, measuring 24' X 30', with entrance from the SE. 
apparently about 3' wide. It is at a slightly higher elevation than 
its neighbour. The second circle has been built against the first, the 
E. side of the former being the left side of the latter. Interiorly 
it measures 30' x 39', and has its entrance from the SE. 

Some 40 yards S. is a double mounded construction which may 
possibly be a kiln. In the centre is a circular depression of about 
6' diameter, flanked on either side by mounds of earth and stone 
about 20' in length and 13' broad across the base where widest. 
They are at highest about 3' 6" high above the centre of the depression, 
and lie N. and S. To the S. is a narrow passage about 2' wide, 
defined on one side by a single square-edged stone 2' 4" long 
and by two similar stones on the opposite side. Though the mounds 
are not continued across the back of the construction there seems 
to be the base of a wall in that position. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ciii. (unnoted). Visited, 22nd June 1909. 

57. AltassmoTe.-About i m. E. of the Post-Office at Altassmore, 
on a piece of moorland about 150 yards S. of the road, is a group of 
four or five small circular mounds. 

On the moor to the N. of Altassmol'e, and directly to the W. 
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of the cultivated fields, are a considerable number of small mounds 
and the remains of a hut circle. 

58. Doi1" a' Chatha.-About I! m. N. of Altassmore, on the SW. 
slope of the Doir' a' Ohatha, near the 700' level, and, just above the 
enclosed land, is a large group of mounds and hut circles. Im­
mediately above the most easterly of the crofts is a circle of the usual 
oval form, with the entrance from the SE. overgrown with heather. 
Near the upper side of the enclosed tract of moorland directly 
behind the eastmost croft is a hut circle measuring interiorly 23' x 
(about) 27'. The bank at the entrance has disappeared. Some 
eight mounds lie around. 

About 40' SE. of the entrance to the circle, and with its convex 
side towards it, is a crescentic mound measuring 12' in thickness at 
the centre. It has a chord of 30' and a radius of 10'. 

Some 30' N. of the NW. end of the enclosed field behind the 
eastmost croft is a mounded construction overgrown with heather. 
It is oval in form, with its longest axis NW. and SE. measuring 19' 
x 35'. Externally it is from I ' 6/1 to 2' high. From the E. a narrow 
passage leads with a curve to the interior, gradually expanding to a 
width of 3' 7/1 at its termination-9' from the outside, and sloping 
downwards till the floor level at the back is 2' deep. Two large 
stones with flat faces to the chamber form the back wall, the largest 
stone being 2' high and 2' across. The centre of this back wall is 
19' from the SE. edge and 12' from the NW. The breadth of the 
mound behind it is 10'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. Visited, 30th <Tune 1909. 

59. Coille Poll na h-AiTde.-In the CoiIle Poll na h-Airde, the 
wood which lies to the N. of Newton Point on the Dornoch Firth, 
are many hut circles and mounds. 

Some 200 yards NE. of the pier is a hut circle of ordinary oval or 
pear-shaped form, with its entrance from the SE. measuring interiorly 
39' X 45'. The entrance is some 7' across, but there is a tree stump in 
the middle of it rendering its original dimensions uncertain. 

Some 30 yards NNW. of the last is a long low mound, overgrown 
with blaeberries, lying NNW. and SSE., measuring 49' x 15', and 
about 2' high. Its character is uncertain without excavation. 

Some 50 yards E. of the hut circle is a mound lying E. and W., 
measuring 22' X 15'. 

Another mound about 100 yards E. of the circle is circular, with 
a diameter of about 22'. 

The hut circle noted on the O.S. map about i m. NE. of the end 
of Newton Point is of the ordinary form, with its entrance from the 
SE. about 2' across. The interior measurement is 27' X 31' and the 
bank is from 5' to 6' wide. A numher of small round mounds lie in 
its vicinity. . 

On the N. side of the clearing, near the centre of the wood, is 
a mound lying N. and S., measuring 22' X 12', and some 3' in 
height. . 

About 50 yards N. are the remains of a hut circle. 
60. Gablon.-On the first ridge of Achany Moor, to the N. of the 

woods at Gablon, on the Ospisdale estate, is a group of about a dozen 
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small mounds of the usual character. To the W. of the group, on the 
crest of a ridge between two ravines, are the remains of a hut circle 
of the usual oval form, with an entrance from the SE. The banks 
are so effaced as to make accurate measurement impossible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. Visite.d, 23rd July 1909. 
61. AUt nan Eun.-On the W. side of the AUt nan Eun, to the 

N. of the road from Spinningdale Lo Migdale, are two circular en­
closures, that nearest the burn measuring about 46' in interior 
diameter, the other, s'Ome 30 yal:ds westward, 35' X 34'. Their 
entrances are uncertain. These constructions have probably 
been folds. • 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. (unnoted). Visited, 23rd July 1909. 

62. Swordale, Bonarb1'idge.-Some 300 yards S. of Ordan Farm, 
within the Swordale wood, and opposite the SE. corner of the arable 
land, is a hut circle, much effaced, with an entrance apparent.ly from 
the SE. It seems to have been of the usual oval form. Some 30' E. 
are the dilapidated remains of another, probably circular, but now 
indefinite in outline. 

A small group of mounds lies adjacent, and there are more in the 
wood towards the N. . 

On the W, side of the old crofter enclosure, near the deer fence, 
about ~ m. SE. of Ordan, and S. of the old road to Little Swordale, is 
a small group of mound!! and a much effaced hut circle of simple 
oval form. 

Within the Clabran Salach, near its N. end, there appear to be 
other mounds, and there is a group of some half a dozen in the wood 

. to the E. of the opening N.of it, about 1 m. WNW. of Little 
Swordale. 

Within the birch wood, W. of the tongue of arable land to the W. 
of Little Swordale, is a small group of mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. (unnoted). Visited, 27th July 1909. 

63. Do.-Some 400 yards W. of Little Swordale, within the wood 
near the SW. point of a portion of the. cultivated land which projects 
to the SW., is a hut circle of unusual character. It is formed of two 
circles, one within the other, but not concentric, the inner circle 
resting on the outer towards the ESE., and being some 19' distant from 
it at the WNW. Within this inner circle, and somewhat to the SE. 
of t.he centre, is a small circular foundation with ruined walls and a 
diameter over all of from 6' to 7', having an entrance from the SW. 
The wall of the inner circle has been composed entirely of stone, and 
is now a structureless mass 8' across. The entrance to the interior 
has been from the ESK, but the details are obscured by the ruins of 
the walls. The wall or bank of the outer circle is also entirely of 
stone, and in its present condition shows no sign of building; it is 
13' to 14' across, and about 2' high, There is an entrance through it 
from the WNW. about 8' in width. For some 40' along the circum­
ference on either side of the entrance to the inner circle the solid 
character of the outer wall or bank changes to a single line of con­
tiguous stones set on end and from I' to 2' high. There appear to be 
flanking walls running for some 45' outwards NE. and SSW. on both 
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sides of the entrance to the inner circlc, that on the SSW. being at 
its extremity some 12' distant from the outer circumference, and 
that on the NE. 22' distant. They appeal' to have been about 6' 

• wide. Owing to the ruined state of the struc:tUl'e and the under­
growth of brackens and birch trees, the plan cannot be regarded as 
absolutely accurate, though drawn to scale as far as possible (fig. 8). 

t 
o 
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FIG. B.-Hut Circle, Swordale (No. 63). 

There are a few small mounds lying near. One to the S., about 
40' distant, measures 22' across, and is composed of large stones un­
covered with soil. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. (unnoted). Visited, 27th July 1909. 

64. C1·eich.-Within the wood to the N. of the NW. corner of the 
westmost of the upper cultivated fields above the Manse of Oreich is 
a small group of seven or eight mounds of the usual character. One, 
situated about 80 yards NW. of the corner of the field, measures 
some 23' in diameter, and is about 3' 6/1 in height 
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65. SwoTdal~ Wood, Bona1·bridge.-In the portion of Swordale 
Wood which lies between the Market Park and the old road to Little 
Swordale lie a great number of heaps of earth and stone. They differ 
from the ordinary small mounds in not being circular or composed to 
the same extent of stones. In each case there is a depression on une 
side from which they seem to have been dug. In direction the 
greater number of them lie N. and S., though some lie E. and W. 
In length they vary generally from 4' or 5' to 15' or 16', though a 
very few are even longer. One is 23' in length by 8' to 9' broad; 
another 20' X 11'. A great number of them are about 11' long. The 
average breadth is from 4' to 7' and height from I ' to 2', 

66. MaTket Par7c, Bona1·bTidge.-At the SE. end of the SE. portion 
of the Market Park is a hut circle entered from the SE. through a 
bank about 6' wide. Its interior measurement is some 13' by 15'. 
A numbp.r of mounds of the usual class lie to the N. and NE. 
There is also a crescentic mound, which faces the N., with its back 
to the higher slope of the hill. The chord of the crescent measures 
25', and the depth of its curve is 5'. The mound is 11' thick at 
centre, tapering to 6' at each end, and is 2' t,o 3' high. 

In the portion of the park where Lhe market is held are the 
remains of three hut circles, somewhat eroded, with the remains of 
mounds lying Ileal'. 

Towards tl.e centre of the SE. park is a circle measuring 26' X 

29' 6", with its entrance from the SE., and showing indications of 
subdivision in the interior. About half a dozen small mounds lie 
near it. 

67. Migdate.-Near the W. end of Loch Migdale is a hut circle. 
It is circular, with an interior diameter of about 28', and the entrance 
from the SE. about 3' across. The bank is some 6' wide, increas­
ing to 8' 6" on either side of the entrance. An excavated small 
mound lies in rear of it. 

To the S. of Culnara croft, between it and Loch Migdale, is a hut 
circle, much worn down. It appears to have been of the ordinary 
type. 

To the W. of the miller's house, on the N. bank of Loch Migclale, 
are a number of small mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 2nd August 1909. 

68. Do.-To the N. of the Migdale crofts, close by the small 
reservoir on the Allt na h-Atha, and to the W. of it, is a group of 
about eight small mounds, the largest of which is some 18' in diameter 
and about 3' in height. 

On a slight elevation at the N. end of the reservoi.r are two con­
joined hut circles of simple oval form. The banks have heen of turf , 
now much worn away, and the entrances from the SSE. The west­
most enclosure measures interiorly 24' X 28'. Its entrance seems to 
have been about 2' 6" wide, and the bank some 5' across. The 
adjoining enclosure is larger, measuring 34' X 41 '. The bank 
appears to have been about 7' thick. The width of the entrance is 
not now obtainable. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. Visited, 4th October 1909. 
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69. The Tulloch, Bona1'bTidge.-The Tulloch, and Dl'uim Liath, 
which is a portion of it, are covered with stony mounds and hut 
circles. Of the former by far the greater number present features 
suggesting that they are the ruins of huts. Most of them are 
circular, with a diameter of 16', some are oblong, and some of the 
heaps are so long as to suggest that several huts have stood attached 
in a row. Among them here and there are conical mounds overgrown 
with vegetation, but these are much less numerous. 

About! m. E. of the school-house and a short distance to the E. 
of" Carn an fhitich" (No. 85) are a number of the supposed hut ruins. 
One heap of stones lying E. and W. measures 30' X 17'. Adjacent to 
it, in the form of a crescent, is a long mound facing S., some 60' 
long by 20' wide at the centre. Near the top of the hill, towards 
the SW., are a few small overgrown mounds measuring from 12' to 
16' in diameter. On the same part of the hill is an oval heap of 
stones measuring 20' X 14'. The remains of old walls are visible 
among the ruins. In one instance a portion of wall is succeeded by 
two mounds about 15' apart, and 15' to 16' in diameter. 

Some! m. NW. of the W. end of Loch Migdale are the ruins of 
a hut circle measuring interiorly 24' X 20', with foundations of walls 
running from it. To the N. of it, some 40', is a heap of stones lying 
N. and S., measuring 40' X 18', and showing marked depressions near 
the centre. Near by are a number of conical mounds overgrown 
with vegetation, some 12' in diameter, and about It' in height. 

About! m. NNW. of the church is a well-marked hut ruin. It 
measures 16' in diameter over all, and the interior depression, which 
is clearly defined, about 7' in diameter. The entrance appears to 
have been from the SE. Some 80 yards NNW. of it are two slllall 
mounds some 18' in diameter, and 2' to 3' in height. 

On the W. side of the road which crosses Druim Liath from N. to 
S., and towards the N. side of the hill, is a small circular enclosure 
measuring 12' in interior diameter. The entrance appears to have 
been from the W. Some 30 yards to the N. of it is a semicircular 
enclosure facing NW., measuring some 30' in dia!lleter, with a bank 
about 9' thick. Opposite the end of the bank at the SE. is a low 
heap of stones about 14' in diameter. 

On the N. side of Druim Liath, some! m. NNE. of the Poorhouse, 
is a circular enclosure with an interior diameter of about 30'. The 
wall, which has been entirely broken down, has measured about 8' 
in thickness, and has been formed of boulders. On the K side a 
bank projects 25' in length and 15' in breadth, probably flanking 
the entrance. What appear to be the ruins of one or two small 
circular huts lie near to the S. On the SE. flank of the hill are the 
remains, almost obliterated, of several hut circles of simple oval form. 

Some 300 yards SW. of the last described circle is another of 
simple form, measuring interiorly 26' X 32'. The entrance appears 
to have been from the E., but the circle is overgrown w~th whins, and 
the details are indefinite. 

On the top of the hill, near its NW. end, are some large heaps 
of stone, probably ruins of contiguous huts. Two of these heaps 
measure 28' in length by 16' in width. 



28 lIISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

PARISH OF CREICH. 

On the top of Druim Liath, about 1 m. NE. of Bonarbridge, is a 
'3mall hut circle measuring interiorly 20' X 23', with its entrance from 
the SE. 2' wide through banks 5' thick. 

Some 100 yards W. is a circular enclosure with an interior 
diameter of ;)3', surrounded by the ruins of a wall composed of rather 
small stones, in its present state from 7' to 8' broad. The entrance 
has probably been from the ESE., and been 3' wide. Against the wall . 
in the interior, and slightly to the N. of a point opposite the entrance, 
are the ruins of a hut, similar in appearance to those all over the 
hill, measuring some 12' x 14' (fig. 9). 

w + 0 . 11I11I111j 
FIG. 9.-Hut Circle, Tulloch (No. 69). 

Some 15' to the N. are the remains of another circular enclosure 
with an interior diameter of 38'. The bank has been of stone and 
turf, the entrance from the ESE. about 9' wide. 

At the extreme NW. end of Druim Liath is a group of small 
mounds, about six in number, conical in form, of some 17' in diameter, 
and from 2' 6" to 3' in height. 

Some 100 yards N., on the N. slope of the hill, is a hut circle 
with an interior diameter of 21' x 26'; the entrance is from the E., 
and the surrounding bank of turf and stone is about 4' thick. Several 
small mounds lie adjacent; none, however, having the hut features. 

At the W. end of the hill, some 120 yards N. of "Carn Liath," is 
a hut circle which has had an enclosing wall of stone 6' to 7' thick. 
The interior diameter is 28'. The entrance is from the E., and is 3' 
wide. Around it are small mounds of from 15' to 18' in diameter, 
mostly covered with vegetation. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. Visited, 2nd October 1909. 

70. Ai1'dens, Bonarbridge.-At Airdens, on a ridge some 80 yards 
SE. of the targets, are the remains of a hut circle having an interior 
diameter of 30', a bank 4' thick, and the entrance from the E. 

About 150 yards N. of the targets is a group of about eighteen 
small mounds. One measures 24' in diameter, and from 4' to 5' in 
height. Several of them measure some 18' in diameter. 
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71. Ga1'bh Leathad, Bonarb1'idge.-To the E. of Garbh Leathad 
is a small group of mounds of from 18' to 20' in diameter, presenting 
the presumed hut features. 

72 . Cnagan Reamhar, Bona1·brid,r;e.-At the S. end of Creagan 
Renmhar, about 400 yards N. of the croft of Druimban at Airdens, 
near the Peat Road, are two hut circles and a number of small 
mounds. The most westerly of the circles is of the simple oval 
form, being entered from the SE. through what appears to have 
been a wide entrance. Its interior dimensions are 26' X 31', and the 
enclosing bank is of stone and turf. The other enclosure, which lies 
to the E. of the Peat Road, is circular, with an interior diameter of 
some 30'. Its entrance is from the SE., and the bank is from 5' to 6' 
wide, formed of earth and stone. The level of the interior is slightly 
higher than that of the surrounding ground. 

About 140 yards to the E. of the circle last described is a small 
group of ' about half a dozen mounds. The most westerly of the group 
measures about 15' in diameter, is about If high, and has its outline 
defined by large stones. One of the mounds lying with its longest 
axis NNW. and SSE. measures 23' X 13' , and is from 2' to 3' in 
height; the others are from 16' to 18' in diameter and some 3' 
in height. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. Visited, 2nd October 1909. 

73. Badbeithe.'-Some 80 yards SSE. of the house occupied by 
Mr F. CampbeU at Badbeithe, among the whins, is an enclosure with 
an interior diameter of some 30'. Its entrance, which is about 2' 6" 
in width, is from the SSK, through a bank some 5' to 6' in 
thickness. 

Among the whins, about 100 yards to the NW., the remains of 
another circle are visible. 

On the shoulder of the hill , behind the houses of Messrs Thomas 
and Alexander Murray at Badbeithe, are a few small mounds and a 
hut circle. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. (unnoted). Visited,4th October 1909. 

74. Achaidh.-To the E. of the house of Mr John MUlTay, Cnoc 
Dubh, Achaidh, is a small group of four or five mounds, only two of 
which are clearly defined. These lie NW. alld SE., and measure 
some 16'x 11'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. (un noted). 

75. Balblair Wood.-On the slope of the hill, about i m. E. of 
lnvershin Station, is a small group of mounds of about 18' in 
diameter. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. (unnoted). Visited, 5th October 1909. 

76. Maikle Wood.-In the Maikle Wood, to the N. of the W. end 
of the cultivated land, are some half a dozen mounds, oyergrown with 
vegetation, measuring from 18' to 20' in diameter; also the indefinite 
remains of a hut circle, through which a road passes running E. and 
W. Small mounds extend for some distance through the wood 
towards the W. and N. 
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In the SE. corner of the wood, about 150 yards above the road, is 

a small group of ill-defined mounds. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. (unnoted). Visited, 6th October 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

77. Cat'ms, Coille Poll na h-Airde.-Some 300 yards S. of Red­
house, and almost entirely overgrown with whins, are the remains of a 
cairn which appears to have been circular, with a diameter of about 
57'. The interior and E. side at some remote period have been 
entirely removed. 

The cairn at the Newton Point has been excavated and almost 
completely carted away for road metal. 

78. Cai1'n, etc., Black Wood.-The cairn in the Black Wood, near 
the shore, has been almost entirely removed. There are two small 
mounds to the W. of it. 

O.S. M., SUTH., cxii. Visited, 14th July 1909 .. 

79. Cai1'n, AUt nan E 'un.-About ~ m. NW. of Spinningdale ..Post­
Office, on the E. of the AUt nan Eun, and some 30 yards back from 
the road, inside a wood, are the remains of a large circular cairn, 
much dilapidated and overgrown with grass. Its diameter has been 
about 60'. There is no indication of its character. 

80. Do., do.-Some 40 yards to the NE. are the remains of 
another cairn, the interior of which has been almost entirely carted 
away. The diameter has been about 90', and the height on the SE. 
side is still about 12'. Near the centre a single large upright slab is 
exposed for a height of about 3', and suggests a chambered character, 
the direction of the chamber being apparently NNE. and SSW. 

See Antiquaries, xliv., p. 104. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. (un noted). Visited, 23rd JUly 1909. 
81. Cairn, Achaidh.-Near the edge of the wood, to the SE. of 

Achaidh, about! m. N. of Rhivra, and some 30 yards from the road, 
is a cairn, elliptical in outline, and measuring 35' X 24', with its 
longest axis WNW. and ESE. It is only a foot or two in height, 
and is almost level on the top. Neither cist nor chamber is 
apparent, nor is it certain that the character of the remains is 
sepulchral. 

82. Chambered Cairn.-Do.-Some 30 yards NE. of the last, and 
nearer the road, is another cairn, which has been excavated. Its 
general appearance suggests that it is of horned character, but this 
can only be definitely ascertained after the stones obscuring its out­
line have been cleared away. The diameter across the centre between 
the supposed horns from N. to S. is 53' and from E. to W. 50'. The 
horns appear to project for some 16' and to be some 20' broad at the 
base. In the centre of the E. or ESE. side the top of a large lintel 
stone in sit-u, 6' 4" long, is visible, apparently covering the entrance 
to the passage. At 12' inwards from this stone is another lintel 
stone, at the entrance to the chamber. It is triangular in section, 
6' in length, 2' across the base, and 2' deep. It has originally rested 
on two jambs, 3' 1" and 2' 6" in length respectively, about 2' apart, 
and 4' high, but the jamb on the S. side being lower than that 
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opposite, the height of the latter has been supplemented with stones. 
From this insecure bed the lintel has shifted somewhat. The main 
axis of the chamber is ESE. and WNW. It is almost rectangular 
in form, except at the back, where building fills the angles between 
the sides and the back slab. The extreme length is 8' 9/1, the 
extreme breadth 7'. The walls are formed of seven large slabs, two 
on (;lither side of the chamber, one forming the back wall, and one 
on either side of the entrance to support the lintel. The spaces 
between the edges of the slabs are filled with well-laid horizontal 
building. The height of the chamber to the remaining portion of 
the overlapping roof is 6' 9/1 and to the point from which the roof 
begins to converge 4' 6/1. The height of the cairn, previous to 
excavation, was some 8'. The floor of the chamber is paved with 
flags over its greater extent, laid on the old natural surface. There 
were found, on excavation, the remains of a single unbnrnt interment, 
a short-tanged flint scraper, and a fragment, some 2/1 square, of 
darkish pottery, of fine texture, part of a round vessel with a slightly 
everted lip, ornamented with impressions of a finger nail. The flint 
and fragment of pottery are preserved in the National Museum of 
Antiquities, Edinburgh. 

See Antiq!Lal'ies, xliv. p. 104 (illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 23rd July 1909. 

83. Chambered Cai1'n, Kyleoag.-About 200 yards NE. of Kyleoag, 
at the upper end of an open area in the wood, is a large cairn. Its 
exact outline is difficult to determine, but its diameter at right angles 
to a large triangular block, apparently a lintel, is 57', and across the 
supposed chamber in rear of it 50'. On the NW. and S. there are 
indications of projecting horns, but the growth of bracken and other 
vegetation obscures details. The horn towards the S. appears to 
project for about 10', and to be about 15' wide at base. On the 
E. a stone dyke has been built close to the cairn. At 10' in from 
the edge, on the S. side, lies a large block, triangular in section, 
10' 6/1 in length, about 2' deep, and Ii' across. It lies ENE. and 
WSW., so that the chamber in rear of it probably lies NNW. and 
SSE. The cairn is about 12' high on the W. side. 

Between 150 and 200 yards SE. of Kyleoag House, on the top 
of a slight ridge some 30' S. of the road from Spinningdale to 
Migdale, is a cairn entirely overgrown with long heather. It 
measures some 40' from N. to S. and 45' from E. to W., and in 
height it is from 8' to 10' high. Its character is not revealed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 23rd July 1909. 

84. Chambe'l'ed Cairn, Ledmo1'e Wood.-J ust past the W. end of 
Ledmore Wood, and about 1 m. N. of the Dun of Ureich, is a large 
cairn. Its diameter from N. to S, is some 47' and from E. to W. 52'. 
This appears to be a horned cairn. The horn projecting towards the 
NW. is quite distinct, the outline of stones being clearly visible. It 
appears to project about 10', and is about 17' broad at base. The 
horn to the SE. is indicated, but excavation is necessary to establish 
its existence. The diameter from the end of the NW. horn, across 
the cail~n to the SE., is 65'. At 30' in from the W. side is a broad 
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flat slab, standing erect, measuring 4' 4/1 across, and to the SW. of 
it the top of another protrudes at right angles. These are evidently 
parts of a chamber. 

Against the cairn, towards the NE., are the foundations of a small 
rectangular construction. 

Some 40 yards W. of the cairn is a low mound, with a depression 
in the eentre of about 4' 6/1 diameter and I' 3/1 in depth. The enclos­
ing bank of stones, overgrown with turf, is 3' to 4' in thickness. 

Along the 0pen area above Ledmore Wood, at about the 500' 
elevation, towards the W. end of the wood, are a number of small 
mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 27th July 1909. 

85. "Oam an fhitich," The Tull-och, Bonurbridge.-On The Tulloch, 
i- m. N. of the schoolhouse, are the remains of "Carn an fhitich." 
The diameter is some 42' and the height about 5'. The cairn has 
been excavated, alld one or two slabs, which have formed part of a 
cist, lie displaced among the stones. The O.S. 6/1 map indicates that 
two stone cists existed in it. 

86. Ohambered Oaim, .< Oarn Liath."-Do.-Do.-At, the W. end 
of Druim Liath, and about 1 m. N. of Bonarbridge, is "Cam Liath." 
It has been excavated, and much of the stone removed, especially 
from the E. side inwards. The diameter is about 65', and the 
greatest height 9'. Certain large stones, set upright, suggest a 
chambered character. One at 19' from the E. edge probably 
indicates the commencement of the chamber, and the pointed head 
of a large boulder, set with its broad face to the E. at 42' inwards, 
seems to have formed the back. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. Visited, 2nd October 1909. 

87. "Oarn an Duin," C1'eagan Rea1nhar.-Onthe top of a slight 
eminence at the SW. end of Creagan Reamhar are the remains of 
what has probably been a cairn. The construction has to a great 
extent been removed, but appears to have measured 64' from N. to S. 
by 77' from E. to W. Two lines of large stones, set point upwards, 
are visible, one line marking the exterior limit of the cairn, the 
other some 12' within it on the N., 1:5' on the E., 5' on the S., and 
16' on the W. The position in which the stones are placed weighs 
against the probability that this has been a broch, which the name 
suggests. It has been so pillaged that its true character is difficult 
to determine. 

88. "Oam Mor," T 1&lloch.-On the croft of Mr Wm. MacKenzie 
at Tulloch, to the N. of Bonarbridge, and about 150 yards SSW. of 
his house, is a cairn, measuring some 60' in diameter and 6' in height, 
bearing the name of " Carn Mol''' (unnoted). 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 4th October 1909. 

89. Oairn, Maikle.-On the farm of Maikle, about 200 yards NNW. 
of the farm buildings, are the remains of a large cairn. It appears to 
have measured some 70' in diameter; but about one-third of it, on the 
E. side, has been removed. The remainder is from 10' to 12' high. 
There are no signs of a chamber or cist exposed. A short cist, con-
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taining a cinerary urn and a bronze blade, was found in the cairn 
in 1853. 

See Antiquaries, x. p. 432 (relic illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTH, cviii. Visited, 6th October 1909. 

90. Chambered Cairn (1'emains Dj), Invershin.--On the top of a 
low oak-clad knoll, about i m. N. of Invershin Station, and some 30 
yards E. of the road, are a number of large slabs which have formed 
part of the walls of the megalithic chamber of a cairn. The chamber 
seems to have been undivided, measuring 13' in length by 7' in breadth, 
and to have been entered from the S. Seven slabs remain, two on 
each side, one at the back, and two low portal stones at the entrance. 
The most southerly of the two stones on the W. side has fallen, 
the others are in situ. All trace of the outline of the cairn has dis­
appeared, but the chamber is still partially filled with stones. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cviii. (unnoted). Visited, 5th October 1909. 

91. Stone Ci1'Cle, Auchinduich.-About t m. due E. of the road 
from Lairg to Bonarbridge, and nearly the same distance NE. of the 
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FIG. 10. -Stone Circle, Auchinduich (No. 91). 

shepherd's cottage at Auchinduich, are the remains of a stone circle. 
It has consisted of an outer and an inner circle. Of the outer circle 
five consecutive stones remain from NE. to SSW., while those towards 
the E. and S. have been removed. The stones have been set with 
their broad faces at right angles to the line of circumference. The 
largest stone-that at the NE.-is 4' high above ground, 3' wide at 
base, and about I' thick; it has a sharp edge to the interior of the 
circle, and slightly tapers to the top. Oounting from NE. to S. by W., 
No. 2 is a similar stone to No. 1,3' across, 4' high, and nearly 2' thick 
It is 8' distant from No. 1. No. 3 is 11' distant from No. 2, is slightly 
tilted to the NE., measures 3' wide, is exposed for a height of 3' 8", 
and is about I' thick. No. 4 is 10' distant from No. 3, is 3' broad, 
3' 4" high, and some I' 2" thick at centre. No. 5, 6' distant, is a 
rectangular block some 3' 1" in height, and I' 3" by I' in thickness, 
The diameter of the circle has been about 28'. 

Of the inner circle only three stones remain, about 5' distant from 
the outer circumference, approximately concentric with it, and within 
the existing arc. The most southerly stone is situated N. by W. of 

3 
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the most southerly stone of the outer circle (No. 5), and is a stone of 
similar character. It is a tall block, rectangular in section, measur­
ing l' 4" X 8", with its broad face at right angles to the line of the 
circumference, and is 3' high. It has evidently been interfered with 
and recently propped up. No. 2 northwards has been similarly set, 
but is tilted over. It is exposed for a length of 2' 4", measures l' 3" 
across and 6" in thickness. It is about 4' distant from No. 1. No. 3 
is a broad fiat-pointed slab, set with its face in line of the circum­
ference. It measures 2' 6" across the base, 7" in thickness, and is 
exposed for l' 10". It stands about 4' distant from No. 2. There is 
a depression in the centre, as if the interior had been excavated, and 
a slight mound on the E. side tends to confirm this (fig. 10). 

There are no mounds or hut circles immediately near, though they 
occur on the slope of the hill nearer the road. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ciii. (unnoted). Visited, 2nd July 1909. 

92. Stone Circle (supposed), Linsidernom-At Linsidemore, on a 
croft near the middle of the township, and some 40 yards N. of the 
high road, is a natural gravel mound, encircling which, at a few feet 
above its base, is a setting or stones, which seems to be the remains 
of a continuous circle, the stones of which appear to have been set 
contiguously. Two or three pointed stones remain set with their 
broad faces in line of the circumference, but the majority are boulders. 
The two largest stones remaining in situ measure 3' 10" X 2' 10" 
and 3' X 2' 10" respectively. A quadrangular block, about 2' high, 
placed in the centre of the circle, does not appear to be in situ. 
From the NE., running round by E. to S\V., are the remains of an 
outer circle of boulders which seem to converge with the inner circle 
towards the NE. The elevation of the centre of the inner circle 
suggests that a small cairn may have existed there, while a depression 
seems to indicate that this has been excavated. The diameter of the 
inner circle is from 40' to 43', and the outer circle seems to have 
been some 6' distant from it. The exact character of the construc­
tion is not quite evident, owing to interference due to the cultivation 
of the land in which it stands. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. (unnoted). Visited, 5th October 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

93. Sculptured Cross, T7dim.-In the NW. corner of the old grave­
yard which stands on the top of a bank some 300 to 400 yards E. of 
the shepherd's house at Tutim, in Strath Oykell, is a slab covering a 
modern grave. It is of the native schist, 4' long by l' 7" broad, and 
bas incised on its surface a plain long-shafted Oeltic cross, with the 
arms expanded to the extremities and the angles at the intersections 
hollowed. The ends of the arms are straight, and the base of the 
stem is rounded. The full length of the cross is 3', the breadth 
across the arms l' 6", and the width of the shaft 5"; the arms are 
8" in length, and expand from 4" to 5" in breadth. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ci. Visited, 30th June 1909. 

94. Do., Creich.-In the churchyard at Oreich, about 50' SSE. of 
the SE. corner of the Parish Ohurch, is a recumbent slab,6' long, 
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2' 10" broad at its W. end, and l' 8/1 at the E. Incised on the surface 
is a Latin cross set on a graduated base measllring 5' in length over 
all and l' 6/1 across the arms. The breadth of the shaft is 4/1. The 
upper arm is pointed symmetrically at its termination and the side 
arms obliquely. An inscription, now undecipherable, runs round the 
upper edge of the slab. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 4th October 1909. 

95. Do., Oreich.-Some 40 yards SE. of Creich Church is a rough 
unhewn block, with a long-shafted 
Celtic cross incised on the NE. face of 
it. The slab stands 6' 10" above ground, 
and is 2' wide. The cross is 4' 3/1 long; 
the upper arm 10/1 across, the side arms 
9/1, the stem 9". At l' 7/1 from base it 
contracts to 7/1, and again swells out at 
the foot so as to form a base 4/1 deep. 
The angles are hollowed and rounded. 
The stone is known locally as "St 
Demhan's Cross" (fig. 11). 

See Stat. Acet., viii. p. 372. 
O.s.M., SUTH., cxi. 

Visited, 8th July 1909. 

96. Standing-Stone,Invershin Mains. 
-In a cultivated field at Invershin 
Mains, about t m. S. of Inveran Inn, 
and 100 yards W. of the high road, is a 
standing-stone. It faces N. and S., is 
quadrangular in section, llleasuring 
5' 5/1 in height above ground, 2' 6/1 in 
breadth at base, and l' 5/1 near the 
upper end, and l' 4/1 in thickness. Some 
4' to the S. of it a stone, 5' in length 
and 7" to 8" in thickness, hog-backed 
in form, protrudes to a height of about , 
l' from the ground. '- ..... - -' - - ... '" 

O.S.M., SUTH., cvii. (un noted). 1'2. 6 0 1. 7-PEEt 
Visited, 5th October 1909. 1111111111111 I I 

97 Standing-Stone" OlachaOha1'ra" FIG. ll.-Sculptured Cross, Creich 
. , , (No. 95) 

, Ospisdale.-On the roadside near Ospis- . 
dale House is a tall pointed monolith standing 11' 2" above ground. 
It is quadrangular in section, the sides measuring 20/1, 22", 17", and 
11" respectively. The S. face is flat and smooth, and 5' above the 
ground a hole, 1f' across and 1t" deep, has been drilled into it 
about 1" E. of the centre. It is called" Clach a Charra." 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. Visited, 8th July 1909. 

98. Oonstruction (remains oj), SW01'dale, Bona1'bridge.-Within 
Swordale Wood, at the edge of the cultivated land and on the E. 
of the tongue that projects t.owards the SSW., about 270 yards W. of 
Little Swol'dale, is a great triangular mass of stones, with a slight 
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concave outline to th8 NE. It is 50' in length and 46' across the front 
facing NE. It is flat on the top, and about 4' high. In front of it are 
irregular indefinite foundations of walls. This mass of boulders seems 
too huge to have been formed of stones merely gathered from the 
adjacent fields, unless these were thickly strewn with cairns, and it 
does not resemble any known construction. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. (nnnoted). Visited, 27th July 1909. 
99. hon Smelting (remains oj), Attchinduich. -On the right bank 

of the AUt an Raidhe Dhorcha, a short distance E. of the railway, 
about t m. S. of Auchinduich Lodge, is a heap of iron slag, measuring 
30' across and 4' in height. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ci. (unnoted). Visited, 2nd July 1909. 

SITES. 

100. Invershin Castle 01' Duifus Castle.-The Castle of. Invershin 
or Duffus, situated on the E. side of the Kyle of Sutherland, some 
! m. to the S. of Inveran Inn, has almost entirely disappeared. The 
mound on which it was placed stands on the bank above the Kyle, 
and is some 14' in height on the landward side. It has been 
surrounded by a ditch. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cvii. Visited, 5th October 1909. 
101. Islet, Loch Migdale.-At the W. end of Loch Migdale, some 

60 yards from the shore, is an islet, which appears to be artificial. It 
is formed of boulders laid on a sub-aqueous ridge of clay, and is some 
63' in diameter. The loch is shallow towards the landward side at 
the W., but deep on the other sides. The islet is said to have been a 
place of occupation in 1630. 

See Gordon, p. 5; Macfarlane's Geog. Coll., ii. p. 645. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cxi. Visited, 2nd August 1909. 

PARISH OF DORNOCH. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTUHES. 

102. Dornoch Cathedml. - The Oathedral, said to have been 
erected by Bishop Gilbert in the first half of the 13th century, 
was burned by the Master of Caithness and Mackay of Strathnaver 
in 1570, and the ruin was further destroyed by a gale in 1605. A 
certain amount of restoration was undertaken about the year 1616 ; 
otherwiiSe the structure remained in a ruinous condition until 1835-
37, when it was rebuilt from the foundation, with the exception of 

. the central tower, resting on lancet arches springing from shafted 
pillars, the old windows being more or less preserved. A large 
pointed five-light window, with unfoliated intersecting tracery, occupies 
the W. wall of the nave. There is a piscina on the S. side of the 
chancel, with continuous mouldings. Cordiner gives a plate showing 
a part of the ruins as they existed towards the end of the 18th 
century. 

See Trans. Aberdeen Eccles. Soc., 1891, p. 31 (illus.); Cast. and 
Dam. A1'ch., ii. p. 336; Neale's Eccles. Notes, p. 66; Gordon, pp. 31, 
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156, 255, and 309; COl'diner's R uins, ii. (iUus.); Pennant (1769), pp. 
187,359; Pococke, p. 168; Ag1'icult~lre oj Sutherland, p. 167 (illus.). 

103. R ecumbent E.lfigy. -At the W. end of the nave lie the 
mutilated remains of a recumbent effigy on the top of a sarcophagus, 
said by Sir Robert Gordon to be that of Richard MUlTay, a brother 
of Bishop Gilbert, slain at the battle of Embo. The figure is shown 
as clad in chain mail, covered with a surcoat having a bordered edge 
at the neck and arm holes. The head of the figure, resting on a small 
square cushion, is detached. The upper part of it is broken off' and 
the features effaced. The arms are gone, also the lower half of one of 
the legs and part of the remaining foot. There has apparently been 
a shield resting on the left breast, and the knight has been girt with 
his sword. The legs have been crossed, and have rested OIl the back 
of a lion. The full length of the figure is 6' 11". The sarcophagus 
is 7' long, l' 4" high, l' 11" wide at the head and l ' 6" at the foot. 
The cushion projects 7" beyond the top of the sarcophagus. 

See 01'igines, ii. pt. ii. p. 624; Gordon, p. 33; Pennant (1769), 
p.359. 

O.S.M., Sum., cxiii. Visited, 6th July 1909. 

CASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

104. Bishop's Palace, D01'noch.-Opposite the Cathedral at Dornoch 
stand the remains of the Bishop's Palace. Like the Cathedral, it was 
destroyed in 1570, and after lying in ruins was partially restored 
in the beginning of the 19th century for use asa County Court 
House and Jail. At the NW. corner is a lofty tower having angle 
bartizans and crow-stepped gables, with a round stair turret contain­
ing the entrance filling the angle between it and a modernised wing. 

See Cast. and Dom. A1'ch, ii. p. 336 (illus.); Origines, ii. pt. ii. p. 647. 
O.S.M., Sum., cxiii. Visited, 6th July 1909. 
105. Skelbo Oastle. -Skelbo Oastle occupies an imposing site over-

looking Loch Fleet, at the edge of a high bank. The castle is a com­
plete ruin, and of the N. wall only does any considerable portion 
remain. It has occupied the NW. corner of a walled enclosure, and 
has been a rectangular structure measuring interiorly 43' from E. to 
W. and 29' 6" from N. to S., with walls 4' 9" in thickness. The wall 
of the enclosure, which is 4' 6" in thickness, in great measure remains 
standing. Abutting on the SW. end of the castle has been a range 
of buildings, now completely ruined. The castle formerly belonged 
to the family of Sutherland of Duff'us. 

-See 01'igines, ii. pt. ii. p. 646. 
O.S.M., Sum., ex. Visited, 12th July 1909. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

106. Broch, Skelbo Wood.-Near the centre of Skelbo Wood, on a 
low knoll to the E. of the path which crosses the wood from N, to S., 
on a situation commanding an extensive view of Loch Fleet and the 
adjacent shore, are the remains of a broch. It is now a structureless 
mass of ruins, in great measure covered with grass and planted over 
with trees. N either face of the wall is visible. The diameter over 
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all appears to be about 60'. At about 17' distant from its base the 
broch has been surrounded by a rampart or wall, now entirely over­
grown. Towards the NE. the wall has receded further from the 
broch, and an enclosure has been formed, 37' long by 20' wide, by 
walls crossing the interspace. To the E. of this enclosure a break in 
the rampart, and the levelling up of the hollow in rear of it, suggest 
the position of the entrance to the broch. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cX. Visited, 12th July 1909. 
107. Broch, Bme.-On the left bank of Lhe Allt Lochan lanan 

Bhnidhe, i m. above its junction with the Carnaig River, are the 
ruins of a broch. The situation is near the base of the hill, on the 
top of a bank whence the ground slopes sharply to the flat land by 
the river. The broch now occupies the upper end of a large walled 
enclosure. It is a complete ruin, and has been greatly pillaged. 
The interior diameter is 27'. The greatest height of walling visible 
in the interior is about 5', and externally the wall is reduced to the 
foundation. The position of the entrance is uncertain, but it appears 
to have been from the WSW. The thickness of the wall at that point 
is 19', while on the ENE. it is 14'. A large circular enclosure abuts 
on the broch towards the ENE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 12th August 1909. 
108. Fortified Enclosu1'e, Dalnamain.-On an isolated hillock at 

the E. end of the birch wood, on the S. side of t,he road up Strath 
Carnaig, opposite Dalnamain, are the remains of a fortified enclosure. 
The hillock rises to a height of some 40' from its base. On the summit 
is an oval enclosure measuring some 78' from E. to W. by 42' from 
N. to S. A portion of the wall remains to a height of about 2' at the 
E. end, and is about 8' broad. This wall has been encircled by an­
other from 12' to 15' distant at the edge of the summit towards the 
E. and along the slope on the flanks. At the W. end these walls 
probably converged, but there the remains are very indistinct. 
Entirely surrounding the hillock at its base are the foundations of 
an outer defence, from 6' to 8' thick, 110' distant from the second line 
at the W. end and 98' at the E., supplemented on the N. by a trench 
some 6' deep below the top of the rampart and some 8' to 12' wide. 
The only break in this bank or rampart is one of 3' in width at the 
W, from which to the central enclosure there is an approach up an 
easy slope. The entrance to the main enclosure is not apparent, but 
has probably been from the E. end. The foundations of the walls are 
stony, and appear to be built, but there is hardly sufficient debris 
to indicate that the walls were entirely of stone. 

O.S M., SUTH., civ. (unnoted). Visited, 3rd September 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES, AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

109. Onoc Odhar.-Some 20' to the N. of the cairn on the E. end 
of enoc Odhar (No. 132) are the remains of a hut circle, partially 
demolished, and the site of another about 50' W. of it. Both appear 
to have been of the simple oval form. There are a few small 
mounds in their neighbourhood, but the hill at this part is overgrown 
with whins, and they are difficult to /ind. 
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110. C1'eag an Antalaidh.-About t m. WSW. of Cambusmore 
Lodge, on the upper side of the road to Achinael, is a group of about 
a dozen mounds of the usual small circular type. One, however, is 
sub-oval, measuring 22' X 12', with its longest axis NE. and SW. 

111. Do.-Some 150 yards NW. of the cairn on Creag an 
Amalaidh (No. 133) is a hut circle of unusual form. The main 
enclosure is sub-oval in form, and is 37' in length. A slight con­
striction near the middle divides it into two compartments, that at 
the N. measu~ing 19' across and that at the S. 12'. The entrance is 
by a passage ID' long and 2' wide leading into the larger compart­
ment at its SW. end. The wall of the smaller compartment where it 
bonnds the passage takes the form of a mound of earth and stone 
7' in width. On the opposite or W. side the passage is flanked by a 
small circular compartment, of about 4' interior diameter, entering 
7' from the exterior through a passage about 3' long. Abutting on 

10 5 0 1.0 '5Of..;Et 
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FIG. 12.-Hut Circle, Creag an Amalaidh (No. Ill). 

the outer main wall towards the NW. is a small circular compartment 
with an interior diameter of about 6' 6". The walls of the structure 
have been formed elltirely of undressed stone, built without mortar, 
about 4' 6" in thickness except, as above mentioned, on the side of 
the entrance. They are almost completely ruined (fig. 12). 

112. Do.-Some 200 yards WNW. of the cairn ?n Creag an 
Amalaidh (No. 133) is a circular dry-built enclosure, WIth a wall of 
13' in thickness, of large undressed stones. The entrance is from the 
NW. through a passage 18' in length and I' 6" in width, to c.ontain 
which the wall has been thickened to that extent along the ClI'cum­
ference for ID' towards the E. and 9' towards the W. On the SW. of 
the interior is a round recess in the thickness of the wall, 4' across 
and 4' deep, and to the riaht of the entrance another, 4' deep and 3' 
across, with signs of another, similar in situation and di!llens.ion! on 
the opposite side. To the N. side of the centre of the mtenor IS a 
built hearth of stone, of about 3' interior diameter, partially enclosed 
by a wall still at the back about I' 6" high. The wall enclosing the 
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whole structure is at most 2' high. The interior is overgrown with 
bracken (fig. 13). 

"lO.L1.j-fH~+++lft° __ -+"\O __ -+:z._o_--+rr~E:t IHilt""1 I I -
FIG. 13. -Hut Oircle, Creag an Amalaidhi(N 0.:112). 

113. Do.-Some 100 yards W. of the last is another similar con­
struction, with two well-defined circular recesses in the thickness of the 
wall. The interior diameter is about 25'. The thickness of the wall 
is about 13', expanding gradually to 21' on either side of the entrance. 
The details of the interior of the structure are difficult to determine. 

'LO 
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FIG. 14.-Hut Circle, Creag an Amalaidh (No. 113). 

From the end of the entrance a bed of stones extends into the 
interior towards the SE., expanding from about 5' to 9' across, with a 
length of about 18'. The E. side of this bed is 2' distant from the 
interior wall opposite, and it appears to divide the structure into two 
main compartments. In the thickness of the wall, at the S. of the 



INVRNTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 41 

PARISH OF DORNOCH. 

interior, are the two semicircular recesses: that at the E. side some 
4' to 5' in diameter, and that towards the W. some 3' to 4'. The 
entrance is from the NW. (fig. 14). 

114. Do.-Some 50 yards E. of the last is a ruined structure, the 
wall of which, about 8' in thickness, is formed of boulders. Its total 
length is 46', and its main features are a circular enclosure at either 
end, joined by connecting walls. It lies N. and S. The enclosure at 
the N. end measures 15' 6" across by 13' in length interiorly: that at 
the S. 10' xlI' 6", the remaining portion being about 8' wide and 
apparently divided into compartments. There is · an outer enclosure 
abutting on it at the NW., some 18' in length, and expanding from 4' 
at the N. end to 8' at the W., with an entrance from the S. The 
entrance to the main structure appears to have been from the SK, 
but its details are obscure. 

115. DO.-Some 40 yards W. of the last is a hut circle of about 
26' interior diameter, with an entrance about 3' wide from the W . 
The wall, which is of stone, is about 6' thick, expanding to 10' on 
either side of the entrance. 

116. Do.-About i m. NW. of the large cairn on Creag an 
Amalaidh is a hut circle, with a wall 7' across formed of boulders. 

FIG. 15.-Hut Circle, Creag an Amalaidh (No. 116). 

The interior, which is circular, is about 18' in diameter. The entrance 
is from the SE. through a passage 20' in length and I' 4" wide. It is 
flanked on the W. side by a chamber entering off the passage near 
its outer end about 18' in length. The wall on the E. side is pro­
longed beyond the termination of the passage for an indefinite 
distance winding down the hillside (fig. 15). 

117. Do. - About 300 yards SE. of Achinael Oottage, on the 
upper side of the road, is a hut circle of stone, with a wall about 
7' thick, increasing to 10' at either side of the entrance. The 
interior diameter is 25', and the entrance is from the NE. Several 
small rounded recesses are apparent in the interior face of the 
wall. 

118. Do.-To the N. of Achinael Oottage some 300 yards is a 
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hut circle, a circular enclosure with an entrance 5' wide, and a large 
group of mounds of the ordinary low circular type. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix. Visited, 7th July 1909. 

119. Achvaich, StTath Ach a' Bhathaich.-On the E. side of Strath 
Ach a' Bhathaich, nearly! m. N. of the confluence of the Ach Vaich 
Burn and the River Evelix, on the SW. slope of the hill, is a small 
scattered group of mounds. On a slight eminence is a hut circle 
of the simple oval form, with entrance from the S., but its outline is 
too indefinite for accurate measurement. 

Some 60 yards to the NNW. of it is a low artificial mound, oval 
or kidney -shaped. On the top is an "enclosure 13' long by 9' wide, 
with an entrance from the SE. about I' 10" wide. The thickness of 
the enclosing bank is about 5'. • 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix. Visited, 10th July 1909. 

120. Dalchiel.-At Dalchiel near Fleuchary, 3 m. ENE. of Dornoch, 
on a piece of waste land between the road and the River Evelix, is a 
small mound with traces of circular enclosures in its vicinity. 

O.S.M., SUTH, cxii. Visited, 10th July 1909. 

121. CamoTe Wood.-Some 300 yards SE. of the cairn (No. 141), 
near the centre of Carnore Wood, at the edge of a clearing, is a hut 
circle. It measures interiorly 30' x 34', with its entrance from the 
SE. The enclosing bank has been from 5' 6" to 6' in thickness, 
except at the entrance, where it projects outward on either side so as 
to form a passage 10' or 11' in length. The present width of this 
passage is 9', but a tree has been planted in the centre of it, and it 
appears to have been in part dug out_ 

On the top of a knoll some ;)00 yards S. is a circular enclosure 
of 28' interior diameter, surrounded by a bank some 6' thick. The 
entrance is from the NE., and is 6' wide. The interior has been 
hollowed out to some extent, and its level in the centre is about 3' 
below that of the top of the bank. 

There are several small mounds and remains of a few simple oval 
hut circles about the wood at this part, but the undergrowth of heather 
and the planting have obscured the details. Four of the enclosures 
in the E. half of the wood, noted on the O.S. map as hut circles, have 
more the appearance of cattle enclosures. Interiorly they measure 
some 40' in diameter. The banks are some 5' in thickness, and the ­
entrances from various directions are from 7' to 8' wide. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxiii. Visited, 13th July 1909. 

122. ClashmoTe Wood.-About 1 m. NW. of the factor's office at 
Clashmore, on the N. side of the track through Clashmore Wood and 
some 100 yards NW. of the cairn (No. 144), is a hut circle, with its 
entrance from the SSE., measuring interiorly 33' 6" x 35' 6". The 
encircling bank is some 6' wide, broadening gradually for a distance 
of about 17' as it approaches the entrance on either side to a width of 
13' 6/1. There are indications of the existence of a chamber on the 
W. side of the passage. A tree planted on the E. side prevents the 
width of the passage being ascertained. 

A number of well-preserved small mounds lie around, one actually 
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abutting on the bank towards the E. Some 50 yards NW. is a con­
spicuous mound measuring 20' in diameter and some 3' in height. 

Through the wood to the NW. are a number of other mounds. 
The O.S. map indicates a hut circle in the wood about 11 m. 

WNW. of the factor's office at Clashmore. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. (unnoted). Visited, 20th July 1909. 

123. Astle.- Up the Crask and along the ridge which runs 
towards the SE., at an elevation of from 400' to 500' above the sea, 
are numerous mounds, hut circles, etc., and indistinct remains of 
ancient walls. 

Some 400 yards NW. of the westmost cottage in Astle are two 
circular enclosures almost contiguous. That to the W. is of the usual 
oval form of hut circle, with entrance from the SSE. It measures 
interiorly 36' X 38'. The bank is 7' 6" thick, and gradually widens 
towards the entrance, where it measures 14' 6" along the line of 
the passage. The entrance appears to be about I' 4" wide. The 
slope of the hill is towards the entrance, and the back of the en­
closure has been excavated so as to render the floor level. There is 
little sign of the bank on the upper side. 

The enclosure adjacent is 9' 6" distant. It is circular, with an 
interior diameter of about 43', and has the entrance from the SSE. 
about 5' wide. The bank, which is much broken, appears to have 
been about 7' thick. Some half a dozen mounds lie in the immediate 
neighbourhood of these enclosures. 

Some 400 yards NNE. of the westmost house at Astle are the 
ruins of a circular enclosure. It is slightly pear-shaped in form, 
measuring about 31' 6" x 35', with the main entrance probably from 
the NE. The wall has been composed largely of stone, and has 
evidently been higher than that of the ordinary hut circle. The 
interior appears to have been divided into three main compartments 
by stone walls. At about 14' 6" from the E. end the base of a wall, 
some 8' thick, crosses it from N. to S., and is joined by a wall, about 
5' 6" wide, running inward from the N. side of the entrance. The 
compartment formed on the S. appears to have measured some 9' X 10', 
and that on the N. is somewhat less. The wall appears to have been 
from 7' to 8' thick. Owing to the amount of stone in the interior from 
the ruined wall the details are obscured. There are indications of 
separate entrances through the wall into each chamber. There are 
no mounds in the immediate vicinity. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix (unnoted). Visited, 20th July 1909. 
124. Ha1'1'iet Plantation.-On the W. side of the westmost of the 

two tracks which enter the Harriet Plantation from the S., and 
some 200 yards N. of the road past Birichin, is a small circular 
enclosure, surrounded by the base of a wall, outlined on both faces 
with boulders. The walls are 3' 6" thick, the interior about 
3' diameter; and the entrance from the S. is through a passage 
3' long and I' 1" to I' 4" wide. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix. (unnoted). Visited, 12th Jnly 1909. 
125. T01'boll.-On the S. face of the hill, about 1 ID. W. of Torboll, 

and 1 m. N. of the River Carnaig, are a number of mounds rather larger 
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than usual. One measures 30' X 16', is irregular III outline, and is 
formed of very small as well as very large stones. Near by is a hut 
circle of simple oval form, with its entrance from the SE., and its 
longest axis in the same direction, measuring interiorly 26' X 32'. 
It is overgrown with heather. The enclosing bank is about 8' 
thick. Some 40' N. is another, also entering from the SE., 
measuring interiorly 11' X 17'. 

Some 300 yards to the N., higher up the hill, about the 500' 
elevation, is another large group of small mounds, with a small hut 
circle to the S. of the group. The inner face of the bank of this 
circle appears to have been faced with stone. The entrance has been 
from the SE., but its dimensions are indefinite. The interior diameter 
is 5' X 8'. The bank is 6' across. Numerous small mounds lie to 
the NNW., mostly circular, measuring about 18' in diameter, and 
3' 6" to 4' in height. 

Immediately to the N. of " Carn Liath " (No. 134) is another group 
of small mounds and a hut circle. The latter measures 8' X 12', and 
is enclosed by a bank 6' thick. The entrance appears to have 
been from the NW., and to have been narrow. On the S. the bank 
projects for 7', so as to flank it. 

Some 200 yards NW. of "Carn Liath" is a mound,with a diameter 
of 37', and height from 3' to 3' 6". 

Some 40' W. of it is a circular enclosure, with interior diameter 
of about 25', and an entrance from the NW. about 7' across. There 
are also indications of a narrow entrance from the SE. and of other 
details flanking it. In front, to the NW. of this enclosure, is a low 
oblong mound lying SE. and NW., 38' long, 13' broad at the SE. end, 
and 16' at the NW. 

126. Do.-Some 200 yards S. of the large cairn below Craig a' 
Bhlair, and about i m. NW. of " Carn Liath," is a well-defined circular 
enclosure, with walls of stone about 6' thick, faced towards the interior 
with flat-sided boulders set contiguously. The interior diameter 
is ~7'. The entrance is from the SE., through a passage 10' 6" long on 
the W. side and 7' on the E. Entering from the passage on the W. side, 
at about 4' from the exterior, through an opening l' to I' 3" wide, is 
a triangular chamber 10' long and 4' to 4' 6" wide. In the interior, to 
the E. of the entrance, is a small enclosure set off with boulders abut­
ting on the wall, measuring interiorly 4' long by 30' wide. From the 
S. side of the circle an old ruined wall runs S. for a few yards, and 
then curves away eastwards round the flank of the hill (fig. 16). 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 9th July 1909. 

127. Do.-About t m. above Torboll waterfall, and some 150 yards 
WNW. of the large cairn (No. 136), are the remains of a circular con­
struction, of some 30' interior diameter, which appears to have had 
secondary rectangular erections in the interior. 

Some 60 yards W. of the large cairn is a small oval mound, 
measuring some 17' x 8', with its longest axis NW. and SE.; and a 
few feet to the NW. of it is a natural hillock, with a small circular 
mound of some 16' diameter, probably artificial, on the top of it. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. (unnoted). Visited, 12th August 1909. 
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FIG. 16.-Hut Circle, Torboll (No. 126). 

128. Bme.-Some 300 yards E. of the keeper's house at Brae, • 
close by the road on the right bank of the Carnaig River, is a hut 
circle enclosed by a bank of earth and stone some 7' in thickness. 
The entrance is from the ESE., and is 3' wide. The interior measure­
ment is 30' X 32'. From a point some 10' distant from the entrance, 
along the outer circumference of the circle, a bank runs out in an 
easterly direction, and from the opposite side of the entrance, and 
flanking it, an arm projects for a distance of 10'. 

129. Do.-Situated about 100 yards NW. of the last hut circle is 
another of more complex form, measuring interiorly 39' X 33'. Its 
surrounding bank is of turf and stone, and the entrance is from thfl 
ESE. The interior has been sub-divided into two main compart­
ments by a bank or wall, varying from 6' to 9' in thickness.' The 
compartment on the SW. side, which is oblong, with a curve towards 
the E. at the S. end, measures about 21' X 9', while the other on the 
NE. is approximately circular, and has a diameter of about 20'. 
Opening out of the latter compartment towards the SE. is another, 
measuring interiorly some 7' X 4', and containing on its NE. side a' 
small enclosure, 3' 6/1 in length by I' 6/1 in breadth. The entrance to 
the large circular enclosure has been from the ESE. by a passage 2' 6/1 
wide and about 9' long. The entrance to the other large enclosure 
is not apparent. - In the back of the circular compartment is a recess 
in the main wall, 2' wide by I ' 6/1 deep. The original width of the 
main entrance is not ascertainable. Beyond it, in the interior, is an 
open circular space of from 10' to 12' in diameter. The bank on the 
E. side of the entrance is carried outward for a total length of 22', 
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and at its termination there is an indication of a wall base passing at 
right angles to it, in front of the entrance (fig. 17). 

t 

FIG. l7. - Hut Circle, Brae (No . 129). 

Nowhere in the vicinity of these enclosures are there any mounds. 
O.S.M., SUTH., civ. (unnoted). Visited, 12th August 1909. 
130. Dalnamain.-About ~ m. NE. of the shepherd's house at 

• Dalnamain, at an elevation of some 400' over sea level, is a group of 
about a dozen mounds, of the usual small type, and a hut circle. The 
circle has an interior diameter of some 26'. Its entrance is from the 
SE. through a passage 9' long. The width of the entrance is indefinite, 
but it has been narrow-probably about 3'. The thickuess of the 
bank is 6'. Near by are the remains of old enclosing banks. 

131. AUt Tigh NeiU.-On the W. side of the AlIt Tigh Neill, 
about lOO' above the road up Strath Oarnaig and immediately above 
the birch wood, is a group of from fifteen to twenty small mounds 
and two hut circles. Of the hut circles, the most easterly measures 
26' X 31', with its entrance from the E. The bank is of turf and stone 
7' thick in the circumference and 9' at the entrance. The second 
circle is some 30 yards to the W. It enters from the SE. through an 
entrance 3' wicle. The bank is about 4' 6/1 thick. The interior 
dimensions are 20' X 25'. Abutting on it to the SW. is a small 
rectangular enclosure, which measures interiorly 12' X 5', and is 
probably a secondary construction. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix. Visited, 3rd September 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL OONSTRUCTIONS. 
132. ChambeTed Cairn, Cnoc Odhar.-At the E. end of Onoc 

Odhar which rises to the W. of Oambusavie Station, and some 120 
yards N. of the W. end of the cultivated land, are the remains of 
a large round cairn. From the centre the greater part of the stones 
have been removed, almost completely denuding the slabs that form 
the W. side of the chamber. The chamber is not cleared out, and 
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the ends of several large stones protruding through the turf show 
its extent. It has probably been bipartite. The main chamber is 
reached at some 25' from the SE. edge of the cairn. It has been 
polygonal in form, about 7' long by 6' 6/1 broad. Of the slabs exposed, 
that towards the SW. is about 5' across, 3' 8/1 high above ground on 
the outside, and l' 4/1 in the interior. An outer chamber or com­
partment stood ill the same line towards the NW., where several 
large displaced stones are lying, two of them, opposite each other, 
being 2' 6/1 and 3' long respectively. The dimensions of the cairn 
have been 62' from NE. to SW. and 69' from SE. to NW. The 
main axis of the chamber has been along the former direction. 
The O.S. map indicates the discovery of human ~ones here in 1868. 

13X. Oaim, 01'eag an A1nalaidh.-Some ~ m. SE. of Achinael, just 
to the W. of the wire fence and above the road, is a large cairn, snb­
oval in form, with its longest axis E. allLI W. It measures 70' in 
length, 43' across at the E. end and 26' at the W. About 19' from 
the E. it expands to 53', forming lugs on either side about 11' across. 
This peculiarity seems quite distinct on the N. side, but the partial 
demolition of the cairn renders it less obvious on the S. At the W. 
end it is only a foot or two in height, and it has risen towards the 
E, but as it has been considerably dilapidated in that direction it is 
impossible to say where it attained its greatest elevation. At highest 
it is about 6' high. No chamber or cist has been exposed. There 
are a few small mounds in its immediate neighbourhood. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cix. Visited, 7th July 1909. 
134. Ohambe1'ed Oai1'1~, l'o1'boll.-On the summit of the hill, about 

! m. NW. of Torboll , is a large cairn known as "Carn Liath," which 

10ttffilSf++It0 __ -jl_O_-lf_O_--f't"O fe.e.,. 11'"1 11 "1 t t t 
FIG. 18.-Chambered Cail'll, Torboll (No. 134). 

has been excavated and the chamber and passage cleared out. It is 
circular, with a diameter of about 60'. The chamber is entered by a 
passage from the SE., 14' 6/1 in length and about 2' 4/1 in width. 
Access is between two slabs, l' 6/1 apart, covered by a lintel 3' long 
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and 7/1 deep and 2' 6/1 above the floor level. The chamber is bipartite, 
divided by two slabs some 3/1 to 5/1 thick and some 2' 6/1 high and 
2' 4/1 apart. The outer compartment is roughly rectangular, 4' 7" in 
length by 4' 3/1 in width. The inner one is polygonal, but not very 
markedly so, measuring 6' 2/1 in length by 5' 4/1 in width. The largest 
slab, which is on the NE., is 4' 5/1 long, and the greatest height in the 
interior to the top of the highest slab is 3' 6/1. The spaces between 
the slabs are filled with horizontal building. From the similarity 
of the curved surface at the upper extremities of the end slab and 
of that on the NE., they appear to be portions of the same boulder 
which has been split. The slabs are thinner than usual. At 7' in 
from the outer end of the passage are two upright stones opposite 
each other, 2' 2/1 high and 2' 5/1 apart (fig. 18). 

135. Cairn, do.-On the lowest slope of An Droighneach, at its 
extreme E. end, lies an oval cairn, with its longest axis SE. and 
NW., measuring 60' X 49'. Though much excavation has been done 
on it, neither cist nor chamber is exposed. 

A group of small mounds lie to the SE. 
O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 9th July 1909. 

136. Cairn, etc., do.-On an open piece of moorland, just beyond 
the termination of the birch wood, between the road up Strath 
Carnaig and the right bank of the Carnaig River, about i m. above 
Tor boIl Fall, and some 100 yards back from the road, is a well-preserved 
circular cairn, overgrown with grass and studded with birch trees. Its 
diameter is about 50', and its height 6' or thereby. Around its base 
is a kerb of large contiguous boulders, averaging about l' in height 
above ground and from It' to 2' across. On the top of the cairn is a 
slight circular depression of some 7' diameter. In the vicinity are a 
number of small mounds. 

About 150 yards W. of the cairn there seems to be another, 
its longest axis E. and W. measuring 23' x 19'. Towards the NE. 
some large stones are visible, marking its outline. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. (unnoted). Visited, 12th August 1909. 

137. Caim (and Cup-marked Stone), Dornoch.-Some It m. NNE. 
of Dornoch, on a stretch of waste land overgrown with whins, to the 
W. of the railway, are the remains of a circular cairn, with a diameter 
of some 44'. It has been excavated. Near the centre a cist has 
been exposed, formed of four flat slabs, 4/1 to 5/1 in thickness, set on 
edge, measuring interiorly :Y 5/1 in length, 2' 4/1 in width, and I ' 10/1 ill 
depth. The slab, which still partially covers the cist, is some 6' in 
length by 2' 4/1 in breadth across the centre and 6/1 in thickness. It 
is of sandstone, and presents a concave outline on its S. edge, which 
may have been caused by a fracture when the cist was opened. On 
the under side of this stone, at its W. end, is a well-defined cup mark 
about 2f' across and f' deep. Some 2f' to the S. of the cup a shallow 
groove runs along the centre of the stone from its W. end for about 
I' 11/1, curving at its E. extremity towards the S. There are a 
number of small hollows on both surfaces, which seem to be natural. 

See Antiq~ba1'ies, vii. p. 270. 
O. S.M., SUTH., cxiii. Visited, 10th July 1909. 
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138. "Oarn an Fheidh," Ha1'1'iet Plctntation.-Some 400 yards into 
the Harriet Plantation from the S., on the W. side of the westmost of 
the two tracks, is a circular cairn, with a diameter of abnut 56', and a 
height of from 5' to 6'. It has been broken into in several places, but 
neither cist nor chamber is exposed. 

139. Oairn, do.-About 16' to the N. lies another circular cairn, 
with a diameter of about 36' and a height of about :3' 6". It has been 
opened up in places, but neither cist nor chamber is exposed. 

O.S.M., SUTH" cix. Visited, 12th July 1909. 
140. Oairn, Skelbo Woo d.-The O.S. map indicates the remains of 

a cairn in Skelbo Wood, some i m. S. of Skelbo Castle, but the thick 
undergrowth and the young plantation haye obscured them. There 
are a number of mounds in the neighbourhood, which are of the 
ordinary small class. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cx. Visited, 12th July 1909. 

141. Oairn,Oamo1'e Wood.-Some 650 yards WSW. of the W. end 
of Loch an treel, in Cam ore Wood, and about i- m. SE. of Evelix, on a 
slight elevation some 100 yards within the wood, is a cairn. 
Excavation has been made about its centre, and several cart-loads of 
stone, at a comparatively recent date, have been removed from its W. 
side, but neither chamber nor cist has actually been exposed, though 
there has been uncovereq the head of a large slab, 3' 9" long and 
about 9" thick, lying E. and W. about 19' in from the circumference 
on the E. The cairn has been circular, with a diameter of about 47', 
and its greatest height is about 5', 

142. Ohambered Oai1'n (remains oj), Olashmore.-In a field im­
mediately to the W. of the school at Clash more, and some 120 yards 
N. of the high road, are three large slabs, which appear to have formed 
the end and part of one side of a megalithic chamber in the interior 
of a cairn, a small portion of which still remains. The main axis of 
the chamber has been SE. and NW. The slab which has apparently 
formed the back wall is 5' 9" across the base, l' 6" thick, and 6' 3" 
high from ground level. The two slabs remaining on the SE. side 
measure respectively 4' 3" and 5' 8" in breadth at base. On the 
NW. side the head of a large stone protrudes a few inches from the 
ground. The cairn has been removed to such an extent that its out­
line is not obtainable, but the portion remaining in rear of the slabs 
on the SE. is still 3' to 4' high. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxiii. (" Standing Stones"). 
Visited, 14th July 1909. 

143. Ohambered Oairn (1'emains oj), Evelix.-On the S. side of the 
road from Dornoch to Bonarbridge, about half-way between it and 
the River Evelix, at the edge of the wood, about i m. W. of Evelix, 
are the remains of a chambered cairn. The cairn, which has beEln 
almost entirely removed, has been circular, with a diameter of about 
68'. Several of the slabs used in the formation of a large bipartite 
chamber remain. The chamber has had its main axis WNW. and 
ESE. The back slab at the WNW. end has been removed. Of the 
inner compartment two opposite slabs remain, about 8' 5" apart; that 
on the W., slightly tilted backwards, measures 4' across its base, while 

4 

• 
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that on the E. measures 5' across its base, is 3' 6" high, and 2' 7" 
thick. Only one of the partition stones remains, viz., that on the 
W. side. The front half of it is flat along the top at I' 9" above 
ground; the other end rises toO'. Of the outer compartment two 
side slabs remain, about 4' 4" apart. They measure 2' 10" and 3' 
across the base respectively, and are each some 2' 6" above ground. 
That on the W. is 2' distant from the divisional stone and about 17' 
in from the outer edge of the cairn. In rear of the chamber several 
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FIG. 19.-Chambered Cairn, Evelix (No. 143). 

large stones protrude, such as may have formed the back and two 
sides of another chamber facing the S, the side slabs in this case 
standing anglewise to the back slab (fig. 19). 

144. Oaim, Olashmore. -About 1 m. NW. of the Factor's Office 
at Clashmore, on the E. side of the track through Clash more Wood, 
is a cairn. It is circular, with a diameter of about 60', a height of 
about 7', and though considerably demolished, neither chamber nor 
cist is exposed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxii. (unnoted). Visited, 20th July 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

145. 1'own Oross, Dornoch.-Situated to the W. of the Cathedral 
at Dornoch are the remains of the Town Cross. The shaft, chamfered 
at the corners, and square at the top and bottom, alone remains. It 
is set in a square base, chamfered in its upper edges. 

See Small's Orosses, pI. 107 (iIIus.). 
146. Earl's Oross, Domoch.-Rather more than ! m. NE. of 

Dornoch, and about 350 yards from the shore, is situated the Thane's 

• 
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or Earl's Cross, stated to have been erected there as a memorial of · 
the battle of Embo, fought about the year 1245, in which William 
first Earl of Sutherland defeated the Scandinavian invaders. It 
belongs, however, to a much later date than the traditional event 
which it is said to commemorate. It is a tall shaft, which has Leen 
broken, expanded at the head, whereon rests a triangle of stone, 
perforated in the centre, a fragment of the original crosshead, which 
was circular, and had arms expanding to the margin, with perfora­
tions between them. Cordiner describes it as he found it in the 
year 1776, and supplies an illustration of it at the side of his plate 
showing the ruins of Dornoch Cathedral. The extreme height of the 
cross is 7' 3r. The edges of the shaft are chamfered, and at 4' 1/1 
above the ground is a projecting band, 10/1 deep, relieved on the E. 
and W. faces with a shield, that on the E. charged with three stars of 
five poillts (two and one) for the Earl of Sutherland, that on the W. 
indecipherable, but stated by Cordiner to have borne" the armorial 
ensigns of Caithness." The breadth of the shaft is I' 6/1; its 
thickness Sr'. The cross faces E. and W. It is now enclosed 
within an iron railing. 

See Cordiner's Antiquities, p. 70; Cordiner's Ruins, ii. (illus. ); 
Pococke, p. 167 ; 01'igines, ii. pt. ii., p. 647. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxiii. Visited, 10th July 1909. 

147. Oup-ma1'ked Stone, Dornoch.-At the Manse of Dornoch is a 
triangular slab of micaceous schist, measuring 12/1 long by 9t" across 
thfl base, showing five well.defined cup marks and portions of other 
three at the broken edge of the stone. Towards the apex of the 
triangle is a single cup mark, If' diameter, with another below it 
21" diameter by r deep, and near the centre of the triangle a row 
of three, and another row parallel to the last at the base. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxiii. Visited, 9th July 1909. 

148. Standing-Stone, Oamo1'e Wood.-Among the trees in the 
Camore Wood, about 170 yards SE. of the E. end of Loch an treel, 
is a standing-stone. It is a large monolith of sandstone, roughly 
quadrangular at base, tapering to a point at its upper extremity. It 
is S' 9/1 in height above the ground, 2' 5/1 across the W. face at base, 
and l' 10/1 across the N. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cxiii. Visited, 13th July 1909. 
149. Standing-Stone, Dalnamain.-At the N. side of the enclosed 

park to the E. of Dalnamain, in Strath Oarnaig, protruding from a long 
low cairn of stones about 2' high (possibly collected from the surface 
of the field), is a quadrangular standing-stone, measuring 4' 4/1 above 
ground, I' 11/1 across the base, and I' 1/1 thick. The stone faces NNW. 
and SSE. Locally this is known as "The Swedish Man's Grave." 

150. S-shaped Oai1'n, do.-At the lower end of the enclosed park 
to the E. of Dalnamain, in Strath Carnaig, is a long low heap of 
stones, more or less S-shaped in form. The elevation of the field is 
but little above that of the river; the general direction of the con­
struction is the same as that of the river. It seems to be a natural 
deposit of boulders and gravel, supplemented with stones from the 
field. The only other regular S-shaped constructions noticed are in 
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Strathnaver, on a haugh beside the Oarnachaidh Burn (No. 211). 
The situation is almost similar, as also the relative general directions 
of the constructions parallel with that of the stream. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 3rd September 1909. 
151. Rock Shelte?', Gnag an Amalaidh.-On the N. side of Oreag 

an Amalaidh, on the E. face of its most northerly shoulder facing 
" the Mound," and some 60' above the high road, is a rock shelter. It 
is absolutely hidden by a large mass of rock, which occupies the front 
of the platform, but is easily located from below by the growth of 
ivy which, issuing from the recess, clambers over the rocks above. 
This shelter is known as " Macpherson Oham's Oave." There are signs 
of human occupancy in the soil at the N. end. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 7th July 1909. 

SITES. 

152. Proncy Gastle.-On the summit of a. mound 12' to 15' high, 
of a somewhat artificial appearance, occupying the N. extremity 
of a ridge which runs northwards from Proncy farm buildings, are 
the fragmentary remains of Proncy Oastle. Near the centre of a 
circular enclosure of about lOO' diameter, surrounded by a rampart 
or wall, with traces of buildings on its inner side, there has been a 
rectangular keep, measuring interiorly some 20' from NE. to SW. 
and 12' wide, with walls from 5' to 6' thick. The ruin is overgrown 
with grass, save a detached mass of masonry J.ying to the S. of it. 
The entrance to the enceinte appears to have been from the S. 

O.S.M., SUTH., ex. Visited, 12th July 1909. 

PARISH OF DURNESS. 

ECCLESIASTICAL STRUCTURES. 

153. GhU1'ch, Dumess.-The old church of Durness lies about 100 
yards W. of the house of Bailenacille, a picturesque 18th century 
structure. The plan consists of a main building running E. and W., 
measuring interiorly some 40' X 16', with a wing projecting 25' 
to the northward. In the gable of the wing is a two-light window 
under a pointed arch, with the central mullion dividing into two 
small arches at the head, and a transom. The gables are crow stepped. 

See Eccles. Arch., iii. p. 557 (plan and ilIus.). 

Font.--In the middle of the church lies the font. It is circular, 
with four half-round equidistant projections 3t" across and 1" deep, 
carried from top to base. The width over all is I' 10"; that of the 
interior I' 5r', and the depth 9". A sketch of it in the MS., by Mr 
J ames HOl'sburgh, of his paper entitled " Notes of Oromlechs, etc., in 
the Oounty of Sutherland" (Antiqua1'ies, vii. p. 271), is preserved in 
the library of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland.* 

154. Sepulchml Monument.-In an arched recess to the left of the 

... The flat stone over the grave of a Mackay, said to have been brought from 
the Lewis, having carved on it an old Highland claymore, with reversed guards, 
etc., referred to in Mr HorEburgh's paper, and similarly illustra,ted in his MS., 
above referred to, is no longer visible. 
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doorway of the church lies a slab 6' 6" in length by 2' 8" in breadth. 
A compartment at the E. end contains a representation of a hunter 
drawing a bow at a stag (which the artist, through the exigencies of 
space, has placed in a vertical position), and, beneath, the letters D.M.M.C. 
The slab also bears a representation of the skull and cross-bones, and 
the inscription-

DONALD MAKMURCHOV HIER LYIS LO 
VAS IL TO HIS FllEIND, VAR TO HIS ] '0 
TRVE TO HIS MAISTER IN VEIRD AND VO. 1623. 

Above is a tablet within a moulded border, bearing the following 
arms :-Quarterly: 1st, a sinister hand appaume; 2nd, a ship with two 
masts, sails furled, flag at stern; 3rd, a stag's head cabossed; 4th, a 

salmon naiant. Initials at top, :N~~' Date at foot, 1619. 

See Sutherland and the Reay Count1'y, p. 43; Morrison's Guide, 
p. 105; The Book of Maekay, p. 281 (illus.); New Stat. Aect. Suth., 
etc., xv., p. 94 (footnote). 

O.S.M., SUTH., v. Visited, 4th June 1909. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

155. Bt'oeh, Dun D01'naigil, 01' D01·nadilla.-This broch stands on 
the E. side of Strathmore, about! ill. S. of Alltnacaillich and some 
3i m. S. of the southern extremity of Loch Hope. Here the Strath­
more River, at right angles to its general direction, has crossed the 
strath to the E. side, and for a distance of about i m. flows along 
the base of the steep hillside. This important position is commanded 
at its S. end by the broch which stands about 12' above the ordinary 
level of the stream. The broch is much ruined, but on the E. 
side a portion of the outer wall above the entrance stands to a 
height of 22'. The inner portion of this part, with the galleries, 
having fallen, a buttress has been built for support of the remainder. 
The rest of the structure is reduced to the level of the floor of the 
first gallery, and varies from 6' to 11' in height externally. The 
interior is 27' in diameter, and the top of the walls at their present 
level 8' in thickness. The entrance faces the NK, and is now only 
3' in height. It is 3' 4" wide at the outside, and is covered by a 
large triangular block of stone 4' 8" along its base and 3' in height. 
The passage is for the greater part blocked with stones, and only 
the two outer covering stones remain in position. At 3' 9" inward, 
on the left side, one of the checks of the doorway remains in situ, 
but beyond this the passage is entirely ruined. On the opposite 
side there is still evidence of the existence of the guard-chamber. 
The interior is filled up with debris almost to the level of the top 
of the surrounding wall. At a distance of about 24' round the 
circumference to the left of the entrance in the interior, is a large 
lintel, indicating the entrance to a chamber, or possibly the stairway, 
and directly opposite the doorway a small opening reveals the top of 
a chamber, roofed with overlapping flags. There is the usual batter 
of the wall on the exterior. 

See Stat. Aect., iii. p. 584; 01'igines, ii. pt. ii. p. 706; Anhce. Scot., 



54 HISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

PARISH OF DURNESS. 

v. pt. i. p. 191; Antiquaries, vii. p. 298; Cordiner's Ruins, ii. (illus.); 
Cordiner's Antiqnities, p. 105 (illus.); Pennant (1772), iii. p. 340 
(footnote); Pococke, p. 121 (illus.); The Scottish Gael, ii. p. 16 (illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxiii. Visited, 19th May 1909. 
156. B1'orh, Ach an Duin.-About 1 m. W. of Hope Ferry, on the 

end of a rocky ridge that terminates near the N. end of Loch Creagach, 
are the remains of a broch. A ruined cottage stands partially on the 
foundations and explains its dilapidation. It is much ruined, and 
very little walling remains. The interior diameter has been 26' and 
the thickness of the wall 11'. The entrance is from the N. along the 
ridge. The guard chamber, visible through the roofing slabs, in 
part displaced, still exists, entered at 5' in from the outside on the 
right of the passage. It is 8' long, and rounded at the end, 2' 6" 
to 3' wide, and from present floor level to covering flags 4' 3" high. 
About 24' along the wall to the SE. the top of another chamber, filled 
with debris, is visible. There are no details of the passage obtainable. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xv. Visited, 3rd June 1909. 

157. BToch 01' Dun, Oamus an Duin.-On a low projecting rock on 
the E. bank of Loch Eireboll, at the S. end of the Camus an Duin, 
about 1 m. S. of Heilem Ferry, and to the W. of a fisherman's 
cottage, are the remains of a broch or dun. It appears to have been 
a structure, elliptical in outline, with an entrance 5' wide to seaward 
on to the point of the rock. The length of the structure over all 
seems to have been about 55', and similarly its breadth 42' about the 
centre, but the indefinite outline of the N. wall does not allow this 
measurement to be accurately obtained. The thickness of the wall 
at the entrance is 14', and on the S. side, near the centre, 10'. On 
the S. side of the entrance the outer face of the wall is 8' high, and for 
43' round the circumference in that direction it still remains several 
feet in height, but beyond that it is overgrown with turf. It is built 
of large stones without mortar. At 4' from the outside, on the right 
of the passage, a square-edged intake shows that there has been an 
entrance to a chamber or stair at this point. The interior on the S. 
side is full of debris, and there are suggestions of chambers in the 
thickness of the wall. A circular depression, about 3' 6" across, near 
the E. end, may be the site of a well. The edge of the rocks on the 
loch side is 22' distant from the entrance, and the approach appears 
to have been flanked with rubble mounds or walls on either side. 
The remains of steps leading to the shore are still visible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xv. Visited, 3rd June 1909. 
158. "Seanachaisteal."-On the point of the Aodan Mhor, about 

1 m. due N. of Durness church, are the remains of a defensive con­
struction, known as the "Seanachaisteal." Its site is a rocky 
promontory, whose precipitous sides rise for lOO' or more above the 
sea. The actual summit measures about 54' X 37', and is grass 
grown. Towards the landward end it presents a comparatively even 
grassy surface, while seaward it slopes away to the edge of the cliff, 
rugged with confused masses of rock and crags, sheltering about them 
small level areas where grass and nettles luxuriate. The neck of the 
promontory has been traversed by a high stony rampart, with a 
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trench on either side about 40' across. To the outside the rampart 
is about 8' above the bottom of the ditch where highest on the W. 
side, and 6' on the inner side, and is 25' wide at base. The remains 
to the eastward down where the ground slopes away are less distinct. 
The entrance has been through the middle of the rampart. There 
is a circular depression on the inner side of the top of the rampart, 
to the W. of the entrance, and there are similar depressions, with 
signs of low enclosing walls about the summit. 

O.S.M., SUTH., v. Visited, 4th June 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES, EARTH-HoUSES, AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

159. Earth-house, Einboll.-About 200 yards SE. of the farm­
steading of Eireboll, in the middle of an arable field, is a flagstone 
covering the entrance to an earth-house. It is not now accessible. 
The following details are abstracted from a description of it, written 
in 1865 (Antiqua1'ies, injra):-The whole length of the passage is 
33', but is known to have been 10' or 12' longer. The passage at its 
entrance is less than 2' wide and under 4' high. The average height 
of the passage is only 4', the average width 2'. At the entrance it 
curves for a few feet round to the right, thereafter is straight. It 
terminates in a pear-shaped chamber, at its widest only 3r, which 
width it retains for only 3' of its length. A spherical object of 
bronze showing numerous small hammer-marks on its surface, 
measuring 1f' in diameter, preRerved in Dunrobin Museum, is said to 
have been found along with a spiral finger ring of the same metal. 

See Antiquaries, vi. p. 249 (plan and secs.); Anderson, The Iron 
Age, p. 289 (plan and sec.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxiv. Visited, 3rd June 1909 
160. Ea1,th-house, P01'tnancon.-On the W. side of Loch Eireboll, 

on the top of a mound to the S. of the burn which passes under the 
road about ! m. N. of Portnancon Pier, is an earth-house. The 
entrance is blocked by a large heavy stone, which prevents ingress. 
It was discovered when the road to Durness was being made, previous 
to 1845, and is described as being about 40' long, 6' high, and about 6' 
wide, built of dry stone, and covered over by flags. The descent was 
by regular steps. It is indicated on the O.S. map by the name" An 
Leabaidh fholaich." 

See New Stat. Acct. Suth., etc., xv. p. 94. 
161. Loch 01·eagach.-Between the N. end of Loch Creagach and 

the road' on the W. side, and about 100' back from the loch, is 
a hut circle of the usnal oval character. The length of the entrance 
passage into the interior is about 7'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xv. Visited, 3rd June 1909. 

162. E'i1·eboll.-About 1 m. SW. of Eireboll Farm, and 150 yards 
W. of the road, is a hut circle of the ordinary type. 

O.SM., SUTH., xxiv. Visited, 3rd June 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

163. Oaim, AUt a' Ohaoruinn.-Situated on a ridge between the 
Allt a' Chaoruinn and the Kyle of Durness, about i: m. E. of the road 
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and 170' above it, and about t m. due S. of where the road crosses 
the burn, is a cairn. It has a diameter of about 44' and height of 7'. 
Though it has been dilapidated to some extent in the past to form 
a sheep-fold which adjoins it, no chamber or cist has been exposed. 

164. Do., do.-'-About 300 yards NNE. of the bridge over the AUt 
a' Chaoruinn, and about 250' back from the road, are the remains of 
another cairn with an external diameter of about 50'. The whole of 
the centre, to the extent of 14' diameter, has at some time been 
cleared out, so as to leave walls all round 3' t.o 4' high, forming a 
shelter. The bottom is covered with large boulders, and the sides 
show no signs of building, the outside appearance being that of a 
cairn. There is no sign of a cist or chamber in the interior. All 
round the N. half there is a trench about 10' wide and 2' deep, but 
this is not continued round the S. half, where the · ground slopes 
rapidly away. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xiv. 
Visited, 3rd June 1909. 

165. Oai?'n, Sarsgrum.-At the S. end of the shepherd's cottage, 
on the W. side of the road at Sarsgrum, about 21 m. SW. of Durness, 
in a small enclosure, are the remains of a large cairn, with a diameter 
of about 50'. The removal of the greater part has exposed a cist, 
formed of a covering slab 4' 10" long by 3' 4" wide and 8" thick, 
supported on three upright slabs, the fourth at the S. end having 
fallen. The longest axis lies N. and S. 

O.S.M., SUTH., v. (unnoted). Visited, 3rd June 1909. 
166. Oai1'1~," Onoc nan Oeannan."-About 11 m. SW. of the inn 

at Durness, near where the road from Keoldale joins the main road 
on the W. side, are the remains of another cairn, known as the 
"Cnoc nan Ceannan," now almost entirely overgrown with turf. 
Its diameter is about 45'. It has been excavated, and a small brass 
elliptical object and a polished bone are said to have been found in it 
about 1832. 

See New Stat. Acct. S1dh., etc., xv. p. 94. 
O.S.M., SUTH., v. Visited, 3rd June 1909. 

SITES. 

167. Sites of graveyards are indicated on the O.S. map on the 
following islands :-

Eilean Hoan ; 
An Oor1'-eilean, Loch Eireboll ; 

but there are no noteworthy remains at either place. 
O.S.M., SUTH., vi. and xv. . 

PARISH OF EDDRACHILLIS. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

168. B1'och, An Dun, Loch a' Ohai1'n Bhain, Kylesku.-This ruin 
stand!' towards the end of a rocky promontory or islet, connected with 
the shore by a causeway about 70' long, 10' wide, and 2' high, formed 
of boulders. It is only separated from the mainland at high tides. 
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The rock projects into Loch a' Ohairn Bhain, near its S. end, for a 
distance of about 100 yards. The structure on the end of it is 
circular, with an interior diameter of 28' 6" or thereabout. The 
thickness of the wall is some 12', except on the NE., where, in order 
to cover all approach between two rocks, it widens to 14' or 15'. 
The height of the wall to the outside is obscured by debris, but 
inside, where highest on the S., it is 7' high, and, except towards 
the N.; several feet in height all around. The entrance has been from 
the SE., and is 3' wide at the only point observable, which is 
between the two lowest stones on either side at the outer end. 
There are no signs visible of chambers in the thickness of the wall, 
nor any traces of a gallery. The edge of the rock, about 20' from the 
broch, appears to have been strengthened on the landward side with 
a wall. 

See Anderson's Guide to the Highlands, p. 618. 

O.S.M., SUTH., 1. Visited, 7th June 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL OONSTRUCTIONS. 

169. Chambered Cairn, Cnoc an Daimh.-About! m. due N. of the 
Manse of Eddrachillis, on the Onoc an Daimh, at an elevation of about 
::300' above the sea, and some 300 to 400 yards N. of the public road, 
on an out-cropping rock, is a cairn. The roof of the chamber has 
evidently fallen in, and the interior has been somewhat disturbed. 
The exact measurements of the chamber are not obtainable. Four 
large upright stones, the highest of which is about 3' high, remain in 
situ, and have formed part of the walls of the chamber. The length 
of the chamber from the centre of the space between the two stones 
at the N. to that between the other two stones at the S. is 7'. The 
width between the most southerly of tbe opposing slabs is 6' 6". A 
hollow to the 8. suggests a greater length, but there are no slabs 
observable. The diameter of the cairn is about 40', and the two 
upright stones at the N. are 20' distant from the outside. Towards 
the N. the cairn is still about 6' high, and at the S. it is set against 
a rock. It is called" Dun Oarn Fhamhair." 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxix. (unnoted). Visited, 6th June 1909. 

170. Cairn, Loch a' Chai1'n Bhain.-Half way between the broch 
on Loch a' Ohairn Bhain and Kylestrome Lodge, on a slight rocky 
eminence, stands a cairn, apparently undisturbed. It measures in 
diameter from E. to W. 35', from N. to S. 25', in height about 5', 
and is built against a rock to the S. It has been covered with 
heather, now burned off. 

O.S.M., 8UTH., 1. (unnoted). Visited, 7th June 1909. 

171. Do., do.-About 4 m. by road from Kylesku, on the S. side 
of Loch a' Ohairn Bhain, just beyond the W. end of the wood that 
stretches along the shore for about i m. from Torgawn, and about 
20' above high-water mark, is a small cairn, with one large stone, 
about 2' long, I' 6" thick, and I' 5" above the ground, set in the 
middle of it. The whole diameter is about 7'. This is traditionally 
known as "Oscar's Grave," and locally is believed to mark the 
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burial-place of a son of the King of Sweden. It is said to have been 
excavated. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xlix. (unnoted). Visited, 7th June 1909. 

172. Chambend Caim (remains oj), Badnabay.-At Badnabay, 
about 300 yards N. by W . of the cottage, and within 50' of the road 
to Scourie, on low-lying marshy ground, are a number of standing­
stones, the remains of a megalithic chamber of a circular cairn. The 
cairn has been entirely removed, but its outline is distinctly visible, 
and it has measured in diameter about 40' from N. to S. by 37' from 
E. to W. The chamber has been bipartite, the inner portion being 
10' 4/1 long from N. to S. by 8' 9/1 wide, and polygonal in shape. Seven 
stones remain in situ, of which the highest above ground level is 
3' 8/1 high, 2' 9/1 across at greatest breadth, and l' 1/1 thick. It is 
divided from the outer compartment by two slabs, set on edge, l' 6" 
thick, 3' and 2' 4" long, and about 2' 7" apart. The stone on the E. 
is not exactly opposite the other. Of the outer compartment, 
only three stones remain, two at the entrance and one on the W. 
side. This compartment has heen about 4' long, and about 5' 10" 
wide. The entrance has been from the S., where the two portal stones 
of the passage apparently remain in situ 2' apart and 9' distant from 
the interior end of the entrance to the chamber. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxi. (unnoted). Visited, 5th June 1909. 

SITE. 

173. Old Gmveya1'd, Handa Island.-The graveyard lies above a 
sandy bay on the S. side of the island, and though a number of stones 
are protruding from the turf, none have any visible marks of interest 
on them. Towards the upper part of the graveyard a space about 
24' x 12', slightly depressed, and on which are no tombstones, may be 
the site of a chapel. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxx. Visited, 5th June 1909. 

PARISH OF F ARR. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

174. Broch, Gntm-more, Loch Naver.-This broch is situated on 
the N. side of Loch Navel', about 4 m. from Altnaharra, and is much 
dilapidated. The entrance faces the W., and is almost closed to the 
outside. One of the door checks is still in situ on the right of the 
passage, 3' 6" inwards; and 3' further inwards, on the same side, the 
entrance to the guard chamber is also observable, but it is almost 
closed with debris. In rear of the door check, for a distance of 9' 
towards the interior, the covering stones remain on the roof of the 
passage. The breadth of the passage towards the interior is 2' 6/1. 
Its height is not ascertainable. The interior diameter of the broch 
is 29' to 30', and the thickness of the wall through the passage 
12' 6", and across the top of the existing~wall about 10'. The highest 
portion of the wall visible in the interior is about 10'. About 21' to 
the right of the entrance in the interior is the entrance to a chamber 
which is almost filled with stones, and from opposite the doorway 
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round by the N. to the W. there are the remains of a long chamber 
which probably contained the stair. At about the level of the top 
of the doorway there is a ledge or scarcement, about 10" broad on 
average, running around the interior, and formed by the thinning of 
the wall upwards. The masonry below is large, and appears to be 
bonded into the wall. 

175. B1'och, Dun Creagach, Loch Nave1·.-This broch is situated 
on a small island on the S. side of Loch Navel', about It m. E. of 
Klibreck farm-house, and is connected with the shore by a causeway, 
ahout 10' broad and about 100' long, formed of rough boulders. The 
interior is filled with debris to a height above the level of the top of 
the doorway and almost to that of the first gallery, obscuring any 
entrances to chambers which may exist. The height of the wall 
exposed on the best preserved portion of the exterior is 11', and not 
much less at any point. In the interior the wall rises only about 
4' above the debris. At the highest part the wall is 13' 6" thick. 
The entrance is from the E. through a passage, now almost tilled np 
with stones, 2' 6" wide towards the outside, and 3' wide at 10' in­
wards. There has been a guard chamber on the right, the entrance 
to which is blocked with fallen stones. The door checks are not 
visible. The covering stones remain in situ over the greater part 
of the entrance passage. The interior diameter is 31'. A stone wall 
flanks the broch at 15' distant on the shore side, and swings round 
towards the entrance, where the mass of fallen stones conceals its 
connection. This wall has been pierced at the end of the causeway 
with a doorway 3' wide, the jambs of which remain in position. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv. Visited, 17th May 1909. 
176. B1'och, Coill' Ach a' Chuil, Loch Na'IJer.-About ! m. W. of 

the lower end of Loch Navel', on the S. side of the loch, and on 
a short spit of land which projects into it at the E. end of the wood, 
are the remains of a bl'och. The broch has been built of very large 
stones, but is now completely ruined. On the E. side only is any 
walling visible, and that for a short distance to the N. of the 
entrance which faces the SE. The N. side of the entrance passage 
remains entire to a height of 2' 9" at the outside. The passage has 
been 12' in length. At 3' 9" from the outside, on the right, has been 
the entrance to a guard chamber, which shows signs of recent ex­
cavation. The diameter of the broch over all has been about 52'. 
The landward end of the spit has been marshy, or probably partially 
under water, and is crossed by a causeway which runs in the direc­
tion of the entrance. At 38' distant from the entrance are the 
ruins of a wall which covered the broch on the landward side, and 
apparently curved inward towards it on either flank. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xliv. (et Hut UircIe "). Visited, 20th May 1909. 
177. B1'och, Langdale Bum, Syrc.-This broch occupies a com­

manding position on a ridge above the Langdale Burn, about! m. N. 
of Syre. It has been built of large stones, but is much ruined. The 
interior diameter is about 31'; the thickness of the walls on the 
S. side, where there is a steep bank to the burn, is about 16' to 17', 
and on the N. side about 15'. The wall in the interior, where most 
exposed, is about 3' high. The entrance is from the W. by a passage 



60 HlSTORlCAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

PARISH OF F ARR. 

15' long and 3' wide at the outer end. The wall on the S. side of 
the passage remains to a height of 3' 6", and 3' from the interior on 
the same side is a built check for a cloor. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxv. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 
178. B1'och, Inshla1np'ie, Skail.-This broch stands on a projecting 

bank 70' to 80' above the River Navel', on the opposite side of the 
river from Skail, and is protected on either flank by a deep ravine. 
It is a complete ruin. Neither the entrance nor any of the chambers 
is discernible. The diameter of the interior is 29', and the thickness 
of the wall 13'. On the E. side the wall is visible in the interior to 
a height of 4'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 
179. BToch, Dun Chealamy.-This broch occupies a splendid 

situation on the end of a spur of Cnoc Chealamy. From the broch 
the ground slopes abruptly to the Carnachaidh Burn, which flows 
past the base of the hill 100' below. The building has been greatly 
pillaged for stone, and so ruined is it that the outline of the wall 
can only be found with difficulty. Neither the entrance nor any 
other feature is visible. The wall appears to have been about 14' 
thick, and the interior diameter about 30'. 

See Antiquaries, xl. p. 132. 
180. B1'och, Dun CaTnachaidh.-This broch is perched on a cliff 

on the E. slope of Cnoc Carnachaidh, above the road down the 
strath, about i m. N. of Carnachaiclh croft. It is a complete rum. 
The interior diameter is 30', and the thickness of the wall 15'. The 
entrance passage is not recognisable. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 
181. B1'och, Dnn Viden.-Dun Viden, situated some 2i m. to the 

S. of Skelpick Lodge, on the E. bank of the River Naver, occupies an 
extremely strong position on the summit of a knoll that rises for a 
height of 70' or 80' above the haugh which stretches from its base to 
the river. The slopes of the knoll are very steep, except on the E., 
where the approach from the high ground behind is more accessible. 
The broch is an absolute ruin, and the face of the wall is not easily 
found. The interior diameter has been about 30', the thickness of 
the wall about 16', and the breadth of the entrance passage, at the 
only point measurable which is near the interior, 3' 5". Almost the 
only walling visible is a small portion, two courses in height, on 
Lhe N. side. None is apparent in the interior. From either side of 
the entrance a rampart runs S. for a distance of about 45', and swings 
round on either side to meet the broch where the banks are steepest. 
Towards the E., where the position is most assailable, the rampart, 
comparatively low on the inside, has a steep scarp about 12' high, and 
at about 16' distant from its base is covered by an outer rampart, 
now only two or three feet high and stony. 

See Antiqua1'ies, v p. 360; Ibid. , vii. p. 272. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. Visited, 25th May 1909. 

182. Broch, AUt an Duin, Slcelpick.-About ! m. E. of Rhinovie, 
occupying the summit of a rocky knoll, strengthened on the S. by 
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the rugged channel of the AUt an Duin or Allt a' Chaisteil, and 
towering 100' or so above the plain which reaches from its base to 
the River Naver, are the ruins of a broch. The situation is most 
commanding. The building, though much ruined, if cleared of the 
debris which almost chokes it up, would be found to be still of con­
siderable height. The wall is 16' thick. The interior diameter is 
28'. .A scarcement, projecting about l' 6", is built against the wall 
all around the interior. The entrance is from the NW. The 
passage, which for the first few feet from the exterior is ruined, is 
thereafter only 2' wide, and curves slightly towards the S. as it 
proceeds inwards. About 3' from the exterior, on the right side of 
the passage, there is an upright stone, probably one of the door 
jambs, but in rear of it there is no sign of a guard chamber. In 
the interior the wall is still in parts 6' to 8' high above the accumu­
lated rubbish, and in places 2' or 3' higher than the top of the 
scarcement. Externally, the facing stones have been to a great 
extent removed or have fallen; and towards the N., where highest, 
the wall is still 6' above the debris, while the rubble in the centre is 
several feet higher. The ruination of the interior obscures any 
details of chambers or galleries. 

183. B1'och, Achcoillenab01'[Jie.-About! m. S. of the road bridge 
across the River Naver near Bettyhill, situated on a slight knoll 
between the base of the hill and the river, and on the E. side of the 
road, are the remains of a broch. The strncture is much ruined, and 
the elevation of the wall is everywhere trifling. Its interior diameter 
is about 28', and the thickness of its wall 14'. The entrance is from 
the N. To the W. of the passage, and about 8' distant from it, the 
walls of a chamlJer have been exposed. There are remains of various 
out-buildings around. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 27th May 1909. 

184. Broch, " The Sandy Dun," BaiZe Mhargait, Bettyhill.-On the 
summit of the cliff which rises to the W. of the gravelly plateau 
opposite Bettyhill, and on the N. side of the track which leads 
from Strathnavel' to Torrisdail, is situated a broch. It is called" The 
Sandy Dun." The wall is probably erect for a considerable height, 
but the interior is largely filled up with blown sand. The entrance 
is from the SW. The interior diameter is 29', and the thickness of 
the wall 12'. Near the top of the wall in the interior is a projecting 
ledge, about 10" wide, running all round. The slabs which form it 
are an integral part of the structure, and the wall is thicker below 
than above. The outer face of the wall is much ruined, and no 
fuller details are obtainable. A number of slIlall mounds lie on the 
top of the cliff immediately to the W. of the broch. 

See Antiquaries, xl. p. 132. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. Visited, 24th May 1909. 

185. Broch, B01'gie B1·idge.-Situated on the S. side of the road 
from Tongue, about 300 yards E. of Borgie Bridge, is the site of a 
construction probably a broch. A gravel mound about 40' high 
on the side towards the river, situated on the edge of the bank in 
which the high ground terminates, has been further strengthened in 
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flank and real' by a deep ditch 24' across, with a scarp 12' high and a 
counterscarp about half that height. The ditch is divided into two 
by a roadway across it from the SE. 14' wide, but is not carried out 
to the edge of the bank to the N. at either side where the natural 
surface is 5' or 6' below the top of the mound. The slight remains 
on the summit indicate a circular building, with a diameter over all 
of about 52', the outline of which is not very definite. The diameter 
of the top of the knoll is about 62'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. Visited, 28th May 1909. 
186. B1'och," The B01'g," F01'sinain.-Situated on a slight elevation 

on the E. of the Halladale River, some 230 yards distant from the road 
and about 1 ID. N. of Forsinain Bridge, are the remains of a broch, 
known as "The Borg." From its base the ground falls sharply away 
on all sides, except the S. It has been built of very large stones. The 
interior has been partially cleared out. The entrance is from the E. 
through a passage 22' long. At the exterior it is 2' 6" wide, expand­
ing at 15' 6" inwards to 3' 9". At 8' 6" inwards, on the E. side of the 
passage, has been the entrance to a guard chamber, now completely 
ruined. The passage, though retaining the roofing slabs for 15' 6" of 
its length, is in a ruinous condition. The interior diameter of the 
broch from N. to S. is 34', and from E. to W., opposite the entrance, 
26' 6", the wall on the E. side having been strengthened at some 
period by some 9' of extra building. The thickness of the wall on 
the S. at base is about 13' 6", on the W. at base from 16' to 17', and 
at 8' elevation, 14' 6". The greatest height of wall visible in the 
interior is 6'; and the average height, if cleared of debris, 8' or 9'. 
The greatest height on the exterior is 9'. A gap has been made 
through the wall towards the N. At 18' S. of the inner end of the 
entrance a passage 2' wide is traceable inwards seemingly for 10' or 
11'. There are no signs of a chamber connected with it, and the 
passage may be secondary. An old wall runs eastward from the 
broch at its E. side for about 40 yards, and, passing northward, 
returns to the structure, forming a large enclosure against it. This 
is probably of later date. 

187. B1'och, "earn Liath," Bunahoun.-On the W. side of the 
Halladale River at Bunahoun, on 11 slight elevation between the road 
to Trantlemore and the river, are the remains of a broch known as 
"Carn Liath." It is now a structureless mass of small stones. The 
entrance has been from the E. through a passage 14' in length 
and some 2' 3" in width at its inner end. The diameter of the 
structure over all has been 58', and of the interior about 30'. Only 
here and there the foundation stones remain visible. 

188. Broch, Tmntle'lno1'e.-On a croft at Trantlemore, on a slight 
elevation, about 250 yards to the W. of the Halladale River, are the 
remains of a broch, now overgrown with turf. Some of the founda­
tion stones of the outer face of the wall are visible, indicating a 
diameter over all of about 58'. The entrance appears to have beAn 
from the N. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxix. Visited, 27th September 1909. 
189. B1'och, Loch Mor.-About 1k m. SSE. of Melvich Inn, towards 

the N. end of Loch Mor, and on the E. side where it narrows, are the 
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fragmentary remains of a broch. Only a few of the foundation 
stones remain, which indicate a diameter over all of about 55'. An 
upright stone 3' 6" high, 16' in from the N. end, possibly marks the 
end of the entrance passage. 

O. S.M., SUTH., x. Visited, 27th September 1909. 

190. B1'och, A1'madale Burn.-On the W. bank of the Armadale 
Burn, about II m. from the sea, are the ruins of a broch which stand 
100' above the burn, on the top of a hillock crowning a cliff and rising 
steeply from the moorland behind. On the exterior, little beyond 
the foundations is visible, except beside the entrance, where the wall 
is some 3' high. In the interior, towards the NW., about 4' of wall 
is exposed, where the debris has been cleared from the face of it. 
The entrance has been from the top of the steep bank on the SE. 
through a passage 14' long and 3' wide at either end. No door 
checks are visible. The thickness of the wall has been 14'. The 
diameter of the interior is 23'. Some 12' S. of the entrance are 
apparent the ruins of a chamber which passes round towards the W., 
and of which the E. or interior wall is visible for some 19' in 
length. The ends of the hillock projecting N. and S. beyond the 
broch have been fortified with walls. The situation has been an 
exceedingly strong one. 

O. S.M., SUTH., x. (nnnoted). Visited, 28th September 1909. 

191. Dun Mhai1·tein, Balligil.-On a promontory whose precipitous 
cliffs tower 100' or so above the ocean, situated to the NE. of the 
village of Balligil, and on the W. of where the burn of that name 
enters the sea, are the foundations of a castle or fort. A narrow neck, 
partially excavated from either side so as to reduce the width of the 
approach to 8', connects it with the mainland. The base of a wall, 
some 17' in thickness, crosses the landward end of the fort. Beyond 
it to seaward are the indefinite foundations of a structure, from the 
interior of which a passage 3' wide, and at present a couple of feet 
in height, built without mortar on the sides, and covered with flags, 
runs under the surface for a distance of 42', and opens on the face of 
the cliff, where there is a slight ledge some 4' below the upper 
level. A depression at the inner extremity suggests that the passage 
may have been 10' or 12' longer. It is difficult to conjecture the 
use of this passage, as the cliff below it seems quite precipitous; but 
it must be borne in mind that centuries of buffeting by wind and 
wave may have greatly altered its aspect. 

192. An Dun, Balligil.-On the E. side of the Balligil Burn, on a 
slight promontory some 200' above the sea, are the indefinite 
foundations of a fort or castle. A parapet, some 6' in thickness, has 
been built round the edge of the cliff; and about 15' back from it, at 
the centre of the curve, are the foundations of a structure, measuring 
interiorly about 20' X 8'. There are no remains of mortar visible, 
and the form and character of the construction are not obvious. 

193. "An Tomaidh Bhuidhe," Rudha na cloiche.-At the E. side of 
the Rudha na cloiche, and about ! m. W. of Port Skerry, two deep 
goes run inland. Separating them is a long promontory, whose sides 
rise sheer from the water's edge for some 70' or 80'. Occupying its 

• 
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seaward end are the remains of a fort, very difficult of access, along 
a hog-backed ridge some 50' in length. For about one-half of that 
distance the edge along which the path runs is only some 2' to 3' in 
width. Beyond that it circles round the side of a grassy hillock on the 
top of the cliffs, and terminates on a fresh green plateau, measuring 
approximately some 250' in length by lOO' in breadth. Round the 
edge of this runs an earthen rampart or parapet, but in the hollows in 
the interior there are no indications of buildings ever having existed. 
Some 20' down the cliff, at its N. end, is a ledge on which there is 
a depression; but if any passage was connected with it, as at Dun 
Mhairten, it is not now apparent. The position in early times must 
have been quite unassailable. It is called" An Tornaidh Bhuidhe." 

O.S.M., SUTH., x. Visited, 28th September 1909. 

194. Fortified Enclos~we, SY1'e.-At Syre, on the E. side of the 
road, and quite close to it, is a small fortified enclosure, locally known 
as "General Leslie's Fort." It is circular in form, and is defended 
on the W. by a ditch 36' across from the top of the rampart to 
the top of the counterscarp, and 3' deep below the natural 
level. The bank of the enclosure is 9' to 10' high on the W., and has 
been surmounted by a dry-built stone wall some IS' thick. The 
height of the bank towards the interior is about 5'. The interior is 
some 52' in diameter. There has been an entrance by a mound 
across the ditch on the S., and a.pparently another on the NE., 
flanked by a wall. The rampart is gone from the E. side, where 
a stone wall is being built out of its material; and as the interior 
of the fort is in cultivation, what remains of the construction is 
in danger of demolition. The ditch has not been continued around 
the NE. side. * 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 22nd May 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES, EARTH-HOUSES, AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

195. Klibreck, Loch Naver.-Situated at the E. end of a ridge, 
about! m. S. of Klibreck farm-house, is a hut circle. It is oval in 
form, measuring interiorly 28' X 36', enclosed by a bank of turf and 
stone about 8' across and I' 6" to 2' high, with the entrance from 
the SE. Placed around the hut circle in its immediate vicinity are 
some ten or twelve small round mounds of earth and stone, covered 
with vegetation, each about IS' in diameter and 2' in height. 

196. Do.-On the top of a knoll, SSE. of the farm-buildings at 
Klibreck, and about 300 yards E. of the hut circle, are the remains 
of a circular enclosure. The interior diameter is about 28'. The 
surrounding bank, which shows much stone in its composition, is some 
12' wide, and the height on the S., where the natural surface of the 
ground declines, is about 3' externally, and about 1r in the interior. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liii. (unnoted). Visited, 15th May 1909. 

* Pennant (1769, p. 345) mentions that at Langdale "there were noble 
remains of a druidical temple, being a circle of 100 feet diameter, and surrounded 
with a trench, so that the earth formed a bank; in the midst of it a stone was 
erected like a pillar .... The country people have now trenched or delved that 
ground, and sown it with corn." 
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197. Loch Nave1·.-On the N. side of Loch Navel', about ~ m. E. 
of the cross roads on the lower side of the road along the loch, are 
three hut circles, and a number of small mounds on the lower side 
of them. The entrances, as usual, are from the SE. Between these 
and the top of the hill to the N. (Meall a' Gob Mor), there must be 
nearly a hundred more mounds and a number of hut circles which 
are mostly on the upper part of the hill. 

One of the circles, about 200' above the road, is of very distinct 
outline. Its interior diameter is 35'; the thickness of the enclosing 
bank 5'; and the entrance, which is from the S., is about 5' wide. 
About 100' to the NE. is another circle, overgrown with heather. 
On the top of the hill, at the W. end, is another, presenting no . 
peculiar features, having the entrance from the S. 

About 120 yards E. of the last, and between it and the highest 
point of the hill, lies a mounded construction, which is possibly a 
kiln. Its interior diameter is 6' from E. to W. and 7' from N. to S. 
There is a narrow opening into the interior from the S. The 
enclosing bank, covered with heather, is about 10' broad on either 
side, and on the N. less prominent. There is a slight depression of 
about 5' diameter in front of the entrance. 

About 70 yards SE. of the summit is a very well-defined hut 
circle, with a surrounding bank about It' high. On the E. side of 
the entrance, which is 3' wide and from the SR., is a large upright 
slab, standing l' 9" above the present ground-level. The interior 
diameter across the direction of the entrance is about 24'. In front 
are sevf'ral small mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liii. and liv. (unnoted). Visited, 19th May 1909. 
198. Dun Creagach, Loch Nave1'.-On the top of a knoll, about 200 

yards S. of the broch on the S. side of Loch Navel', is a mound, with 
a diameter of about 18'. About 40 yards to the S. of it is a hut 
circle, the interior diameter of which, measured across the direction 
of the entrance, is about 35'. It is surrounded by a stony bank, and 
the entrance is from the SE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv. (unnoted). Visited, 17th May 1909. 

199. Loch Naver.-By the side of the old drove road from 
Strathnaver to Lairg, about! m. SSE. of the broch on the S. side of 
the loch, is a hut circle. The interior diameter is about 34', and the 
thickness of the wall about 5', widening at either side of the entrance 
so as to form a passage about 9' in length, but of indefinite breadth. 
The entrance is from the SE. The wall is composed of boulders of 
moderate size, with larger stones on the exterior. No appearance 
of building is visible. 

A short distance to the E. lies another circle, overgrown with 
turf, with about a dozen small round mounds, of some 15' diameter, 
lying around it. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv. (unnoted). Visited, 18th May 1909. 

200. Loch Coire nam Feumn.-On the N. side of the loch, at the 
top of the bank which rises from its shore near the remains of 
crofters' dwellings, are several small round mounds presenting no 
particular features of interest. One of these, near the W. end of the 

5 
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group, is circular, about 2' high, covered with heather, and measures 
16' or 17' in diameter. Some 60 yards N. of it is a similar mound, 
and about 350 yards N. of that again are the remains of a hut circle, 
with a small round mound about 40' to the NE. of it and another 
about 80' to the W. 

Some 100 yards NE. of the first-mentioned circle of this group 
is another of similar oval form. 

Situated on the easternmost of two hillocks which rise some 300 
yards apart to the N. of the ridge on which lie the mounds and 
circles last described, are a number of other small mounds. These 
are on the summit and along the western face; no signs of hut 
circles are visible. 

Situated on the hill to the W., along its E. face, is an enclosure of 
an irregular oval form, having its lower or E. end open, like a horse­
shoe. Its longest diameter is about 70', and the breadth across the 
open end 33'. It is surrounded by a rough line of boulders, which 
may have formed the base of a turf wall. At the W. end there appears 
to have been a narrow entrance, and on the left of it are the founda­
tions of a small circular hut, with an interior diameter of about 6'. 
Immediately outside, to · the W., are the remains of an enclosure, of 
trefoil form, having apparently had three chambers radiating off a 
common centre. These chambers measure interiorly about 6' X 4'. 
The interior diameter of the structure, bisecting the N. and S. 
chambers (which are nearly in line), is 28'. The measurement through 
the chamber on the SE. to the centre of the opposite wall is 17'. 
The position of the entrance is doubtful, but it appears to have been 
through the main wall to the SE. 

Situated about 30' N. of the last enclosure is the outline of a small 
irregular oval, measuring interiorly 11' X 8', with the entrance from 
the SE. 

Around the same hill, chiefly on the N. and W., are fourteen 
or fifteen small round mounds. There are one or two long banks of 
stone, the purpose of which is indeterminate, and there seem to have 
been other large enclosures, now in part obliterated. 

201. Do.-Just outside the wood, about i m. S. of the loch, and 
nearly opposite the bay that indents it on the S. side, is a long low 
heap of stones. The greatest elevation is only about If above the 
present ground-level. It lies N. and S., is 38' long, and about 7' broad 
at the N. end, but its general breadth for 26' southwards is about 5' ; 
thence expanding, it measures 10' across at its S. extremity. The 
character of this is indeterminate. 

202. Goriejeuran Hill.-About 1 m. S. of the W. end of Loch Ooire 
nam Feuran, on the W. slope of the hill, and by the side of the pass 
which leads from Strathnaver to Loch Ooir an Fhearna, scattered 
over a distance of several hundred yards, is a group of about a 
hundred small round mounds overgrown with peat. There are no 
signs of hut circles among them, nor is there any indication of a 
settlement. 

About k m. NNW. is a small group of about half a dozen mounds, 
presenting no features of interest. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv Visited, 18th May 1909. 
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203. Grumbeg, Loch Naver.-Situated about 300 yards E. of the 
shepherd's cottage at Grumbeg, on the N. side of Loch Navel', and 
on the upper side of the road, is a small circle surrounded by a stony 
bank measuring about 3' 6" across, with an opening towards the S. 
It is slightly oval, with an interior ·diameter of 7' X 9', the longest 
axis being towards the entrance. 

To the N. of the small knoll immediately in rear of this circle 
are ten or twelve small mounds of the usual type, one 01' two of 
which appear to have been opened. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xliv. (unnoted). Visited, 20th May 1909. 

204. Onoc na Gamhna.-On the right bank of the Mallart River, 
about 1~ m. above the bridge at the waterfall near Achness, and 
rather more than! m. to the E., on the shoulder of Onoc na Gamhna, 
near the 500' contour line, is a large group of mounds. They are very 
numerous, with a few hut circles interspersed among them, especially 
towards the S. end. The mounds are of the usual small class, and 
the circles are of the simple oval form, and one or two of them are 
remarkably well preserved, with the walls about a couple of feet 
high, and with upright stones of about the same height on either 
side of the entrance. 

At the extreme S. end of the group, and at the edge of the 
swampy ground, is a construction which is probably an ancient kiln. 
Two mounds, apparently composed of earth and small stones, about 
30' long. 12' thick, and 4' to fi' high, lie parallel about 6' apart, in a 
N. and S. direction. Between them are two well-defined depressions, 
the one at the N. end measuring about 8' long by 6' broad, while 
that to the S. measures about 7' X 6'. They are divided from each 
other by a ridge joining the mounds about 4' long and 2' broad, from 
which large stones protrude, suggesting walling. At the S. end of 
the S. depression lies a flat slab 3' long and I' 8" broad, supported 
on stones at either side. It is at present a few inches above the 
soil. This is probably the outer end of a covered passage to supply 
a draught. 

205. AUt a' Bhealaich.-About ~ m. to the S., just above the 500' 
contour line, and some 200 yards N., on the right bank of the Allt a' 
Bhealaich, are two hut circles within about 20' of each other. That 
nearest to the river is very well preserved. It is oval, measuring 
interiorly 33' X 36', enclosed by a bank 6' thick and from 2' to 3' 
high. The entrance passage, which is from the S., is 3' wide, the 
exterior angles being carefully rounded with an outline of large 
stones. There are signs of an ancient bank of stone and turf, enclosing 
apparently about half an acre, within which the circles are situated. 

Across the stream to the S., and higher up the slope of the hill 
to the E., are many mounds. 

Proceeding S. about the same level, viz., 500' to 600' above the 
sea, round the W. side of the Onoc na h-Iolaire, are many hundreds 
of mounds stretching round the shoulder of the hill for fully a 
mile, and over an area of nearly half a mile in breadth. The mounds 
are all of the usual sort, round, from 10' to 20' in diameter and 
about 2' in height. One of the constructions, with a hollow between 
two mounds, believed to be a kiln, is situated about the centre of the 
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group. Hut circles are among the mounds, but proportionally they 
are few, half a dozen only being observable, and those of simple oval 
form. 

206. Cnoc Bad an Leathaid, 1'1'uderscaig, etc.-On a spur of the 
Onoc Bad an Leathaid, between the AUt na Oreadha on the E. and 
AUt Truderscaig on the W., about 600' above sea-level, are numerous 
mounds and one or two hut circles of simple oval form; while a 
little less than a mile beyond to the E., on Leathad an Daraich, 
about the same level, is another large group. Mounds and hut 
circles extend almost continuously along the slopes facing the 
MaUart River, westward over the watershed to the N. of Loch 
Truderscaig and the S. end of Loch Rimsdale. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv. and Iv. Visited, 20th May 1909. 

207. Between Dailharmild and Syre.-On the right bank of the 
River Navel', from Dailharraild to within about ~ m. of the bridge at 
Syre, dotted here and there for a distance of nearly 3 m., are numerous 
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FIG. 20.-Hut Circle, Dailharraild (No. 207). 

mounds. They lie mostly on terraces which intervene between the 
flat land near the river and the higher ground behind. In appearance 
they are for the most part of the usual character, viz., round, over­
grown with vegetation, about 2' high in the centre, and 12' to 14' in 
diameter. 

One of the mounds in the group, situated about 2 m. S. of the 
bridge, is of peculiar appearance. It lies N. and S., and seems to be 
formed of two, or probably three, ordinary stony mounds, each con­
nected by a narrow neck. The third mound is entirely overgrown with 
heather, and is not very distinct. The other two measure over all 
45' in length. The N. mound is 17' long by 12' broad at the widest 
part, and is connected by a neck which gradually contracts until it is 
about 4' wide; thereafter it expands again to join the S. cairn, which 
is 15' long and 12' broad. The length of the connecting portion, which 
is very distinct, is in each case 3'. The third mound appears to be 
about 12' or 13'long. No part of the construction is more than I' 6" 
high. The three mounds are not in alignment. They do not seem 
to be mounds that have been connected in consequence of dilapi-
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dation, their outline being too regular and continuous. A dozen or 
more mounds of the usual type lie around, none of them ruined. 

About t m. further on, on the top of a bank about lOO' above the 
river, is a somewhat similar construction, continued for a consider­
able distance. 

A short distance further on, on the N. side of the burn that flows 
into the river opposite Ceann na Ooille, are a hut circle of ·simple form 
and several mounds. 

About i m. to the S. of the last-mentioned hut circle, and about 
the same distance E. of the river, within an ancient enclosure, the 
ruined wall of which is partially visible at the SW. corner, are some 
fifteen mounds of the usual type and a hut circle. The latter is of 
the simple oval form, measuring interiorly 20' X 25', and having the 
entrance from the S, It is peculiar in having attached to it, on the 
right side of the entrance, another small circle, measuring 7' X 8', with 
an enclosing bank about 2!, broad. The latter appears to have had 
two entrances-one facing the W. towards the entrance to the main 
circle, and the other towards the SE. (fig. 20). About 50' SE. of 
these is a small circular depression of about 7' interior diameter, with 
a low bank about 6' across on the E. and W., and a very slight bank 
on the N. 

A hill called Blar na Fola, about i m. E. of the" Olach an Righ" 
at Dailharraild, is covered with mounds. 

On the left bank of the River Naver, ~ m. below its junction with 
the Mallart Hiver, the O.S. map indicates two hut circles. 

208. Oeann na Ooille.-On the left bank of the River Naver, above 
Ceann na Coille, and about 300 yards W. of the road, on the top of 
a slight eminence, is a hut circle of simple form. 

Further down the same side of the river, about 1 m. N. of the 
suspension bridge at Oeann na Ooille, are a number of mounds between 
the road and the river, and about t m. further N., on the W. side of 
the road, are a hut circle and mounds. 

About! m. NW. of Oeann na Ooille, on either side of the AUt 
Oeann na Ooille, is a group of mounds of the usual character. 

About It m. N. of Oeann na Ooille, and about t m. W. of the road 
in the centre of an old park, and immediately behind a sheep · fold, is 
a construction, formed of two cairns of large stones, converging 
towards the W., each about 4' high and 16' apart at the E., the 
diameter of the interior space from back to front being 31'. The 
cairn on the N. is 34' long and 13' broad, t9at on the S. 36' long and 
IS' broad. They both taper towards the W. end. The interior space 
is slightly hollowed out. At the SW. end' of the S. cairn there has 
been some excavation.* 

O.S.M., Sum., xliv. Visited, 21st May 1909. 

209. SY1·e.-To the W. of Mr Ohisholm's house at Syre are a 
number of mounds. In one of these a cist was found many years 
ago, measuring 5' 9" in length, formed of flattish stones set on edge, 

* Mr Cbisholm, Syre, for long farm manager over this pToperty, states that 
there existed here a built opening. It was flagged over, and, to the best of his 
recollection, was about 2t' high, and 2f to 3' wide. It was entered from the end 
of the S. cairn, on the S. side, and ran E. in the direction of its length. 
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covered with six small cross slabs. It yielded only a small fragment 
of bone. 

See Antiquaries, vi. p. 387. 
O. S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 
210. Earth-house, H!J1'e,--On the right bank of the River N aver, 

some 80 yards distant from it, ·and about 1 m. above Syre, is said to 
be an earth-houl:le. It was discovered some thirty years ago, when it 
was fairly complete for 3~', and was traceable on the surface for 
10' more.* 

O.S.M., SUTH., xliv. (unnoted). 
211. Oarnachaidh.-Situated on the haugh, to the N. of the 

remains of the broch on Cnoc Chealamy (No. 179), is a remarkable 
group of mounds, hut circles, etc. 

About 50 yards from the Carnachaidh Burn, N. of the broch, is an 
irregular mound about 44' in length from E. to W. and some 2' to 3' 
in height. It appears to be formed of three separate parts in 
different alignment, the first and third portions pointing in the same 
direction at about an angle of 30° from the central mound which lies 
E. and W. The first portion at the W. end is 7' long, the middle 
portion 21' long, and the third 16' long. The third is less well 
defined than the others, and near its junction with the middle 
portion are some very large boulders. 

Some 40 yards VV. of this last-mentioned construction is a hut 
circle of the usual oval form, with a diameter of about 34', measured 
across the direction of the entrance. 

Close beside it to the N. is a mound of a very definite S shape, 
about 3' in height, and measuring along its outline 111'. 

Some distance to the N. of this are two large contiguous circles, 
which have been hollowed out to a level lower than that of the 
adjacent ground. They ~re bounded on both sides by great banks 
of stolle, and are divided by the remains of a stone wall 6' across. 
the southmost circle is 42' in diameter from N. to S., and measures 
17' across the entrance at the S. The N. circle is 38' in diameter, 
and 22' across the entrance. The bank on the W. side of the S. 
circle is 23' across, and about 6' high at the highest point. On the ; 
E. side it is of less extent and lower, while the E. bank of the N. 
circle is higher than the W. bank. 

About 50 yards N. are two long banks of stone running E. and 
W. The eastmost of the two has in outline a tendency to an S 
form, while the westmost has similar features, but less pronounced. 
The former is about 2' high on the S. side, but considerably higher on 
the N., where the ground is lower. It is about 54' long and 10' broad 
at the E. end, where it is broadest. 

Towards the NE. side of the haugh are four or five more of 
these constructions, with their general direction E. and W. Some 
have a less curving tendency than others. The haugh has been under 
cultivation, but it is to be noted that the ridges pass to either side 
of these constructions. 

There are numerous other mounds, as well as hut circles on the 
* Information supplied by the Rev. J . M. J oass, LL.D., Golspie. 
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haugb and on the other side of the road. Some of the mounds are 
about 25' long, 10' to 15' broad, and 3' to 4' high. Towards the SE. 
is a mound about 4' high, circular, with a diameter of 36'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 
212. BaiZe Mhargait, Bettyhill. -On the W. bank of the River 

N aver, near its outlet and oppo.site BettyhiIl, is a gravelly plateau, 
devoid of vegetation, which bears the name of Baile Mhargait. It is 
elevated some 20' above the river, and measures about! m. in length 
by t m. in breadth. On it are numerous remains of constructions of 
various kinds. Stony mounds abound, mostly small and circular. 
Towards the SW. end is a round cairn, 22' in diameter, and about 
4' 6" in height. About 100 yards NW. of it is another cairn, 
measuring about 30' in diameter, but only now about 2' high, the 
top of it seemingly having been removed. 

There are numerous hut circles, presenting no unusual features. 
From some all the turf or soil which went to the formation of 
the banks has gone, leaving the stones alone visible, and showing 
two parallel rows of large boulders with an interspace of about 3'. 
There is a circular enclosure on the E. side, towards the S. end, 
with interior diameter of about 24', which is apparently formed in 
similar fashion to a hut circle. There is, however, no entrance to 
it visible, but a thickening of the stony bank to the S. probably 
marks where it was. There are one or two flat heaps of stones, 
circular, evidently the remains of cairns, with a diameter of from 
50' to 60', situated near the middle of the S. end. No remains of 
brochs are observable. 

The sand on the surface of the plateau is constantly shifting, dis­
closing various remains. A list of constructions, including the remains 
of at least two brochs observed after a stormy winter in the spring 
of 1900, is contained in Antiquaries, xl. p. 132. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. and xviii. Visited, 24th May 1909. 
213. Fisca1'y, Bettyhill.-On a stretch of moorland, lying about 

It m. E. of Bettyhill Hotel, and reaching towards the hamlet of 
Swordly, are mounds in great numb-ers, and also hut circles. Some 
of the mounds are oblong, with their longest axes in no particular 
direction. Two of these measured gave dimensions 28' X 14' and 
21' X 11' respectively. One of the hut circles near the eastmost of 
the large cairns has a diameter of 29' and an entrance from the S. 

O.S.M.; SUTH., xviii. Visited, 24th May 1909. 
214. Fa1"1".-On the N . side of the road from Swordly to Farr, near 

the first house in the latter township, is a hut circle known as the 
" An Hath Chruineach." It is of the simpl!3 oval form, measures 32' 
in interior diameter, and has an entrance from the S. A" tunnel" 
is said to have been discovered many years ago in the field adjacent, 
but no trace of it now remains. 

O.S.M., SUTH.; ix. Visited, 24th May 1909. 
215. Loch ma Nai1'e.-Near Loch ma Naire, at its S. end, are some 

small mounds of the usual type (unnoted). 
216. Achanellan BU1'n.-About 1 m. up the Achanellan Burn, 

which enters the River Naver to the N. of Dunviden, and a short 
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distance N. of its right bank between the 300' and 400' contour 
lines, are several hut circles of the usual type, with entrances 
from the S., and around them a large number of small mounds 
(unnoted). 

217. Skelpick Burn.-About 2~ m. up the Skelpick Burn, on a 
low ridge which lies between the high ground on the W. and the burn, 
are numerous small mounds of froni 12' to 14' in diameter. One, 
near the burn at the NE. end of the ridge, measures 21' in length by 
8' in breadth, and is some 2' in height. Its longest axis lies nearly 
N. and S. At the N. end of this ridge is a small area of haugh land, 
on the W. or hill side of which are the ruins of an old enclosing wall 
of Jarge boulders. About 100 yards back from the burn, and at the 
very end of the ridge, on the top of a sandy hillock, is a well-defined 
oval enclosure, measuring interiorly 12' X 6'. It is surrounded by 
a bailk of stones about 2' in thickness, and has apparently a narrow 
entrance about Ii' wide to the S., and there is a similar opening in 
the opposite wall towards the N. The longest axis lies NE. and SW. 
About 50' to the NE. is a small circular enclosure, with an interior 
diameter of about 7', surrounded by a rude walling or bank of stones 
similar to the above. The entrance is from the N. About lOO' NE. 
are the remains of another similar small oval enclosure, surrounded 
with large boulders, and set against the old enclosing wall mentioned 
above. Its interior measurements are 9' X 7'. The entrance is to 
the S. Abutting on its NE. side is a small circular mound about 7' 
in diameter, with a wall of boulders all round to a height of 2'. The 
top is covered with turf, and presents a slightly concave surface, 
beneath which the soil is loose and free from stones. No entrance is 
observable. Close to the edge of the burn, just beyond the NE. end 
of the ridge, and occupying what is probably a natural hillock, 
is another small oval enclosure, measuring interiorly 12' X 6', 
surrounded by a low bank about 8' thick on base. The level of the 
interior is about I' below the surrounding surface. 

218. Do.-On the W. side of the Skelpick Burn, about t m. SE. 
from Skelpick, is another group of small mounds of the usual type, 
but no hut circles, or other objects of interest associated with them, 
are observable. The mounds lie along the flat top of the moorland 
that slopes down towards Skelpick. 

Another large group of mounds lies in the vicinity of the cairns 
(Nos. 241 and 242). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. Visited, 25th May 1909. 

219. nail na D1·ochaide. - About half-way between the point 
where the Skelpick Burn flows into the River Naver and the broch 
(No. 182) on the N. of the Allt a' Chaisteil, on a terrace at the foot 
of the hill, is a circular enclosure. Its interior diameter is about 36'. 
The wall is about 8' thick, built of large stones, showing on the inner 
face two courses of boulders laid horizontally about 2' high. The 
entrance is from the SE. The wall is higher and ' more important 
than that of the hut circles Dlet with in this district. It stands 
on a slight hillock. Within 50' to the E. is a hut circle of the 
ordinary form. . 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. (CC Picts House ").. Visited, 27th May 1909. 
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220. Earth-house, Oracknie.- This earth-house is situated 5 ·m. due 
S. of Borgie Bridge, and 2i m. E. of the E. shore, at the N. end of 
Loch Loyal, near the deserted crofter settlement of Cracknie, whose 
green hillocks are easily distinguishable a long way off from the 
northward. The entrance on the top of the second hillock from 
the NW. passes beneath a slab through an aperture about 2' square. 
The passage slopes downward, gradually growing wider and higher, 
and about 20' from the entrance is some 3' wide and from 4' 6" to 
4' 10" high. At 32' inwards its width is reduced to 2' by a rebate 
on the right side: thereafter it gradually widens, and, curving round 
to the right, terminates in a pear-shaped expansion abont 6' wide and 
4' 4" high. The extreme length of the earth-house is 42'. A few 
flags lying displaced outside the entrance suggest that it was once 
longer. The sides are carefully built without mortar, and it is 
roofed with slabs overlapping each other. The walls throughout 
are in perfect condition. 

See Antiquaries, vii. p. 276. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 28th May 1909. 

221. Rive1' Bm·gie.-Some 2 m. S. of Borgie Bridge, and about i m. 
E. of the River Borgie, on the S. end of the ridge, at an elevation 
of some 300' above sea-level, is a group of about a dozen small round 
mounds. In the vicinity are the remains of old enclosures-probably 
connected with crofter-occupation. 

About 1 m. further S., on the W. slope of the Druim Buidhe, 
and stretching up from the low ground near the HiveI' Borgie to 
about 150' above it, is another group, comprising from 80 to 100 
mounds of the usual type. On the lower part of the slope, about 300 
yards distant from the river, and directly E. of an island, is a well­
marked hut circle, with the portal stone still standing on the left 
side of the entrance. It is a pointed stone 3' high and 2' 10" across 
the base, standing with its broad face towards the passage and 4' 
distant from the opposite side. The bank or wall of the circle is 
about 6' thick, and seems to have been more stony than usual. 
Tbe interior diameter appears to be about 30', and what seems 
to be the ruins of an inner wall on the W. suggests that at some 
time the size of the circle has been reduced. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 28th May 1909. 

222. Forsinard.-A bout 1 ~ m. NE. from Forsinard Lodge, and to the 
N. of a pony-track which leads from the right bank of the Halladale 
River eastwards, is a group of small mounds, extending along the hill­
side for about i m., at a distance of about l to i m. from the river. 
These mounds are somewhat larger and more stony than the usual 
type. One, near the S. end of the group, lying with its longest axis 
ENE. and WSW" measures 28' X 18', and is about 3' 6" high. 
There are remains of old walls running among them frOIl? E. to W., 
and another wall is apparent along the lower side of the group, lying 
N. and S. About 150 yards to the N. of the pony-path a crescentic 
hollow in the hill face, with a chord of 28' and a radius of 8', is 
lined with stones, and faces SW. Towards the N. end of the 
group are the remains of a hut circle, the bank of which is much 
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worn down, measuring interiorly 26' X 29', and entering from the 
SW. The details of the entrance, etc., are indefinite. Some 60 yards 
E. of it, at a higher level, there appear to be the foundations of a 
number of small contiguous circular enclosures, but the remains are 
very indistinct. 

To the N. of the group are the ruins of walls forming field-like 
enclosures. One of these is irregularly quadrangular, and contains 
probably about l an acre. At the NW. corner a hut circle opens 
out of it measuring some 28' X 34', with a bank about 6' thick. 
From the back of the circle the wall runs northward. 

223. Do.-A little further N., and some i m. N. of the pony-path, are 
the remains of several stone-built hut circles, formed of three or more 
conjoined circular or oval enclosures, with interior diameters of from 
about 8' to 14' and walls of about 5' in thickness. The walls are 
much ruined. The entrances appear to be from the W. Two of 
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FIG. 21.-Hut Circle, Forsinard 

(No. 223). 
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FIG. 22.-Hut Circle, Forsinard 
(No. 223). 

these dwellings lie adjacent, and in their neighbourhood are the 
ruins of old walls running along the hillside (figs. 21 and 22). . 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxviii. Visited, 27th September 1909. 
224. Dalhalvaig.-On the E. side of the strath, about! m. N. of 

Dalhalvaig School, on the slope of the hill from about 100 yards 
back from the high road, are a large number of stony mounds, 
measuring from about 16' to 25' in diameter, and stretching along 
the hillside for about ! m. They differ in appearance from tha 
ordinary small mounds, so common on the hillsides, by having a 
depression in the centre in which stones are exposed as if from 
partial excavation; by there being no admixture of earth or turf 
with the stones; and by an absence of vegetation over them, except 
for a fringe some 3' to 4' wide around the outer edge. They are 
also in some instances linked together by walls, and in other instances 
have curving lines of walling projecting from them, as if to flank 
the entrances. Remains of old walls run hither and thither among 
them in sinuous lines. These constructions are believed to be the 
ruins of small huts. 

At the extreme NW. end are two conjoined huts, which seem to 
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have been partially excavated for stones. One is 18' in diameter and 
the other 14'. 

Southward there is a group of four such ruins, connected, except 

t 

1.0 S 0 

Ii I" 111111 
'\.0 

I 
'2.0 

I 
FIG. 23.-Hut Ruins, Dalhalvaig (No. 224). 

towards the W., by walls, the foundations of which alone remain, 
28' in length and about 3' in thickness, the whole construction 
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FIG. 24.-Hut Ruin, Dalhalvaig (No. 224). 

forming a horse-shoe shaped enclosure, measuring 42' across the 
open end. Each ruin measures some 18' in diameter (fig. 23). 

Near this group is a single example, 16' in diameter over all, and 
having a short wall curving to the SW. for 13' (fig. 24). One large 
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mound near the SW. end of the group lies with its longest axis 
N. and S., and clearly discloses the outlines of several small circular 
chambers among the debris. 

At the extreme SW. end is a specimen which indicates an 
interior diameter of from 12' to 15' and entrance from the SW. As 
far as indications serve, the interior diameters seem to have been 
from 8' to 10', and the entrances from W. or SW. 

At the SE. end of the group are the remains of a small oblong 
building, with rounded ends, measuring about 42' over all from NE. 
to SW., having the ruins of a stone-built structure about 9' across at 
the NE. end. The interior diameter of the construction, including 
the ruin, has been about 33'. The entrance has been from the SW., 
and has been 3' wide. The bank is of turf and stone. There are 
among these ruins a very few mounds, overgrown with turf, and lack­
ing the characteristics of the group, in no way differing externally 
from the ordinary small mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxix. Visited, 27th September 1909. 

225. Meall Mo?' a' Bhealaich.-Some 2 m. further N., on the S. end · 
of Meall Mor a' Bhealaich, opposite Oalgarry Beg, on the W. side of 
Strath Halladale, and about 150' to 200' above the river, is another 
group of constructions similar to the last. The same features are 
present, and in some of the ruins traces of the circular wall on the 
interior are visible. They are mostly circular, with a diameter over 
all of about 18'. One oval example measures over all 25' X 16'. At 
the extreme S. of the group is a ruin which shows remains of the 
wall about 2' high in the interior. The diameter of the interior 
seems to have been about 6', and the measurement over all 18'. 
The entrance has probably been from the S. From the W. side of 
one ruin, of about 18' diameter, a wall curves S. and then E. down 
the hill in an irregular line. The chord of the arc which it forms 
with the E. end of the construction is 53' in length. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xx. (unnoted). Visited, 27th September 1909. 

226. Bighouse.-A little more than 1 m. SSE. of Bighouse Lodge, 
on the E. side of the Thurso road, is a hut circle. The enclosing 
bank, which is about 3' in height, has been largely formed of stones. 
The interior diameter is 32'. The entrance has been from the SE. 
through a passage 10' in length, the thickness of the bank in the 
circumference being about 7'. In the centre of the interior is It 

small stony mound 9' in diameter and 2' in height. From the SW. 
side of it, 18' distant from the entrance, a ' wall appears to have 
crossed to the bank, as if to form the back of a chamber facing the 
entrance. Some 10' to the left of the entrance a narrow break in 
the bank, I' 6" wide, gives access to a 'small enclosure, formed of large 
stones, with an interior diameter of 7'. In the interior of the main 
structure there are indications of other walls, but so overgrown &s 
to be indefinite (fig. 25). This circle is almost identical in plan with 
that above Strathy Ohurch (No. 230). 

Some 50 yards to the NE. are the remains of another enclosure 
of simple oval form, the bank of which is much worn away. The 
entrance is from the SE., and the interior dimensions 23' X 27'. 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 77 

PARISH OF F ARR. 

Some 30 yards N. on the other side of the road is another similar 
construction, entering from the SE., through an entrance 2' wide, and 
with banks 6' to 7' thick. The interior measurements are about 
22' x 30'. :Four or five small mounds, overgrown with turf and 
heather, lie quite near. One of these, some 30' N., is 18' in diameter, 
has a depression on the top, and is about 2' 6" in height. 

On the top of the bank, across the burn, and some 300 yards 
NNE. of the enclosure with the mound in the centre, is a large 
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FIG. 25.-Hllt Circle, Bighollse (No. 220). 

circular enclosure, with walls 4' to 6' thick, and an interior diameter 
of 43'. It appears to have had several smaller constructions in the 
interior, and adjoining it on the exterior to the N. 

Some 80 yards N. of the last is a hut circle, overgrown with ferns, 
and showing signs of ruins in the interior, but the details are obscure. 

About 30 yards further N. are the remains of another hut circle, 
also indistinct. This construction seems to have been composed of 
four or five small circular compartments, from 5' to 8' in diameter. 
Adjoining it on the N. is a small oval enclosure, measuring 40' X 20', 
the outer wall of which is continued round to the N. of the hut con­
struction. 

Some 40' or thereby to theW. is another small enclosure of 
simple form, the banks of which are much worn down. It has been 
entered from the S., and has an interior diameter of from 15' to 20'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xi. (unnoted). Visited, 29th September 1909. 
227. A?'madale Bu?'n.-Some 1-1- m. up the Armadale Burn, on 

its W. bank, and about i m. down from the broch, on the top of 
the bank, are a few circular ruins , similar to those at Dalhalvaig 
(No. 224). 

228. Bowside Lodge.-At Bowside Lodge, some 2t m. S. of Strathy, 
situated about 100 yards NE. of the keeper's house, on a terrace beside 
the Bowside Burn, is a small group of about ten hut ruins, most of 
which present the same features as those at Dalhalvaig, etc. The 
stones in the interior are exposed, the centre is lower than the edges, 
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and there is no admixture of earth. The diameters are from 14' to 
16', and the heaps of stones from 30' to 40' apart. There are no 
signs of connecting walls, but one is built into a bank, as at Dalhalvaig, 
A few mounds of similar size, conical, and overgrown with vegetation, 
exist among the ruins. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xix. (unnoted). Visited, 28th September 1909. 

229. Dail Teine.-About 1 m. above Strathy Church, on the W. 
bank of the Strathy water, and on the haugh to the N. of the influx of 
the Allt Dail Teine, are a number of circular enclosures and mounds. 
Some of the latter show a depression in the centre, like those at 
Dalhalvaig, while others are conical. 

Near where the Allt Dail Teine flows into the Strathy water is a 
mound, some 18' in diameter and 3' to 4' high, showing no depression 
on the top, from which a wall or bank runs towards the river and 
also in the opposite direction up the bank of the burn. 

Some 50' NW. of this is a small circular enclosure of about 12' 
interior diameter j and some 50' W. of it again a larger one, with an 
entrance from the E., having an interior diameter of about 14', and 
surrounded by the remains of an encircling wall some 6' thick. 
Attached to it on the W. there appear to be the ruins of a small 
chamber. 

Some 30 yards NW. is a mound, overgrown with heather, about 
16' in diameter and 3' high. Proceeding N. along the haugh are from 
fifteen to twenty more mounds. Two of them, rather larger than 
the rest, are situated within 20 yards of each other, and measure 
some 20' in diameter and 3' in height. 

At the extreme N. end of the haugh is a small enclosure, with an 
entrance from the E., measuring over all some 29' from N. to S. by 27' 
from E. to W. From the entrance two passages pass respectively to 
right and left, leading into small circular chambers 8' and 5' in 
interior diameter, separated' from each other by a foundation, from 
3' to 5' across, projecting from the back wall. I n the thickness of 
the wall at the back are two almost contiguous hollows, 2' in diameter. 
Two or three other enclosures near, overgrown with heather and fern, 
appear to be of similar character. 

230, Dail a' Bhaite,-About ~ m. S. of Strathy Church, on the 
slope of the hillside, and some 100' above the level of the river, is a 
group of hut circles and small mounds. 

At the extreme S. end of the group, opposite the most southerly 
of the Strathy crofts across the valley, and about! m. back from the 
river, is a hut circle of three compartments, two in line E. and W., 
and the third alongside that at the E. The most westerly one 
measures interiody 16' x 12': that to the E. of it 14' x 10', and that 
to the S. 14' x 9'. The entrance from the outside has been by a 
curving passage near the centre of the S. side. The thickness of the 
enclosing wall seems to have been about 9' around the ",V. com­
partment and 5' round the others, There is much stone from the 
walls lying in the interior, and the inner faces of the walls have been 
lined with flat-sided boulders set on end (fig. 26). 

Some 100 yards to the northward, at the same elevation as the 
last, are the remains of a hut circle, in the construction of which 
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much large stone has been used. The entrance is from the E. through 
a passage 9' long and from l' 6/1 to 2' wide. Near the centre of the 
passage two large upright stones, 3' and 3' 6/1 high, stand opposite 
each other l' 6/1 apart. The wall is from 2' to 3' high, and, except 
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FIG. 26.-Hut Circle, Dail a' Bhaite (No. 230). 

at the entrance, about 4' thick. The interior diameter from N. to 
S. is 27' and from E. .to W. 25'. In the interior, 4' 8/1 from the 
entrance, and 8' from the back wall, is a mound measuring 13' X 10' 
in diameter, outlined with large stones some 3' in height, and having 
a depth of a foot or two of humus on the top. On the S. side of 
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FIG. 27.-Hut Circle, Dail a' Bhaite (No. 230). 

the interior a wall curving from the centre mound to the side forms 
the back of all enclosure 15' long by 7' wide. Many large stones lie 
scattered over the rest of the interior, obscuring any other details. 
Abutting on the outer wall to the S. is another enclosure, measuring 
interiorly about 13' X 9', and apparently entered from the main circle. 
The thickness of the wall is not very apparent (fig. 27). 
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Some 30 yards NW. are the remains of a small constrnction, 
formed of two or three conjoined circles, entirely overgrown with 
heather, and near by and further to the N., several small mounds of 
from 18' to 20' in diameter. 

231. Do. - About -k m. SW. of Strathy Church, and somewhat less 
to the W. of the river, on the N. side of a small ravine, and between 
it and an old feal dyke, is a circle of upright and almost contiguous 
boulders 9' 6" in diameter. On the N. and NE. are the remains of 
an outer and nearly parallel row, some 5' to 8' distant, the stones of 
which are not so closely set. On the S. side of the circle is a mound 
about 10' long, 5' across, and 2' high, which may be the remains of 
the original bank. To the NE., at 7' distant, is a small mound 
about 9' in diameter. This construction resembles the circle of stones 
on the An t-Sron, near Lairg (No. 424), and also that near Knock 
Al'thur in Rogart (No. 497). 

232. Earth-hou.se, Stmthy. -On the left bank of the Strathy water, 
some 80 yards S. of the road bridge beside Stl'athy Church, and near 
the top of the bank, a slight excavation marks the site of the entrance 
to an earth-house discovered a few years ago. No signs of building 
are visible. It does not appear to have been thoroughly explored 
unnoted). 

O.S.M., SUTH., x. Visited, 28th September 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

233. Ohambered Oai1'n, remains oj, Slcail.-At Skail, about 70' E. 
of the road, in a clump of birch trees on Adam Mackay's croft, is the 
denuded megalithic chamber of a cairn. The cairn, which has been 
circular, with a diameter of about 66', has been almost entirely 
removed, The longest axis of the chamber has been NE. and SW., 
and its total length appears to have been about 15', but the NE. end 
is now indefinite. In form it is polygonal. At about 8' from the 
SW. end the chamber is divided into two compartments by two large 
slabs, some 2' 6" in height from the ground level, and about 2' apart, 
projecting from either side 2' 10" into the interior. These slabs are 
not exactly opposite each other, that on the N. being about 6" W. of 
the one on the other side. The SW. compartment of the chamber 
is about 8' broad, and is formed of five large slabs set on end-the 
highest, 5' 8" above ground and 3' 6" across at broadest, tapering to a 
point. The other slabs are each about 4' 6" high. The space 
between the upright stones is neatly filled witJ;1 horizontal building. 
In the E. division of the chamber only one large stone on the N., 
4' 6" high and 3' 7" broad, remains standing. The slab on the 
opposite side has fallen. No sign of the passage is visible. 

This cairn was excavated some years ago by the tenant of one of 
the shooting lodges, but no record appears to have been kept. A 
steatite cup with a side handle is said to have been found in it, and to 
be preserved in the Dunrobin Museum. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 22nd May 1909. 

234-237. Oairns, Piscary, Bettyhill. - At Fiscary, to the E. of 
BettyhiU, a ridge runs along the upper part of the moor from E. to 
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W., and crowning three eminences are four large cairns. The first, 
which is the most easterly, is circular in form, is about 68' in 
diameter, and 15' 6" high to the apex, on which a small pile of stones 
has recently been erected. The cairn does not appear to have been 
excavated, but the stones in several places have been pulled out, 
probably in attempts to discover the chambers or in pursuit of rabbits. 
The second and third cairns lie several hundred yards to the W., some 
300' above the sea, overlooking the Bay of Swordly. Of these the 
southmost does not appear 1;0 have been excavated. It is circular, 
with a diameter of about 52', and is some 10' high to the top of the 
modern pile of stones on its apex. It presents a peculiar feature. 
At the N. end is clearly visible a broad platform of stones extending 
to a distance of 25' from the base of the cairn, and, though largely 
overgrown with turf, traceable by the outline of stones almost 
entirely around it. This platform has been described as a neck con­
necting the two cairns, but in reality it stops 7' distant from the 
adjacent cairn. 

The third cairn adjoining has been excavated, and is now com­
pletely destroyed. The chamber is half filled up with debris, and . 

Wtt~~**O __ ~~ __ ~TO~ __ ro~ __ +41_0 __ ~$IO~ 1IIIIrlIIII r- r r- . . 
FIG. 28.-Horned Cairn, Skelpick (No. 238). 

only two or three large slabs remain, the others having disappeared. 
Its diameter has been about 46', and its height is 4' to 5'. 

The fourth cairn, still further to the W., measures 28' to 30' in 
6 
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diameter, and is about 6' high. There are no signs of chambers 
visible, and the cairn has been a good deal dilapidated. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 24th May 1909. 

238. H01'ned Cai1'n, &lcelpiclc.-Occupying the crest of a ridge to 
the E. of the small plantation near the farm buildings at Skelpick is 
a construction, apparently a horned cairn. It has been much dilapi­
dated, especially on the SE. side, from which great quantities of 
stones have at one time been removed. There are various other 
signs of excavation, but no structural details have been exposed. 
The main mass of the cairn has a diameter of about 43', and is from 7' 
to S' high. From four points, roughly corresponding with the cardinal 
points of the compass, radiate low horns, about 2' in height, measur­
ing across the base at the N. and W. 20', and at the S. alld E. 18'. 
They project at the N. and W. 20', and at the S. and E. 26' and 2S' 
respectively. The N. and W. horns are 67' apart at their extremities, 
the S. and E. horns 55', while the W. and S. are 77' apart and the 
N. and E. 71' (fig. 2S). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. Visited, 27th May 1909. 

239. Chambe1'ed Cai1'n, Slcelpiclc.-About 300 yards SE. of the 
Farm-house of Skelpick are the remains of a very large circular 
cairn. The stones of which it was formed have in great measure 
been removed. The diameter is about 93', and the height is still at 
highest 6' to 7'. There has been a chamber near the centre of the 
S. half at about 23' from the circumference, which has been excavated 
and is now ruined. It has probably been divided into two by par­
tition slabs, 2' 6/1 high and 3' across, which occur at 30' from the 
outside. The chamber appears to have been about 17' in length. 
One low upright stone remains in the inner division on the E. side. 

240. Cairn, do.-About 100 yards SE. of Skelpick Farm-house are 
the remains of another large round cairn, which does not appear to 
have been excavated, but is much dilapidated. The diameter from 
N. to S. is 59' and from E. to W. 54'. The height is about 5'. On 
the W. and S. sides it has been much pulled about. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 27th May 1909. 
241. Homed Long Cai1'n, Slcelpick.-A horned long cairn is 

situated on the E. side of the Skelpick Burn, about! m. N. by E. of 
Skelpick. It lies with its longest axis N. and S. It is some 200' in 
length, and is 35' broad at the S. end, and at the N. end the pro­
jecting horns at their extremities are 66' apart. The S. end has been 
in part removed. The horns, which project considerably eastward 
and westward, are about 22' in length, and are each some 12' in 
breadth at the base. A passage, not opened out, enters from the 
N. end, and at about 15' 6/1 from the exterior gives access to a small 
separately roofed chamber about 6' 6/1 long", 4' broad, and 4' 3/1 
high. It opens into a second chamber through a portal 2' 7/1 wide, 
and 3' 6/1 high above present level, surmounted by a large lintel, 
triangular in section, nearly 10' long and 2' 6/1 deep. This compart­
ment measures some S' X 10'. One large slab alone remains in situ on 
the E. side, but none are on the W. This compartment is separated 
from the third by two upright stones, about 3' 6/1 high, supporting a 
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lintel about 9' long, l' 2" thick, and 3' 6" deep. The division stones 
are 4' apart. It is polygonal, measures some 10' x 12', and is formed 
of six large upright slabs, with regular horizontal building filling the 
spaces between them. 

On the slope to the W. lie a number of small mounds, and these 
objects are numerous on the terrace about 100' higher up. 

See Anderson, The B1'onze and Stone Ages, p. 263; Antiqua1'ies, 
vii. p. 273. 

242. Oairn, Skelpic7c.-Towards the S. end of the group of mounds 
to the W. of the cairn (No. 241), and on a slight eminence, stands a 
large circular cairn, with a diameter of about 54'. It is about 8' 
high, and though the stones have been pulled about here and there 
on the top, it does not appear to have been excavated (unnoted). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 27th May 1909. 

243. Homed Long Oai1'ns, Ooille na B01'gie.-Situated on the right 
bank of the River Navel', about 1 m. above the road bridge to the S. 
of Bettyhill, on a natural terrace beside the road from Skelpick, are 
the remains of two, or possibly three, chambered cairns. They lie 
in line, with a general direction N. and S. The most southerly of 
the cairns is the largest. It is some 230' in length, some SO' wide 
at the N. end, and 50' wide at the S. end. Its elevation rises 
towards the N. At the N. end the cairn terminates in a crescent, 
measuring some 4S' from point to point, formed by two projecting 
horns. These appear to have been outlined, on both the outer and 
inner faces, with large pointed stones set upright, varying in height 
from 3' to 7' 10", in breadth from 2' to 3', and in distance from 
each other from 10' to 16'. Though on the W. side the horn 
remains distinct, the standing-stones on the outer side have dis­
appeared. They still, however, exist on both faces of the E. horn. 
Those on the outer sides of the horns are smaller than those in the 
line of the crescent, and the highest stones are at the extremities. 
To the front there are eight stones standing, three to the W. of the 
centre, and five to -the E. Immediately to the W. of the entrance 
a large stone lies prostrate, with its point outwards. At intervals 
along the sides of the cairn, and more markedly on the W. side, from 
which the ground slopes, the heads of standing-stones protrude. The 
position of the standing-stones at the S. end, relative to the termina­
tion of the cairn, is difficult to determine. On the E. they appear 
merely to continue in the direction of the side, but on the W. there 
are two projecting slabs Borne 20' in from the present termination, 
which, facing towards the SE., suggest that they may have formed a 
portion of a crescentic setting. The chamber is tripartite. It is 
entered by a passage from the centre of the N. end, described as 17' 
in length and about 2!, in width and height. This passage, as well 
as the division of the chamber into which it opens, is now almost 
entirely filled with debris. The middle compartment is some 5' in 
length and breadth, and is said to have been some 6' 10" in height. 
It is still partially covered with slabs. The outer compartment, now 
ruined, is said to have been slightly less, and the innermost com­
partment over 7' in diameter and some 8' in height. 
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The second cairn to the N. of the other is a mass of stones about 
100' in length. It is said to have shown indications of a chambered 
character, but none are now visible. As in the cairn previously 
described, upright siones are visible at intervals in the lateral out­
lines, especially on the W. side. 

The ·third cairn, which may possIbly be a portion of the second, is 
circular, with a diameter of some 60', and contains a single poly­
gonal chamber, now half filled with stones. The chamber measures 
some 8' in diameter, and was originally about the same in height. 
Its walls have been formed of great stones, with horizolltal building 
filling the interspaces. This cairn appears also to have had horns 
at the N. end, but as it has been so much pillaged the indications 
are not very definite. Some 8' to the K of the position of the outer 
entrance to the passage lies a large stone, most.ly on its edge, 
exposed for a length of 5', and measuring 2' across. Some 25' N.K 
the head of another protrudes. On the W. there are more indica­
tions of a horn, but there are no standing-stones. 

See Anderson, The B1'onze and Stone Ages, p. 260 (plan and 
illus.); AntiquMies, xviii. p. 228 (plan and illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 27th May 1909. 

244. Cairns, etc., Achcheargary.-On the S. side of the Achchear­
gary Burn, about 20 yards from the top of theW. bank of the River 
Navel', and 50 yards from the burn, is a large circular cairn, with a 
diameter from N. to S. of some 77' and from E. to W. of about 70'. 
The top of it has been removed, so as to expose, somewhat to the N. 
of the centre, three slabs, apparently the end and sides of a chamber, 
which does not appear to have been cleared out. The length of the 
chamber from K to W., as far as exposed, is 7', and its width about 5'. 
One stone protrudes about I' 2" at the K end, and the upper portion 
of one is visible on each side. That on the N. side has been slightly 
displaced. The present height of the cairn is about 7'. Between it 
and the road on the W. lie about half a dozen small mounds. 

At about 150 yards and 200 yards to the S. respectively, in the 
direction of the shepherd's house, have apparently been two more 
similar cairns, now almost entirely removed. 

To the W. of the road, about 150' above it and some 100 yards S. of 
the burn, are the considerable remains of another cairn, which has 
been pillaged to build a sheep fold. It appears to have had a diameter 
of about 54'. Its present height is about 4' on the K,but on the W. 
or upper side it is almost level with the ground. Scattered about 
in its vicinity are a few small mounds of some 12' to 14' diameter. 

About 100 yards N. of the burn, and 70 yards W. of the road, is 
a round cairn, with a diameter of about 26', and a height of about 4'. 

About 70 yards NW. of it are the remains of yet another cairn 
beside a sheep fold. Near the centre of it has been exposed a cist, 
intact, except for the stone at the S. end, which has been removed 
and lies adjacent. The cist is full of soil to within I' 2" of the 
covering slab, which is 3' 8" long, 3' wide, and 7" thick. The 
diameter of the cairn has been about 45'; its height is 5'. 

About 30' NW. are the remains of Ho similar cairn, partially 
removed. A large thin slab, protruding to the S. of the remaining 
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heap of stones, probably marks the site of a cist. The height of 
the existing portion, which is probably about one-half of the original, 
is about 4', and its diameter is 24'. 

About i m. N. of the Achcheargary Burn is a group of mounds 
extending from the roadside to 80 or 100 yards W. of it. 

O.S.M., 8UTH., xxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 1st June 1909. 
245. Across the River Naver, about i m. S. of the bridge over the 

AUt a' Chaisteil. on the road to Skelpick, is another group of a score 
or more mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. (unnoted). Visited, 1st June 1909. 
246. Chambered Cairn (1'ernains of), Melvich.-On the hillside to 

the W. of the township of Melvich, and about ! m. SSW. of the 
Hotel, are the dilapidated remains of a cairn. The diameter from 
E. to W. has been about 63', and from N. to S. about 70'. Some 27' 
in from the N. side the upper part of a large slab facing N. probably 
indicates the back of a chamber, and other large stones protruding 
seem to have formed part of such a structure. 

O.S.M., SUTH., x. (" Borg. [remains of] "). 
Visited 29th September 1909. 

247. Stone Circle, Dailha1Taild.-On a haugh beside the River 
Naver, at Dailharraild, stands the" Clach an Righ," the remains of a 
stone circle, with a low cairn in the centre. Of the stones forming the 

t 
• 
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FIG. 29.-Stone Circle, Dailharraild (No. 247). 

circle two only are upright, standing almost N. and S. of each other, 
and 21' 6" apart. They both stand with their broad faces at right 
angles to the line of the circumference. On the W. half of the circle 
three stones lie prone, and between the two upright stones the head 
of another protrudes through the turf. With its end against the E. 
face of the standing-stone to the S. lies a large stone on its edge, its 
opposite end lying a foot or so beyond the line of the circumference. 
The diameter of the circle appears to be about 22', that of the cairn 
in the middle 11'. The taU standing-stone to the S. is 8' high, 10" 
broad at the top, and 3' 6" at the base. It is a flat slab 8" to 10" 
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thick. The other standing-stone is 6' high, 2' 9" broad at the base, 
and l' 2" at the top, and about 8" thick. The three fallen stones on 
the W., counting from the S. stone northwards, are of the following 
dimensions, viz. :-lst stone, 9' long, 2' 8" broad, 9" thick; 2nd stone, 
6' 6" long, 2' 8" broad, and 8" thick; 3rd stone, lying on edge, 6' 6" 
long, 9" thick, and 8" in breadth so far as visible. The head of the 
protruding stone is 2' long. The slab against the S. stone is 5' 4" 
long, l ' 9" broad where most exposed, and 3" to 4" thick (fig. 29). 

See Antiqua1'ies, v. p. 358 (illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTH., xliv. Visited, 21st May 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

248. Sculptured Gross, ICtibreclc, Loch Naver.-About t m. S.E. of 
the farm buildings at Klibreck, on marshy ground S. of the enclosure 
called Stewart's Park, are two upright slabs of undressed schistose 

stone within 6' or 7' of each 
other. On the N. face of the 
most southerly, roughly chiselled 
out,is a Celtic cross, long-shafted, 

/,/bor with the arms expanding towards 
the ends, and the angles at the 
points of intersection rounded. 
The height of the stone above 
ground is 3' 10", and its breadth 
is l' 2". The total length of tIle 
cross exposed is 3' 6", and the 
breadth along the arms 11". 
The upper arm measures 8" in 
length, the side arms 4f', and 
the stem 2' 8". 

o 

249. Foundations, Klibreck, 
Loch Naver.-About 40' W. of 
the standing-stone are the foun­
dations of a small rectangular 
building. The outline is now 
somewhat indefinite Externally 
the measurement is about 21' 
over all; internally, the diameter 
seems to be about 12' from E to 
W. by 10' from N. to S. At the 
NE. corner there is a large mass 
of debris, suggesting some addi­
tional structure. Numerous 
large stones protrude from the 
ground in the vicinity, but none 
of them, so far as ascertainable, 
bear any symbols. 

12/"".f. 0 S M .. ., SUTH., liii. (unnoted). 
FIG. 30.-Sculptured Cross, Grumbeg Visited, 15th May 1909. 

(No. 250). 
250. Sculptu1'ed Gross, G1'urn-

beg, Loch Naver.-On the top of the E. wall which surrounds the 
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ancient burial-ground of the Aberach Mackays at Grumbeg, on the 
N. side of Loch Naver, and some 6' from the SE. corner of the wall, 
is a stone with a cross incised on it. The stone measures 2' 4" in 
length, 6" in depth, and 7" in width; and the cross, which is at one 
end, occupies the breadth of the stone, and is l' 1" long. The upper 
and lower arms slightly exceed in length the lateral arms. The 
upper and lateral arms terminate in semicircular expansions, while 
the other or lower end has a heart-shaped termination. The semi­
circular expansions enclose two small hollowed triangular compart­
ments (on one side obliterated), while the remaining expansion bears 
a double incurving spiral (fig. 30). 

251. Do., do.-A few feet to the N. of the above, also on the top 
of the wall, is a similar slab, some 3' in length, with a quadrangular 
figure 8" square incised on the face of it, and subdivided by four 
intersecting lines, cutting each other at right angles, thus forming 
four small connected crosses. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xliv. (unnoted). Visited, 17th May 1909. 

252. Oup-Ma1'ked Stone, do., do.-Within the graveyard lies a 
small triangular stone of micaceous schist, having a surface measure­
ment of 20" X 18" and a thickness of 4". There is shown on its face 
three well·defined cup-marks of about 3" diameter and If' depth. 
Towards the base of the stone is another marking, which is less 
well defined. 

See Antiquaries, xl. p. 130 (illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTIT., xliv. Visited, 17th May 1909. 

253. Sculptured Stone, Langdale.-At Langdale, on the croft of 
Angus Gunn, lying against the wall at the N. side of the field in 
front of his house, is a portion of an incised slab 3' 8" in length, 
2' in extreme breadth, and 3" thick, bearing, in the left upper corner, 
part of a crescentic device. 

See Antiquaries, xl. p. 128 (illus.). Visited, 22nd May 1909. 

254. Saddle Quem, do.-At the upper end of the same field, 
beside an open drain, is lying a large stone 2' 3" long and I' 7" 
broad, hollowed gradually from either end in the direction of its 
length to a depth of 3" at the centre, showing signs of attrition. 
It is possibly the lower stone of a saddle quern, and locally is 
said to have been used for tanning hides. 

This seems to be the stone described as a font in Antiqua1'ies, 
xl. p. 131. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 

255. Oladh Langdale.-Situated between the edge of a cultivated 
meadow and the River Naver, near Langdale, is an ancient burial­
ground, enclosed within a wall. None of the tombstones exposed 
bear any markings of interest. 

256. Sculpt~6red 01'OSS, Skail.-In a cultivated field at the edge of 
the River Navel', about 280 yards ENE. of the Schoolhouse at Skail, 
are the remains of an old graveyard, unenclosed, in the centre of 
which stands a short granite pillar, about 2' 4" high by l' 2/1 in 
breadth and thickness, bearing a rudely incised cross, nearly equal 
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armed, and having the upper arm rounded off at the extremity. This 
is known as " the Red Priest's Grave." 

See Antiquaries, v. p. 359 (illus.). 

257. Oladh Rivigill.-This disused graveyard is situated on the 
top of a knoll, on the right bank of the River N aver, in the meadow in 
front of the shooting-lodge of Rheafail. The few flat slabs that are 
exposed bear no inscriptions or symbolical markings. 

O.SM., SUTH., xxxvi. Visited, 22nd May 1909. 

258. Sculptured 01'OSS, Fa1'1'.-To the E. of the Parish Church of 
Farr, within the graveyard, is a rectangular cross slab of blue 
schistose slate. It measures 7' 6/1 in height, 2' in width at the 
bottom, 2' 1/1 in width at the top, and 9/1 in thickness. It is divided 
into two panels, a narrow one at the top containing a key pattern, and 
a lower one containing in the upper part a cross, with a raised circular 
boss in the centre of it, oval hollows in the angles between the arms, 
and a circular ring connecting them, and having a narrow shaft spring­
ing from a semicircular arched base. The cross is highly ornamented 
with spirals, key pattern, and interlaced work, while the semicircular 
base contains a figure, formed of two birds, with their necks inter­
twined. Below the cross the panel is filled with key pattern. The 
background is also highly ornamented. 

See Early OMist. Mon., pt. iii. p. 53 (ilhiS.); Antiq~6aries, vii. 
p. 274; Suthe1'land and the Reay Oountry, p. 111 (illus.) . . 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 24th May 1909. 
259. Heraldic Stone, Kirktown.-On a pillar of the cemetery gate 

at Kirktown, Strath-halladale, is a triangular stone, carved with 
armorial bearings, which was found in 1894 among the ruins of 
Kirkton Chapel, and is supposed to have marked the tomb of the 
first wife of Angus Mackay, second of Bighouse. The shield may be 
blazoned thus-Per fess, the chief per pale; in the dexter, a stag's 
head couped, pierced through the neck by an arrow. Sinister, three 
bears' heads erased and muzzled. In base, a dexter hand between 
two dirks in chevron. The stone bears the initials of Angus Mackay, 
A.M.K., and the date 1630, 

See Antiqua1'ies, xxxviii. p. 529 (illus.); The Boole of Mackay, 
p. 279 (illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xix. 
260. Sculpt1md 01'0815, Strathy.-About 700 yards WSW. of the 

road bridge over the Strathy Water at Strathy, some 32 yards E. of the 
upper of the two feal dykes which crosses the moor from N. to S., 
and about 120 yards N. of the dyke, running E. and W., is a cross 
slab. The stone is lying NE. and SW. It is 4' 4/1 in length, I' 8/1 
wide where widest across the arms of the cross, and I' 2/1 at base, 
and about 8" in thickness. Incised on the surface is a Latin cross 
2' 8/1 in length, and l' 7/1 across the arms. The shaft is I' 6/1 long 
and 4/1 broad. The arms and shaft terminate in circular expansions 
formed of a plain disc 3/1 across, enclosed within a ring, the whole 
measuring 7/1 in diameter. The termination at the base of the 
cross is somewhat flattened from the round, and measures 6/1 X 7/1. 
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Parallel incised lines are cut down either side of the shaft and 
arms. 

See Antiquaries, xxxiv. p. 252 (illus.); Ea1'ly Ohrist. Mon., 
pt. iii. p. 55. 

O.S.M., SUTH., x. Visited, 29th September 1909. 
261. Megalithic Structu?'e, Dunviden.-About 120 yards E. of 

Dunviden broch, on the River Navel', on the top of a slight eminence, 
are the remains of a megalithic structure. The stones are irregularly 
placed, and seem to form a portion only of the original number. In 
the centre of a cup-shaped depression, from the sides of which protrude 
small round stones, stands a large block of grey granitic rock, 4' 6" 
high, 3' across, and about 10" thick. One stone stands to the N. and 
another to the S. of this block, 12' apart, and other five stand 
irregularly to the W. of a line between them. It is possible that it 
is the ruins of a cham bered cairn. * 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 25th May 1909. 
262. ITon Smelting (Temains oj), Slcelpick.-On the right bank of 

the Skelpick Burn, directly to the W. of the N. end of the long cairn 
(N o. 241), and about -l m. N. of Skelpick, there is exposed, 8" below 
the present surface, a bed of iron slag 9" thick. Some 4" to 5" 
beneath it lies a seam of charcoal 2t" thick. The slag is intermixed 
with portions of burnt wood. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 27th May 1909. 
263. OiTCula1' Building, Mound, etc., Achnabou1·in.-About 150 

yards E. of the road at Achnabourin, and between it and the River 
Navel', near the centre of the birch wood, are the remains of a small 
circular building, about 10' in diameter, with rude stone walling. To 
the S., a few feet distant, is a small round mound, and in front, 
where beneath the broken surface many large stones are visible, is 
said to have formerly existed an opening underground, l ' 6" to 2' 
square. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 28th May 1909. 

SITES. 

264. B01've Oastle.-About 1 m. N. of the S. end of Farr township, 
on a promontory joined to the mainland by a narrow neck very 
precipitous on either flank, though accessible from the sea or NE. 
extremity, are the scant,y remains of the Castle of Borve. Nothing 
exists but part of the foundations, which show a range of rectangular 
building, with walls about 7' thick. The main structure has been on 
the W. side of the promontory, but its plan is now indefinite. The 
NW. wall has for the most part gone. The promontory slopes down 
towards the seaward end, where there are several hollows, circular 
and rectangular, probably marking the site of the well and founda­
tions of some kind. Below them a ditch crosses the lower end of 

* The construction was visited by the Rev. J. M. Joass, LL.D., about the year 
1864, and a ground plan of it, as it then appeared, was published in Antiquaries, 
v. p1. xxiv. This shows two rectangular enclosures set en echelon. The same 
number of stones as is there shown still remain, but some have probably fallen, 
and their positions are consequently altered. 
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r,he headland. The neck connecting the promontory with the main­
land is traversed by a ditch covered by a rampart on the seaward 
side, and there are the remains of a bank still nearer the land further 
protecting the approach on the NW. side at the top of the cliff. 

See Gordon, p. 135; Pennant (1769), p. 346; Antiqua1'ies, vii. 
p. 275; The Book of Maokay, p. 98; Suthe1'land and the Beay Oount1'Y, 
pp. 40 (illus.) and 112; Oordiner's Ruins, ii. (illus. frontispiece) 

O.S.M., SUTH., ix. Visited, 24th May 1909. 

265. Brooh, Gte1'khill, Fan'.-At the extreme W. end of a low 
rocky ridge on which are situated the buildings of a croft bearing the 
name of "The Dun," formerly stood a broch. Only a few large 
stones, which formed part of the foundation, now remain on the top 
of the rock. 

See Antiqua1'ies, vii. p. 275. 
O.S.M., SUTH., ix. Visited, 24th May 1909. 

266. Ea1'th-houses (supposed), Aohnabou1'in.-About ! m. WSW. 
of the farm-house at Achnabourin, and some 80 yards W. of the road, 
on the summit of a grassy knoll, two boulders probably mark the site 
of the entrance to the earth-house which formerly existed here. A 
depression running SE. for about 44' seems to indicate its extent. 

On a hillock immediately E. of the road and between the wood 
and the farm-house at Achnabourin, is a similar depression running 
N. and S., about 54' in length and nearly 9' in width, showing signs of 
stone building at either side. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xviii. Visited, 28th May 1909. 

267. Ohapel (su,pposed Site) and GTaveya1'd, Kirktown. - The 
O.S. map indicates the supposed site of a chapel at Kirktown, about, 
2 m. S. of Melvich. 

268. Old G1'aveya1'd, Aohness.-On the right bank of the River 
N aver, a short distance above the influx of the Mallart River, is an 
old graveyard. Nothing of interest is visible in it. 

O.S.M., SUTH., liv. and Iv. 

PARISH OF GOLSPIE. 

OASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

269. DUn1'obin Oastle.-Dunrobin Oastle is situated about 11 m. 
to the NE. of Golspie. It stands on the summit of a high bank 
overlooking the Dornoch Firth. Sir Robert Gordon thus describes 
it: "A house well seated upon a mote hard by the sea, with fair 
orchards, wher ther be pleasant gardens, planted with all kynds of 
£roots, hearbs, and floors, used in this kingdom, and abundance of 
good saphron, tobacco, and rosemarie." It appears to have consisted 
originally of a keep at the NE. angle, 27' X 23', with walls 6' 6" 
in thickness, which still stands, but is entirely surrounded and 
enclosed with numerous additions of different ages. The keep is 
vaulted on each floor. The angle bartisans and the continuous 
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mouldings in place of corbels beneath the parapet are features of 
late date. In the 17th century a large mansion, on the plan 
of a central courtyard, was erected to the SW. of the keep, and 
connected to it with a circular tower containing a wheel staircase. 
Over the windows of this staircase the original small pediments still 
exist, containing the initials I. E. s. for John, Earl of Sutherland, and 
A. c. s. for Anna, his countess. The greater part of the structure 
erected at that time is still preserved, although somewhat added to 
and altered. The iron "yett," with which the entrance to the old 
courtyard was provided, is still preserved at the castle. 

See Cast. and Dam. A1·ch., iv. p. 300 (plans and illus.); Anti­
q·uaries, xxii. p. 310 (" yett" illus.); Gordon, pp. 8, 26, 509, 519; 
Origines, ii. pt. ii. p. 681; Oordiner's Ruins, ii. (illus.); SutheTland 
and the Reay Count1'y, p. 110; Pococke, p. 166; V iews in 01'kney, 
etc. (illus.); Old LaTe Miscellany, etc., ii. pt. iii. (ill us.) ; Ibid., ii. pt. iv. 
p. 199 (illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 17th July 1909. 

DEFENSIVE OONSTRUCTIONS. 

270. BToch, "Cam Liath."-Situated about 1i m. E. of Dunrobin 
Oastle, to the S. of U ppat Wood, and just below the railwa.y, on the 
top of a bank, is the broch of " Oarn Liath." It has been thoroughly 
excavated. The entrance is from the E. by a flag-covered passage 18' 
long, some 6' high and 3' wide; 8' in from the outside occur jambs, 
beyond which the passage widens somewhat. At 2' 2" below the 
roof of the passage are holes on either side for the reception of a bar, 
that on the S. side passing 2' 3" into the wall, that on the N. l ' 3". 
In rear of the jamb, on the right of the passage, is the entrance to 
a chamber which is 10' long, 5' broad, and 8' high. The interior 
diameter of the broch is 30'. A quarter distance round the inner 
face of the wall, to the left, an entrance 3' wide gives access through 
a passage 6' long and 5' high to a flight of twenty-one steps, rising 
to the right. The average height of the wall in the interior is about 
12'. Some 6' from t.he present floor level there is a scarcement 6" 
to 8" in breadth, formed by a restriction of the wall. In the middle 
of the interior is a sunk chamber, 11' long, 7' wide, and 8' deep, 
connected at the E. end with a smaller structure 3' deep. The walls 
of this chamber are formed of large, upright flags, about 5' in height, 
above which occurs neatly-built masonry. Olose to the wall, on the 
N. side of the interior, is a similar sunk chamber, 8' long, 6' broad 
at greatest breadth, and 6' deep. On the outside a covered and 
flagged passage, 12' long, 3' wide, and 4t' high, leads to the entrance 
passage from the S. The outer lintel of this passage bears two cup­
marks on its upper face. It also displays certain linear markings, 
which appear to be artificial, and which are described and illustrated 
in Antiquaries, xv. p. 180. Around the broch are the remains of 
encircling walls and outbuildings. The relics found are preserved 
in the Museum at Dunrobin. Among them are many shale rings; 
two steatite cups, oIl;e with a handle; two plates of brass, each 
a little more than ith in thickness, the one oblong, measuring 
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] I " x n", the other nearly semicircular, with a radius of about 7r'. 
They are both marked with blows from the pin end of a hammer. 

See A?·ch. Scot., v. pt. i. p. 102 (plans, secs., and illus.); Anderson, 
The hon Age, p. 221. 

271. Broch, DUn?'obin Wood.-In the wood, about i m. NW. of 
Dunrobin Mains, between the road and the cultivated land, are the 
remains of a broch, situated on a hillock cut off from the hill to the N. 
by a wide natural trench, and steeply sloped on the W., S., and E. The 
broch is much ruined, and the outer wall face has, to SOlle extent, 
been cleared of debris, exposing the entrance, which is from the W. 
The interior diameter is not fully ascertainable. Where opposing 
wall faces are visible on the SW. and NE. it is 23', but from NW. 
to SE. it appears to have been greater-seemingly about 28'-thus 
giving the cou~tyard a slightly oval form. The entrance passage 
is 4' wide, where measurable at 7' from the exterior, and its length 
16'. At 9' from the exterior, on its S. side, is the entrance to a 
guard chamber, which extends inwards for 8', and is 5' wide at 
greatest width. Tbe inner half of the wall on the N. side of the 
passage is gone. At 6' back from the passage, OD the N. side, is the 
end of a chamber, tbe outer or NIV-. wall of which is exposed for a 
distance of 24'. It probably contained the staircase. The greatest 
height of wall visible on the exterior is 7'. The thickness of the 
wall at 6' from ground level is 13'. The debris entirely obscures 
the wall faces on tbe E. side, and the growth of bracken . makes 
observation additionally difficult. The broch bas been encircled by 
a wall some 4' distant from it, now much ruined, and of indefinite 
thickness. 

See Pococke, p. 166. 
O.S.M., SU'rH., cv. Visited, 13th August 1909. 

272. Broch, Backies.-Situated on a knoll at the foot of the hill 
bebind Backies, and at an elevation of some 600' above the sea, is 
a broch. It has been excavated, and an immense pile of stones lies 
around. The entrance is from tbe ·WNW. through a passage 16' 6" 
in length, 3' 6" wide in the interior at base, 3' wide below the lintel, 
and 4' 8" high. The lintel stones covering the passage, with the 
exception of one or perhaps two, are all in situ. The interior 
diameter is 27', the greatest height of wall visible in the interior 
is 8' 6", but on the exterior the height is inconsiderable. The width 
of the wall at the height of 6' is 13' 6". A scarcement runs round 
the interior at about 5' 8" from the present floor level. Opposite 
the entrance to the broch is the entrance to a chamber through a 
passage measuring 5' 6" in length, and 2' 1" in width. Over the 
lintel at the latter entrance is an opening I ' 9" high by I' 6" wide, 
carried inwards to the chamber above the passage roof. The chamber, 
the roof of which has fallen in, measures ] 3' to 14' in length by 6' 
in width. At 9' 6" to the N. of the entrance to the broch aecess is 
given to the staircase and a chamber opposite it by a passage 9' 8" 
long and 2' 8" wide. The stair rises towards the N.; and the walls 
of the staircase at the base, as well as those of the chamber opposite, 
have converged. There is no chamber entering off the entrance 
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passage. At about 40' out from the entrance is a wall encircling 
the broch, on the inner side of which are signs of numerous secondary 
constructions. Among the objects recovered on excavation were a 
small stone cup, fragments of rude pottery, and an armlet.of shale. 
These are preserved in Dunrobin Museum. 

See Antiqua1'ies, vii. p. 291 ; Pococke, p. 167. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 13th August 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES, EARTH-HoUSES, AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

273. The M01md.-About i m. E. of the Mound Station, in a 
young plantation of larch trees, between the road and the railway, 
is a hut circle. The interior is circular, with a diameter of 35' and 
entrance from the SE. The enclosing bank is some 6' thick, except 
or. either side of the entrance, where it expands to 10'. The breadth 
of the entrance is not obtainable. 

274. Earth-house, Ki1·kton.-About 1t m. ENE. of the Mound 
Station, to the E. of the row of cottages above the wood at Kirkton 
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I 
FIG. 31.-Eal·th-house, Kil'kton (No. 274). 

quarry, is an earth-house. It is 37' in length, cruciform in plan, 
with a chamber opening out of the main gallery on either side. In 
direction it runs NNW. and SSE., following the slope of the hill. 
Access is obtained to it at the N. end down a flight of six or seven 
steps, l' 7" across, from the top of which, for a distance of 3', the 
roof has been removed. The main gallery expands to an extreme 
width of 4' before the side chambers are reached; and beyond 
them, after restriction to 3' 4", again expands to 4' 4" at its widest 
point. The greatest height of the roof is 6'. On the E. side, at 15' 
from the N. extremity of the side wall, is the entrance to a side 
chamber, 3' wide and 7' 1" in length, roofed with slabs 4' 11" in 
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height above the present floor level. The end of the chamber is 
rounded, and t.he walls slightly converge upwards. The wall on the 
N. side of the entrance to this chamber projects about l ' further into 
the main gallery than that on the opposite side. On the W. side of 
the main gallery, at about 14' from the N. entrance, is the entrance to 
another chamber 2' 2" across. This chamber is 7' in length, 3' 5" 
wide at greatest width, and 4' 11" high, with a roof formed of over­
lapping slabs. The wall OIl the S. side of its entrance projects about 
l' 9" further into the main gallery than that on the opposite side. At 
the S.E. extremity, 12' 10" from the S. side of the entrance to the E. 
chamber, a narrow passage leads through a doorway to the exterior. 
On either side of the doorway are projecting jambs, l' 4" apart; that 
on the W. side projecting 7" from the passage wall, and that on the 
E. 3". The width of the passage beyond them is l' 6", and at the 
exterior l' S". The height above present floor level is l' 6" and the 
length 6'. Behind the jambs in the interior, l' 4" from the" roof, are 
square holes for a bar, that on the W. extending l' 10" into the wall, 
and that on the E. l' 5". The walls are neatly built of thin flat 
stones, and the roof is formed of flags. When the earth-house was 
cleared out, there were discovered a small ring of shale, 1" in diameter, 
and a fragment of another of similar dimensions, preserved in the 
Dunrobin Museum. Much food refuse lay on the floor (fig. 31). 

275. Ki1'kton.-On the moor, about ~ m. NW. of the cottages above 
the quarry at Kirkton, is a hut circle of ordinary type, covered with 
vegetation and rather ill-defined. A group of about half a dozen 
small mounds lie adjacent. 

276. Oulmaily.-On the W. side of the Oulmaily burn, about t m. 
NNW. of Culmaily, is a well-preserved hut circle, overgrown with 
brackens. The interior is almost circular, with a diameter of some 
30'. The surrounding bank is 4' 6" across, except on either side of 
the entrance, where it expands to 7'. Its outline on the interior is 
well-defined with large flat-faced boulders set on end at irregular 
intervals. The entrance, which is about l' 10" in width, faces 
the S. Two or three small mounds lie in the immediate vicinity, 
and a short distance to the NW. there are about a dozen more. 

277. Loch Lundie.-About 1 m. up the Oulmaily burn is Loch 
Lundie. On its NE. side, near its E. extremity, and above the road, is 
a hut circle. It measures interiorly 27' X 31', and has the entrance 
from the SE. The surrounding bank appears to be about 8' thick, 
and to be largely formed or turf. The entrance is ill-defined. A few 
sman mounds lie around, and several more are situated on the flank 
of the hill to the eastward. 

Some 40 yards E. is another hut circle, with the bank much levelled, 
having its entrance from the SE. One or two small mounds lie to the ' 
S. of it . . 

Some 300 yards further along the loch side is the site of another 
hut circle, now ill-defined, and near it, and on the hillside above, are 
seven or eight mounds. 

One or two small mounds lie in the whins, just above the culti­
vated land, about t m. W. of Oulmaily. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 16th July 1909. 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 95 

PARISH OF GOLSPIE. 

278. Loch a' Vicair.-To the N. of the Mound Rock, on a level 
stretch of moorland to the W. of Loch a' Vicair, is a large group of 
small mounds. At the "'IV. end of the group are the remains of a hut 
circle. Only a portion of the bank on the W. exists: the rest has 
entirely disappeared. Around it lie numerous small mounds. One 
towards the S., more conspicuous than its neighbours, measures 20' 
in diameter. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. (unnoted). Visited, 19th July 1909. 
279. AbersC1'oss Hill.-At the S. end of Aberscross Hill, at an 

elevation of about 450' above the sea, on the slope above the burn, is 
a hut circle. It measures interiorly 37' 6" X 38' 6". The entrance is 
from the S. The bank has been about 3' 6" thick in the circumfer­
ence, expanding to H' on either side of the entrance. It has been 
faced on the interior with large flat stones, and there is a marked 
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FIG. 32.-Hut Circle, Aberscross Hill (No. 279). 

absence of stones on the outer circumference and in the centre of the 
bank. At 2' 9" from the entrance within the interior, the base of a 
wall, 2' 10" wide, runs towards the back of the enclosure for a distance 
of some 21', where it meets a wall curving round from either side, thus 
dividing the enclosure into three main compartments. Where the 
back compartment was entered from is not apparent. In the com­
partment to the E. of the entrance there are indications of further 
sub division at the S. end, but the details are indefinite (fig. 32). 

Some 50 yards to the E. is another hut circle, but it is much 
dilapidated. A group of mounds lies around. All along the face of 
the hill to the northwards, at about the 500' contour line, are numbers 
of small mounds of the usual character. To the E. of one mound in 
the hollow above the hut circles is a setting of stones, oval in outline, 
measuring interiorly 6' 10" X 3' 8", lying NW. and SE., with three 
large stones lying in the centre. It presents more the appearance of 
a grave than a cairn. The stones are some 8" to 10" across. There 
are remains of a croft not far distant. 

On the W. flank of Aberscross hill is a large group of small mounds. 
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Among them is one, in appearance two mounds joined by a low neck 
about 3' long, lying E. and W. The total length of the construction 
is about 25', the breadth of the mounds is about 12'. 

To the E. of the Aberscross Burn, and almost due E. of the last 
group of mounds to the N. of Abel'scl'osS, is a small hut circle. Its 
interior diameter is about 12'. The entrance is from the NE. The 
features towards the entrance are obscure, but on the E. side of it 
the bank appears to project for about 6' beyond that on the opposite 
side, making the passage some 11' 6" long on the E. side, and about 
5' 6/1 on the other. 

On the top of the cliff, to the S. of Aberscross, is a circular 
enclosure, the outline of which is indefinite. 

About 100 yards distant from the top of the birch wood to the 
E. of Morvich Lodge is a circular enclosure, with an interior diameter 
of about 35' 6/1. The bank is 4' across, and the entrance, which is 
from the NE., is 4' wide. A number of small mounds lie around 
it, one to the K being only 8' distant. 

O.S.M.., SUTH., civ. Visited, 19th July 1909. 
280. Fairlaraich.-On the ridge of a spur that projects from the 

hillside towards the SE. end of Loch na Fuar-laraiche, about 40' above 
the road, is a hut circle abutting on an old wall which runs down the 
hill past the front of the entrance. It measures interiorly 29' X 30'. 
The bank is some 7' thick, and the entrance, which is from the E., is 
3' 6/1 wide. 

Several small mounds lie between the circle and the loch on 
its N. side. Two below the road are rather larger than usual. One 
of them is 24' in diameter, and 2' to 3' high. 

A short distance to the E., on t.he fiat below the road, is a 
mounded construction, evidently a kiln. Several old walls are visible 
along the hill face. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (unnoted). Visited, 3rd August 1909. 
281. Uppat Wood.-In a cleared portion of Uppat Wood, about 

100 yards WNW. of the monument to James Loch, Esq., are the 
ruins of a structure of dry-stone masonry. In form the building is 
oblong, curved at one end, measuring some 54' in length by 15' in 
breadth, with a circular annex of some 19' in diameter adjoining it 
at the curved end. The main axis of the structure lies ESE. and 
WNW., and the entrance is from the former direction through a 
passage 14' in length and 3' 6/1 in width, the left Ride of which is 
formed by the wall of the circular annex. The walls of the building, 
which have been of massive stones, are from 7' to 8' in thickness, 
and remain to a height of about 3'. Though the side walls of the 
main building are curved, the angles at the WNW. are almost right 
angles. The interior appears to have been lined to some extent with 
thin smooth slabs set on end. The entrance to the circular enclosure 
has been from the SE., but its width is indefinite (fig. 33). 

(0. S. " Brough.") 
282. Do.-Some 200 yards N. of the last is a hut circle of simple 

form, with its entrance from the SE. Its interior dimensions are 
33' X 36'. The enclosing bank is 8' thick. The width of the entrance 
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is indefinite. At the base of an uprooted tree 
disclosed a number of shells of edible molluscs. 
grown with heather. 

on the S. side are 
The whole is over-

a.S.M., SUTH., cvi. Visited, 16th August 1909. 

t 
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FIG. 33.-Hut Enclosure, Uppat Wood (No. 281). 

283. Earth-house, etc., Silve?' Rock.-At the base of the Silver Rock, 
and at its E. end, in a hollow near a number of small mounds, is a 
depression lying E. and W. some 4' deep, measuring 25' X 18', the 
sides of which appear to have been roughly lined with stones. This 
has been a partially subterraneous structure. 

a.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 16th August 1909. 
284. Ea1,th-house, Beinn a'Bhragie.-Situated on Beinn a' Bhragie, 

to the SE. of the monument, and about lOO' below it, just above an 
open space inside the wood, is an earth-house. It is narrow at the 
entrance, and continues so for about 6', and thereafter it expands to 
about 4' in width and 5' in height. It is almost straight, and is 
some 40' in length, though only about one half of it remains entire.* 

a.S.M., SUTH., cv. (unnoted). 

SEPULCHRAL OONSTRUCTIONS. 

285. Caim, Kirkton.-Some 30 yards N. of the hut circle (No. 275) 
situated about } m. NW. of the cottages above the quarry at Kirkton 
is a cairn, elliptical in outline, measuring some 60' X 38', with its 

* Particulars furnished by Rev. J. M. JoasB, LL.D., Golspie . . 7 
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longest axis ENE. and WSW. Some 40' from the N. end, and 18' 
from the E. side, is a stone cist, formed of four large slabs, the covering 
slab being amissing. It lies in the direction of the main axis of the 
cairn, and is interiorly 3' 5/1 long by 3' 1/1 broad. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 16th July 1909. 
286. Cairn, Aberscross.-About 1 m. NW. of the Mound Station, 

on the top of the bank above the road to the W. of the burn at 
Aberscross, are the remains of a large cairn. The interior of it has 
been entirely removed at no distant date, and no trace of the chamber 
or cist remains. It has been of somewhat unusual form, apparently 
having had a single projecting horn towards the NNW. The outline 
of the cairn, as well as of the projection, has been marked with large 
boulders from 2' to 3' in length and 1t' to 2' in height, many of which 
still remain in situ. The diameter from E. to W. has been about 80' 
and from N. to S. 78', while from NNE. to SSW. along the projection 
it is 95'. The displacement of the stones on the S. render the details 
in that direction obscure. 

287. Cait'ns, do.-Towards the upper part of the hill, about! m. 
E. of Morvich Lodge, is a ruined cairn, in the centre of which a 
very small cist, formed of flat-sided stones, is exposed. Its longest 
axis lies NE. and SW. The SW. end is displaced. The apparent 
length has been about 2' 6/1, and the breadth l' 5/1. There are single 
slabs at the NE. and NW. sides and two on the SE. side. The 
diameter of the cairn has been about 31'. It is now quite low in 
elevation. 

Some 50 yards to the S. is anot.her cairn, the circumference of 
which has been marked with large boulders. The diameter has been 
about 25'. An excavation has been made in the centre, and a built 
polygonal cist, measuring some 2' 10/1 either way, has been exposed. 
The cairn is quite low. 

On the higher ground to the N. of the cairns lie a number of 
small mounds of the usual character. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 19th July 1909. 

288. Cait""" do.-At the upper side of the plateau to the N. of 
the Mound Rock, about 100 yards SW. of the hillock that rises at 
the N. end of it, is a cairn. Its outline has been carefully defined with 
large contiguous boulders from 2' to 3' in length and as much as 2' 
in height. On the N. these boulders are awanting, but they appear 
to have been used in the construction of a small enclosure abutting 
on the cairn at that point. The cairn is circular, with a diameter 
of about 35'. It has been excavated for about l' of its depth, but 
neither cist nor chamber has been exposed. It is some 4' in height. 

O.S.M., SUTH. cv. (unnoted). Visited, 19th July 1909. 
289. Chambe1'ed Caim (nmains oj), Benbhmggie Wood.-At the 

SE. corner of Benbhraggie Wood, about i m. NE. of Rhives, is the 
denuded chamber of a cairn. The. cairn has been entirely demolished, 
but there are indications that it had a diameter across the chamber 
of about 60'. From its situation on a slight elevation it was pre­
sumably circular. The chamber has been tripartite. The inner com­
partment .has measured 6' 6" in length by about 9' 6" in width, and 
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the middle one 6' 3" by about 7.'. Of the outer compartment only 
one slab remains, that on the E. side, which is 4' 6" in length. Of 
the inner compartment the slab at the back, which is 4' 10" high and 
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FIG. 34.-Chambered Cairn, Benbhraggie Wood (No. 289). 

about I ' thick, and the two side sl~bs, 3' 8" and 4' high respectively, 
remain, as also one of the partition stones on the SE. side, which 
is 2' high and 4' 9" long. Of the middle compartment the slab on 
the SW. side, which is only 2' high above ground, and the partition 
stones between it and the outer chamber, which are about 3' high, 
2' 7" and 3' 6/1 long, and 2' apart, are in situ. The main axis of the 
chamber is ESE. and WNW. The entrance has been from the ESE. 
The slabs of the inner compartment are higher than the others. 
A large tree is growing in the centre of this part of the chamber, 
which, if allowed to remain, in time is likely to destroy it (fig. 34) 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 13th August 1909. 
290. Stone Cist, DUn1·obin.-In the grounds of Dunrobin Castle, 

and some 30 to 40 yards W. of the monument to the Duchess of 
Sutherland, on the top of a gravelly knoll, about 2' 2/1 below the 
surface, is a stone cist, the E. end of which has been removed. It lies 
with its longest axis E. and W., and is formed of three slabs and a 
cover. The internal dimensions are 4' long, 2' 4/1 wide, and 2' 3" high. 
An urn of the drinking-cup class found .in it is preserved in Dunrobin 
Museum. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 17th July 1909. 
291. Stone Circle, Abe1'SlJro~s. -About ~ m. NW. of the Mound 

Station, and about 30 yards above the road, are the remains of a stone 
circle. Three stones are standing, two are prostrate, and one is awant­
ing. The diameter of the circle has been about 22'. The stones 
are set with their broad faces in line of the circumference. The 
highest stone is about 6' high, 6' 6" acrose base, and I ' thick. A 
trench was cu~ through the circle in 1867. In the centre there 
was discovered a cremated interment, and beneath it a cist which 
contained no remains. • 

See Antiquaries, vii. p. 473 (plan and illus.). 
O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited , 19th July 1909. 
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MISCELLANEOUS. 

292. SC1blptu1'ed Stone, D1bn1·obin.-Standing at the side of the 
walk which runs along the top of ihe banks through the wood to the 
E. of Dunrobin Castle is a stone, sculptured with incised symbols. It 
is 6' 2" in height above ground, 2' 4" broad at base, tapering slightly 
to the upper end, and is about I' 3" thick. On its S. face is cut a 
crescent 3' 2" between the points and I' 2" across, bearing in its 
centre a figure formed of an oval 4f' X 3~" having a small circle of 
3~" diameter at either end of it. A V-shaped rod symbol passes 
beneath the crescent, of which the end of the lower arm terminates 
in a sceptre, while the head of the upper arm is lanceolate. At the 
upper end of the stone is a symbol, probably the so-called" tuning­
fork," and at the base another not easily identified, but which has 
been interpreted as a variety of the flower symbol. 

Sculpt1b1'ed Stones, Dtbn1'obin M1bSeu?n. - In the Museum at 
Dunrobin are a number of sculptured stones removed from various 
sites in the county, illustrated and described in detail in The Eady 
Ohristian Monuments of Scotland, part ii. pp. 38-54, and inventoried 
below, Nos. 293 to 300 :-

293. F1'01n Olyneki1'kton, 3 Stones.-(I) A slab of red sandstone, 
of irregular outline, discovered in 1855, measuring 4' 3" in length, 
I' 11" in width at the top, and I' 7" at the bottom, by 4~" in 
thickness. It has sculptured on one face, at the top, with incised 
lines, the crescent and V-shaped rod symbol, and below it the 
rectangular symbol, both ornamented with patterns formed of curved 
and straight lines. 

(2) A slab of sandstone, approximately rectangular, found in 
Clyne churchyard in 1868, but said to have been taken by a crofter 
from the 300' terrace on Clynemilton Farm. It measures 4' in length, 
I' 5" in width, and 2~" in thickness. There is sculptured, with incised 
lines on one face, at the top, the rectangular symbol; below this the 
crescent and V-shaped rod symbol, and at the bottom the mirror 
symbol. 

(3) The head of a rectangular cross-slab, with rounded top, of 
purple sandstone. This stone was found in 1877, built into the E. 
gable of Clyne Church. It measures I ' in height, I' I" in width, 
and 3~" in thickness, and has sculptured in relief on one side a 
cross, with square ends to the arms and square stepped hollows in 
the angles between the arms, ornamented with spiral work, and 
showing a fragment of key pattern in the background. 

294. Fro?n Olynemilton, 2 Stones.-(I) A slab of sandstone, of 
irregular six-sided shape, broken across, found prior to 1860 near 
Dalchalluim, It measures 3' 6" in height, 3' 6" in width, and 4!' 
in thickness, having sculptured, with incised lines on one face, at the 
top, in the centre, the horse-shoe symbol, below this the crescent 
and V-shaped rod symbol, and to the left of it the mirror symbol 
without the comb. The horse-shoe and crescent are ornamented 
with curved and spiral lines. 

(2) A slab of sandstone, of irregular six-sided shape, broken at 
the top. It measures 3' 2" in height, 2' 11" in width, and 8" in 
thickness/ and has sculptured, with incised lines on one face, at the 
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top, on the left, the rectangle and Z-shaped rod symbol, and on the 
right the mirror and comb symbol. 

295. F1'O?n Craigton. -A rectangular slab of purple sandstone. 
It was formerly used as a tombstone in the graveyard at Craigton, 
and was thereafter removed to the churchyard of Golspie, whence it 
was taken to the Museum at Dunrobin in 1868. The stone measures 
6' in height, 2' 8" in width at the bottom, and 2' at the top, and is 6" 
in thickness. It is sculptured partly in relief and partly with incised 
lines on four faces, and is inscribed with oghams on two angles. The 
sculpturing consists of a cross, with circular hollows in the angles 
between the arms, having interlaced and spiral work on the front 
face, with an ornamented background divided into panels containing 
interlaced work. On the back the rectangular," elephant," serpent, 
rod and disc, and other symbols, a man holding an axe in one hand 
and a knife in the other, a beast with its tail curled over its back, 
and the fish, flower, and crescent. The symbols are ornamented with 
patterns composed of spirals and straight lines. On the right and 
left sides is a spiral border pattern, composed of one row of double 
spirals connected with S-shaped curves. On a roll moulding is 
an ogham inscription, commencing at the bottom, reading along the 
vertical edge, and continuing along the top edge. 

296. F1'om Golspie.-A sculptured stone, which was found in 1854 
about i m. E. of Dunrobin Castle. It was one of three stones 
(the other two plain) covering a grave containing two skeletons of 
adult men and a portion of the socket of an iron spearhead. The 
sculptured stone, which is of sandstone of irregular oval shape, was 
over the heads of the skeletons. It measures 3' 8" in length, I' 11" 
in width, and 5" in thickness, and has the following symbols 
sculptured on the smooth surface of one face in finely incised lines­
a fish, "tuning-fork," and mirror and comb. 

297. From Kintmdwell, 4 Stones.-(l) A slab of sandstone, of 
irregular shape, found in 1864 some 100 yards W. of the Cinn 
Trolla broch (No. 467). The stone, which measures 3' 2" in length, 
I' 1" in width, and 31" in thickness, has sculptured, with incised 
lines across one face near the top, the S-shaped symbol, and below it 
the mirror case symbol-the former ornamented with curved lines 
and the latter with concentric circles. 

(2) A slab of iron-coloured sandstone, of irregular triangular 
shape, found in 1873 about i m. NE. of the Cinn Trolla broch, close 
to the railway on the S. side, which measures 2' 9" in length, I' 3" in 
width, and 4" in thickness. Sculptured, with incised lines on one 
face, are the S-shaped symbol, ornamented with straight and curved 
lines, with semicircular hollow in the end of the S, and below it a 
disc, supposed to be either the mirror or the triple-disc symbol. 

(3) A slab of red sandstone, of irregular oval shape, found in 
1872 on Kintradwell beach, in the same place as the last. It 
measures 3' 8" in length, 2' 2" in width, and 3r' in thickness, and 
has sculptured, with incised lines on one face, and placed side by 
side, the crescent, ornamented with curved lines and V-shaped rod 
symbol, towards the left, and the mirror and comb symbol towards 
the right. 
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(4) A fragment of sandstone, of irregular shape, found, in 1873, 
in the same place as the two last mentioned stones. It measures 
l' 6" in length, l' in width, and 2" in thickness, and has sculptured, 
with incised lines on one face, four parallel straight lines, two of 
which are closed at one end; probably forming part of the" tuning­
fork" symbol. 

298. From Little Fe1'1'Y, 4 Stones.-(l) A fragment of sandstone, 
of approximately square shape, found, in 1872, 3t m.W. of Golspie, 
on the S. side of Ferry Road, on a bare gravelly fiat. It measures 
7 f' in length, n" in width, and 4f' in thickness, and is sculptured, 
with incised lines on one face, with two straight parallel lines and 
two others terminating in spiral curves in the centre, probably 
forming part of the rectangular symbol. 

(2) A fragment of sandstone, of irregular shape, found in 1874 
near the same place as the last. It measures l' 5" in length, 
11" in width, . and 3" in thickness, and is sculptured on one face 
at the top, in incised lines, with the crescent symbol, without the 
V-shaped rod, or perhaps the horse-shoe symbol, and below this the 
termination of either a V-shaped or Z-shaped rod (the rest of the 
figure being broken off), and, to the right, part of a second crescent. 

(3) A fragment of red sandstone, of irregular five-sided shape, 
found in 1872 near the same place. It measures 6" in length, 6" in 
width, and 2!" in thickness, and has sculptured on one face, with 
incised lines, two concentric circles and portions of three curved lines 
branching from the outer circle; probably forming the middle part 
of the mirror symbol or the double disc symbol. 

(4) A fragment of red sandstone, of irregular shape, found in 
1880, about 2 m. W. of Golspie, on the same line of links as the 
others. It measures l' in length, 8" in width, and 3f'in thickness, 
having sculptured on one face, with incised lines, the termination of 
a V -shaped rod and part of a crescent symbol. The ornamental 
termination of the V-shaped rod on this stone is remarkable for the 
beauty of its design. 

299. FTom OolliebuTn, Kintmdwell.-A sculptured stone found in 
1869 during the railway excavations near Collieburn erect in situ 
under 7' of sand. It is the lower part of an upright cross slab of 
yellow sandstone, measuring 5' 2" in height, 2' 2!" in width at the 
bottom, and 2' 5f' at the top, by 9!" in thickness at the bottom, and 
11" at the top, sculptured in relief on two faces, thus :-F1'ont-The 
lower part plain, except where a swastica cross (of) is carved near 
the bottom. Above this a single panel, containing two different 
kinds of ornament-(a) at the bottom circular double-headed knot­
work, (b) at the top a key pattern. Back-Bottom part plain, and 
over it a portion of . a panel containing circular double-headed knot­
work. On both faces the spaces are filled in with small circular 
pellets or bosses. The slab appears to have been re-used to form the 
jamb of a door or for some such secondary purpose. 

300. F1'om Lothbeg.-A sculptured stone, which was found in 1869 
during the construction of Lothbeg railway cutting. It is a portion 
of an upright cross slab of purple sandstone, measuring l' 7" in 
length, 1'in width, and 5f' in thickness, sculptured in relief on three 
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fa.ces, thus :-F1'ont-The left arm of a cross, with circular hollows 
between the arms, ornamented with interlaced work, with traces of 
interlaced work on the background. Bacle-The right arm of a cross, 
with square stepped hollows in the angles between the arms, and a 
circular ring connecting them. The arm is ornamented with a key 
pattern, the circular ring with a sort of cable, and the background 
with interlaced work. Left side-Triangular interlaced work. 

301. Cup-marked Stone, DUn1'obin Museum.-Preserved in the 
museum is an irregularly shaped slab of sandstone, measuring some 
l ' 7/1 X I' 4/1, on which appear three well-defined cup-markings and 
one less distinct, with a diameter of about 2", showing numerous 
distinct tool-marks, and a number of smaller depressions about f 
in diameter. On the left of the stone as it stands in the museum 
is a small group formed of one small central marking about f' in 
diameter, surrounded by six equidistant and almost contiguous 
marks, each of a similar diameter. The whole figure measures I t" 
across. The stone was found at U ppat. 

302. Caves, Strath Steven Cove.-About 2 m. along the coast S. of 
Brora, in the face of a sandstone cliff at the northern end of a small 
bay known as Strath Steven Cove, is a cave. Its entrance is some 
25' above the base of the cliff, easily accessible by steps cut in the 
rock. The cave faces to the S., and measures some 18' across the 
opening by 15' deep. In the back wall two wide apertures give 
access to another chamber at a higher level. In the interior the 
rock has been cut out so as to form benches and seats, and the walls 
bear marks of tools over a great part of their surface. It has been 
excavated, and half an amber bead was found in it. 

Some 40 yards S. along the cliff, at the same level, is another 
cave of smaller dimensions and less accessible. 

See Antiqua1'ies, vii. p. 292; Pennant (1769), p. 191; Pococke, 
p.166. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cvi. Visited, 16th August 1909. 
303. Cave, Backies.-Towards the top of the Cagar Feosaig, to the 

NNE. of the broch at Backies, and at the head of a gully which runs 
in a northeasterly direction, is a cave which shows evidence of 
human habitation, It is approached by a flight of laid steps. A lofty 
gallery, some 3' to 4' wide, runs inwards for a distance of about 20', 
where a narrow passage turns sharply to the right and passes into 
the hill for an indefinite distance. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 13th August 1909. 

SITES. 

304. Chapel (s.) and Gmveya1'd, Ki1'kton.-To the W. of Kirkton 
farm-house, in a wood between the road and the steading, is a neglected 
graveyard. The farm-house is said to be built on the site of the 
Chapel dedicated to St Carden. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 16th July 1909. 
305. Golspie Towe?'. - A few stones in front of a cottage at 

Golspie Tower Farm mark the site of Golspie Tower. 
O.S.M., SUTH., cv. Visited, 13th August 1909. 
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CASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

306. Helmsdale Castle.-The ruins of 'Helmsdale Castle occupy a 
most commanding position on the end of a steep bank at the S. side 
of the mouth of the Helmsdale River, opposite the harbour of Helms­
dale. The structure was evidently of the L form, with a circular 
staircase in the angle, but is now a mere shell. The ruin stands to 
a height of some 24'. The castle is said to have been erected in 
1488 by the seventh Countess of Sutherland, and to have been rebuilt 
and repaired by Sir Alexander Gordon of Navidale in 1616. A 
lintel from the castle, preserved in the Dunrobin Museum, bears the 
following inscription :-

"Si sapiens fore vis, sex serva qUal tibi mando 
Quid dices, et de quo, ubi, cui, quomodo, quando." 

See Cast. and Dam. Arch., v. pp. 294 (plan); Gordon, pp. 8,79; 
Sutherland and the Reay Country, pp. 45 (illus.) and 113. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xc. Visited, 10th August 1909. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

307. Broch, Kilphedi1·.-About t m. NW. of Salscraggie Lodge, 
situated on a hillock which rises on the slope of the hill, and at an 
elevation of about 450' above sea level, is the broch of Kilphedir. 

FIG. 35.-Broch, Kilphedir (No. 307). 

The top of the hillock measures some 220' X 132' (O.S.), and the 
broch stands near the centre of it, towards the N. end. The broch 
has an interior diameter of 32' from NW. to SE. and 33' from 
SW. to NE. The entrance is from the NW. through a passage 
15' 6/1 long, 3' wide at the exterior, and 4' 10/1 on the interior. At 
10' inwards is a rebate of 6" on either side, forming door checks. 
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The outer covering slab, and two others at 6' from the outside, alone 
remain in position. The passage is full of debris, and no entrance to 
a guard chamber is visible. From the interior, directly opposite the 
entrance, a passage 4' long and 2' wide by 4' 2" high leads into a 
chamber which opens to the left. The chamber is filled with debris, 
but as far as visible is 5' 6" in length and 2' 7" in width. Opposite 
it, to the right, the staircase rises southwards for a distance of about 
15' between walls about 2' 6" apart. The steps are entirely covered 
with debris. The greatest height of wall in the interior is 7' 3", 
while the average height all round is not much less. The width of 
the wall at this level is about 12' 6". The greatest height of wall 
visible on the exterior above the ruins is 4' 6". The broch occupies 
a most commanding position, which has been strengthened by 
fortifications. The base of the hillock is encircled by a ditch some 
23' wide and 9' deep below the top of the counterscarp, on the crest 
of which, from the NW. end round to the R, is a rampart, some 14' 
thick at base. At the N., on the E. of the entrance, a short outer 
ditch runs parallel with the inner one for a distance of about 20', and 
is some 22' wide and 6' deep. Some 50' from the extremity of the 
ditch, on the W. side of the entrance, a small oval enclosure, measuring 
interiorly about 17' X 12', is contained in the rampart. On the N. 
the hillock is about 20' in height, and about half way down the scarp 
there is cut a platform some 6' broad, with a parapet on the outside. 
Towards the S. and SW. the ground falls sharply away towards the 
strath, and the defences in these directions are less prominent. The 
circle of the ditch is broken on the N. by the approach which 
passes between its open ends, and is flanked by a mound between 
the ditch and broch on the W. side (fig. 35 and PI. Ill.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 27th August 1909. 

308. Brooh, Suisgill.-About i m. above where the Suisgill Burn 
enters the Helmsdale River, on the N. side of the strath, is situated 
the Suisgill broch. It occupies the summit of a mound some 3~' in 
elevation above the river and sloping steeply towards it. Away from 
the river bank on the E. and W. sides it has been protected by a 
ditch, with a wall on the top of the scarp. This wall is about 18' 
distant from tht) broch, except towards the river, where it is less. 
On the S. an approach passes through the defences to the top of the 
mound. To the R of the approach an outer mound, some 12' broad 
on base, runs for a short distance parallel with the main defence 
at about 28' distant from the top of the counterscarp. The ditch is 
about 34' in width, and at deepest 8' to ID' in present depth. Of the 
broch itself little remains. It is greatly dilapidated, and a consider­
able portion of the N. wall has quite recently been removed. The 
interior diameter has been 40', the wall on the N. 15' thick, and on 
the S. or river side only 12'. The remains of a chamber are visible 
on the S. Very slight remains of the wall faces exist on either 
exterior or interior, and the entrance is not apparent. The outer 
defences bear a close resemblance to those of the neighbouring broch 
of Kilphedir. It is noteworthy that the structure is placed at a 
narrow part of the strath, in the centre of the pass. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. Visited, 16th September 1909. 
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309. BToch, Eld1·able.-On the W. bank of the Eldrable Burn, 
some 200' up from the Helmsdale River, are the remains of a broch. 
The ruin stands on the upper end of a ridge running down to the 
strath, protected by the gorge of the burn on the E. and by a natural 
hollow separating it from the shelving side of the hill on the W. 
The interior is a mass of debris, and in no place is the wall visible for 
a greater height than 3', except at the back of the entrance to the 
stair, where about 5' of walling remains exposed. The interior 
diameter has been about 25', and the thickness of the wall 12'. 
The greatest height of wall visible to the exterior is about 6'. 
The entrance has been from the ENE., opposite the burn, and has 
been 4' wide near the exterior. Elsewhere it is not measurable. 
Some 13' 6/1 along the inner face of the wall to the southwards is the 
entrance to the stair through a passage about 3' in length, but now 
of uncertain width. There has been no chamber adjoining the stair, 
which rises to the right, directly from the end of the passage. Four 
steps are visible, 2' long and 9" broad. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 21st September 1909. 

310. B1'och, Kilou1·nan.-On a knoll beside the burn at Kilournan 
has stood a broch, now entirely demolished. Only a few structure less 
heaps of small stones remain. . 

31l. B1'och, Gylable Burn.-On the E. side of the Gylable Burn, 
about t m. above its junction with the Helmsdale River, are the 
remains of a broch, now a complete ruin, with only the base of the 
wall visible. The interior diameter has been 31', and the thickness 
of the wall 16'. No further details are observable. There are no 
remains of outworks. 

312. B1'och, A.Ut a' Ohoi1'e Mhoir.-On the W. bank of the Allt 
a' Choire Mhoir, rather more than t m. above its junction with the 
Helmsdale River, and about 40' to 50' above the burn, are the ruins of 
a broch, No portion of the inside of the wall is discernible, and only 
here and there the lowest course of the outer face. The diameter 
over all has been about 58'. The entrance appears to have been 
from the S., and inwards on the left of it are indications of a 
chamber. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 20th September 1909. 

313. B1'och, A.Ut an D-uin.-The broch which was situated between 
. the Allt an Duin and the River Frithe, on the top of the bank over­
looking the low meadows by the river, has been almost entirely 
removed for building purposes. The site was protected on the W. by 
a ditch 24' across, running to the edge of the bank, with a parallel 
rampart beyond it. 

314. Broch, lle?'anach.-Some 2 m. above the confluence of the 
Frithe and Helmsdale rivers, and about 100' above the former, are 
the remains of Feranach broch. The wall of the broch remains on 
the exterior to a height of 7' to 8', and though on the interior it is 
nowhere visible for more than 7' above the ruins, it no doubt exists 
for 4' or 5' more. The entrance is from the W., through a passage 
15' 6" in length. At the exterior it is 2' 6" wide. 5' 6" inwards is 
a rebate for a door, behind which the passage widens to 3' 11". At 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 107 

PARISH OF KILDONAN. 

3' 6" from the interior it again slightly contracts to 3' 6", and retains 
that width to the end. Five of the lintel stones remain in sit~~. The 
greatest height of the passage above the debris is 3' 6". The interior 
diameter of the broch is 36'. The thickness of the wall at base is 
IS' 6", and at 7' 6" elevation 11' 6". There are remains of no less 
than six chambers in the wall. On the right of the passage is the 
ruined entrance to a guard chamber, the access to which was through 

U a passage some 4' in length. The chamber measured some 6' x 5'. 
At 7' 6" from the back of this chamber, measuring along the wall, is 
the W. end of another chamber, 14' 6" long by 4' wide. The entrance 
to it is obscured by the ruins. At 6' beyond it is a third chamber, 
15' 6" long by 4' 6" wide, the entrance to which also is not visible, 

~tt#ff6tttt+O ____ ~~ ____ ~~_o __ --+!or~ 
11111111111 I I t 
FIG. 36.-Broch, Feranach (No. 314). 

and 7' of wall divides this chamber from a fourth, which is 13' long 
(i:£, and 3' 6" wide. Another 7' of wall divides the fourth from the 

chamber which has apparently contained the stair. It is 36' long 
",>/-". l.'v and 4' 6" wide, and is entered through a passage, 2' distant from its 

W. end, measuring 5' in length and 4' in width. At 4' 6" westward 
~ is a sixth chamber, 18' 6" long and 4' wide. The entrance' to it is 

visible at 7' 6" from the E. end, and is 3' 9" long by 2' 8" wide. 
Over this entrance is an opening on the courtyard, I ' 6" wide and 
2' 6" long, to light the chamber. The interior of the broch and of 
the chambers (which are all roofiess) are full of debris. Around the 
hroch there are no signs of outworks, nor are there any mounds visible 
in the immediate vicinity (fig. 36). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvi. Visited, 17th September 1909. 

315. Brook (supposed), Learable.-About k m. NW. of Suisgill 
Lodge, and some 20 yards NE. of the large cup-marked stone 
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(N o. 383), are the remains of a circular enclosure, 78' in diameter 
over all, much dilapidated. The building has been so much pillaged, 
and is so overgrown with grass and heather, that its true character 
is indefinite. The wall seems to have been about 19' thick, and the 
entrance from the SE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 17th August 1909. 

316. Hill F01"t, Ben GTiam Beg.-Ben Griam Beg rises to a height 
of 1903', and strategically commands the approaches from the N. 
and E. coasts by Strath Halladale and Strath Helmsdale, as well as 
affording a prospect over a great area of country to the W., N., and E. 
To the southward the view is interrupted by Ben Griam More. The 
upper part of the hill is rugged, with remains of old red sandstone in 
out-cropping rock and detached slabs which have formed abundant 
material for fortification. Two main lines of defence fortify the 
summit. Approaching from the S., between the 1500' and 1600' 
elevations, a solid stone wall, some 5' thick, and in places still as 
much in height, runs down from the summit at the SE., and is carried 
westward along the edge of the shoulder of the hill for what appears 
to be a distance of some 500 yards, terminating at the edge of a 
mossy hollow, beyond which a precipitous rocky face (Oreagan Iolaire) 
forms a natural defence to the W. Through the wall near the centre 
of its course is a gap, which has probably been an entrance. In rear 
of it, to the E., in the interior, is a circular depression. The absence 
of the wall across the short stretch of wet peat that fills the hollow 
at the W. end is not remarkable, as there would be a difficulty in 
obtaining a firm foundation on such material. A wooden palisade 
may have been used as a substitute. To t.he E. of the centre of the 
course of this wall there is a space of about 150 yards, over which 
there is an almost complete absence of stone on the hillside and 
where only the foundation of the wall is apparent. On the slopes 
below it, except at the gap mentioned, there is a perfect network of 
ruined walls or piled stones enclosing irregular spaces and forming an 
outer defence. At the W. end of the hill, above the mossy hollow, 
and passing round towards the N., the same system of defence is 
repeated, but at a higher level than on the S. face. Between the 
lower edge of this defence at its S. end and the wall along the edge 
of the shoulder, an open space is left, varying from 20 to 60 yards or 
thereby in width. Around the more or less level portion of the 
summit, towards the W., runs another wall, 4' to 5' thick, and at 
highest some 3' high, forming an enclosure, sub-oval in outline, about 
500' in . length by 200' in breadth (O.S. measurements). A break 
in the upper wall, just below the summit on the N. side, 6' wide, seems 
to have been an entrance. This wall appears to terminate to the 
W. of the actual summit, which is a rocky peak. Beyond the peak, 
some 40' distant, are visible the remains of another wall flanking the 
intervening space on the E. and running for a short distance (about 
50') westward. Some 100' below this appears a network of ruined 
walls, from which starts the wall first described running along the 
shoulder. The NE. flank of the hill is precipitous, and the N. is also 
very steep. The actual top of the hill within the upper enclosure is 
wind-swept and barren, with little vegetation on it. There is no 
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spring of water visible in the fort, but there are several on the hillside 
just below it. 

Lying among the ruins of the lower wall, roughly 150' below the 
summit, at the extreme E. end, is a round mill-stone of the native 
sandstone, broken in halves. It is 4' in diameter, 5/1 thick, and is 
pierced in the centre, with a hole 5' in diameter. To lessen the 
amount of piercing the stone has been previously flaked towards the 
centre in a circle of I' 7/1 diameter, reducing the thickness to 2/1. 
N either face of the stone is worn regularly smooth by friction, but 
there are depressions across the line of its revolution. Two other 
similar mill-stones are said to have lain on the slopes of the hill 
below the fortifications. One of them has now been rolled to the 
bottom. 

See Vertebrate Fa~ma of Suth., etc., p. 87. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xlvi. Visited, 18th Sept. 1909. 

HUT OIRCLES, EARTH-HOUSES, AND ASSOCIATED OONSTRUCTIONS. 

317. Oaen Burn.-About k m. up the glen of the Oaen Burn, 011 

its W. side, and some 250 yards above the long cairn (No. 358), on 
a marshy spot, with no trace of cultivation anywhere in the vicinity, 
are two parallel mounds, about 18' apart, 22' long by 14' broad, and 
4' high, slightly converging to one end. This construction appears 
to have been a kiln similar to those noted elsewhere. 

There are numerous small mounds of the usual type scattered 
along the side of the glen. 

318. Do.-Some 1000 yards above the road bridge over the 
Oaen Burn, on the W. side of the glen, and some 200' above the 
burn, is a hut circle. It enters from the SE. through a passage 
12' 6/1 long and about 3' wide. The main enclosure is circular, with 
a diameter of 37', surrounded by a bank about 4' thick, increasing 
towards the entrance. The interior has been diminished by a wall 
or bank from 2' to 4' thick, running in a curve from either side at 
a distance of 24' 6/1 from the centre of the entrance. The crescentic 
space left between the back of this wall and the outer bank is at 
a slightly higher level than the interior. Against the inside of this 
wall there appears to have been another small oval enclosure, 
measuring interiorly some 16' X 7', directly opposite the main 
entrance. The W. half of the main enclosure is at a slightly lower 
level than the rest of the interior. The outer bank terminates 
abruptly on the NW. At 7' E. of the entrance, in the interior, is 
the entrance to an underground gallery under the bank, which at this 
point is 7' thick. The entrance is 2' wide and 4' high, and is reached 
by two or three steps. It is covered by a lintel 3' 4/1 long, I' deep, 
and I' 2/1 wide. The passage at first slopes downwards, and runs 
inwards in a direction about 70° E. of S. for 6', then turning southwards 
to the right, at 13' 6/1 from the exterior, it takes a southerly direction 
which it ma.intains to the end. The total length of the passage is 
26', measurmg along the curve of the S. wall. At 12' from the 
entrance it is 2' 9/1 wide; at 17' there is a slight intake on the E. 
wall, contracting the passage to 2' 6/1. At 21' it expands to 2' 10/1 
and gradually widens to the back, where it measures 3' 6/1 across: 
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and is 4' 10" high. The whole of the floor of the passage is covered 
with boulders to within about 2' 8" of the roof, except for a few feet at 
the entrance and at the end where a few stones have been picked 
out so as to expose the original floor level. The walls are as usual 
built, and the roof covered with flags. Between the entrance to the 
circle on the interior and the opening into the underground passage 
a low bank runs for 7' into the enclosure. From the E. side of the 
entrance passage to the circle a wall has run down the hill in front. 
It is noteworthy that the external features of the circle give no 
indication of the existence of the underground gallery (fig. 37). 

Some 200 yards SSW. of the last circle is another hut circle, 
with an interior diameter of 24', entering from the SE. through 
a passage 14' long and 5' wide. The enclosing bank is about 7', 

t 

FIG. 37.-Hut Circle, Cacn Burn (No. 318). 

except for 16' on each side of the entrance, through which it gradually 
increases to form the passage. 

About 100 yards NNE. of the first enclosure is another, which 
is circular, with a diameter of 31' interiorly. Its enclosing bank 
is about 8' wide, and the entrance is from the SE., about 5' across. 
An old wall runs off from the bank on the E. of the entrance. 

Numerous small mounds lie around these enclosures. 
319. Do.-On the opposite or E. side of the Oaen Burn are also a 

number of hut circles and small mounds. 
Some 700 yards distant from the road, and about lOO' above it, 

is a circular enclosure which has been surrounded with a stone wall. 
There has been an entrance from the SE. through a passage about 2' 
wide and 10' long, the wall in the circumference being about 6' thick. 
The interior dimensions are some 22' x 24'. The upper side of the 
enclosure has been dug out of the slope of the hillside, and the wall 
built against the bank. From the left or S. side of the entrance an 
old bank runs down the hill, and :;mother joins the W. side from the 
direction of the burn. There are indications of chambers in the 
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interior, but they are too indistinct to plan from superficial 
observation. 

320. Do.-Some 100 yards lower down the glen are two circular 
enclosures with wide entrances and no signs of interior divisions, 
and on the hillside above them are remains of one or two others and 
of old walls. 

The lower of the two circles has an interior diameter of about 
34'. It enters from the S. through a passage 9' to 10' long and 
some 5' wide. The interior is levelled and dug out of the hillside 
on the R, where it is about 7' below the top of the bank'. The bank 
on the W. side is about 6' thick, and on the top of the slope on the 
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FIG. 38.-Hut Circle, Caen Burn (No. 320). 

R, where it has apparently got spread out, it is 18' across. It is 
continued of great thickness to the entrance, beyond which it projects. 
On the face of the projection is a semicircular recess, measuring about 
8' x 12' (fig. 38). 

321. Do.-Some 30' S. of the W. end of the long cairn on the 
Oaen Burn (No. 356) is a small round mound, presenting a depres­
sion in the centre. The diameter is about 22'. It is overgrown with 
heather. 

Some 15' W. of it are the remains of a small oval enclosure, 
measuring interiorly 15' X 9', surrounded by a bank about 2' 6" thick. 
The entrance to it is uncertain. 

322. Salscraggie.-About 700 yarde W. of the Oaen Burn and 100 
yards above the Salscraggie road, is a group of four or five mounds, 
small and inconspicuous. . 
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Situated about 100 yards to the W. of the long cairn near 
Salscraggie (No. 357) are two small enclosures, overgrown with 
heather. That nearest, the cairn is oval, measuring interiorly about 
10' X 6'. Its longest axis lies N. and S., and the entrance, which is 
about 4' wide, is from the SE. The enclosing bank is about 3' 6/1 wide, 
and on the E. side of the entrance is carried forward for a distance 
of about 7'. The details of the other construction are less distinct. 

323. Do.-About t m. E. of Salscraggie Lodge, above the road, 
and at the base of the hill, is a group of five or six small mounds 
of ordinary type. Adjacent to them is a hut circle, the inner 
circumference of which has been lined with large stones. The 
interior diameter has been about 21' X 22'; the bank is about 6' 
thick, and the entrance is from the ESE. The interior is overgrown 
with long heather. 

Some 50' W. is another hut circle, overgrown with heather. It 
is circular, with an interior diameter of 33'. The entrance passage is 
9' long and 4' wide, and is from the SE. The bank is about 7' thick, 
and its inner face does not appear to be lined with stones. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 10th Augijst 1909. 

324. Earth-house, Salscmggie Lodge.-ln the centre of the lawn 
in front of Salscraggie Lodge is an earth-house, the entrance to which 
was discovered when an earthen mound some 25' in diameter and 
6' to 8' in height was being cleared away, possibly the remains of a 

FIG. 39.-Earth-house, Salscraggie Lodge (No. 324). 

hut circle. It is entered down a flight of six steps, 2' wide, curving 
round to the left. At 6' from the top step the covered passage com­
mences, with a width of about 3', and height of 4' 5/1. For the first 
4' 6/1 it curves slightly towards the right, and thereafter runs straight 
from WNW. to ESE. to the end. The extreme length is 22' following 
the curve of the E. wall, and 19' 6/1 on the W. At 10' from the 
back it is 4' 8" high and 3' 2/1 wide. The back is rounded, measuring 
3' 6" in width and 5' 2/1 in height. The sides are built of boulders, 
and the roof flagged. Within the gallery when it was cleared out 
were found a human arm bone, a rotary quern, a portion of another, 
and a saddle quem, all of which, with the exception of the first item, 
are lying around the entrance (fig. 39). 

325. AUt Cille Pheadair.-On the W. bank of the Ant Cille 
Pheadair, about 150 yards SW. of the point of debouchure of the Clais 
Rath Fhinn, and about! m. or thereby N. of the Helmsdale River, 
is a hut circle. The interior, which is circula.r, has a diameter of 32', 
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and is sub-divIded. At 10' in from the entrance a wall about 7' in 
thickness runs for a distance of about 17' towards the back, and there 
bifurcates to the circumference, forming a triangular compartment at 
the back, 16' long by 5' across. The surrounding bank is formed of 
earth and stone, against which there .has been built in the interior, 
except at the back of the triangular compartment where no building 
is visible, a wall of dry masonry, still visible in places for a height 
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FIG. 40.-Mut Circle, AUt CilIe Pheadair (No. 325). 

of some 3'. The division wall also appears to have been entirely of 
stone. The entrance is from the ESE. through a passage 3' 6" wide 
and 15' long. The thickness of wall and bank is 8', except towards 
the entrance, where it expands to 15' on the W. side for some 9' 
or 10', and on the E. for some 6'. Towards the E. the bank is about 
5' high on the exterior. Covering the entrance at 13' distant from 
it is a wall, 6' thick, which runs for a distance of about 98' in a south­
westerly direction, and terminates in a small stony mound of 12' 
diameter. Beyond the mound there are indications of the wall 

8 
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passing to the SW. Westerly of this mound, some 25', is another of 
similar dimensions. Towards the NE. are indications of other walls 
(fig. 40). 

Some 75 yards NE. is another hut circle, measuring interiorly 
33' X 37', entering from the ESE. through a passage 5' wide and 7' 
long. The bank in the circumference is 6' broad. Several small 
mounds lie around. 

Some 60 yards NW. is another circle, of simple form, enterillg 
from the SE. through a passage 5' wide and 9' long. The bank in 
the circumference measures 4'. The interior diameter is 34' x 38'. 
Several small mounds lie near. 

326. Do.-Due E. of the last group on the opposite bank of the 
Allt Oille Pheadair, and above the deep gorge, is a hut circle, lined 
with a stone wall in the interior, having an interior diameter of 23'. 
The entrance is from the SE., and is 5' wide. The. bank appears to 
broaden towards the entrance, but the heather with which it is 
overgrown is deep, and the details are unobtainable. From opposite 
sides of the circle, walls seem to run down the hill. 

327. Do.-Some 30 yards S. of the last is another circle, the 
interior circumference of which is also lined with stone, having an 

FIG, 4l.-Hut Circle, Allt Cille Pheadail' (No. 327). 

interior diameter of 32', It is situated on a slope, and the interior 
at the back has been dug out to form a level floor. The back of the 
circle is formed of a line of boulders about 3' high. It appears to 
have been placed within an oval enclosure, with a bank of turf and 
stone, the 1 ngest diameter of which exceeds that of the circle by 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 115 

PARISH OF KILDONAN. 

some 8' 6". The interspace is filled up probably with ruins. The 
whole interior is overgrown with deep heather. The wall in the 
interior is in places about 3' high. The entrance is from the SE., 
and is about 3' wide, through a passage 16' to 17' in length. The 
outer bank at the back is 6' 6" in width, but at the sides, where it 
coalesces with the inner circle of stone, it is 12' thick. On the left 
or W. side of the entrance it forms a mound, some 6' high to the 
exterior, and at 25' from the outer end of the passage it is some 
26' in thickness At 10' 6" inwards on the left, a passage, 2' wide 
and some 5' 6" in length, passes into a small opening or chamber 
2' to 3' in diameter. The walls of the passage are about 2' high. 
At its inner end is a lintel, 3' 6" in length, lying about 10" above 
the ground level. There is a considerable amount of debris lying 
about the entrance and in the passage and small chamber. The 
thickness and height of the mound suggest the possibility of there 
being an earth-house in it, as in that of the hut circle in the vicinity 
lower down the burn. There are no mounds in the immediate 
neighbourhood (fig. 41). 

328. Do.-On the left bank of the AUt CiIle Pheadair, about i m. 
above its junction with the River Helmsdale, and some 50' above the 

FIG. 42.-Hut Circle, Allt Cille Pheadair (No. 328). 

burn, is a hut circle, stone built in the interior, and circular, with an 
interior diameter of 32'. The entrance is from the SE. through a 
passage 15' 10llg on the W. side, 16' on the E., and 3' wide, expand­
ing towards the exterior. At about 14' from the entrance, on the SW. 
side of the interior, an opening in the wall, 2' wide, leads into an 
earth-house, built up on each side and covered with flags. At the 
entrance it is about 3' high. The floor, which has not been cleared 
of fallen stones, slopes downward for the first 10' or 12'. At 3' 6" 
from the outside it is 2' 4/1 in height, at 13', 3' in height. At 18' 
inwards it is 3' in width, 4' 6" in hei~ht, and cllrves sharply round to 
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the right, increasing beyond the bend to 4' in width. This width is 
maintained till almost the end of the gallery, where it contracts to 
2' 10". The back is rounded. The extreme length is 31' 6". At 
the inner end a small opening has been cleared in the roof. This is 
probably the" trap" mentioned in Antiquar.ies, v. p. 246. The breadth 
of the bank over the gallery is some 22', and beyond it on the N. and 
E. about 7' (fig. 42). 

329. Do.-Some 40 yards E. of the last is a hut circle of the 
usual form, rather indefinite, with the entrance from the SE. 

There are a great many small mounds to the S., the nearest of 
which is some 50 yards from the main circle (No. 328). Most of 
the mounds are small, except towards the S. of the group, where 
some are rather larger. One of these measures 21' in diameter, and 
is 2' to 3' high. In another mound adjacent to it is an upright 
stone at the SE. end, about 2' 6" high and 2' across. 

330. Do.-To the N. of the road bridge over "the Cille Pheadair 
Burn, and some 200' above the river, is a circular enclosure, formed 
of a single line of low contiguous boulders, the turf bank which lay on 
them having entirely disappeared, except to the S. of the entrance, 
which is from the SE. The interior dimensions are 3:;' X 37'. The 
bank at the entrance is 7' thick, and the width of the entrance is 
3'. At the NE. a mound of about 14' in diameter lies partially on 
the circumference. A great number of mounds lie near by, several of 
which appear to have been excavated. 

Among the mounds and hut circles mentioned above are the 
remains of old banks or walls, in some instances connecting with 
small circular enclosures. 

331. Do.-Some 350 yards SSW. of the broch above Salscraggie 
(No. 307) is a small circular enclosure, with an interior diameter of 
some 9', opening from the S. through an entrance 3' wide. Attached 
to it to the S., and facing the entrance, is an oval enclosure, 
measuring interiorly some 15' X 11'. The bank on the E. is con­
tinuous, but It break of 10' or 11' in width on the W. side affords 
access to the larger enclosure. The bank of the larger enclosure 
is 8' thick, and towards the S. projects to a point 15' from the 
interior. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 26th August 1909. 

332. Do.-On the E. side of the Cille Pheadair Burn,about 1 m. 
N. of its junction with the Helmsdale River, is a group of three 
contiguous enclosures, two of which appear to have been cattle or 
sheep folds. One is circular, with a diameter of 27' and a bank 7' 
thick. The dimensions of the entrance are doubtful. Adjoining it 
in the rear is a semicircle, and to the W. of it an enclosure measuring 
33' X 38', with an entrance from the SE., 8' wide, protected by a horn 
projecting on the W. side. An opening 8' wide appears to have been 
broken through the banks of this circle and of the semicircle at a 
later date. 

Near the three enclosures are a dozen or so of small mounds. 
Some 30 yards N., on the end of a slight knoll, is a cup-shaped 

hollow, with an opening to the S. 10' in diameter, and apparently 
lined with stones. 
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Some 200 yards N. of the three enclosures, on a small hillock, are 
the faint remains of another circle of ordinary type. 

Some 30 yards S. of the three is a circular enclosure, with its 
entrance from the SE. Its interior dimensions are 29' X 34'. The 
surrounding bank is 7' thick, increasing to 12' at either side of the 
entrance, and broken through on the NW. On the N."W. of the 
interior are traces of an inner compartment, the wall of which 
appears to have been disturbed. 

333. Do.-On the opposite or W. bank of the AUt Cille Pheadair, 
1 m. N. of its junction with the Helmsdale River, is a hut circle. It 
appears to have been originally a turf and stone enclosure, with 
interior dimensions of about 28' X 34', having an entrance from the 
SE. and a bank about 8' thick. Within this a circular stone structure 
has been erected partially against the bank on either side of the 
entrance, with a diameter of 23', leaving a chamber at the back 
between the two structures, with an entrance to it passing through 
the inner wall. The remains of an ancient stone wall run from 
the back of the enclosure, and three large boulders crossing the 
back compartment are in continuation of its direction. The bank of 
the outer enclosure at the back is 8' wide, and where the two walls 
coalesce at the sides the width is 11'. The width of the main 
entrance is 3' in the interior, and 4' at the outside, while the length of 
the passage is 8'. 

Some 20 yards N. is another hut circle of usual oval form, with the 
entrance from the SE. about 3' wide, and interior dimensions 28' x 37'. 
The thickness of the bank is indefinite. 

Four or five small mounds lie in the immediate vicinity. 
334. Ooulan Burn. - On the slope of the hill immediately 

above Torrish, and to the E. of the Coulan Burn, is a large group 
of mounds. They are of the usual type, varying from 10' to 18' in 
diameter. A leaf-shaped flint arrow-head with the point broken 
off, 1 t" in length, and a shale necklace were found in a short 
cist in one of these mounds in 1868, and are preserved in the 
Dunrobin Museum. 
See Antiqua?'ies, viii. p. 408 (relic illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 27th August 1909. 

335. Tor?'ish Bu?·n.-About ! m. N. of the junction of the Torrish 
Burn with the Helmsdale River, on a slight elevation, are the founda­
tions of an elliptical enclosure, measuring 20' X 9', lying ENE. and 
WSW. The walls have been about 3' thick. 

Some 50' to the SE. is a low mound, with a diameter of 11'. 
Some 80 yards N. of the elliptical enclosure is a small circular 
enclosure, 22' in interior diameter, with an entrance from the SE. 
On the left of the entrance in the interior, and abutting on the wall 
or bank, is a small circular enclosure, with interior diameter of 3', and 
wall 2' thick. The bank of the main enclosure is about 4' thick, 
and 8' at what appears to be the entrance, which seems to have been 
2' wide. 

Some 30 yards W. are the remains of another circle, of ordinary 
form, with banks of turf and stone not very well defined. 

Some 80 yards N. of the small enclosure is a large one, well pre-
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served, enclosed by a bank about 10' wide and 4' 6/1 high. The interior 
dimensions are 34' X 37'; the entrance is from the SE. about 7' 
across. 

A few mounds lie near, and westward they stretch along the hill 
face above the strath for a considerable distance. Among them are 
remains of old walls and enclm!ures. 

336. AUt Bnac.-To the northward of and across the road from 
the rows of standing-stones (No. 379), about i m. W. of the bridge 
over the Allt Breac, are the remains of several mounds, and on 
the moor on the top of the bank are mounds and several hut 
circles. 

About t m. W. of the AUt Breac are two conjoined circular 
enclosures. An outer circle, with diameter of about 36' from E. to 
W. and 38' from N. to S., having an entrance from the E. 5' wide, 
contains in the interior a smaller circular enclosure springing from 
the SE. side, with a diameter of 26' and bank about 5' thick. The 
bank of the outer circle is about 6' thick, except on the N. side, 
where it appears to be about double that thickness, and it is also 
12' thick on the S. side of the entrance. Both banks abut at the 
E. on another circular enclosure, with a diameter of 27'. Its bank 
is 5' thick, and its entrance is from the E. This circle flanks the 
entrance to the other enclosure on its N. side, and from its SE. a horn 
projects across the opening at about 8' distance from its outer 
extremity. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 27th August 1909. 

337. AUt a' Choire Mhoi1'.-On the left bank of the AUt a' Choire 
Mhoir, about 1 m. above its junction with the Helmsdale River near 
Kilournan, on the S. side of the strath, are a number of circular 
enclosures. 

The first, which is situated about t m. up the glen and some 
200 yards back from the burn, is ill defined. It has a wide entrance 
to the K, and has probably been for cattle. The second, situated 
several hundred yards higher up the ridge, may be entirely a sheep 
or cattle fold, but is not modern. It consists of a circular enclosure, 
of 25' interior diameter, with an entrance from the ENE. 5' wide. 
At 6' to the W. of the entrance is an opening into an oval 
enclosure, 23' long by 16' broad. The E. bank of the entrance to the 
main circle is prolonged towards the N. for about 60', and thereafter 
turns eastward, and forms a small rectangular enclosure some 45' 
across. One 01' two similar constructions lie near. No mounds are 
in the immediate vicinity. 

Some 300 yards W. of the last enclosure is a complicated con­
struction, consisting of two circular enclosures and an oval one, all 
conjoined. Two of these have smaller enclosures in the interior. 
The main enclosures are entered from the eastward. There is much 
stone on the inner face of the enclosing banks, and remains of 
numerous walls are visible on the ridge on which all these construc­
tions lie. 

To the S., between the enclosures last described and the burn, 
are numerous small mounds. 

Some 100 yards K is another construction, overgrown with 
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heather, of indefinite detail, but presenting features of a char­
acter similar to the constructions immediately above described, 
and some 30 yards S. of it is another enclosure, much wprn 
away. 

338. Do.-Some 100 yards distant from the burn, at the upper 
end of the group, is a well preserved hut circle, with an interior 
diameter of 35', and bank of stone and turf about 5' 6" high and 
8' across the base. The entrance is from the NE., facing down the 
glen, and is 3' 6" wide. It is protected by a mound, 24' long, 21' 
across the base, and 5' to 6' high on the low side, lying about 6' in 
front of it. A number of small mounds lie around. Adjacent to 
the circle on the N. is a small mounded construction, presumably 
a kiln. 

339. Do. --Across the burn on either side of the road from 
Kildonan to Glen Loth, and some 300 to 400 yards from the burn, 
is a large group of small mounds. Towards the centre of the group 
are three, lying adjacent, and larger than the others. Of these, that 
nearest the road measures about 26' in diameter, and from the lower 
slope is about 6' high. 25' to the W. of it lies the next, with its 
longest axis N. and S. measuring 26' X 18', and of about the same 
height as the last. 25' further W. is the third, measuring 20' in 
diameter, and about 5' in height. They are all overgrown with 
heather. 

To the S. of the group is a small hut circle of simple type, also 
overgrown with heather. Its entrance is from the SE., and it measures 
interiorly 29' X 26'. The bank is about 5' thick. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 20th September 1909. 

340. Omggie.-About ~ m. W. of Craggie, on the N. side of the 
glen, are indistinct remains of one or two hut circles (unnoted). 

341. AUt Halliga1·1-y.-About 100 yards to the E. of the AUt 
Halligarry, and some 60' above the road, is a levelled up platform, 
measuring about 23' X 29' 6", on which h~s apparently been a hut 
circle, but no details are now visible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 21st September 1909. 

342. Earth-house, S~tisgiU.-On a level meadow which has been 
cultivated about 1 m. W. of the junction of the Suisgill Burn and the 
Helmsdale River, and situated some 50' back from the river, are the 
remains of an earth-house. Neither extremity is open, and at two 
places the roofing slabs have been removed, so that the interior is 
largely filled up with earth and stones. The passage is visible for a 
distance of 24', curving round so as to give a chord of 19' between the 
extremities on the inner side. The sides are built and the roof 
formed of slabs. The passage is 2' 6" and 2' 8" wide respectively at 
the extremities, and 3' wide where unroofed near the middle of its 
course. 

O.S.M., SUTH., Ixvii. (unnoted). Visited, 16th September 1909. 

343. Do., Achinnearin, Suisgill.-Situated at Achinnearin, about 
! m. SE. of Suisgill Lodge, and beside a ruined cottage above the birch 
wood to the S. of a small rivulet, is an oblong enclosure, with r~unded 
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ends, which has probably beeu a garden. The enclosure is modern, 
but two converging horns projecting from its E. bank may have 

formed part of a previously exist­
ing hut circle. Entering under the 
bank in the SE. corner is an under­
ground gallery or earth -house. 
The entrance to the gallery is 
about 2' 4" wide, and slopes down, 
sharply curving with a general 
south-easterly direction for 3', at 
which distance the roofing begins. 
It then takes a southerly direc­
tion for about 22'; thence, curving 
to the right, it runs to the WSW. 
for the remainder of its course, 
the end being reached at a dis­
tance of 40' from the first roofing 
slab, measuring along the inner 
side of the curve. At 9' from the 
outside the gallery begins to widen 
out, and at that point is 3' 10" 
wide and 2' 8" high. At 15' 6" it 

t 

1.orm is 3' 10" wide and 4' 2" high; at 
lOt-I +I'+-I f-I IHtHIHI-iI-iI-tI-----t1 22' it is 4' 2" wide, and the same 

in height; at 28' it is 4' wide and 
6' 2" high; and at 35' 6" it is FIG. 43.-Ea.rth,house, Achinnea.rin 

(No. 343). 
4' 6" wide and 4' 6" high. The 

wall at the back is rounded. The floor at the end is covered with 
several inches of soil. The walls are built to a great extent with 
boulders, and the roof is formed of flags (fig. 43). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. (unnoted). 
Visited, 16th September 1909. 

344. K ildonan. -On ' Oreag Druim nan Rath, about the 500' 
elevation above sea-level, some 400 to 500 yards WNW. of the 
Kildonan Burn, and about the same distance N. of the road up the 
strath, is a group of small mounds, and at the W. end of them 
faint indications of a number of round turf enclosures. 

Up the W. bank of the Kildonan Burn, at a level of about lOO' to 
150' above the stream, and running up the glen for about -! m. from 
the road, is a large group of hut circles and small mounds. The hut 
circles are mostly of circular form, largely built of stone, and the 
remains of walls which run among them, as if demarcating holdings, 
are very numerous. The groups of mounds-as well as the hut circles 
appear to be within these enclosures. 

Some 400 yards from the W. bank of the burn, and 500 yards 
above the road, is a circular enclosure, with an interior diameter of 
26'. The thickness of the bank is indefinite. Alollg the inner 
face large stones are set at intervals. The entrance is from 
the SE. 

Some 40 yards SE. of the last is an oval enclosure, with interior 
dimensions of 38' X 41'. It is entered from the SE., but the width of 
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the entrance is not apparent. The bank is 7' in width, is overgrown 
with heather, and seems to be composed of turf and stone. At about 
6' along the inner face of the bank, to the right of the entrance, is a 
passage through it, some 6' in length, but of indefinite width, givillg 
access to a sunk chamber, the roof of which has entirely disappeared. 
The chamber is oval in form, and measures some 20' in length by 

t 
- -::: -

FIG. 44.-Hut Circle, Kildonan Burn (No. 344). 

11' in width. The present floor level is about 4' lower than that of 
the hut circle, and 2' to 3' below that of the surrounding ground, 
which slopes in its direction. The sides have been built. From the 
lower end of this chamber on the outside an old wall passes down the 
hill. Some 15' distant from the entrance to the hut circle, and 
partially covering it, a bank about 17' wide runs in a westerly 
direction for a distance of about 33'. A number of small mounds lie 
around (fig. 44). 

345. Do.-Some 300 yards distant from the burn, and 600 yards 
from the road, is a hut circle, the interior of which is faced with stones. 
The interior is circular, with a diameter of about 34', and has been 
entered from the SE. On the right of the entrance within the interior 
are the ruins of what appears to have been a circular stone building, 
with a diameter over all of from 10' to 12'. The stones have fallen 
inwards, and lie in concentric rings over the interior. The bank or 
wall of the main enclosure is some 8' in width, except towards the 
entrance, where it broadens out on both sides, so as to form a passage 
20' in length. The walls of the passage, which have been largely 
built of stone, are still in places some 3' high, and the amount of 
stone lying in and about shows that originally the height of the 
building must have been considerable. At the interior extremity 
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the width of the passage is 3' 4". At 8' outwards are two door 
cheeks 3' apart. Within them the passage has expanded to 4' 8", 

FIG. 45.-Hut Circle, Kildonan Burn (No. 345). 

and beyond to the exterior it maintains a width of 3'. This is 
the only hut circle in which such provision for a door has been 
observed (fig. 45). 

346. Do.-Some 200 yards further up the glen is a small circular 
enclosure of 24' diameter, with a stony bank, and the entrance from 
the SE. A small mound covers the entrance on the exterior, other­
wise it presents no features of particular interest. A few mounds 
lie immediately in front, and a number lie further off to the S. 

Some 80 yards further up the glen is another circular enclosure, 
the wall of which appears to have been built of stone. It has an 
interior diameter of 26' to 28'. The entrance is from the SE. through 
a passage 2' 6" wide and 11' in length. The exact width of the wall 
is unobtainable, as the circle is overgrown with heather, but it appears 
to be h'om 5' to 6'. 

Some! m. distant from the road is the last circle of the group. It 
is largely formed of stones, has an interior diameter of 24', and is 
entered from the SE. through a passage 10' long and of indefinite 
width. A large group of small mounds lies between it and the burn, 
which is some 200 yards distant. 

At the lowest or S. end of the group, on the top of the bank above 
the burn, and on the SE. point of the hill, is a circular depression, 
with an interior diameter of 7', lined with stones and filled with ruins. 
Its entrance seems to have been from the SE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. (unnoted). Visited, 16th September 1909. 

347. Leamble Hill.-On the S. slope of Learable Hill, about t m. 
NW. of Suisgill Lodge, is a large group of small mounds, of from 16' 
to 20' in diameter, and among them one or two round hut circles 
of no particular interest. 

Near the top of the hill, and towards the W. of the group, is 
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an oval depression, measuring interiorly 6' X 4', with the remains of 
a stone wall lining the interior . all round. The bottom is about 2' 
below the natural surface on the exterior. 

The mounds are very numerous. There is an absence of old walls 
among them. 

At the NE. end of the group is a hut circle, with a diameter of 
about 34', but the details are indefinite. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. Visited, 16th September 1909. 
348. AUt an Duin.-About ! m. NW. of Allt an Duin Lodge, on 

the W. side of the low hill bearing the name of Tomich, is a numerous 
group of small mounds, and towards the lower side of the group a 
few turf-built hut circles of simple form. One entering from the SE. 
measures interiorly 36' x 43'. Its banks are much worn down. Some 
200 yards NW. is another similar construction. Some 200 yards 
NW. of it again is another, near the base of the hill, which measures 
39' X 45', and enters from the SE. Its banks are much worn away. 
Some 30 yards SW. of it is another, in similar condition (unnoted). 

349. Pemnach.-On the left bank of the River :Frithe, about 1 m. 
above Dalcharn, and 200 yards back from the stream, is a hut circle 
of simple type, with its entrance from the SE. The enclosing bank 
is much eroded and overgrown with heather. About a dozen mounds 
lie near it. 

Some 100 yards to the E. is another hut circle, in similar condition, 
which also enters from the SE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 17th September 1909. 
350. C1'eag R 'ltidh nan Caomch.-Along the lower slopes of Creag 

Ruidh nan Oaorach, from a short distance SE. of Kinbrace Station to 
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FIG. 46.-Hut Circle, Creag Ruidh nan Caorach (No. 350). 

the Allt Ohonneis-gil at Burnfoot, lie numbers of small mounds, with 
remains of enclosures and old walls on the lower slopes above the 
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road. In the mounds aiong the upper edge of the group a considerable 
amount of stone is exposed near the centre, differentiating them from 
the ordinary grass or heather-clad mounds. '" 

About ~ m. SE. of Kinbrace Station is a hut circle, with an 
entrance from the ESE., and an interior diameter of 35'. The bank 
is 7' wide, except near the entrance, where on the E. side it is 10' wide, 
and on the W. side 13', increasing to 18' at 11' distant from the 
entrance along the inner circumference. Externally it is about 5' 6/1 
high. The entrance is some 6' wide. Numerous mounds lie around 
(fi~ 46~ . 

351. Do.-Some 250 yards E is another circle, stone built, the 
walls of which are quite ruined. The interior has been dug out of 
the slope of the hill, so as to make a level floor. The interior 

"1tH't+,,+t,~t+"+lllitr---ti---tr-o---trlh"[ 
FIG. 47.-Hut Circle, Creag Ruidh mm Caorach (No. 351). 

dimensions are about 26' X 28' ; the thickness of the wall 6', increas­
ing to 15' on either side of the entrance, which is narrow, but of 
indefinite width. From the centre of the wall at the back a platform 
of stone, 6' wide, projects for about 18' into the interior towards the 
entrance. The entrance is from the SE. (fig. 47). 

352. Kinb,'ace Hill.-Situated about 40' E. of the road, and some 
50 yards S. of the cultivated land at Burnfoot, is a hut circle, The 
main enclosure is oval, measuring interiorly about 3~' X 35', with 
its entrance from the SE. through a passage 15' long and about 2' 6/1 
wide at the interior end and 4' at the exterior. The thickness of 
the bank on either side of the entrance passage towards the outer 
end is 5'. The breadth of the bank on the E. side of the circle is 
about 11'. It has had much stone in its composition. To the W. it 
is about 9' in thickness for the first 19' from the interior end of the 
entrance, whence it expands rapidly to a width of 24', decreasing 
again to 8' at the NW., opposite the entrance. This thick bank has 
been much broken into and pillaged for stone. Though no earth· 
house is exposed, from the plan and the number of flat stones laid 
bare in the broad part of the bank, it possibly contains one. 
Abutting on the circle on the NE. is a small oblong enclosure, 

* Of. No. 224. 
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measuring about 37' X 9', widening towards the N. The banks are 
much broken down. There has been an entrance to this from the 
main enclosure, which may be second.ary. The bank is much broken 
down and has been about 7' thick. The whole circle has been much 

\J:) 5 0 
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FIG. 48.-Hut Oircle, Kinbrace Hill (No. 352). 

dilapidated at a recent date-for the sake of stones. Some 9' in front 
of the entrance, on its S. side, a bank some 8' across runs round. 
towards the W. at a distance of about 13' from the main bank, 
and disappears, passing northwestwards beyond the circle (fig. 48). 

Some 50 yards ENE. of the last is another enclosure. "It is 
circular, with an interior diameter of 31'. The entrance, which is 
from the S. or SE., appears to have been altered, and has been wide. 

Some 30' E. of the first enclosure is a mounded construction, with 
a depression on the top, probably a kiln. 

353. Ben G1'iam Beg.-Some ! m. NW. of Greamachary is Ft group 
of small mounds running along the slope of the hill at about the 
700' elevation above sea-level. Among them the indistinct remains 
of what appears to be a hut circle is visible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xlvi. Visited, 18th September 1909. 

354. Baddanloch.-On the E. side of the road from Kinbrace to 
Syre, about 2 m. N. of Easter Baddanloch, is a group of mounds, 
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and on the N. side of Loch Baddanloch, near its "\V. end, are several 
hut circles.* 

O.S.M., SUTH., Iv. and Ivi. (unnoted). 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

355. Long Oairn, "Oarnlaggie," Helmsdale. - Some t m. above 
Helmsdale, on the E. side of the valley, and at the N. end of the 
cultivated land, are t.he remains of the cairn known as "Carn 
Laggie." The cairn has in great measure been removed, and there 
now remains a long low heap of small angular stones, with a bank 
of broken road metal at one end of it. The whole is about 180' in 
length by about 50' in width. The cairn lies almost due N. and S. 
The dilapidation is so great that no proper measurements are 
obtainable. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xc. Visited, 6th September 1909. 

356. Do., Oaen Bum-About I! m. up the Strat.h of Kildonan 
from Helmsdale the Caen Burn joins the Helmsdale River, and some 
300 yards W. of the burn, and about the same distance N. of the 
river, is a long cairn. It is situated on a terrace on the hillside, where 
the ground begins to slope by an easier gradient towards the river. 
It lies with its main axis almost due E. and W., and· appears to be 
about 168' in length, 27' broad at the W. end, and 46' at the E. 
At the W. end it is only a foot or so in height, but rises gradually 
eastward, till near the extremity it has an elevation of about 7'. 
At 18' in from the S. side, at the E. extremity, is a large boulder, 
4' high and 4' across, which may give some indication of the position 
of the passage. Excavation has been made at several points, but no 
cham bel' is exposed. 

357. Do., do.-Westward of the Caen Burn, about! m. on the 
same terrace of the hill as the last, are the remains of another long 
cairn. It has been entirely ruined and the centre cleared out, leaving 
merely an outline of stones to mark its position. Its main axis has 
lain ESE. and WNW. It appears to have been about 27' broad at the 
W. end and 50' at the E. Its extreme length appears to have been 
about 135'. There are no signs of a chamber left. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 10th August 1909. 

358. Do., do.-On the W. side of the Caen Burn, about 500 yards 
above the road bridge, are the remains of a long cairn. The cairn is 
much dilapidated, but no chamber is exposed. It lies ENE. and 
WSW., and measures about lOO' in length, some 35' in breadth 
at the E. end, and 27' at the W. Its condition makes accurate 
measurement impossible. 

359. Do., do.-On the W. side of the hill road, about 400 yards 
above the cottage at Caen, are the remains of a long cairn. The cairn 
has been greatly dilapidated, but no chamber is exposed. Its longest 
axis is NE. and SW. It measures about 166' in length, 25' in width 
at the SW. end, and about 46' at the NE. end. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. (unnoted). Visited, 6th September 1909. 
* From information supplied by the Rev. J. M. Joass, LL.D., Golspie. 
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360. Do., Salscmggie.-To the S. of Salscraggie Lodge, between 
the road and the river, are the remains of a long cairn, so recently 
demolished that the tracks made by the carts which took away 
the stones from the interior are not yet obliterated. It is said 
to have had two chambers, but no trace remains of them. It 
lies E. and W. Its length is 178', the breadth at the E. end about 
63', and at the W. end about 12'. It does not appear to have 
been horned. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxix. Visited, 26th August 1909. 

361. Do., Kilou1'nan. - On the moor, about t m. S.W. of 
Kilournan, is a long cairn, It lies with its longest axis E. and W., 
is 108' long, 27' wide at the W. end, and 43' wide at the E. end. It 
rises from a low elevation at the W. end to 7' in height at the E. 
Both extremities are rounded. Numerous excavations have been 
made in it, but no chamber appears to have been exposed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 20th September 1909. 

362. Caim, T01'1'ish Bn1'n,-On a slight eminence beside the road, 
on the W. bank of the Torrish Burn, is a large round cairn. A great 
part of it has been quite recently removed from the W. side, but 
neither cist nor chamber is exposed. The outline of the cairn has 
been marked with large boulders from It' to 2' across, placed at 
frequent intervals, but not contiguous, On the N. this setting is 7' 
to 9' distant from the cairn, but on the S., in which direction 
the hill slopes, the cairn appears to rise directly from it. The 
diameter of the cairn over all is 61' from N. to S. and 63' from 
E. to W. 

363. Oairns, Lea'l'able.-In the birch wood on the W. ballk of the 
River Helmsdale, opposite Suisgill Lodge, and some 300 yards to the 
W. of it, is a mound overgrown with heather and grass, which is 
probably a cairn. It is 58' to 60' in diameter, and from 8' to 9' high 
(unnoted) 

Some 15' N. of the cross-marked standing-stone on the summit of 
Learable Hill (N 0, 380) is a cairn, with a diameter of about 31' and 
a height of from 2' to 3'. 

A short distance to the SSW. of the standing-stone is a low 
circular cairn of about 20' diameter and height of about 2'. Its out­
line is defined by boulders from I ' to It' in length, and 6// to 8// 
above ground, set almost contiguously. 

364. Oaim, do. -Some 40' NNW. of the standing· stone is a cairn 
which has been excavated. It has a el.iameter of about 42'. Near 
the centre lies a covering slab of a cist, 4' 6// in length by 3' in 
breadth. The outline of the cairn is well marked with boulders 
from 2' to 3' in length, and about I' above ground, set almost con­
tiguously. When the cairn was excavated there were found in the 
cist a burnt interment and some beads of jet. Close beside one of 
the stones of the circumference was found an urn of cinerary type, 
inverted upon a small flat slab, and covering a deposit of burnt human 
bones, among which lay an oval tanged blade of bronze. The blade, 
beads, and urn are in Dunrobin Museum. 

A number of low irregular mounds, which have the appearance 
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of banks of old enclosures, are visible here and there among the 
round mounds and cairns on the hill. 

See Anderson, The Bronze and Stone Ages, p. 132. 
365. Oairn, /lemnach. ·-· On the low moorland to the S. of the 

River .Frithe, and about ~- m. SW. of .Feranach, is a cairn with a 
diameter of from 24' to 26' and a height of from 3' to 4'. It is over­
grown with turf, from which a number of round stones protrude 
(unnoted). 

366. Oaim, Dalcharn.-On the hillside, some t m. W. of Dalcharn, 
and about ! m. back from the left bank of the River Frithe, is a 
cairn, of some 25' to 26' in diameter and about 4' in height, over­
grown with heather (unnoted). 

O.S.M. SUTH., lxvi. Visited, 17th September 1909. 

367. Oai1'ns, 01'eag Ruidh nan Oaorach, - Some i m, SE. of 
Kinbrace Station, and about i m. above the road, are two large cairns. 
The most easterly is circular, with a diameter of about 50' and a 
height of about 6'. It has been dilapidated considerably in the centre, 
but no cist has been exposed. There is no indication of a chamber. 

Some 50 yards SE. is the second cairn. It also has been to a 
certain extent interfered with. Some large flat slabs lying exposed 
Bear the centre may indicate a chambered character. Towards the 
NE., SW., SE., and NW. are distinct projections, but whether these 
are structural or not can only be determiued by excavation. The 
projections are from 6' to 8' in. length. The diameter of the cairn 
between them is about 41 ', and along them about 54'. The height 
of the cairn is about 4' 6". 

Some 180 yards E. is a smaller cairn, which has been considerably 
dilapidated on the SE. Its diameter from N. to S. is 41' and from 
E. to W. 44'. Its height is about 4'. 

Numerous small mounds lie along the hillside below these. 
About! m. SSE. of the last is a low cairn of about 21' in diameter 

and 3' in height. 
Beyond the enclosed land at Burnfoot the small mounds again 

appear and continue down the strath for a long distance. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lvi. Visited, 1 st Septem bel' 1909. 

368. Oaim, Kinbmce Hill.-About ! m. down the strath from 
Burnfoot, and some 40' distant from the road, is a large cairn. .From 
K to W. the diameter is about 87' and from N. to S. 83'. Its height 
is some 9'. On the E. side it has been pulled about to a cousiderable 
extent, but no chamber has been exposed. 

Numerous. small mounds lie near. One to the NE. has recently 
been almost entirely removed. 

369, 370. Long Oairns, do. - Some 400 yards SE. of the large 
cairn last mentioned, at an elevation of about 500' above sea-level, 
are other two large cairns about 12' apart. The most northerly is 
some lOO' in length, 79' across at the NE. end and 52' at the SW. 
Its greatest height (somewhat to the N. of the middle of its length) 
is some 12' to 14'. A small amount of exploration has been done on 
it, but no chamber is exposed. There is a semblance of projections 
towards the N. and S., but the indications are very indefinite. 
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The second cairn, which is situated to the SW. of the previous one, 
lies also NE. and SW. It is 102' in length, 36' broad at the NE. end, 
and 62' at the SW. Its height about the centre of its length is some 
10'. It, too, has been pulled about a little, but no chamber is 
exposed. 

Some 40' from the SW. end the foundations of an ancient wall 
are visible running out towards the SE., which, curving round, meet 
the neighbouring cairn at its SW. end. A similar wall has joined 
the two cairns on the E. side, thus utilising the cairns as part of the 
wall of an enclosure (PI. IV.). 

371. Cairn, do.-Some 250 yards E. is another cairn, with a 
diameter of about 64'. It has been excavated at some remote period, 
but no cist is exposed; nor is there any indication of a chamber. Its 
height is some 5'. To the E. about 150 yards lies a large group of 
small mounds of usual type (unnoted). 

372. Chambered Cai1'n, Kinbmce BU1'n.-On the top of the left 
bank of the Kinbrace Burn, some 250 yards above the road, is a 
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FIG. 49.-Chambered Cairn, Kinbrace Burn (No. 372). 

chambered cairn which has been excavated. Its diameter from N. to 
S. is some 68' and from E. to W. about 73'. It has had three con­
nected chambers in alignment lying E. and W. The passage enters 
from the E. It has been completely destroyed for the first 19' of 
its length; thereafter it remains entire for a distance of some 5', 
covered with slabs and 2' in width. It gives access, through portals 
2' 10" apart, to a small rectangular chamber or vestibule, measuring 
3' from front to back and 5' across, the sides of which are built. This 
chamber is low (2' high), and roofed with slabs. Between two 

9 
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partition stones, I' 10/1 apart and about 3' high, covered with a lintel 
4' 8/1 long, I ' 10/1 broad, and 8" thick, cracked across, is the entrance 
to the main chamber. It is polygonal in plan, alld measures 6' 5/1 
from E. to W. and 7' 9/1 from N. to S. On the N. side the wall 
is broken down to a height of 3', but on the S. side it remains 
intact for 5' 6/1 of its elevation. Its walls are for the most part 
built: the single slabs, which occur opposite each other, one on 
each side, being only I' 10" and 2' 4/1 in breadth at present floor 
level. It has been covered with a roof of converging stones, and the 
wall is vertical for 3' above the present floor level. The third 
chamber is entered through the centre of the back wall, between two 
jambs, I ' 10/1 apart and 11/1 high, covered with a lintel stone 5' long, 
and, like the other, broken. It is of the same dimensions as the 
small chamber at the E. end (3' X 5'). It is low, and roofed with 
slabs, is built on both sides, and has one large slab at the back. 
The greatest height of the cairn externally is from ID' to 11'. It is 
considerably dilapidated, and there are evidences of a building having 
been placed against it at the W. end, where about 20' from the out­
side of the cairn there are the remains of a regularly constructed wall 
for a distance of about 10' (fig. 49). 

Great numbers of small mounds lie to the E., and there are 
remains of circular enclosures in its vicinity. 

When the cairn was excavated there was found in the passage a 
pierced heart-shaped amulet of polished serpentine, with a diameter 
of some f', now in Dunrobin Museum. This was the only relic 
discovered. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvi. Visited, 2nd September 1909. 

373. "Oarn Tigh nan Ooileach," etc., AUt Ach na h-Uaigh.-About 
1! m. due W. of Kinbrace Station, on the hillside beyond Harvieston, 
are a great number of small mounds of from 12' to 20' in diameter. 

Some 200' above the road, towards the W. end of the group, is a 
large cairn, known as " Carn Tigh nan Coileach." It is from 58' to 
60' in diameter, and about 6' in height. It has been somewhat 
dilapidated on the top, and several large flat slabs are exposed, lying 
horizontally, suggesting a chambered character. On the hillside 
below lie numerous small mounds, the nearest of which is some 60' 
to the S.W., and constructed of larger stones than usual. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lvi. Visited, 1st September 1909. 

374. Stone Circle, Learable Hill.-Some 120 yards W. of the cross­
marked standing-stone on Learable Hill are the remains of a stone 
circle, formed of slabs of schistose rock, the highest about 2' high, 
and varying from l' 5/1 to 2' 5/1 in breadth. Five of the stones are 
in situ, standing well above ground, two have almost sunk out of 
sight, and two have fallen. The diameter of the circle appears to 
have been about 60'. Slightly to the S. of the centre of the circle 
is a small mound, some 2' high, and with a diameter of about 13'; 
and just outside the circle, beyond a stone ESE. of the centre, is 
another mound about 3' high and 17' in diameter (fig. 50). 

375. Do., do.-About ! m. NW. of Suisgill Lodge, and some 30 
yards NW. of the cup-marked stone (No. 383), on a slight eminence, 
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. are the remains of a stone circle. Three long-pointed stones remain, 
all overturned, and another large stone protruding from the ground 
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FIG. 50.-Stone Circle, Learable (No. 374). 

towards the SW. may possibly have formed part of the circle. The 
stones are from 5' 6" to 8' in length, and from 2' 8" to 4' in breadth, 
and are pointed towards one end. There is grooved on the stone 
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FIG. 51.-Stone Circle, Learable (No. 375). 

which lies towards the N. of what has presumably been the centre, 
at 2' 4" from its pointed end, a single ring-mark, measuring 6" over 
all, and 4" within the marking. Some 2' nearer the base of the stone 
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is a small cup-mark, 2" across; and about l ' 2" from the base appear 
another well-defined cup-mark and two faint ones (fig. 51). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 17th August 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

376. "Grois," Suisgill.-On the E. side of the road up the strath, 
some 300 yards S. of Suisgill Lodge, is a projecting rock which bears 
the name of "Orois." On its SW. face is said to have formerly 
existed a cross, which is now, however, entirely obliterated by th"e 
action of the weather. It is said to have marked the northern 
boundary of the Sanctuary of Kildonan. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. Visited, 17th August 1909. 

377. G1'oss-ma1'ked Slab, Kildonan.-Some 150 yards N. by W. of 
Kildonan farmhouse, near the base of a conical mound and at the 
NW. side of it, is a stone 4' 7" high and 2' 3" broad, bearing, grooved 
out on its W. face, a plain Latin cross, expanding towards, and rounded 
at, the base, existing for a total length of 2', and measuring l' 10" 
across the arms. The stone is called" Olach an Eig," or" Olach na 
h-Uaighe." The conical hill (Onoc a' Chrochaidh) adjacent appears 
to be natural. It is said that a passage, now filled up, led into the 
heart of it. 

See Memorabilia Domestica, 2nd ed., p. 48. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. (unnoted). Visited, 17th August 1909. 

378. Stone Rows, Torl'ish Burn.-About i m. N. of the junction 
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FIG. 52.-Stone Rows, Torrish Burn (No. 378). -

of the Torrish Burn with the Helmsdale River is a line of stones 
running in an easterly direction from the SW. corner of the founda­
tion of the elliptical structure (No. 335) for a distance of 44' 3", 

-
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PLA'l·j .: V.-Stone Rows, Ton 'ish Btlrn (No. 378). 

PLATE Vr. - Stone Row~, Learable Hill (No. 381). 

To f ace p. 133. 
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and parallel to it, or slightly converging towards the E. at a distance 
of about 5', is a similar row. In the former row are nine stones 
and in the latter eight. The stones resemble in size those in the 
similar settings on Learable Hill, and are placed with their broad 
faces in line. The highest are about 2' high, while some of the others 
now merely protrude above the ground. The rows slightly converge 
down the slope towards the E. (fig. 52 and Pt V.). 

379. Stone Rows, AUt B1·eac.-On a semicircular terrace at the 
S. side of the road up the Strath of Kildonan, about i m. W. of the 
bridge over the Allt Breac, are a number of small standing-stones set 
in parallel rows, forming in outline a semicircle, the base or diameter 
of which is about 66' and the radius 25'. There appear to be 
fourteen or fifteen rows, about 3' apart, except in the centre of the 
semicircle, where the distance seeIDS to be slightly greater. The 
stones in the rows are also about 3' apart. The lines have the 
appearanee of convergence, as they do not run quite at right angles 
to the base formed by the road. The stones are set with their broad 
faces in line of the direction which is almost SSE. and NNW. 
(accurately, from 20' E. of S. to 20' W. of N.). For the most part 
the stones are low and pointed, none being more than 2' 6" in 
heigh t . Some have recently been removed, and others broken. The 
roadway has probably cut off a portion of the construction (fig. 53). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. (unnoted). Visited, 27th August 1909. 

380. Standing-Stone, Leamble Hill.-On the summit of Learable 
Hill, a little more than t m. W. of Suisgill Lodge, is a cross-marked 
standing-stone, 5' 2// high, 2' 8// broad, and 9f' thick. It stands 
facing E. and W., and on its W. face, near the upper end, is incised 
or grooved a plain Latin cross, 6!" long by 5// across the arms. The 
grooves are about 1// across. 

381. Stone Rows, do.-Crossing the hill are numerous lines of 
stones set in parallel rows, for the most part with their broad faces 
in the line of the direction of the rows. The stones are from I' to 21 
in height above the ground, and are mostly angular slabs of schistose 
rock. To the S. of the cross-marked standing-stone are lines running 
in a south-easterly direction, while on the N. are several lines, well 
defined, from 4' to 5' apart, set E. and W. The stones in the lines 
appear to be from 6' to 7' apart. Many small mounds lie around, 
and in several instances they are laid across the lines of stones, 
breaking their continuity, but not apparently forming bases from 
which the lines radiate (fig. 54 and PI. Vr.). 

See Anderson, The Bronze and Stone Ages, p. 132. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. Visited, 17th August 190!). 

382. "St Donnan's Chair."-Some i lll. W. of where the Allt 
Breac flows into the Helmsdale River, on the N. side of the road up 
the strath, and some 80' above it, is a large earth-fast granitic boulder, 
about 8' square 011 the upper surface, and 5' to 6' in height, with a 
natural depression on the upper face, known as "Cathair" or " Suidhe 
Donnan," from which St Donnan is said to have preached. The old 
statistical account, however, mentions, with particulars, the destruc-
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tion of a stone which existed near the same spot and had a similar 
association. 

See Stat. Acct., iii. p. 405. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lxxviii. Visited, 21st Septemoer 1909. 
383. Oup-madced Stone, Leamble.-Somewhat less than i m. NW. 

of Suisgill Lodge, at the side of a broken-down stone wall which runs 
back from the river, and not far above the birch wood, is a large 
earth-fast boulder or out-cropping rock lying NE. and SW. Its fiat 
upper side is exposed to the extent of about 7' X 3' 4". From the 
middle of the stone towards the SW. are seventeen well-defined cup­
marks, some 3i" in diameter by It" in depth, besides three which 
are elongated (probably due to the wearing away of rock between 
single marks), measuring from 6" to 7" in length. They appear to 
be in two groups, one at the end of the stone consisting of ten round 
markings and a long one, and the other near the middle of the stone 
of seven small markings and two long ones. The rock or boulder is 
schistose. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxvii. (unnoted). Visited, 17th August 1909. 
384. Oircula1' Mound, Kinbmce.-Some 150 yards NE. of Kinbrace 

Farm is a circular mound, about 4' high, having a diameter of about 
50'. It is overgrown with grass and heather, and its character, 
beyond being artificial, is not quite obvious. 

O.S.M., SUTH. lxvi. (" Cairn "). 
Visited, 2nd September 1909. 

385. hon Smelting (r'ernains of), Allt an Duin.-A t the foot of 
Achrimsdale Hill, on the N. bank of the River Frithe, about It rn. 
above AUt an Duin Lodge, is a heap of iron slag, which has been 
exposed by the action of the burn, and some 2i m. further up, on the 
same side of the Frithe, are other two heaps. 

O.S.M., SVTH., lxvi. 

SITES. 

386. Broch," Onoc Ohaisteal," Helrnsdale.-A villa bearing the name 
of "enoc Chaisteal," due N. of the end of the harbour at Helmsdale, 
is built on the site of a broch. In digging the foundations there were 
recovered a steatite cup with a handle of the usual type, a stone 
lamp, a saddle quern of granite, measuring I' 4" in length by 9" in 
width, portions of one or more rotary querns, and a thick heavy stone 
whorl. All these objects are preserved at the villa. The quantity 
of shells of edible molluscs exposed in a small piece of garden ground 
adjoining, probably indicates the site of the kitchen midden. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xc. (unnoted). Visited, 10th August 1909. 

The O.S. map indicates sites as under:-
387. Broch, Dun Phail, near shore of Gartymore, at county 

boundary. 
388. St John the Baptist's Ohapel and Well, Helmsdale. 
389. St Ninian's Ohapel and Graveyard, Navidale House, Helrnsdale. 
390. Ohapel, Ga1·tymore, Helmsdale. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xc. 
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DEFENSIVE OONSTRUCTIONS. 

391. B1'och, SB. end oj Loch Shin. - Situated just within a 
plantation at the SE. end of Loch Shin, some i m. due N. of the 
summit of the Ord and some 200 yards W. of the shore of the lower 
loch, are the remains of a broch. The diameter over all has been 
about 56'. The wall has been removed almost to the lowest course, 
and no details are obtainable. The thickness of the wall appears to 
have been 15', but the inner facing is indefinite. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. (unnoted). Visited, 3rd July 1909. 
392. Broch, Salachadh.-This broch is situated on the W. bank of 

Loch Shin, about t m. NNW. of Sallachadh, and about lOO' above the 
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FIG. 55.-Broch, Sallachadh (No. 392). 

loch, but is not on a very strongly defensible position. It has been 
cleared out to a great extent in the interior, and the debris has been 
removed from the stairway and chambers. The greatest height of 
wall exposed to the exterior is about 6' 6", and on the interior about 
10' 4/1. The thickness of the wall across the top is 13' 6", and the 
interior diameter is 3!:l' 6/1. The entrance has been from the SE. 
through a passage, as far as measurable, 15' in length (the outer end 
is not exposed), and 3' 4" in width. There are two chambers opposite 
each other in the entrance passage, about 8' 8/1 in from the exterior. 
The chamber on. the right is entered through a passage 3' long, 
through the thickness of the wall, and 2' wide, and is oval in form, 
measuring 8' 2/1 long, 4' 5/1 wide, and 7' 6/1 high, with a step at the 
entrance I ' 8/1 high. The roof has for the most part gone. The 
chamber on the left appears to be intact, except at its entrance, where 
the wall on the inner side has collapsed. The entrance is 1'11/1 wide 
and 3' high, and has a step up from the passage I' 8/1 high. At 
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19' 6" to the NW. from the left side of the inner end of the main 
entrance passage is the entrance to the staircase and chamber 
opposite to it. The entrance is l ' 8" above ground level in the interior, 
and is 3' tiff in width, 4' within the wall. The stair, which rises to 
the right, still exists for seven steps, for the most part broken and 
displaced. It is 3' 4" wide. An oval chamber is opposite the stair 
foot, 3' 6" wide at entrance, expanding to 4' 6", and 9' 4" long. It has 
been covered with an overlapping roof, now gone. The entrance to 
it is covered with a lintel 4' long, l' 7" broad, and 11" thick. On the 
S. side, between the main entrance and the entrance to the stair, at 
about 9' from the ground, is a single stone projecting about 4" beyond 
the wall below and 11" beyond the wall above it, which, for a distance 
of about 6' along the curve,is slightly restricted so as to form a ledge. 
About the same level, on the opposite side, a like partial restriction 
appears for a similar dist.ance. Opposite the main entrance, at a 
height of 8' 7" from ground level, another similar stone projects. At 
this level there has been a course of larger stones around the inner 
circumference. At 46' SE. of the outer end of the entrance to the broch 
are the ruins or an outer defensive wall, which curves round to the 
flanks, meeting the broch at 28' from the entrance on the S. side, and 
at about 37' on the W. The details of this defensive work are obscured 
at the entrance by the mound of rubbish taken from the interior in 
the excavation (fig. 55). 

See Pococke, p. 116. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. Visited, 26th June 1909. 

393. B1'ach, Shiness.-The broch of Shiness "is situated on a knoll 
at the foot of a field about 400 yards NW. of Shiness House, at the 
N. end of Loch a' Bhainbh. It is now a featureless cairn of stones, 
some 7' to 8' high. The remains of two chambers are visible on the 
SE. side. 

In the bank of the b~rn to the S. a quantity of iron slag is visible. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxv. Visited, 19th June 1909. 
394. Brach, Dalchark.-This broch is situated on the left bank of 

the River Tiny, near Dalchork, on the top of a knoll which rises out 
of the fiat haugh land to a height of about 30' above the river. The 
numerous sheep drains show the marshy nature of the surrounding 
land in former times. Towards the river the slope of the hillock is 
abrupt, and on the S. there is a scarp of about 6' in height. A short 
distance from the base of the scarp the ruins of a wall curve round 
westwards towards the river bank. On the N. and E. sides, coming 
up to the edge of the broch, are considerable remains of enclosures, 
which are probably original, as the slope of the mound in these 
directions is not steep, and there are no other signs of outer defences. 
The broch itself has occupied the centre of the flat summit, but is 

" now a structureless rqass showing no wall faces or other measurable 
details, from which all the larger stones appear to have been removed. 
It does not seem to have been of exceptional size. 

O. S.M., SUTH., xciv. Visited, 1st July 1909. 
395. Broch, Alltb1·eac. - At Alltbreac, on the SE. end of a grassy 

hill, some 150 yards distant from its summit, and about 1 m. E. of 
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Dalchork, are th~ remains of a broch. It has been sadly dilapidated 
and used as a quarry for sheep-folds and numerous secondary con­
structions in its imwediate neighbourhood. Of the outer wall little 
but the lowest course remains, but this shows the masonry to have 
been very large, as some of the stones composing it are over 3' in length 
and from I' 6/1 to 2' in height. The structure on the interior has been 
equally demolished, and the outline of the wall is only ascertain­
able with difficulty. The interior diameter has been about 31' 6/1, 
and the thickness of the wall 13'. The entrance has been from the 
SE., and seems to have been about 3' wide through a passage 13' in 
length. The door checks, if any existed, have gone, and the sides are 
much ruined. There have been chambers on both sides entering 
from the passage; that on the right about 6' 4/1 in from the exterior, 

~'IG. 56. -Broch, AUt Breac (No. 395). 

that on the left perhaps a little further in. The chamber on the 
right is entered by a passage through the wall I' 8/1 wide and about 
4' long. The chamber itself has been about 10' long, but, as the roof 
and outer wall are gone, its other dimensions are unobtainable. The 
passage into the chamber on the left seems to have been about 2' 6/1 
in length and 2' broad. The chamber has been about 7' long and 
only about 2' 8/1 broad, but its ruined state makes the measurements 
rather unreliable as to its original form. Some 4' S. of the end of it 
is the back wall of another chamber, still 6' high and 4' 10" wide. 
Its length is unascertainable with certainty, as the W. end is blocked 
up with ruins, but it appears to have been about 7', and a continua­
tion for other 8' westward of its S. wall most probably indicates the 
position of the stair. At 5' 6/1 further W. is the S. end of another 
small chamber, which has been about 4' wide, and is filled with stones. 
Following the curve of the wall in the opposite direction from the E. 
side of the entrance the back of a chamber lying to the N. is met 
with at about 44' 6/1. It has a width of about 5', but, as the wall on 
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the outside or NE. is perpendicular and built against the rounded 
wall at the back, it has probably been originally wider. 3' 6" to the 
E. of it is the end wall of another chamber running SE. for 13'. The 
outer wall here also presents the same features as in the previous 
case. The span of the original roof has probably been too great, and 
an additional wall has been necessary for its support. The present 
greatest width of this chamber is about 3' 6". The original out­
works are not distinguishable from the remains of folds, etc., around 
the broch (fig. 56). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 28th June 1909. 

396. O'i1'Cula1' Enclosure, The Ord, Lairg.-About -l- m. SSE. from 
the summit of the hill, on a slight ridge, is a circular enclosure, with 
an interior diameter of 43', surrounded by a wall of turf and boulders 
7' across and now only about I' 6" high. Beyond the wall is a berm 
19' wide, reaching to the edge of an enclosing ditch 21' across and 
about 6' deep. The circle of the ditch is broken towards the SSW., 
where has been the entrance. It has passed between two walls now 
traceable only from the outer edge of the berm, diverging from 9' 
apart to 13' at their outer extremities. Their thickness is not ascer­
tainable. The wall of the enclosure is of the same character as that 
of the ordinary hut circles. A turf dyke, old, yet comparatively 
modern, has crossed over the construction; 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. and cii. Visited, 14th June 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUOTIONS. 

397. l'he Ord, Lai1·g.-About 200 yards SE. of the summit of the 
hill is a large hut circle of simple form, but of larger dimensions 
than usual, measuring across from SE. to NW. about 38' and from 
NE. to SW. 52'. There has been an entrance from the SW., about 
4' 6" across, through a passage some 12' in length, having a chamber 
entering off it on the right. 

About 250 yards SE. of the summit is a mound of about 27' 
diameter, which seems to have been excavated. It has been pillaged, 
and is overgrown with turf. 

Some 250' SE. of the summit, just inside the wall of an old 
enclosure, is a large mound, probably a cairn, covered with grass 
and the remains of burnt heather. It is some 50' in diameter and 6' 
to 7' in height. 

Within 20' to the S. of it is a mound, measuring about 15' from 
N. to S. by 10' from E. to W., and 2' high, partially opened by rabbits. 

Some 60' S. is another mound, some 18' X 10' in diameter and 
2' high. 

Some 50 yards N. of the small circular fort (No. 396) are the 
remains of a hut circle, of ordinary form, of about 30' interior 
diameter. Some 40' SE. of it again is a small round mound of some 
16' diameter. 

About 100 yards SE. of the fort (No. 396) is a large group 
of mounds, varying from 10' to 22' in diameter and from I' 6" to 3' 
high, the majority some 16' to 18' in diameter. There are from thirty 
to forty of them in the group. 
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398. Do.-Among them appear several hut circles. One towards 
the NW. is fairly discernible, and measures some 26' across the 
interior. At the SE. end of the group is a well-preserved hut circle, 
measuring 37' in interior diameter and 6' across the enclosing bank. 
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The inner line of the bank is well defined in places, with pointed stones 
set on end. The entrance is from the SE. through a passage 14' in 
length, containing on either side a small semicircular chamber or recess, 
measuring 6' X 5', and opening on the passage at its inner end (fig. 57). 

399. Do.-About 30 yards NE. of the last is another circle, 
measuring interiorly 35' x 38', with its entrance from the SE. (fig. 58). 
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FIG. 58.-Hut Circle, The Ord (No. 399). 

Some 30' to the N. of it lies a mound, with its longest axis K and 
W., measuring some 28' x 14' in length and breadth, and 2' in height. 
Another, similar, in the same alignment, about 20' W. of the last, 
measures 28' X 16'. It lies some 20' to the NW. of the last hut circle. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. and cii. Visited, 14th June 1909. 
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400. Do.-About 250 yards SE. of the summit, on the W. Hank 
of the hill, are a number of curious constructions, clustered together. 
At the extreme SE. end of the group is a small semicircular enclosure, 
18' across, with a wall stretching across the open end for a distance 
of 11' from the W. About 30 yards NW. of it is an enclosure, 
circular or square with rounded angles, about 35' in diameter, 
surrounded by the remains of a turf and boulder wall 7' thick, the 
entrance to the SE. about 5' across. Adjoining it to the E., and 
facing NW., is a large crescentic mound, measuring 21' wide at the 
centre, 3' high to the outside, and 4' 7" in front, 41' between its 
extremities, and with a concavity of 12'. Some 21' from the centre 
of the crescent is a low oblong heap of stones, quite fiat on the top, 
measuring 19' from NW. to SE. by 25' from SW to NE. It is 
some 2' high. Some 18' NW. of the last construction is a heap of 
boulders, 16' in circumference, and 2' high, which does not appear 
to be sepulchral. 

401. Do.-Some 100 yards SW. of the constructions last 
mentioned is a hut circle of the usual type, measuring interiorly 
35' x 37'. About 50' SW. of the hut circle is a mound which 
appears to be formed artificially of earth and boulders, with · a 
diameter of about 20' and height about 2'. Its character is doubtful. 

402. Do.-About -} m. S. of the summit, on a slight knoll, is a 
cup-shaped hollow, measuring 11' across and l' 5" deep in the centre; 
and immediately adjoining it to the SW., with its longest axis SW. 
and NE., is a rectalJgular construction, formed of flat sharp-edged 
boulders set on end round three sides-the end towards the hollow 
being open. The interior dimensions are 6' 8" X 3' 10". There is no 
appearance of a wall, and a considerable number of small stones lie 
about in the interior, which is raised about 8". The highest stone is 
I ' 6" above ground, and I' 7" across by 9" thick. 

Some 30' S. of it is a hut circle, of ordinary type, with entrance 
from the SE., 5' across, between two large stones. Its interior dimen­
sions are 45' X 36'. 

Some 14' SE. of the cup-shaped hollow is a small mound of some 6' 
in diameter; and some· 20' to the N. of the adjacent circle is a mound 
of earth and boulders lying N. and S., measuring 12' 6" X ID', and I' 
to 1r high, and several others are in the vicinity. 

403. Do.-50 yards or so W. of the great cairn (No. 443), near the 
summit, is a circular mound or cairn 28' in diameter and some 3' 6" 
high. A slight excavation appears to have been made on the top, 
but neither cist nor chamber is exposed. 

Some 100 yards NW. of the great cairn is a hut circle of the 
usual form, with the entrance from the SE. 

All along the hill face, from the summit downwards for lOO', 
are numerous mounds, mostly circular, varying from about 12' to 23' 
in diameter (the greatest number measuring about 20' across and 
some 3' high). These mounds are larger and more conspicuous than 
those generally observed in similar situations. 

Some 50 yards E. of the last hut circle is another, with interior 
diameter of some 18' X 20', and entrance apparently from the N. 

Some 250 yards NNW. of the great cairn is a well-defined hut 
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circle, overgrown with heather, quite circular, with a diameter of 30', 
and the entrance from the SE. 

Several mounds lie around it. One, some 20' to the W., lying 
N. and S., measures about 17' X 12', and is about 3' high. Towards its 
S. end a single large stone protrudes on the top 8/1 or 10" above the 
ridge. 

404. Do.-Some 100 yards NW. of the great cairn is a circle, 
measuring over all about 20', with an interior diameter of about 6', 
surrounded by a stony bank. The. centre is covered with turf, and 
does not seem stony. Running from it on the NW. are the ruins of 
an ancient wall, which continues for a distance of 96', and terminates 
in a low stony mound about 10' long and 9' across. At 54' beyond, 
over a space where there is no trace whatever of walling, the wall 
recommences running in the same direction, with a curve open to 
the E. 21' across, connected with a large oval heap of stones, probably 
the remains of a hut enclosure, measuring some 47' x 20', facing the 
W., and with an interior depression measuring 18' x 12'. From the 
NW. of this heap the wall proceeds down the hill, and at about 100 
yards it appears to turn eastwards. Here there are indefinite indica­
tions of similar enclosures connected with it. The wall is not carried 
to the top of the hill, nor has it the strength or character of a 
fortification. 

405. Do.--About 200 yards NNW. of the great cairn is a cres­
centic construction, measuring about 30' over all, with an interior of 
about 12' diameter. 

Some 100 yards N. by W. of the great cairn to the N. of the path­
way across the hill are the remains of a large walled enclosure, with 
interior measurements of about 43' X 45', and entrance from the SE., 
while adjoining it to the NE. is a large oval mound, measuring about 
33' from NE. to SW. and 23' from NW. to SE., and about 3' high. 

406. Do.-Some 100 yards due N. of the great cairn, and on the 
upper side of the pathway, is a small circle, with an interior diameter 
of 16', flanked on the N. and S. by banks about 2' high and 12' across, 
while on the E. and W. the base of the bank is merely indicated. 
Near the entrance to the E. the wall is 4' thick. This has probably 
been a kiln. 

About 20' E. is a hut circle, of ordinary form, measuring interiorly 
24' X 29', with an enclosing bank about 5' thick, and entrance from the 
NW. facing the object described in the preceding paragraph. Some 
81' E. is a mound, with a diameter of about 22'. 

At about 100 yards NE. of the summit is a crescentic mound 
of earth and boulders, measuring about 42' along the crest, about 
12' across the centre, and 29' between the points facing NE., with 
the back to the hill. 

Some 150 yards N. by E. of the summit, within 50' of the path, 
is a cup-shaped hollow of 6' interior diameter and If depth, open 
to the N. 

Some 200 yards due N. of the summit · is a circular enclosure of 
about 27' interior diameter, and with a wide opening to the E. In 
its vicinity lie numerous small mounds. 

SOIDe 40' N. of the circular enclosure is a hut circle of the usual 
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character, with the entrance from the SE. The interior diameter is 
some 24' x 27'. 

About i ill. N. of the great cairn is another hut circle of the usual 
form, but somewhat indistinct. 

The mounds on the N. and NW. slopes of the hill must number 
somewhere about 100. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. and cii. Visited, 14th June 1909. 

407. Do.-To the S. of the road to Invercassley, about 150 yards 
W. of where it leaves the main road to the S. of Lairg, are two hut 
circles. The westmost one is small, measuring some 23' across; 
the other, overgrown with heather, measures some 28' in interior 
diameter. 

Between the last circle and the main road to Bonar Bridge is a 
small group of mounds, most of which have been demolished. One, 
close to the road, about 100 yards S. of the crossing, is from 1r to 2' 
high, and measures 20' X 13'. 

Some 350 yards S. of the cross roads, on the W. side of the road, 
are the remains of a hut circle, of the usual form, but smaller in size, 
measuring interiorIy 18' X 24'. The entrance is from the SE. The 
bank is much broken down. 

Olose to the last is a group of mounds, about twelve in number, 
mostly circular, with diameter of about 14'. 

Towards the SE. end of the group is a mound formed of two 
smaller mounds joined by a neck. The whole length of the con­
struction is 24'. The expansions at either end are 10' long, and the 
neck about 4' long. The <>SE. end is 14' across, the neck 8', and the 
NW. end 13'. There is a marked concavity on the W. in the centre, 
but not so marked on the E., and a lowering of the ridge at the neck. 

Another illound, about 20' NW., partially demolished, measures 
some 22' X 14', and has its longest axis E. and W. 

408. Do.-Another small group lies between the road and the 
river some 150 yards S. of the junction of the Invercassley road. 
One at the SW. of the group is oval, measuring 17' X 8' 6", with its 
longest axis E. and W. Qne, a little to the N. of it, is almost circular, 
with a diameter of 18'. Another to the S. measures 15' X 9' 6", with 
its longest axis SW. and NE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. Visited, 14th June 1909. 
409. SE. end of Loch Shin.-On a slight hillock, about 30 yards S. 

of the site of the broch (No. 391), in the plantation to the N. of the 
Ord, is a circular enclosure, overgrown with heather. Its dimensions 
are in consequence not accurately obtainable, but the interior 
diameter appears to be about 25'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. Visited, 5th July 1909. 
410. Rive?' SMn.-On the right bank of the River Shin, about 1 m. 

S. of Lairg church and some 30 yards down from the stone circle 
(No. 462), is a well-defined hut circle on the top of the river bank. 
It is of the usual form, but small, measuring interiorly only 14' X 20'. 

411. Bailefiur.-Some ]80 yards SW. of the cairn (No. 449) on 
Druim Baile fiur is a hut circle, with the entrance from the SE., 
measuring interiorly 31' X 37'. The faces of the encircling bank are 
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well marked with boulders, laid end to end, and the bank appears to 
ha ve been from 8' to 10' across. 

About 100 yards SE. of the hut circle are three mounds of from 
18' to 20' in diameter, and 2' to 3' in height. 

A hut circle, with its entrance from the SW., lies about 100 yards 
E. of the single cairn (No. 450). The inner line of the wall is marked 
by pointed stones (the highest about 2' high) projecting at irregular 
intervals. The enclosure is circular, with a diameter of 26'. The 
width of the entrance is not ascertainable (unnoted). 

4l2. Pitarxie.-On the hill between Gruids and the road from 
Lairg to Invershin, on the W. side_of the River Shin, near Pitarxie, are 
a number of hut circles and mounds. About 100 yards from the 
road is a group of about eight mounds and a hut circle through which 
a roadway has been cut. One mound, some 30' W. of the hut circle, 
measures some 30' X 26', and is about 2' high. 

Another hut circle lies about 100 yards SW. of the first, measuring 
19' X 24' interiorly, with its entrance from the SE. Its bank is more 
stony than usual, and measures about 6' across. A group of four or 
five mounds lies to the SW. of it. 

O.S.M. SUTH., cii. Visited, 5th July 1909. 

413. Torroboll and Rhianb1·eck.-On the E. side of the road leading 
from Lairg towards Torroboll, about 1 m. S. of Lairg, on a track of 
moorland about lOO' above the River Shin, is a group of seven or eight 
mounds, and the remains of a small hut circle, with an entrance from 
the S., and an interior diameter of about 19' X 21'. 

On the N. side of the road to Rhianbreck, about 200 yards beyond 
its junction with the Lairg road, is a hut circle of the usual type, with 
its entrance from the SE. Its interior dimensions are about 24' X 27'. 

On the S. side of the .road to Tomich, about i m. E. of its junction 
with the Lairg road, is a group of seven or eight mounds measuring 
from 12' to 18' in diameter, and from 2' to :r in height. 

Some 100 yards to the S., and stretching along the hillside above 
the crofts, are about a score more mounds of the usual form. 

A few hundred yards SE. of the upper end of the crofts at Torro­
boIl, and on the W. side of an old road, are several hut circles and 
mounds. 

Two circles, marked on the O.S. map, are of the usual form, over- ' 
grown with grass and heather, with entrances from the SE. A small 
group of mounds lies about them. 

Some 80 yards N. and NW. respectively of the northmost of 
the two circles are the indistinct remains of two others, with five or 
six mounds beside them. 

About 100 yards E., across the road from the circles noted on 
the O.S. map, is another, with more mounds near it. The mounds 
are all overgrown with heather, and are eighteen to twenty in 
number. 

On the piece of waste ground S. of the burn that runs through 
Torroboll, and NW. of the last enclosed crofts, is a hut circle of 
usual type, measuring interiorly 30' X 34', enclosed by a bank 5' thick 
and about 2' high, and with an entrance from the SW. Around 
this circle are about a score of mounds of the usual small type. 
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On the top of one, at its N. end, a single Jarge boulder sticks up 
about a foot above the heather. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. and ciii. Visited, 17th June 1909. 

414. Strath Fleet.-About 3 m. E. of Lairg, on the N. side of the 
road to Rogart, situated on a slight terrace on the hillside, above 
which the rocks rise abruptly for some 50', is a hut circle of the 
usual form, with its entrance from the SE. It measures interiorly 
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FIG. 59. -Hut Circle, Strath Fleet (No. 414). 

26' X 29'. The interior space has been diminished by a low wall of 
boulders and turf, which curves aGross from either side, cutting off 
the back of the enclosure, so as to form a circle of the front portion 
21' in diameter. In the centre of this area is a low bed of stones, 
about 4' across, which has probably formed a hearth, as, on cutting 
out a turf, wood-charcoal was found (fig. 59). 

Some 60' further E. , and at a slightly lower level, nearer the 
road, is another circle, measuring some 28' x 34' interiorly, with its 
entrance from the SE. The bank is about 4' thick, except at either 
side of the entrance passage, where it expands to 7'. The passage 
is from 3' 6" to 4' wide. An old road passes along the hillside between 
these two circles. 

A circular mound, low, and rather dilapidated, with a diameter of 
22', lies about 40' NW. of the last circle and about 12' lower on 
the slope. 

On a ~light elevation, about 100 yards W. of the last, and some 
20' above the road, are the remains of another circle. The bank 
on the N. has fallen away, taking a considerable part of the enclosure 
with it, and disclosing a section of the interior, which shows a layer 
of charcoal about 2/1 deep from 5/1 to 6/1 below the present surface, 
lying on a level floor of earth. There are no bones or foreign matter 
among the charcoal, which lies near where the inside of the bank 
must have been. In the NE. portion of the interior is a cup-shaped 
hollow about 7' across and l' 6/1 deep. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 18th June 1909. 

415. Balindailish, etc.-On the ridge running W. above the crofts 
at Balindailish, about 1i m. from Lairg, are situated various groups 
of mounds. 
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The first group is above Balindailish, and consists of three or 
foul' of the ordinary low, grass-covered type. 

About -l m. W. above Balcharn is another group . . A short distance 
to the N. of Balcharn is a group of about half a dozen, all grass­
grown. 

Of the group at Culmaily, to the E. of it, only one remains, half 
broken down on the edge of the road past the crofts. Some 100 
yards S., ·on the moorland, the outline of a hut circle is observable. 

The group of mounds some 400 yards E. of Culbuie consists of 
about a dozen, from 12' to 18' in diameter, and some 3' in height. 

416. Dulaich.-About -l m. E. of Savalbeg, at Dulaich, is a group 
of about fourteen mounds. One or two are rather higher, and more 
pointed than usual, being about 3' 6" in height. 

417. Do.-A short distance to the NE. of Loch Dulaich, and on 
either side of the road or track to Loch Tigh na Creige, is a large 
group of mounds and hut circles. The first hut circle is on slightly 
rising ground to the N. of the road, some 300 yards beyond the loch. 
It is of the usual form, but its outline is not now very definite. 
A short distance beyond it, to the NE., is a group of six or eight 
mounds of the usual type. 

About 100 yards further on, and some 40 yards N. of the road, 
is another hut circle, of usual form, with entrance from the SE., and 
measuring interiorly 21' X 27'. 

Across the road, where the ground rises steeply, along the top 
of the ridge, and on its N. slope, are about a score of mounds, over­
grown with grass and heather, measuring froUl 12' to 18' in diameter. 
Scattered among them are five hut circles. 

The most northerly of these is situated close beside the road, and 
is somewhat larger than usual, measuring 34' X 45' interiorly. The 
entrance, which is 3' wide, is as usual fro111 the SE. Abutting on it, 
on the W. side, is another smaller circle, measuring 28' X 31', and 
with an entrance from the SE. They are connected by a common 
bank or mound 12' across (fig. 60). 

Some 50 yards SW. of it is another, with interior dimensions of 
24' X 31', and an entrance from the SE. It appears to have been at 
one time much larger, but to have been filled up on the W. side, 
making the bank in that direction 14' across. 

Another circle on the top of the ridge, about 100 yards S. of 
the double circle, is also in good preservation. It measures about 
21' X 24', and has the entrance to the SE. The interior appears to 
have been hollowed out to some extent, and is some 2' below the 
ground level on the upper side. 

The other circle of the group, some 50 yards W. of the last, is 
much effaced. . 

Across the burn-the Feith Mhor-which flows to the N. cif these 
remains, on a slight elevation, is a similar group, consisting of a hut 
circle and mounds. The circle is some 190 yards NNW. of the bridge 
across the burn. It measures interiorly about 19' X 23', and is entered 
from the SE. To the S. and E. of it lie about a dozen mounds of the 
usual type. 

O.S. M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 18th June 1909. 
10 
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FIG. 60.-Hut Circle, Dulaich (No. 4.17 )' 

418. LaiTg.-On a small piece of waste land, some 300 yards SE. 
of Sydney House, is a group of seven or eight mounds. All of these 
are of the ordinary type, except one, in the SE. corner of the enclosure, 
which is somewhat larger, and measures 23' x 21'. Another mound 
lies some 300 yards S. of Sydney House. 

O.S.M., 8uTH., xcv. Visited, 18th June 1909. 

419. LaiTg MooT.-A small group of mounds, about t m. N. of 
Lairg Church, are of the usual character. There are, besides these, 
remains of one or two hut circles, now ill defined. 

Some 250 yards NW. of Sydney House are two hut circles set in 
relation to an old enclosing bank. The bank or mound is irregular 
in outline and height, but in places it is 12' to 14' wide and 2' high. 
It crosses the moor from NNW. along the edge of a slight depression, 
turns to the SW. where th!3 hut circles have been placed, thereafter 
curving to the S., crosses the road, and is lost in the cultivated land 
beyond. There is an opening through the bank 6' across, just where 
it first alters its direction, flanked on the S. by a broadening of the 
mound to 20' and on the opposite side by a hut circle placed against 
the mound on its outer face. The circle measures interiorly about 
20' x 23', and has two entrances, one from the SE. and another from 
the entrance passage to the interior of the enclosure. Nearly opposite 
the opening, and about 50' NW., within the enclosed area, is the other 
hut circle, which is of similar dimensions, well preserved, and with an 
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entrance from the S. To the N. and NE. of the circles are a number 
of small mounds of usual type. 

420. Do.-About 150 yards NE. of Sydney House is another hut 
circle, of usual form, with an entrance from the S. A number of 
mounds lie to the N. and NE. of it. 

421. O"eag an t-Sabhail.-About 250 yards NNE. of Creag an 
t-Sabhail is a group of mounds, in number about two dozen, of usual 
type, and about the same distance to the NW. lies another small 
group. 

422. Savalmore.-About t m. SSW. of Savalmore, on a ridge, 
are a group of mounds and a well-preserved hut circle of 30' interior 
diameter. 

O.S.M. SUTH., xcv. Visited, 24th June 1909. 

423. An t-Sron.-On the top of a low grassy hill, about i m. N. 
of Lairg Lodge, is a group of about sixteen small mounds, of the usual 
type, covered with vegetation. 

424. Do. -About i m. due N. of the last, on the An t-Sron, a 
ridge running N. and S., are a large number of mounds and several 
circles. 

On the E. face of the hill, towards the S. end of it, is a singular 
construction. The main feature has been a circle of contiguous 
boulders, with a diameter of some 46'. The largest of the remaining 
boulders is from I' 6" to 2' high, and about the same width at base. 
A number of the stones have been removed so recently that the beds 
in the peat where they stood still remain. At 4' within this circle 
the remains of another circle, concentric, but formed of smaller 
stones, are at several points apparent, and also at 4' outside it the 
stones forming a portion of a third circle, also concentric, are met 
with. The growth of heather rather obscures these details in places. 
Towards the SE. an entrance 4' to 5' wide, edged with stones on 
either side for 9' towards the centre, passes through the main circle. 
The seats from which have been removed two large stones (which stood 
with their broad faces lining the passage on one side) are quite evideut. 
At 9' inwards there is a regular causeway of large stones laid across 
the end of the opening for a further distance of 9', at the end of which 
is a low grass-covered circular mound, occupying the centre of the 
circles, 11' across and about I t' high. Between the three circles 
there is no sign of a turf bank or of building, although here and there on 
the surface a few stones are lying. On piercing the turf, stones were 
found over nparly the whole interior area about 8" below the surface. 

425. Do.-Some 40 yards SE. of the last is a low mound of 24' 
diameter, which appears to have been enclosed within a circle having 
a diameter of lrom 36' to 38' formed of low stones, set about 9' apart. 
Of the fourteen stones which apparently formed the circle, only 
three small stones remain, but there are the well-defined seats of 
seven others, leaving only four unaccounted for. The existing stones, 
though firmly set in the peat, do not protrude more than 10" to I ', 
and are not broad. The stones removed have all been larger. Most 
of them stooa with their broad faces at right angles to the line of 

. circumference. The mound is not more than 2' to 2t' in height. 
About 40' E. of the mound is a small depression, bounded by a 
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bank about 8' across and I' 2" high on the E. side, in which direct.ion 
the ground slopes. The interior is circular, with a diameter of from 
6' to 7', and has been entered from the S. 

There are numerous mounds all along the slope of the hill facing 
the SE. 

Towards the top of the hill, and S.E. of the large enclosure in­
dicated on the O.S. map, is a hut circle, with its entrance from the 
S.H. 9' wide. It is of the usual form, and measures interiorly 36' X 41'. 
The bank is of turf and stone. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. Visited, 25th June 1909. 

426. Onoc a' Ohatha.-About t m. N. of the An t-Sron, across 
a stretch of boggy land, rises the Qnoc a' Ohatha, a grassy hill about ' 
200' in height, and running SE. and NW. for a distance of about 
t m. Extending all over the crest and flanks of the hill are a number 
of round mounds, overgrown with turf, of the usual character. 

N ear the mounds at the SE. end is a hut circle of usual oval form, 
measuring 29' x 35' interiorly, with an entrance from the SE. 

A little to the NW. is another, whose breadth is greater than its 
length, measuring 14' X 12', with the entrance from the SE. From the 
NW. of it a bank curves northwards up the hill for a short distance, 
and then, running W. for about 15', meets the E. side of a semicircular 
enclosure at its open end. This semicircle is 33' in diameter, and 
measures about 33' across the open end, being probably a cattle 
shelter. The bank enclosing it, where best preserved on the E. side, 
is about 13' across and 3' high, formed of earth or turf and stones. 
Some 40' to the S. of the lower circle is apparently the opening 
through a bank or wall, the ends of which are discernible on either 
side running in an NW. and NE. direction respectively. 

Some 40 yards W. of the upper enclosure are the remains of a 
circular stone building of 14' interior diameter, with the entrance 
from the S., and ruined walls of boulders 6' across their foundations. 

A little to the N. of it is a well-preserved hut circle of the 
ordinary form, measuring 26' X 31', with an entrance from the S. 5' 
wide. The bank thickens towards the entrance, where it is 11' across. 

About 60' SW. of the last are the ruins of a stone structure, 
showing remains of a wall of from I' 9" to 2' high, and from 9' to 10' 
thick. It is oval, with its longest axis at right angles tu the direction 
of its entrance, which is from the S. Its interior measurements are 
25' X 23'. The entrance is much ruined, but appears to have been 
about 2' wide. There are indications that the interior has been sub­
divided into small oval or round chambers, with outlines of boulders, 
but the debris lying all over the interior renders the plan indefinite. 

427. Do.-About 50 yards NW. of the last is a construction with 
two circular enclosures, separated from each other by a stone founda­
tion 3' across, and bounded on the W. side by a mound of earth and 
stones 29' long, 14' broad on base, and 2' to 3' high, and on the E. by 
a mound of lesser rlimensions. The two enclosures lie in line in a 
direction NW. and SE. That towards the NW. is oval, and measures 
interiorly 13' in length by 9' in breadth, and appears to have a wide 
opening to the NE., where the ends of the mounds do nut converge. 
The enclosure towards the SE. measures 8' in breadth by 10' in 
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length, and has an entrance from the SE. 2' wide through a wall with 
a well-defined edge 2' 5/1 thick on the W. side; the stone on the 
opposite side being overgrown with grass, the actual length of the 
passage is unascertainable. From the E. side of the circle, near the 
centre, on the exterior, a wall runs SE. for about 40', then turns NE. 
up the hill for about 70 yards, thereafter turning sharply to the N. 
and NW. for about 100 yards, terminates in an oval enclosure 22' 
across by 11' long, with an opening from the SW. Parallel with the 
wall as it runs up the hill, and some 27' distant, a similar wall 
is observable, terminating at its upper end in a cup-shaped de­
pression of some 12' interior diameter. The walls are not defensive, 
but tbey are noticeable by reason of their connection with the small 
enclosures, which are a regular feature of them.* 

428. Do.-Some 150 yards NW. of the first-mentioned stone hut 
circle (No. 426) are the ruins of another, which is circular, with an 
interior diameter of 18'. At the N. end are indications of a small 
oblong chamber (or perhaps of two oval ones) in the thickness of the 
wall, measuring some 6' X 4', with an entrance from the interior. The 
entrance to the main circle has been from the S. 

429. Do.-At the SE. extremity of the flat top of the hill are 
the ruins of a circular building, showing traces of chambers in the 
thickness of the walls. There is much stone lying all over the 
interior, to a grea't extent covered with grass. There is no height of 
walling anywhere visible, but the interior is lower than the sides. 
The diameter over all is 34', and that of the interior appears to have 
been about 16'. The entrance has been from the SE. through a 
passage about 13' in length, 13' wide at the outer end, and converging 
to 2' at the inner. 

430. Do.-On the very summit of the enoc is a double enclosure, 
presumably a cattle pend, forming a diverging spiral. The upper circle 
has a diameter of 42', and is surrounded by a ruined wall 5' to 6' 
thick. The entrance from the S. is 20' wide, and is flanked on the 
E. by a horn projecting 21' to the SE. The wall from the W. side 
of the entrance runs S. for about 60', then curves round to the west­
wards, forming another enclosure, with a diameter of 43', terminating 
parallel to and 5' distant from the S. bank or wall. The banks of 
the lower spiral are faint, and have probably been made of turf. 
This is particularly noted on account of the resemblance of its plan 
to thoee of the so-called" Serpentine" cairns. 

A rather prominent mound lies to the E. of the summit. It 
has a diameter of 26', and is some 3' in height. 

Another, about 150 yards to the NE., measures 20' in diameter, 
and is some 3' to 4' high. 

Towards the NW. end of the E. face of the hill, about HIO 
yards NE. from the large mound on the top, is a crescentic mound, 
with its concavity towards the NE. It measures 22' from point to 
point, is 11' broad at centre, has a concavity of some 4', and is some 2' 
high. It is formed of earth and stones. Like others observed, the 
front of the crescent faces down hill. 

About 30 yards NW. of the last is an oval enclosure, sur-

* Of Nos. 404 and 419. 
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rounded by a broad bank of boulders and earth some 6' thick, with 
an interior measurement of ID' X 20'. The entrance is from the SE., 
and the longest axis is in the direction of the entrance. 

On the lower slope of the hill to the NE. is a circular en­
closure, with an interior diameter of about 13', with a bank from If 
to 2' above the bottom of the interior. The entrance has apparently 
been from the NW. 

At the NW. end of the hill on the Bank are two or three 
enclosures, with wide entrances-probably cattle enclosures. One, 
measured, is 30' wide and 37' long. 

On the W. slope of the hill, to the NW. of the ruins of the 
stone enclosures, and 100 yards or so SE. of the so-called cattle en­
closures, is a hut circle, measuring 26' x 28', with its entrance from 
the SE., and opening out of it at the NE. a smaller circle with a 
diameter of 11'. 

431. Do.-On the lower slope of the hill, on the W. side, are a 
number of mounds which do not appear to be sepulchral. They all 
show a slight depression in the centre, where much stone is exposed. 
They are all very similar in dimensions,. measuring some 18' X 22' over 
all, and interiorly about 5' X 4'. Their appearance suggests that they 
are the ruins of primitive stone huts. 

432. 01'eag an t-Sabhail.-About ~ m. N. of Creag an t-Sabhail, 
between the old road leading to the ford over the Allt a' Chasaidh­
ghil and the fence to the W. of it, a green hillock rises from the 
swampy moorland. Near to its SE. end is a small circle, measuring 
interiorly some 12' X 16', with its entrance from the SE. 2' wide. 
The thickness of the bank at base is about 6'. Some 8' in from the 
entrance is a semicircular setting of stones, 2' 6" across, probably a 
hearth. On cutting out a turf, charcoal was found, but only a small 
quantity. 

Some 3~' S. of the last is a larger circle, measuring interiorly 
about 3~' X 33', with the entrance from the SE. 

Some 40' NE. of the small circle is another larger one, broken 
down on the E. side, with its entrance from the SE. about ID' across. 

All along the hillock are small mounds of the usual character. 
433. Onoc nan Neul.-About t m. NW. of the ford over the Allt a' 

Chasaidh-ghil, on the lower slope of Cnoc nan Neul, overlooking the 
flow, is a good specimen of a hut circle. Its interior measures 32' X 
33'. The surrounding bank at the entrance is about 6' thick and 2' 
high, largely overgrown with heather, except on the outside, to the 
right of the entrance, where the construction of the wall of boulders 
set in earth or turf is well displayed. The entrance is from the SE. 

O.S.M., Sum., xcv. Visited, 28th June 1909. 

434. Feith Osdail.-About t ill. N. of a point It m. along the road 
whieh leads to Dalnessie from the main road between Lairg and 
Altnaharra, on the S. slope of the hill across the Feith Osdail, are 
the remains of a circular construction which occupy the summit of a 
slight grassy elevation. In the centre is a well-defined circle, formed 
of contiguous boulders from I ' to 3' in length, at largest about 2' in 
breadth and about I' in height. The diameter is some 12', and the 
entrance has been from the E. The width of the entrance is not 
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accurately obtainable, as a detached stone lies in it, but it cannot have 
been more than 2', and was possibly less. At 16' from the centre of 
the construction towards the N. and NE. are the remains of an outer 
circle, approximately concentric, connected with the inner circle by a 
line of boulders which curves round towards the N. side of its entrance. 
7' N. of the entrance, measured along the line of the inner circle, 
another line of stones extends directly to the outer circumference, and 
3' further N. there is a small bed of stones projecting 3' 6" into the 
space between the circles. There is a suggestion of round chambers ' 
being enclosed within these cross lines, but without excavation the 
plan is only indefinitely obtainable. Some 21' ENE. of the centre 
is a large standing-stone 4' high and 2' across its base, set with its 
broad face parallel with what appears to be the line of the entrance 
to the inner enclosure, and from its outer edge the foundation of a 
wall appears to run NE. for 8', and turning NW. to have formed the 
circumference of a third circle, also approximately concentric, some 
34' from the common centre. Four large boulders, with their flat 
faces inwards, stand near each other in the line of this circumference 
from N. to NE., 34' from centre at NE. and 38' at N. Southward of 
the standing-stone the line of the second ' circumference swings out­
ward again, and towards the SE. is 27' from the centre. Beyond SSE. 
it is lost. The surface is overgrown with turf and the plan difficult 
to make out. On removing a turf near the centre of the inner en­
closure a considerable amount of charcoal was found 6" to 8" below 
the surface. 

435. Do.-Some 20' E. is a flat-topped mound, from the edge of 
which many large stones protrude. 

On another grassy hillock, some 120 yards SE., is the foundation of 
a structure 20' long, rectangular towards the S. end, where it is 8' wide 
interiorly, and with a rounded addition at the N. end 7' from N. to S. 
by 11' across. In the interior of the latter is the foundation of a 
circular chamber of 5' diameter. 

436. Do.-On the top of the next, knoll, about 30 yards E., are the 
ruins of a small rectangular enclosure some 6' square. 

On another hillock, about i: m. E. of the first circle, is a structure, 
overgrown with grass, with apparently an entrance from the W., 
measuring 28' X 31', and in form resembling an ordinary hut circle. 
The outlines of foundations, plainly indicated below the turf, show 
that the back half has been divided up into several small circular 
enclosures. There appears to have been an entrance into one of the 
small chambers at the back from the N. In rear of the construction 
are two small round enclosures facing each other, open towards the 
S. and N. respectively, measuring each 5' in interior diameter and 3' 
across the opening. 

437. Do.-Some 30 yards WNW. of the first-mentioned con­
struction (No. 434) are remains probably of another similar structure, 
overgrown with grass. From the centre of what appears to be the 
interior circle, at about 8" below present level, charcoal was found. 

438. Do.-On a knoll some 120 yards NW. of the first construction 
(No. 434) are the confused ruins of a circular building. The surface 
is so covered with stones that the plan is difficult to determine. It 



152 HISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

PARISH OF LAIRG. 

appears to have been a d~y stone structure, with diameter over all of 
from 29' to 30', having various small chambers of from 4' to 6' interior 
diameter in the thickness of the walls. The thickness between the 
chambers and outside of wall is in p,ach case 6', and there appears to 
have been considerable thickness of wall between the chambers them­
selves. Two small circular constructions of about 8' diameter over all 
have abutted on it towards the N. and W. The entrance is not 
apparent in the present state of ruin, but it has probably been from 
the E. From the SE. a wall has curved round towards the E. for 
70', then turned westward for about 24', and in the direction of its 
termination a cross wall has curved out for 15' from the SE. wall, 
thus forming an enclosure with an entrance 15' wide. 

There are no mounds anywhere visible in the neighbourhood of 
these ruins . . 

439. Do.-On the left bank of the Feith Osdail, about 1~ m. 
above its junction with the River Tirry, are the foundations of a 
trefoil-shaped structure, similar to that above Loch Ooire nam :Feuran 
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FIG. 61.-Hut Foundations, Feith Osdail (No. 439). 

(No. 200). It is formed of three small circular enchJSures, two in line 
facing N. and S. respectively, and the third on the E. apparently 
facing the entrance. The enclosures measure about 4' from front to 
back, and about 5' in width at entrance. The distance between the 
W. or outer points of the two opposite enclosures is 9', and from the 
same points to the centre of the back line of the E. circle 16' on the 
N. 'and 14' on the S, The walls seem to have been only about I' 6" 
across, and were built without mortar. The whole is much overgrown 
with grass (fig. 61). 

Some 10' SW. are the remains of a small rectangular enclosure, 
measuring 8' X 6' interiorly; and about 30' E. are the foundations of 
another, also apparently rectangular, measuring 7' X 9'. 

About i m. S., 100 yards or so to the S. of the road to Dalnessie, 
is a small group of mounds, a hut circle of simple form, and a small 
mounded construction of the usual character between two parallel 
mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxvi. Visited, 1st July 1909. 
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440. CoLaboll. - -At the N. side of a small plantation near its E. 
end, about ! m. N. of Oolaboll, is a hut circle of the usual form, 
measuring illteriorly some 25' X 33', and having an entnl.llce from 
the SE. 

With this exception, the hut circles and" tumuli" marked on the 
O.S. map as existing here have entirely disappeared. 

O.S.M., SUTH, xciv. Visited, 19th June 1909. 

441. A1'd na Sinnis.-Towards the end of Ard na Sinnis, about 
400 yards from its SE. point, are a hut circle and several mounds of 
the ·usual form. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxv. (unnoted). Visited, 19th June 1909. 
442. Shiness.-Some 300 yards NW. of the monument in memory 

of Mr Murray of Geanies, on the moorland to the N. of Shiness, is a hut 
circie, measuring interiorly 33' X 36', with its entrance from the SE. 
A foot .01' two to the E. of its centre is a small semicircle of stones, 
some 2' across, which has probably been a hearth. On cutting out 
a turf a small quantity of charcoal was found. Some 10' in from the 
entrance on the left side of the interior is a hollow about 2' across 
and I' 2" deep. One large stone seems to be in sit~~ on one side, and 
another has fallen in. 

Some 100 yards W. is another hut circle, smaller than usual, 
and circular, with an interior diameter of about 18'. It seems to 
have had a secondary stone building inside it-probably in connection 
with a small house, the foundations of which lie near. 

There are remains of a number of mounds in the vicinity, over­
grown with turf. 

About 1 m. NW. of the monument are two hut circles of usual 
form, with some half a dozen mounds lying around them. 

All along this ridge the mounds occur at intervals, and one or 
two hut circles are visible among them, but the enclosing banks 
appear to have been formed solely of turf, and they have in great 
measure disappeared. 

The mounds, where indicated on the O.S. map at the N. end of 
the ridge, are very numerous, but show no features of peculiar interest. 

O.S.M., SUTH.,lxxxv. Visited, 19th June 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL OONSTRUCTIONS. 

443. Cairn, l'he Ord.-On the hill bearing the name of the Ord, 
about 1 m. SW. of Lairg and across the River Shin, and situated 
about 80 yards NW. of the summit is an immense cairn, sub-oval 
in outline, with the longest axis N. and S. From the point at which 
the stones rise abruptly its diameter from N. to S. is about 77', and 
from E. to W. about 91'. Like the cairn at Fiscary (No. 235), 
it appears to stand upon a base which extends about 20' out beyond 
the edge of the pile. The outline of this is very distinct over the 
greater part of the periphery. It is approximately circular, except at 
the S., where it appears to run to a point following the outline from 
the W. Eastward of the point there seems to be a concavity in the 
outline, but without excavation the existence of this feature cannot 
be accepted as certain. For a space of 13' across and 12' in towards 
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the cairn there is an absence of stones. The outline is well defined, 
with large stones exposed for about I' of elevation. The base is not 
absolutely level. On the W. side there is an inclination of 2' in the 
first 15', thereafter of 12' in 33'. On the E. side the level is 2' 6" in 
16', and thereafter 11' 9" in 28'. The diameter over all is from N. to 
S. 128', from E. to W. 120'. The greatest height is about 14'. It has 
been dilapidated to a considerable extent, and excavation has been 
made at various points, but neither cist nor chamber is exposed. 
Along the top from E. to W. a depression runs inward for 39', 
disclosing some large boulders. The cairn occupies a conspicuous 
position overlooking Loch Shin. 

444. Chambered Caim (1'emains 0/), do. -On the very summit of 
the hill, at an elevation of some 519' over sea -level, are the 
megaliths which have formed the chamber of a demolished cairn. 
The main axis lies ESE. and WNW. The chamber appears to have 
been bipartite, with the larger compartment at the W. end. This 
portion is now represented by four stones; viz., three on the N., the 
S., and the NW. respectively, being upright, and the fourth, a large 
stone towards the W., about 5' long, 2' 8" broad, and 11" thick, lying 
on its back. The compartment has been of polygonal form, with 
dimensions of about 8' X 6'. At the E. end the two partition stones 
are low, somewhat pointed, and 2' apart. They have given access to 
a second compartment 5' long and probably of about the same breadth. 
One stone only remains on the SW. side, about I' 8" long, and pro­
truding about 8" from the ground, and at the E. end are other 
two partition stones, I' 9" apart. Two feet further out are another 
pair of stones, similarly set 2' apart, which probably formed part of 
the passage wall. The highest stone in the inner compartment is 
about 2' high, I' 7" across, and I' thick. The diameter of the 
cairn from NE. to SW. has been about 46'. Along the line of the 
chamber the diameter is not obtaino.ble. The distance from the 
circumference to the stone at the back of the chamber is about 26'. 

445. Cairn, do.-About lOO' SSW. of the summit is a well-built 
circular cairn, measuring about 28' in diameter, and 3' 6" in height. 
The circumference all round is carefully defined with large contiguous 
stones, set point upwards, and with flat faces outwards. There is a 
slight depression on the top about 10" deep, 7' long by 4' 6" broad, 
running N. and R. 

446. Caims, do.-About 30 yards W. of the hut circle (No. 397), 
which is some 200 yards SE. of the summit of the hill, is a cairn 
w,hich has been considerably dilapidated, but no signs of a chamber or 
cist are revealed. It has a diameter of about 34', and is about 3' high . 

About 15' to the E. of it is another circular cail'll, with a diameter 
of 22', its outline carefully marked with large boulders. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. and cii. Visited, 14th June 1909. 

447. Chambered Caim, Achany.-Situated on the right bank of 
the Gruidie Burn near Achany, immediately to the E. of the road 
from Lairg to Invershin, are the remains of a chambered cairn. It 
has been much dilapidated, and there are signs of structures near by 
which must have been built out of it. The chamber is fully exposed. 
The dimensions of the cairn appear to have been about 56' along the 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 155 

1) ARISH OF LAIRG. 

direction of the chamber, which is from NE. to SW., and 69' across 
it. The front of the cairn towards the NE. is marked by a kerb of 
large stones following the line of the circumference, from which rises 
an upright pointed stone to the N. of the chamber. Some 7' inwards 
from what is probably _the outer end of the entrance passage is the 
ceptre of a crescentic setting of large fiat slabs, rounded on the top, 
set with their broad faces towards the front of the cairn. The slabs 
are four in number, but it is possible that originally there may have 
been more, as the outer stone on the NW. is much further back from 
the edge of the cairn. than that on the NE. Three of the slabs 
measure from 3' 6" to 4' 6" across, by about I' 2" in thickness, and 
project from I' 6" to 2' above the cairn. The fourth slab is somewhat 
smaller. They are set two on either side of the position of the 
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entrance passage. The centre pair are 6' 6" apart, and the 
extreme points of the outer stones 22' apart. The chamber is 
roughly rectangular, 12' 9" long, and has been divided by partition 
stones (of which only that on the W. side remains) at 6' from the back 
wall, forming two compartments, the inner or southmost measuring 
6' in length by 5' 2" in breadth, and the outer 4' 11" long by 4' 2" 
broad. The partition stone projects 2' I" into the interior, is 2' I " 
high, and I' 5" thick. At the N. end of the chamber is a lintel 3' 4" 
long, 2' broad; and 9" thick, supported on two single stones I ' 10" high, 
and covering an entrance 2' 10" wide. The main axis of the back 
compartment is NNE. and SSW., but the sides of the outer compart­
ment have been inclined, so as to give it a northerly direction. Four 
large fiat slabs form the walls of the back compartment, one on the 
W. and S. respectively and two on the E. The W. slab is 5' across 
and 4' high; the back one 4' 8" across, 4' 3" high, and I ' 3" thick; the 
SE. slab 3' across by 2' 7" high. The fourth slab has fallen forward, 
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owing to the removal of the partition stone. The outer compartment 
has a single large slab on either side; that to the W. 3' 5// long by 
2' 1// high, that to the E. 4' 6// long by 3' 3// high. The illterspaces 
between the slabs is as usual filled with neatly laid horizontal 
building (fig. 62). 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. (unnoted). Visited, 2nd July 1909. 
448. Oai1'ns, etc., Achany.-About ! m. due N. of Achany House, 

towards the S.E. end of Druim Baile fiur, is a round cairn, measuring 
some 55' from N. to S. by 51' 6" from E to W., and some 5' 9// in 
heig~t. Towards the SW. a portion of the cairn has been apparently 
removed, leaving a space measuring 8' 6// along the circumference, 
extending inwards for 6' 6//. In rear of this a clearing of 7' diameter 
has been made, probably for a shelter. Neither cist nor chamber has 
been exposed. 

449. Do. Do.-Rather more than ~ m. NW. of the last, and about 
! m. S. of the shepherd's house at Raemore, on a slight elevation, 
is another cairn. It is elliptical in outline, with its longest axis 
E. and W., measuring 54' x 37'. Its height is some 6'. The cairn 
has been disturbed somewhat in the centre, but no cist or chamber 
has been exposed. About eight small mounds lie to the E. of it. 

O.S.M., SUTtI., cii. (unnoted). Visited, 2nd July 1909. 

450. Do. Do.-Some t m. S. of Raemore and some 60' W. of the 
stone circle (No. 461) is a cairn, covered with turf, standing on the 
eJge of a dedivity that runs to the Gruidie Burn. It is about 40' 
in diameter, including a platform or base of from 7' to 10' in width, 
on which it appears to stand. It is 6' high above the edge of the 
outer circumference, and from What appears to be the inner side of 
the platform about 4'. 

451. Do. Do.-About 100 yards SSE. of the hut circle (No. 411) 
is a mound, believed to be a cairn, overgrown with grass, measuring 
about 25' in diameter and 2' 3" in height. On its NW. face three 
large pointed stones stand in line of the circumference (the largest 
2' 2// high, 2' 2// broad at base, and I' thick), with their broad faces 
outwards. Three similar stones lie as if displaced in the line of the 
circumference towards the S. . 

452. Oairn (supposed), Gruids.-About i m. SW. of the W. end 
of the suspension bridge over the River Shin, near Lairg railway 
station, on the top of a sharp declivity towards the E., is a hillock, 
which appears to be a cairn, though, as it is overgrown with heather, 
its character is not quite assured. In outline it is almost circular, 
measuring 38' from N. to S. and 35' from E. to W., and about 5' in 
height. 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. (unnoted). Visited, 5th July 1909. 

453. Ohambe1'ed Oairn, etc., Lai1'g Moor, etc,-Some 300 yards N. 
of Sydney House are the remains of a cairn. It has been in great 
measure removed. A portion, however, still remains across the 
centre, from which the ends of several large upright stones protrude, 
indicating the chambered character of the construction, The diameter 
of the cairn has been about 47'. 

454. Oai1'n, do,-Some 600 yards NE. of Sydney House is a cairn, 
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overgrown with grass, on the top of which stands a sheep-fold. Its 
diameter is about 64', and its height 4' to 5'. There is no sign that 
the chamber or cist has been exposed. The outline has been much 
disturbed, but towards the E. there is a distinct projection, measuring 
some 18' in length and some 28' across at base .. . The inward curve of 
the outline towards the S. is quite apparent, and it is evident that 
stones have been removed from what was probably a similar pro­
jection towards the S. There are no signs of horns at the opposite 
side of the cairn, but at the N. and W. are two semicircles of stones, 
carefully laid about 8' across, which, though symmetrically placed, 
are probably the foundations of huts or shelters. 

(O.S. "Oairn [site of].") 

455. Do. Do.-An oval mound on the face of the hill above the 
manse of Lairg is marked "cairn" on the O.S. map. Its longest 
axis lies NW. and SE., and its diameter is 83' X 54', and height 
about 6'. It is entirely covered with turf, and its artificial character 
is doubtful, though the SE. end of it has more appearance of a 
sepulchral cairn than the remainder. 

456. Oairn, 01'eag an t-Sabhail.-About 300 yards due N. of Creag 
an t-Sabhail are the remains of a great circular cairn, with a diameter 
of about 80'. It has been almost removed, but a ridge is left stand­
ing, from 4' to 5' high from NW. to SE., across the centre. SOIDe 
details of the interior arrangement may be concealed in this frag­
ment, as no definite signs of a chamber are elsewhere visible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 24th June 1909. 

457. Oha1nbe1'ed Oa'irn, Balcharn.-Some 300 yards from the S. 
end of the road leading up to Balcharn, on the W. side of it, and 
near the lowest of the two d welling-houses, are the remains of 6 

circular cairn. It has been greatly dilapidated; a large sheep-fold 
abuts on it to the E., and on the SW. are the foundations of 
cottages. The diameter appears to have been about 90'. A portion 
of the cairn containing the chamber remains to a height of several 
feet in the centre. 43' from the NE. edge two large-pointed stones, 
2' 3// apart, protrude for I' to I' 2//, and at 8' further in the same 
direction the heads of another similar pair, 2' apart, are visible. The 
stones are set so that those diagonally opposite are parallel. The 
breadth of the chamber appears to be about 6'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 28th June 1909. 

458. Oai1'n, Savalbeg.-Behind the shepherd's house at Savalbeg 
is the half of a cairn, the house being partially built on the site of 
the remainder. It appears to have been circular, with a diameter 
of from 60' to 70', and, where the section is exposed, is still about 6' 
high. It is overgrown with grass on the surface. Neither cist nor 
chamber is visible. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. (unnoted). Visited, 28th June 1909. 

459. Oairns, River Shin.-Some 50 yards back from the right 
bank of the River Shin, opposite the lower island directly behind the 
hut circle (No. 410), are the ruins of three separa.te constructions. 
They seem to be, as regards two of them, demolished cairns which have 
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been put to a secondary use, but the remains are very indefinite. 
The third to the NW. has the appearance of a truncated cairn. It 
measures 33' in diameter and ,about 2' in height. Neither cist nor 
cham ber is exposed. . 

O.S. M., SUTH., ciii. (unnoted). Visited, 14th J UIle 1909. 

460. Caim, Rhianbreck.-At Rhianbreck, about i m. from the 
junction with the Lairg road, and about 50' from the road, in a field 
in front of a cottage, is a circular cairn, overgrown with grass and 
whins, It is 32' in diameter, and from 3' to 4' high. A cattle-shed 
has been built partly into it on the SE. The exposure of a section 
of the construction seems to show that it was formed of boulders and 
turf. 

461. Stone Circle, D1'uim BaiZe ji~~r, Achany.-Situated towards 
the W. side of the moor at Druim Baile fiur, near the edge of the 
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FIG. 63.-Stone Circle, Drllim Baile fiur (No. 461). 

t 

bank which slopes towa~'ds the Gruidie Bum, and about i m. S. 
of Raemore, is a stone circle. It has been formed of ten stones, of 
which nine remain in sit'u or fallen, and one has been removed. 
The circle is irregular in form, as several of t.he stones are evidently 
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out of position, especially towards the NE., but it appears to have 
had a diameter of about 88'. The stone at the N. point has dis­
appeared, but numerous flakes of it remain on the site. The stones 
are large, thick, syenite boulders, sunk deep in the peat, and they 
seem to have been set with their broad faces in line of the circumfer­
ence. Numbering from the N. point of the circle and passing round 
by the E., the details of the stones are as follows :-(first stone), the 
N. point, where broken fragments only remain; (second stone), 22' 6" 
dist~nt from the first stone, a boulder, displaced, lying with its 
broad end towards the centre of the circle, length 3' 6", breadth 
2' 2", thickness at base I' 3", thinning towards the top; (third stone), 
46' 6" distant from the second stone, a long pointed boulder, lying 
along the line of the circumference, length 4' 9", breadth 2', thickness 
about I' 7"; (fourth stone), 35' 6" distant from the third stone, a 
large pointed boulder, sunk beneath the surface, lying with its point 
away from the circumference, length 4' 9", breadth 2' 3", thickness 
unascertainable; (fifth stone), 33' 6" distant from the fourth stone, 
a long pointed stone, probably fallen, lying in the line of the circum­
ference, length 5' 7", breadth ' 2' 8", thickness about 2' ~"; (sixth 
stone), 28' distant from the fifth stone, a large boulder sunk beneath 
the surface, measuring 3' 9" across the top either way; (seventh 
stone), 28' distant from the sixth stone, a pointed boulder, quad­
rangular in section, height 2' 11", and about 2' square on base; 
(eighth stone), 22' 6" distant from the seventh stone, an upright 
stone, with its broad face set in line of the circumference, height 2', 
breadth 3' 9", thickness l' 6"; (ninth stone), 19' 5" distant from the 
eighth stone, an upright stone, set with its broad face in line of the 
circumference, height 2' 9", breadth 2' 9", thickness I' 10"; (tenth 
stone), 24' 6" distant from the ninth stone, and 21' 6" distant from 
the first stone, a large boulder, deeply sunk in the ground, lying with 
its broad face at right angles to the line of the circumference, 
measuring over the top 3' 8" by 3' (fig. 63). 

O.S.M., SUTH., cii. (unnoted). Visited, 9th July 1909. 
462. Stone Oircle, River Shin.-On a low knoll between two small 

burns some 20' back from the right bank of the River Shin, exactly 

, • t 
FIG. 64.-Stone Circle, River Shin (No. 462). 

opposite the N. enrl of the lower island, 1 m. S. of Lairg Ohurch, 
are the remains of a stone circle: Four stones remain in situ-two 
towards the N., one on the E., and one on the W. The stones on the 
S. have dis~ppeared, the side of the ridge in that direction having 
been eaten into by the burn. The stones are from I' 3" to 2' 3" 
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high above ground, and stand with their broad faces in the line of 
the circumference. The diameter of the circle appears to have been 
from 13' to 14' (fig. 64). 

O.S.M., SUTH., ciii. (unnoted). Visited, 14th June 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

463. Iron Smelting (rernains of), Loch Shin.-On the shore of the 
narrow strait which connects Loch Shin wit.h the small loch at the 
head of which stands Lairg is lying a considerable deposit of iron 
slag. The site of the deposit is some 200 yards E. of the broch 
(No. 391). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xciv. (unnoted). Visited, 3rd July 1909. 

SITES. 

464. Mound, Balcham.-In the lowest field on the right side of 
the road leading up to the croft at 13alcharn is a mound, measuring 
from 60' to 70' in diameter, surrounded by a ditch about 40' wide and 
about 5' ·deep. There is a slight rampart on the top of the counterscarp. 
It is situated close to the E. boundary of the field, and the whole site 
has long been under cultivation. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. (" Cairn, remains of "). 
Visited, 28th June 1909. 

465. Islet, Loch Dulaich.-In Loch Dulaich there is an island, the 
site of a habitation mentioned by Sir Robert GOl'don. It is now 
thickly overgrown with rank grass, and is the nesting-place of 
numerous seagulls. 

See Gordon, p. 5. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xcv. Visited, 18th June 1909. 
466. Islands, Loch Shin.-The O.S. lllap indicates four islands in 

Loch Shin, viz.,-Eilean ?la Fiodhaig, near where the River Fiag 
enters the loch, and Eilean Dornhnuill, Eilean a' Chairn, and Eilean 
na C1'aoibhe at its SE. end, Sir Robert Gordon refers to the islands 
in Loch Shin thus :-" Ther are four ilalllls in Loch Shin, to witt, 
Ellan Murie, 1£11an Donald, Ellan Seyad, and Clach Ellan; all 
pleasant duellings in summer. To these ilands thar doe resort good 
store of wild goosse, swanes, and reid deir." 

See Gordon, p. 5. 
O.S.M" SUTH., lxxiii. and xciv. 

PARISH OF LOTH. 

DEFENSIVE . CONSTRUCTIONS. 

467. B1'ocll, Kintmdwell, 01' Cinn T1'olla (O.S. " Clentrolla ").-The 
broch of Kintradwell, or Cinn Trolla, is situated about 3 m. to the 
NW. of Brora, un a natural terrace beside the railway and near the 
shore. The entrance to the broch is from the W. When excavated 
the passage was found to be some 7' high at the outer end, about 
3' in width, and 18' in length, covered with slabs some 8" apart. 
The floor of the passage is now covered with debris, and the inner 
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PLATE VII. - Broch, Kintradwell : Entrance Passage from 
Interior (No. 467). 

• To fa ce p. 161. 
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end, on the left side, is in a somewhat ruinous condition. At 6' in­
wards from the outer end, the passage slightly contracted for a 
doorway, and 8' further inwards was a similar contraction. Between 
the two door checks a guard chamber opens on the right of the 
passage through a doorway 2' above the floor level, 4' high by 2' wide, 
and a passage 4t' in Jength. The guard chamber is circular in 
ground plan, 7' in diameter, and 11' in height. Its roof is formed of 
overlapping stones, and is entire. The interior diameter of the broch 
is 31'. 6' along the inner face of the wall from the entrance to the 
interior, on the left, an opening 3f high and 3' wide led into a 
ch am bel' 11' long and 10' high, the roof of which has now fallen in. 
Beyond it to the left, at a height of 4' from the floor, a passage 3' 
wide and 6' long gave access, on the left, to a chamber 10' long and 
9' high, and on the right to the remains of the staircase, consisting 
of thirteen steps, now for the most part covered with debris. Im­
mediately below the entrance to the first chamber was an irregularly 
shaped cavity, partly in the floor, 8' long, 5' broad at its widest part, 
and 3' deep, now filled up. Close to the wall on the SE. is a neatly 
built shaft or well, which was 7' deep, 4' wide above, and 2' below, 
with steps leading down to a point 3' from the bottom. The inner 
wall of the broch is faced to an average height of 8' by a scarcement 
I' thick, bonded at the door corners, but not throughout. The height 
of the wall in the interior varied from 10' to 15'. Outside the 
broch, for a distance of some 60' from its base, are the remains of 
irregularly built constructions, connected by passages, with an access 
leading up to the entrance to the broch. 

Numerous relics were found on excavation, including upwards of 
fifty quern stones, a number of stone mortars and pounders, a stone 
cup with handle (found on the edge of the well), a number of spindle 
whorls and handles of deer horn, an iron spearhead and dagger blade, 
and several fragments of implements, as also portions of antlers of 
the red-deer and reindeer. The relics are preserved in the National 
Museum of Antiquities, Edinburgh, and in the Dunrobin Museum 
(PI. VIL). 

See Arch. Scot., v. pt. i. p. 95 (illus., plan, and secs.); Anderson, 
The I1'on Age, p. 216; Antiquar'ies, viii. p. 188; lbid., ix. p. 53. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcviii. Visited, 9th August 1909. 

468. Broch, " earn Bmn."-This broch is situated on the E. side 
of Glen Loth, on low-lying ground between the base of the hill 
and the river, about 1 m. above the road hridge at Lothbeg. It 
occupies a strategic position in a narrow pass, through which a road 
runs to Kildonan. It is a mass of debris about 12' high, among 
which the faces of the wall can with difficulty be perceived. The 
diameter over all is about 55', the thickness of the wall is about 12' 
where measurable, and the interior diameter is from 31' to 32'. 
Though only the top of the wall is visible here and there, beneath 
the ruins it may stand for a considerable height. The entrance 
appears to have been from the WSW., or river side, but details of it 
are unobtainable. Some 27' to the N. of the presumed entrance, the 
back wall of a chamber is visible. The chamber is accessible through 
a hole in the roof 3' long. It is largely filled with debris, and is 

11 
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about 8' in length by 4' in width. 3~' from its N. end is another 
chamber, also largely filled with debris, the inner wall of which is 
traceable to the southward for 36', and has evidently formed one 
side of the stair. The entrances to the chambers are not apparent. 
On the SE., 18' distant from the broch, are the remains of an outer 
wall, about 8' in thickness. It probably encircled the broch, except 
along the river bank, but on the N. and NW. it is no longer visible. 
The broch appears to be known as "Oarn Bran." 

See Pennant (1769), p. 356. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxix. Visited, 25th September 1909. 

HUT OIRCLES, EARTH-HOUSES, AND ASSOCIATED OONSTRUCTIONS. 

469. Ea1·th-house, Kint1·adwell.-On the W. bank of the Kin­
tradwell Burn, f\bout 4' below the top of the bank, and opposite the 
lower end of the farm buildings of Kintradwell, is the entrance to 
an earth-house which is said to have borne the name of "Oosh­
geavag." It consisted originally of two chambers, separated by a 
low division wall, each having an entrance from the outside at 
its extremity. The entrance from the E. is through a passage 
some 2' square for 7', then underneath a lintel only I' 6/1 from 
the ground. The other entrance, which was down a flight of steps, 
is now closed up. The outer chamber, which alone is now accessible, 
.is 5' high, 4' broad, and ID' long. The walls are built of undressed 
stone, and the roof is formed of flags. This earth-house was examined 
in January 1864. There was discovered in the low division wall a 
stone, bearing a runic inscription, which has unfortunately been used 
as building material, and lost. 

See Antiqua1'ies, v. p. 244; New Stat. Acct. Suth., etc., xv. p. 201. 
470. Kint1'adwell.-On the hillside above the enclosed land, about 

i m. W. of Kintradwell, is a group of about a dozen small mounds. 
One or two of them have been excavated. 

471. Do.-On the top of the W. bank of the Kintradwell Burn, 
some 330 yards above the high road, are the remains of a large 
dry-built construction, which· was excavated about 1870. A main 
passage enters from the top of the bank from the NE., 2' 2/1 wide, 
expanding to 3' 6/1 at 12/1, where an opening, 2' 6/1 wide, to the 
right gives access to what has apparently been a large chamber 
about 22' along by some 15' across, but the outline of which is some­
what indefinite; and on the left another passage, 2' 6/1 wide, runs SE. 
for 6', then turns sharply to the S. for 7', leading apparently to other 
chambers now indiscernible. At 18' in along the main passage is 
a door jamb on the right, and a hole in the wall opposite shows the 
position of its fellow. Beyond the door jamb the passage gradually 
expands to 4' 9/1. At ID' 9/1 beyond the jamb on the right side 
an entrance 3' wide opens into another chamber 12' 6/1 long and 
of indefinite width, and opposite to it another passage, 3' wide, 
on which there has also been a door, runs SE. for 6' 6/1. The main 
passage appears to have terminated in a small chamber some 7' in 
length. At the back or SW. side of the large chamber, on the 
right of the passage, is a recess, 6' across the front, 3' to 4' deep, 
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PLATE VlII.- StallCling Stone, Glen Loth (No. 474 ). 

To f ace p. 163. 
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and 5' 6" across the back, which is formed of three large upright 
slabs. The highest walling of the structure is about 3' ID" high. 
Lying in the interior is a round boulder about I' across the top 
and 9" deep, with a depression on the top 3f' in diameter and 2" 
deep. This may have been the stone in which a stone pivot of a 
door turned. When excavated, there were found in the interior 
food debris, flattened antlers, charcoal, bones, and fragments of 
manufactured shale. 

See Antiqua1'ies, viii. p. 466. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xcviii. Visited, 9th August 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

472. Long Caim, Lothbeg.-On the top of the bank above the 
road, some 250 yards to the E. of Lothbeg Bridge, are the remains of 
a long cairn. It appears to have been about 130' in length, but it 
is now reduced to about 65', the western half having been removed 
at no distant date. It lies with its longest axis WNW. and ESE. 
At the W. end it appears to have been about 37' broad, and at the 
E. end from 65' to 70', but the rank growth of bracken and grass 
render accurate definition impossible. At 32' in from what appears 
to be the extreme E. end is a large lintel stone 5' ID" long, 3' ID" 
deep, and l ' 4" thick, fully exposed, supported on two upright stones 
2' 4" apart. About 5' to the E. of it a portion of the passage is 
exposed, 2' in width. In rear of the lintel the back wall of the 
chamber, partly formed of a large slab, and partly built, is just 
visible among the debris with which the chamber is filled. The 
length of the chamber is 6' ID", but the breadth, without excavation, 
is not ascertainable. Though excavations have been made in several 
places, no other chamber is exposed. Towards the E. end the cairn 
is about 12' high on the side where the ground slopes away. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxix. Visited, 25th September 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 
473. Standing-Stones, Glen Loth.-On tbe top of a bank where 

the Glen Sletdale Burn flows into the Loth Burn are two standing­
stones. They stand in alignment 21' apart, facing about 30° E. of N. 
The eastmost stone is a flat slab measuring 4' 11" high, 3' 6" across 
the base, and 5" thick. The other stone is square in section, and 
measures 4' 8" high, l ' 6" across the front, by I ' 2" across the side. 
On the slope of the bank to the SE. lie other two or three flat slabs 
which may have formed part of the construction. This monument 
is known as " Carradh nan CIach." 

474. Standing-Stone, do.-Situated on a slight eminence on the 
moor, to the E. of the hill road from Loth to Kildonan, at an 
altitude of about 800' above sea-level, and about 3 m. N. of Lothbeg 
Bridge, is a high standing-stone of red sandstone. It is 11' high, 
4' 11" broad where broadest about 7' from the ground, 2' 9" broad 
at base, l' 3" thick, and faces ESE. and WNW. It is known as 
"CIach Mhic Mhios." No mounds are observable in its vicinity, but 
the O.S. map indicates them to the N., S., and E. (PI. VIII.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxix. Visited, 31st August 1909. 
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SITES. 

475. Hunting House, Lothbeg. - About 2! m. above Lothbeg 
Bridge, on the E. side of the road, are the indefinite foundations of 
the" Hunting House" mentioned in Pennant's Tou?' (1772), pt. ii. 
additions, p. 18, plate 47. 

O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxix. 
476. Brochs are said to have 

the E. of Midga?·ty. 

Visited, 31st August 1909. 
been situated at WilkhOttse, and to 

See New Stat . .Acct. S1dh., etc., xv. p. 200. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xcviii. and xc. 

PARISH OF ROGART. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTlONS. 

477. B?'och, E. Kinnauld.-On the NW. end of a rocky peak rising 
from the E. side of a glen which runs northwards above the steep 
slope behind the gamekeeper's house at E. Kinnauld is a broch, now 

Fro. 65.-Broch, E. Kinnlluld (No. 477). 

in ruiml. It is situated at an elevation of about 400' above sea level, 
and though not visible from Strath Fleet, which -lies to the S. of it, 
commands a view of Loch Fleet and the hill country to the W. It 
is much dilapidated, but does not appear to have been pillaged, alld 
if the debris was cleared away, the wall would be found standing to 
a considerable height all round. The interior diameter is 31'. The 
entrance is from the W. through a passage 17' in length, 2' 9/1 wide 
at the exterior, and 3' on the interior. Three of the covering slabs 
remain in situ, but the passage is choked with debris. At 9' inwards 
from the exterior, on the N. side, is a wall face at right angles to the 
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passage, which appears to have been the entrance to a chamber. 
Another entrance, 3' long and 2' wide, opens from the back of this 
chamber into the interior courtyard. The chamber measures 8' from 
the side of the main passage to its further end, and is about 4' 9/1 wide. 
It is full of debris, and the wall on the inner side is broken down. 
On the S. side of the passage, at 2' from the interior, is the entrance 
to another chamber. This chamber extends into the wall for 10'. 
At 7' inwards the wall to the interior is 5' 3/1 thick and to the 
exterior 6' 9/1. The width of the entrance to it appears to be about 
I ' 10/1. The chamber is about 4' wide, and at the back, where one 
covering slab remains in position, it is 4' high. The interior of the 
broch is full of debris, and the entrance to the staircase is not visible. 
The gallery remains on the N. for about half way round. The 
greatest height of wall visible above the debris on the interior is 
some 4', and there is a similar height visible on the exterior (fig. 65). 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 3rd September 1909. 

478. Et'och, A' Mheirle.-At the upper end of Strath Fleet, some 
3 rn. ESE. of Lairg, on the S. side of the strath, and about 300' above the 
road, at the upper side of an enclosure, at one time under cultivation, 
are situated the remains of a broch. The structure is an absolute 
ruin. The line of the outer face of the wall is visible in one or two 
places, the inner nowhere. On the E. side the end of a chamber 
has been exposed, and on the N. side the existence of a chamber 
is also noticeable. What may be the entrance passage is on the E. 
side, visible through a small aperture in front of a roofing slab. The 
diameter of the structure is unobtainable (Yithout excavation. On 
the W., in the direction in which the ground slopes, the ruin is about 
12' high, but considerably less on the E. 

O.S. M., SUTH., ciii. Visited, 18th June 1909. 

479. For·t, E. Kinnauld.-On the summit of a bluff which overlooks 
the high road to the E. of the gamekeeper's house at East Kinnauld, 
1 m. E. of Rogart Station, are the ruins of what appears to have been 
a fort. The summit, which measures some 126' from N. to S. by 
some 96' from E. to W., has been enclosed by a wall some 6' to 7' in 
thickness, now entirely dilapidated. On the E. slope, about half way 
up, is a shoulder or terrace some 90' long by 30' wide, and above this 
the defences have been supplemented by an extra wall 7' thick, still 
for a short distance showing its outer and inner faces. Within these 
defences are the ruins of an inner circular enclosure, with a surround­
ing wall of from 12' to 15' in thickness and an interior diameter of 
31'. The approach appears to have wound upwards from the S. end 
of the shoulder, passing diagonally through the outer wall in a 
northerly direction, being then diverted sharply to the SW. as it 
approaches the central enclosure by the end of a flanking wall which 
runs from the N. end of the latter in a general southeasterly direction. 
This wall appears to terminate 17' distant from the central enclosure 
and some 2' 6" from the outer wall opposite the point where the 
entrance passes through the latter. In the thickness of the outer 
wall, to the N. of the entrance through it, are appearances of two 
chambers, one in rear of the other, some 6' and 10' in diameter re-
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spectively. The position of the entrance to the inner enclosure.is 
not evident. Though the measurements of the inner enclosure are 
suggestive of a broch, there is an absence of the debris in the interior, 
which is usually characteristic of ruins of that class. The dilapida­
tion of the walls renders the details difficult of discernment. The 
rock is isolated and steep on all sides, though not difficult of access 
on the N. and NE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. (un noted). Visited, 1st October 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

4S0. Blarich.-Some 50 yards SE. of Blarich, on the top of a 
slight knoll, is a circular depression, about 3S' across, with an 
entrance . from the SE., surrounded with large boulders, for the 
most part placed naturally. There are traces of banks between the 
boulders, but the indications are slight. 

Some SO yards SW. of Blarich, on the top of a slight eminence, 
is a circular enclosure, with an interior diameter of 49' and its 
entrance most probably from the SE. The surrounding bank has 
been pillaged, and the details are obscure. Almost abutting on it 
is another similar enclosure, with an interior diameter of about 44', 
and an entrance from the E. Another, which appears to be more 
of an oval form, lies about 100 yards S. of the first. Its outline, 
however, is less distinct. 

4·S1. Rossal.-Across the railway from Blarich, on the S. side of the 
valley, and all along the W. slope of the ridge which runs SE. from 
Rossal, from 400' to 500' above sea level, lies a group of many score 
of mounds. Locally the hill is known as Cnoc Righ Shonaidh. 
The mounds are well preserved, and the average size is rather larger 
than usual. Some are nearly 3' high. One, towards the N. side 
of the centre of the group, is elliptical in outline, measuring 29' X 20', 
and about 4' in height. Its longest axis lies NNW. and SSE. 
Another, near the top of the ridge, is circular, with a diameter of 
about 23', and height of 3'. The remains of an outline of boulders, 
2' to 3' long and I' to 2' high, is apparent on its circumference 
towards the S. and W. 

Another mound, towards the north side of the upper end of the 
ridge, measures 40' X 17', and lies with its longest axis NNW. and 
SSE. At the S. side of its southern extremity are the foundations 
of a small circular enclosure, with an interior diameter of about 10', 
and an entrance from the NW. about 6' 6" wide. The wall seems to 
have been built of material pillaged from the mound. Its width is 
not ascertainable. 

At the upper end of the ridge, on its northern slope, and about 
1 m. SSW. of Blarich, is a hut circle of the usual character, with its 
entrance from the SE. It is overgrown with heather, and its outline 
is indefinite. Some 40 yards W. of it is a low circular mound, measur­
ing about 22' over all, with a circular depression of about 6' diameter 
in the centre, entering from the NW. 

At the lower or N. end of the ridge, near Rossal, on the E. 
bank of the AchVrail Burn, are the remains of several hilt circles. 
One is almost circular, measuring 27' X 2S' interiorly. The entrance 
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is from the SE. The bank, which appears to have had little stone 
in its composition, is about 6' 6" wide, and is much eroded. To the 
NW. lie two others, apparently contiguous, with entrances from the 
SE., but too indefinite to measure. 

On an area of common land between the crofts at Rossal, on the 
E. of the AchVrail Burn, are the ruins of an oval enclosure, which has 
been surrounded by a wall from 3' to 4' thick. It has measured 40' 
across and 51' towards the entrance, which is about 4' wide. It seems 
to have been a cattle or sheep fold. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. (unnoted). Visited, 22nd July 1909. 

482. Ardaigh Ohonachai1'.-On the W. slope of Ardaigh Ohonachair, 
on both sides of the march fence, about t m. NE. of Blal'ich, are 
numerous small mounds. 

On the hill above Ardaigh Ohonachail', about 1 m. N. of Tressady 
Lodge, is a mound or cairn, overgrown with vegetation, measuring 32' 
in diameter and about 5' 6" in height. A number of small mounds 
lie around it. 

Along the ridge, stretching westwards for about t m., there 
are several scattered groups of mounds, a few of which have been 
excavated, but no cists are visible. 

483. B1·eaclcue.-To the E. of Morness, at Breackue, on the rising 
ground to the E. of the road NW. of the crofts, at an elevation of 
about 480' above sea-level, is a considerable group of mounds of 

. ordinary type. Towards the E. side of the group, on the upper slope, 
some 50 yards W. of the croft dyke, is one rather more conspicuous 
than the rest. It is almost circular, with a diameter of about 21', 
and is some 3' 6" high. 

About ~ m. to the N., on the W. side of the road, on the Onoc 
Dubh, and near the 500' contour line, is a small group of about half 
a dozen mounds of the ordinary type. 

484. Achadh na 71,- Uaighe.-About 1 m. further N., on the S. slope 
of the moorland, just beyond Achadh na h-U aighe crofts, is a very 
considerable group of mounds. One of these, towards the NE. end of 
the group, is oval or oblong in plan, and lies with its longest axis 
WNW. and ESE. It measures 20' x 9', and is some 2' to 3' in 
height. 

485. Do.-Near the centre of the group of mounds, on the upper 
side of the highest of the two tracks that run to West Lfmgwell, 
is a hut circle, with an entrance from the SE. It measures interiorly 
39' X 42', with a bank about 6' thick, gradually widening to 17' on 
either side of the entrance. The width of the entrance passage is 
indefinite. The circle is surrounded by mounds. 

Just aqove the upper track, and a short distance to the W. of 
the last-mentioned hut circle, are the dilapidated foundations of a 
more complicated structure. It shows signs of quite recent demoli­
tion, and several of the large stones which have marked the outline 
of its walls have been torn out of place, while others have been 
removed. The plan shows a construction of three compartments: 
a main oval compartment, measuring 17' X 29' 6", into which the 
entrance opens from the S, and two apsidal compartments opening 
off it, one at the N. and another towards the SW., each measuring 
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interiorly 16' x 14.' The principal entrance is 2' 8" wide, through a . 
passage about 8' long, clearly defined, with large stones laid along 
each side. The thickness of the banks has been from 4' to 5'. They 
have been outlined with large stones on both sides, and a considerable 
amount of stone seems to have been used in their construction. For 
the most part the interior is overgrown with rank heather. There 
are no mounds in the immediate vicinity nearer than about lOO' 
distant. 

To the S. of the lower track, about t m. NW. of Achadh na 
h-U aighe, is a hut circle, very clearly defined. The enclosing bank 
is some 4' 6" wide, composed of boulders and turf, and about 2' high 
at highest. It is outlined on the inner side with large boulders 3' to 
4' in length; and one huge earth-fast boulder, some 6' broad, is set 
across the bank opposite the entrance. The entrance is from the 
SW., and is 3' in width. In front of this are indications of another 
similar construction. 

Some 30' SW. of the last is another circular enclosure, with a 
bank formed of boulders, about 4' thick. Its interior dimensions are 
some 13' X 19'. The entrance from the SW. is about 7' wide, through 
a passage 8' to 9' long. The bank on either side of the entrance ends 
with a square termination. One or two small mounds lie in the 
immediate neighbourhood. 

Some 250 yards westwards are three hut circles. The upper 
of the three occupies a slight elevation. Its banks are much worn 
away, but it seems to have been of the ordinary type, with its 
entrance from the SSE. The bank on either side of the entrance has 
been carried forward, and finished with square terminations, as in the 
previous instance. In the interior are very distinct indications of 
the sub-division of the space into oval compartments, but accurate 
details are obscured by the growth of t.urf. Some 20' S. of it is 
another, oval in plan, measuring interiorly 16' X 9', set with its 
longest axis N. and S. The bank around it is much broken down, 
and the entrance is obscured. The other-a small round enclosure, 
measuring 11' x 9'-lies immediately in rear of the first circle. A 
few small mounds lie around. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 29th July 1909. 

486. E. Langwcll.-Immediately to the E. of the most southerly 
area of enclosed land at East Langwell, on the rising ground above 
the Garbh Allt, is a small group of mounds of the usual character. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 29th July 1909. 

487. Achnagarron.-All along the ridge to the N. of the crofts at 
Achnagarron, at about 500' above sea-level, are scattered small 
mounds. They are of the usual character. One, lying N. and S., 
measures 14' X 9'. 

Towards the E. end of the ridge, and E. of most of the mounds, is 
a hut circle, measuring interiorly 31' X 40', having an entrance from 
the SE. It contains in the interior a smaller circle abutting on the S. 
side, which is entered from the main entrance, and measures interiorly 
17' X 21', with a bank 3' 6" in thickness. There appears to have 
been a passage into the main enclosure between the ends of the two 
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, circles on the E., apparently some 3' wide. The bank of the mam 
enclosure is 5' 6" thick in the circumference and 9' thick on the S, 
side of the entrance. On the E. side of the entrance it projects SE. 
for a distance of 6' beyond the opposite side. The entrance passage 
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~'lG. 66.-Hut Circle, Achnsgsrron (No. 487). 

is 6' wide in the interior. In the middle of the circumference, at the 
back, is a large fiat stone, about 2' 6" high, set with its face across the 
bank, and there are indications of a narrow entrance into the back 
enclosure to the E. of it. The bank on the N. of the circle is still 
some 2' in height (fig. 66). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 21st July 1909. 

488. Dalnessie.-Some 2 m. to the E. of Dalnessie, on the S. slope of 
the hill between the AUt na Innse Mor and the rivulet to the E. of it, 
and about i m. N. of the River Brora, is a group of mounds and hut 
circles. At the SE. end of the group, near the W. bank of the burn, 
is a construction formed by a bank 22' long and 14' wide on either 
side, tapering away towards the S. Towards the N. is an opening 
7' wide. The interior is an oval depression, measuring 7' X 5', the 
bottom of which lies some 2' 6" below the highest point of the bank 
and a few inches below the natural ground level. 

The mounds which lie along the hillside for several hundred yards 
westwards are of the usual type, from 12' to 18' diameter and from 
I ' to 2' 6" high. The hill abounds in large boulders, and the mounds 
seem to have been constructed of rather larger stones than usual. The 
end of one JllOun<1 is formed of two boulders, one 4' long and 2' high, with 
another 2' X 2' adjoining it. Within 5' of this mound is a hut circle, 
measuring interiorly some 19' X 22'. There is a break in the circuIIl­
ference directly opposite the mound towards the E., but the original 
entrance appears to have been as usual from the SE. 

Towards the N. end of the group, about 100 yards SE. of an old 
sheep-fold, is another mounded construction, with its entrance from 
the E. The interior measures 7' X 11'. The enclosing mound is about 
12' thick on the N. side, and thins away to either side of the entrance, 
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forming the sides of a passage about 4' long and I' 8" wide, faced 
with stone for 4' on one side and 2' on the S. or left side. A large 
earth-fast boulder has been utilised to form part of the bank on the 
SW. There appears to have been a passage broken through the back 
to the N. of this boulder. 

Some 40' N. of the last is a small circular enclosure, with an 
interior diameter of about 7', and an entrance from the E. I' 4" 
across. The enclosing bank of earth and stone is about 5' thick. 

Some 60' W. are the remains of another similar enclosure. 
O.S.M., SUTH., lxxxvi. Visited, 29th June 1909. 

489. Blai?·m01·e.-On the N. slope of a low hill at Blairmore is a 
large group of small mounds. 

Some 100 yards NE. of the hill are the remains of a hut circle 
of the ordinary character, with the entrance from the SE., and a 
group of ten or twelve small mounds lying near. One mound lies 
directly opposite the entrance and within 20' of it. 

Some 30' SW. of the entrance is a long low mound lying N. and 
S., measuring 27' x 16', tapering towards each end, and 2' 6" high. 

About 40' S. is another, not quite so high, lying N. and S., and 
measuring 22' X 9'. 

490. Skiag.-On the top of the hill immediately to the E. of 
Blairmore, and at about 500' above sea-level, is a large group of 
small mounds. 

On the E. flank are situated two hut circles. The larger of the 
two measures interiorly some 33' x 34', with the entrance from the SE. 

t 

FIG. 67.-Hut Circle, Skiag (No. 490). • 
some 4' across. The surrounding bank is some 8' across, expanding 
to 11' on the S. of the entrance. On the E. side the bank flanks the 
entrance for 14', and is 9' broad at its outer extremity. On the E. 
of the circumference, towards the outside, it is some 3' 6" high. The 
interior is raised slightly above the level of the ground outside. 

Some 30' S. is another hut circle of smaller dimensions, measuring 
interiorly 18' X 15', with an entrance from the SE. about 3' 6" across. 
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The enclosing bank is some 6' thick, and projects 10' on the NE. side 
of the entrance (fig. 67). 

491. Do.-Along the top and the W. tlank of the hill, to the E. 
and NE. of Rogart Parish Church, mounds lie in great numbers 
above the 500' elevation over an area about ~ m. square. They are 
almost all circular, and of the usual character. Some are laid against 
earth-fast boulders. 

One, about! m. ENE. of the Parish Church, lies with its longest 
axis NNW. and SSE., measures 29' x 18', and is from If to 2' high. 

Some 40' N. of it is a construction forming a semi-oval enclosure, 
facing E., 17' across the open end and 11' deep, enclosed by low banks 
5' to 6' across, and with a cairn-like mound 18' long and 16' broad 
in rear of it.* 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 21st July 1909. 
492. AchnagaT1'on.-On the E. side of the Garbh Allt, to the S. of 

East Langwell, and on the W. side of the path to Achnagarron, is 
a hut circle of ordinary type, much effaced, with a few mounds lying 
around it. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 29th July 1909. 
493. Achalloch.-On the slopes o.f a hillock which rises from the 

peat bog to the N. of the croft at Achalloch is a small group of 
mounds. One of these is set against a large earth-fast boulder. 

494. D1·eme?'[Jid.-In the angle between the main road from 
Rogart to Strath Brora and the road by Backies to Golspie, on the S. 
of the latter road, is a large group of mounds. Some on the top of 
the rising ground are rather larger than usual. 

495. Achm·k.-About 1 m. SE. from the junction of the above 
roads to the E. of Achork on the Sithean Clais an Uanain is a hut 
circle of the ordinary form, with its bank much worn away. The 
entrance is from the SE. Around it is a group of about a dozen 
mounds. One mound, lying some 40' to the SE., measures about 
23' x 17', and lies with its longest axis E. and W. 

A few hundred yards further S., on the rising ground to the 
E. of Achork, is a large group of mounds at an elevation of some 650' 
to 700' above sea-level. One is set against an outcropping rock. 
One hut circle only is observable, situated almost immediately E. of 
the most northerly house and some 200 yards distant from it. It is 
of the common form, with the entrance from the SE., about I' 8" 
across. The interior diameter is some 17' x 19', and the bank is 4' 
to 5' in width. 

496. Knocka1·thu1'.-Immediately to the E. of the eastmost croft 
at Knockarthur are the remains of a hut circle and a group of small 
mounds. 

All along the hillside from about! m. E. of Knockarthur for a 
considerable distance NE. are mounds and the remains of hut circles. 

The most westerly of the hut circles, just above the old peat 
road, is of the ordinary form, with the entrance from the SSE. Its 

* A mound excavated during the formatiop of a wall around the glebe con­
tained a cist of slabs from which was recovered a double-edged, oval, tanged blade 
of bronze ornamented with diagonal lines crossing each other. Anderson, The 
Bronze and Stone Ages, p. 24 (illus.). 
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diameter across is H3'. The bank at the back has been demolished. 
Its thickness elsewhere is about 8'. 

Some! m. from Knockarthul', almost due N. of Fairlaraich, is a 
very well preserved hut circle, overgrown with heather. It is almost 
circular, with a diameter interiorly of 31'. The entrance is from the 
SE., and the bank of the structure, which is about 3' 6" high on the 
interior, is about 14' thick. It appears to be largely formed of stone, 
but there is a great accumulation of soil over it. The details of the 
entrance are not obtainable. Many mounds lie near, some almost 
contiguous. 

497. Do.-Some 150 yards westward of the last, just across a 
hollow, are the remains of a double-circled enclosure, much eroded. 
The circumference of the outer circle is very indistillct. Towards 
the S. there is a segment in which the earth and stone bank, about 4' 
across, still remains, but elsewhere it is represented by an outline 
of single stones observable through the heather. It has had a 
diameter from E. to W. of about 32'. 6' within it from the S. is 
the outer edge of a stone and earth wall, now merely a foundation, 
about 4' thick, enclosing an inner circular· area measuring some 
9' or 10' in diameter. Immediately in rear of this, and partially 
on the wall, and abutting on that of the outer circle, is a circular 
mound having a diameter of about 14'. 

498. Do.-Some 50 yards W. are the ruins of an enclosure, formed 
of two circles, not concentric, one within the other. The wall of the 
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FIG. 68.-Hut Circle, Knockarthur (No. 498). 

inner circle coalesces with that of the outer towards the ESE., where 
is situated the entrance through it, and is some 9' distant from the 
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outer bank at the opposite side towards the WNW., where is the 
entrance to the outer enclosure. The inner circle has an interior 
diameter of about 24'. Its wall, which has been entirely of stone, 
has been about 5' 6" in thickness. The bank of the outer circle 
seems to have been of earth and stone, and is considerably worn 
down. It coalesces with that of the inner enclosure at about 15' 
to the S. of the entrance to the latter. On the opposite side of 
the entrance the point of coalescence has been nearer. The 
entrance through the outer circle is about 11' in width. On the 
E. side of it, and abutting on it at the outside, is another small 
circular enclosure, with an enclosing,! bank some 3' thick and 
interior measurement of some 12' X 15'. The entrance to this 
small enclosure opens on to the opening through the outer circle 
and is about l' 4" wide. The entrance to the inner enclosure has 
been through a passage about 11' long, 2' wide for the central 
5' of its distance, and gradually expanding to 4' outwards and 
inwards. 

Numerous mounds lie around (fig. 68). Also about 40' S. is 
a small hut circle of the ordinary type, with the entrance from 
the SSE. 

499. Do.-Some 60 yards NE. of the most westerly hut circle of 
this group is a stone-built structure, much ruined, with a wall about 
2' high at highest in the interior and 5' thick. It has an entrance 
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FIG. 69.-Hut Circle, Knockarthur (No. 499). 

from the f?E. In diameter it measures interiorly about 31' X 32' 8". 
6' to the S. of the entrance in the interior, a wall (7' across where 
it joins the circumference, and diminishing to 5' about the middle of 
its length) curves round towards the NW., enclosing an oval chamber 
running N. and S., measuring about 21' X 12', and entered between 
the end of the division wall and the back of the circle by a passage 
or entrance about 2' 6" wide. Some 5' or 6' from the S. end of the 
division wall, on its E. side, is a recess 3' across the opening, 2' 8" 
deep, and l' 6" across the back. The wall on either side of the main 
entrance has been about 9' in thickness. The passage, 3' 6" wide at 
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8' from the interior, at its inner end passes between stones forming 
portals I' 9/1 apart. The original entrance to the interior appears to 
have been wider and to have been built up. A number of mounds 
lie all around and quite near (fig. 69). 

500. Do.-Some 30 yards NE. of the last is another stone-built 
circle, much ruined, measuring interiorly 37' X 39', with entrance 
from the SSE. Within the interior, and abutting on the inner 
wall from the E. side of the entrance northward, has been a 
stone-built structure, almost circular in outline, measuring over 
all some 31' from E. to W. and some 27' from N. to S. It is 
much ruined, and the plan in consequence difficult to determine, 
but it has evidently been entered by a narrow passage, some 
2' wide, curving inwards from the N. side, giving access to a 
round chamber in the centre of the construction and probably to 
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FIG. 70.-Hut Circle, Knockarthur (No. 500). 

another which appears to have existed to the W. of it. There has 
also been a chamber at the E. side, close to the wall of the circle, 
which has possibly been entered by a separate passage, a branch 
from the passage to the main chamber at its commencement. The 
wall of this structure has been very thick, and the chambers appear 
to have been in the heart of it. Flanking what appears to be the 
passage to the chamber at the E side is a triangular foundation, 
measuring about 10' X 14'. The space between this inner building 
and the wall of the circle on the S. is 2' wide at the entrance 
and 5' wide 15' inwards. The wall of the main circle has been 
about 5' thick around the circumference and 6' 6/1 thick on either 
side of the entrance, which has been about 2' wide and lined with 
stone (fig. 70). 

501. Do.-Some 30 yards NNW. of this last circle is a long, low 
mound, formed in three portions, not in alignment. The first portion, 
15' in length, lies E. and W.; the centre portion, 18' ill length, lies 
ESE. and WNW. ; and the last part, 18' in length, lies E. and W. 
The breadth throughout is about 9', and the greatest elevation 
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from 2' to 2' 6". A small round mound of the ordinary form lies 
about 6' distant at its E. end. There is no cultivated or reclaimed 
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FIG. 7l. -Mound, Knockal'thur (No. 501). 

crofter land anywhere near, nor any sign whatever of an ancient 
enclosing wall of which this construction might have formed a 
part (fig. 71). 

502. Do.-On the low ground, about 150 yards S. of the double 
circle, with the mound in the interior (No. 497), is a mounded con­
struction, which excavation proved to be a kiln. A horse-shoe 
shaped mound, open towards the SSE., encloses a hollow of about 16' 
diameter. From front to back the mound on the W. is 39' long and 
21' across, and on the E. about 47' long by 16' across. At the open 
end of the hollow lies a large flat slab, 4' 3" long, and on the W. side 
of it are two upright stones on which it rested, forming the mouth of 
the flue. The height of the mound is about 5' 6". On excavation 
the central area was found to be formed of deposits of rubble, inter­
mingled with charcoal. Though not far distant from the hut circles, 
no modern buildings lie within a mile of it, nor in the immediate 
neighbourhood is there any trace of the moorland ever having been 
under cultivation. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 5th August 1909. 

503. Dremergid.-On slightly rising ground in the moorland, 
immediately to the N. of the enclosed land at Dremergid, are a large 
number of small mounds and the remains of several hut circles. 
Towards the S. end of the hillock are a hut circle and associated 
enclosures of unusual character. The plan of the circle belongs to 
the class which is usually formed of stone, though in this case the 
bank is of stone and earth, or turf, while the foundations in the 
interior appear to be of stone. The construction is circular, with 
an interior diameter of 43', and has its entrance from the SE. The 
encircling bank is about 8' in thickness, broadening gradually for a 
distance of ftom 26' to 28' towards the entrance, where it is 15' thick 
on the S. side and about 18' on the E. The entrance passage, which 
is about 2' 6" wide at the inner end, expands gradually outwards. 
The interior has been divided into two main compartments by a wall, 
of which the foundation only remains, some 8' in thickness, except 
at its northern end, where it seems to thicken against the wall of 
the circle, running from the E. side of the entrance with a slight 
curve towards the N. On its outer or W. face, near the centre, are 
two recesses; that nearest the entrance measuring some 4' X I ' 8", and 
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the other, which is adjacent, some 2' 6" X I' 8". There appears to 
be a passage curving through this wall at about 12' from where it 
joins the main · bank towards the N. The area enclosed is an 
irregular oval, measuring 20' in length by 13' 6" in breadth. In the 
remaining portion of the interior of the circle abutting on the W. 
side has been a small enclosure, measuring about 10' from N. to S. 
by 11' from E. to W., surrounded by a wall some 4' in thickness. 
Adjoining the circle on the S. is another circular enclosure, with an 
interior diameter of 34' and banks about 8' thick, connected by a 
bank about 5' wide, now much worn away, with a horse-shoe 
shaped enclosure 42' in depth and 46' between its extremities at the 
open end, which is sitnated towards the N. of the main circle, 15' 
distant from it and facing NE. The connecting bank seems to 
form the side of a passage towards the smaller circle 8' wide at its 
termination. On the opposite or E. side of the main enclosure 
a similar low bank runs parallel with the wall at about 8' or 10' 
distant from the N. towards the entrance, but fades away before it 
junctions with the main wall. From the S. of the smaller circle a 
line of large boulders runs in a south-easterly direction, probably 
the base of an old enclosing wall. This appears to be a fairly 
complete example of a homestead of the period to which the hut 
circle belongs (fig. 72). 

Numerous small mounds lie around, and, besides indications 
of other hut circles of ordinary type, there is another horse-shoe 
shaped enclosure, similar to that above described . 

. 504. Rhilochan.-On the piece of common land immediately 
to the S. of the branch road to Knockarthur, a short distance 
from where it leaves the main road from Rogart to Strath 
Brora, at about 600' a bove sea-level, is a large group of small 
mounds. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 5th August 1909. 

505. Gnoc an Liath-bhaid.-On Onoc an Liath-bhaid, about i m. 
N. of the River Brora, and just opposite the W. end of the birch wood 
on the S. side of the river, is a circular mound. It measures some 
15' in diameter and 2' to 3' in height, and several large boulders 
are disclosed in its construction. A number of mounds lie to the 
W. of it. 

Some 30 yards SSW. are the remains of an oval enclosure, 
measuring interiorlyabout 19' x 25'. The entrance seems to have 
been wide and from the N. The bank on . the W. side has extended 
outwards some 7' beyond that on the opposite side. 

506. Do.-On a slight eminence from i m. to ! m. N. of the 
upper end of the birch wood, and 300 to 400 yards NE. of the river, 
are the ruins of a stone-built hut circle, of some 36' interior diameter. 
The inner face of the wall is formed of large contiguous boulders ; 
the exterior of smaller stones. The entrance is from the SE., and is 
about I' 9/1 in width through a passage 9' in length, formed, as usual, 
by the thickening of the wall, which is 5' thick elsewhere around the 
cil'cnmrerence. At 19' from the entrance, a wall, some 4' thick, 
curves across the interior, enclosing an oval space some 22' X 7' 6", 
the position of the entrance to which is obscured by the ruins. 



FIG. 72. -Hut Circle , etc., Dremergid (No. 503). 
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Against the back wall, and partially recessed into it, is a small circular 
enclosure of about 3' 6" diameter. There are indications of other 

FIG. 73.-Hut Circle, Cnoc an Liath·Bhaid (No. 506). 

enclosures in the interior. There are no mounds in the immediate 
vicinity (fig. 73). 

507. Onoc Blar an D'ubhaidh.-On the hillside, about! m. to 1 m. 
to the N. of the shepherd's house at Braegrudie, is a walled enclosure, 
which may be about half an acre in extent, with an entrance from the 
S. On the W. side of the entrance is a small circular enclosure, with 
a diameter of some 12', and walls about 6' thick, opening on to the 
entrance, and opposite, at the other extremity of the wall, a smaller 
circle. These walls do not present the appearance of such great 
antiquity as others where similar features are apparent (unnoted). 

50S. Onoc an Liath-bhaid.-About ! m. ENE. of the shepherd's 
house at B I'aegrudie, and some 40 yards E. of the stone circle (No. 
51S) on Cnoc an Liath-bhaid, is an old circular enclosure, measuring 
40' X 46', with an entrance from the SE. of indeterminate width. 
The wall on the W. side extends indefinitely along the hillside. 

Some 300 yards SE. is a group of mounds, some of which are rather 
larger than usual. One at the N. end measures 34' X 22', lies NNW. 
and SSE., and is about 3' to 4' high. Another, some 50' W. of it, is 
nearly circular, with a diameter of some 26' and is nearly 5' high. 

Near the S. end of the group i~ a large hut circle, overgrown with 
deep heather and ·of rather complex plan. It is formed of a single 
circle, measuring about 19' X 26', with three smaller circles abutting 
on it, and a smaller circular enclosure in the interior. The deep 
heather makes an accurate survey impossible. 

509. Do.-About 1~ m. WNW. of Dalreavoch Lodge, and about 
300' above the River Brora, is a group of mounds much larger and 
more prominent than usual. . One near the N. end measures 2S' to 
30' in diameter, and is some 3' 6" in height. Another, lying near by, 
measures 26' in diameter, and is from 3' to 4' in height. Several 
others are about the same dimensions and a number are less. None 
of them seem to have been opened. They are overgrown with 
heather, but large stones which have been used in their construction 

. 12 
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there. The group appears to contain from eighty 

Near the 8. end of the group is a hut circle of simple type. At 
the back it appears to have been dug out of the hillside. The interior 
dimensions are 2S' X 33'. The entrance is from the E8E. through 
a passage 11' in length. The bank on the E. side is 7' in thickness, 
while that on the W. is 16' across. Mounds lie all around it, some 
rather large, and grouped closely together. 

Towards the extreme E. end of the group is a large circular 
enclosure, 45' in diameter, with a surrounding bank 7' thick and 
entrance from the SE. about 6' wide. Beyond this the mounds still 
continue, but they are smaller. 

510. Onoc Fhiomliadh.-On the right bank of the AUt a' 
chlamhain, which flows out of Loch Grudie, forming the boundary 
between the parishes of Rogart and Olyne, some 400 yards above the 
road and lOO' above the stream, is a group of small mounds of the 
usual character, the largest of them having a diameter of about 20'. 
Remains of an old bank or wall are visible near them. 

O.S.M., 8UTH., xcvi. Visited, lSth August 1909. 

511. Scibe1·scross.- Opposite Sciberscross, on the S. side of the 
River Brora, and above the left bank of the Allt an Tuirc, which 
skirts the base of the Cnoc an t-Socaich, is a group of hut circles 

FIG. H.-Hut Circle, Sciberscross (No. 511). 

and small mounds. About! m. S. of the River Brora, and 150' to 
200' above the burn, is a small circular enclosure, with interior 
measurement of about S' 6/1 X 9', entered from the S. through a 
passage 7' long and 2' wide, the bank, except towards the entrance, 
being about 4' in width. 

Some 40 yards W. of it are the indistinct remains of a hut 
circle, of the ordinary form, and about 100 yards NW. is another. 
About i m. W. of the burn, near the top of the hill, is a large 
group of small mounds and hut circles. One of the latter, with 
a stony bank or wall, measures 10' 6" in interior diameter, is 
entered from the SE., and is surrounded by a bank 7' wide on the 
circumference and 10' on either side of the ent.rance. 

Some 30' E. of the last is an elliptical enclosure, measuring some 
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24' X 15', with a wide entrance from the SE. and bank about 12' 6" 
in thickness. Two small enclosures of about 6' interior diameter 
abut on it towards the S. and SW. 

Some 30' S. of it is another enclosure, with a wall of stone about 
6' thick. Its interior diameter is 11', and its entrance is from 
the SE. 

Some 100 yards to the W., higher up on the hilI, is another hut 
circle, of ordinary form, with an entrance from the SE. through a 
passage 2' wide and 9' long. The interior dimensions are 17' x 19', 
and the bank is 6' thick. Attached to it on the E. side is a smaller 
enclosure, measuring interiorly about 10' X 16', with its entrance from 
the SE. 2k' wide (fig. 74). 

Higher up on the hill are several small enclosures of about 6' 
interior diameter, with their banks about 5: in thickness, and lined 
on the interior with large stones. Their entrances are from the SE. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. and xcvii. (unnoted). 
Visited, 19th August 1909. 

512. Tannachy.-From the low hill which rises to the E. of the 
keeper's house at Dalreavoch, groups of small mounds extend for 
fully f m. in a southeasterly direction, at an elevation of between 600' 
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FIG. 75.-Hut Circle, Tannachy (No. 512). 

and 700' over sea level. In rear of Tannachy is a group of about a 
dozen. One in rear of the eastmost house is particularly well 
preserved. It is 19' in diameter, and about 3' 6" in height. Another, 
some 300 yards SE., measures 22' X 19', and is from 2' 6" to 3' high. 
Others near are from 17' to 18' in diameter. 

Towards the end of the group, on the lower side, is a hut circle 
with an entrance from the SE. through a passage 10' long and 6' 
wide. The circle measures interiorly about 40' X 43', and is enclosed 
by a bank 5' 6" in thickness. At 26' in from the entrance a wall, 7' 
thick in the centre of its course, curves round to meet the sides of 
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the mam enclosure at 24' and 16' distant respectively from either 
side of the entrance. In the back division are signs of several small 
chambers and also in the thickness of the division wall (fig. 75). 

Numerous small mounds lie around. One, lying some 40 yards 
to the S., has its longest axis NNE. and SSW. It measures 32' x 20', 
and is some 3' high. Another lies N. and S., measures 22' X 16', and 
is about 3' 6" high. Near are the remains of an old wall running 
down the hill and terminating in a small circular enclosure with an 
interior diameter of about 16'. Its wall is 4' thick, and the entrance 
is from the S. 

Between! m. and 1 m. from Tannachy, at the end of the group, 
is another hut circle overgrown with heather. It is of simple form, 
measuring interiorly about 26' X 31'. It is entered from the SE., but 
the details of the entrance are indefinite. About a dozen mounds of 
the ordinary form lie around it. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 20th August 1909. 

513. Bla1'ich.-About t m. NW. of Blarich, on the SE. side of a 
small corrie, are two small oval depressions. One of these measures 
interiorly about 12' X 7'; is some 3' in depth, and shows the remains 
of a low bank on the edge around it. It is situated on sloping 
ground facing the NW. On excavation there was found below the 
turf a thin layer of charcoal, from which was recovered a flake of 
yellow flint, measuring r X i", The other depression, situated about 
40' to the W., is of similar dimensions. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (unnoted). Visited, 1st October 1909. 

514. Oreag a' Bhata, Little Rogart.-On the W. end of Creag a' 
Bhata, about! m. S. of the westmost croft in Little Rogart, and 
immediately to the SE. of a lochan, is a small group of mounds, the 
largest having a diameter of about 20'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. ' Visited, 25th April 1910. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

515. Oai1'n, Reidchalmai.-Situated about 100 yards to the E. 
of the southmost house at Reidchalmai is a large cairn entirely 
overgrown with birch scrub which renders accurate measurement 
somewhat difficult. From E. to W. its diameter appears to be 
about 80', and from N. to S. about 60'. The ground slopes away 
towards the E., from which direction the cairn rises to a height of 
about 14', while the elevation on the W. is about 6'. It does not 
appear to have been excavated, nor is there any indication of its 
character. 

516. Oaim, Balclaggan.-Placed on an elevated and conspicuous 
position at the S. end of Creag Bail a' Chlaiginn, on the left side of 
the path which leads from Rogart to Achnagarron, are the remains of 
a large cairn. It has been removed to a considerable extent, but 
the centre, which still has an elevation of some 6', seems intact. It 
has measured some 60' in diameter. There are no indications of its 
character. 

O.S.M., SUTH., civ. Visited, 25th April 1910. 
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517. Stone Cist, Cnoc an Liath-bhaid.-On the farm of Scibers­
cross,almost due S. of the summit of Cnoc an Liath-bhaid, and 

. about t m. N. of the River Brora, just opposite the W. end of the 
birch wood across the river, between two great earth-fast boulders 
some 8' apart, the longer of which is 15' in length, is exposed a 
stone cist formed of four flat slabs. The cist is 3' 8/1 long, 2' wide, 
and I' 10" deep. It does not appear to have been covered with 
a cairn. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (un noted). Visited, 18th August 1909. 

518. J:)tone Cinle, Cnoc an Liath-bhaid.-A little more than t m. 
ENE. of the shepherd's house at Braegrudie, just above the 600 
contonr line, on a terrace on the hillside, is a stone circle (fig. 76 and 
PI. IX.). The circle has had a double ring of stones--an outer with a ---... t .... .... , , " "----'-. . 

I " \ I. 
I .' • . ' , I • J 
I./J I I 
\ \", I I 

y?' I I 

C/ ': - -.-~,,~ 
..... ---

'\~HI~II~~~II"'II.j..r--il---4i'0 rUT 

FIG. 76.-Stone Circle, Cnoc an Liath-bhaid (No. 518). 

diameter of 28' and an inner with a diameter of 22'. Of the outer 
circle two stones remain upright in position; one merely protrudes 
above the ground and two lie prostrate. The largest stone is at the 
W. side, and faces 100 S. of E. It measures 6' 6" in height, is triangular 
in section measuring some 2' across each side. At S' to the S. of it lies 
another large pointed stone, also 6' 6/1 long and about I' 9/1 across. 
The next stone in the outer circle is to the SW., and is also prone. It 
measures 4' 4" in Jength by I ' 8/1 across. The fourth stone of the outer 
circle stands a little to the N. of E. of the first stone and just pro­
trudes. The next stone is on the NE., and measnres 4' high by I' 10" 
deep. From the S. side of the last-mentioned stone a row of small 
stones marks the line of the circumference for a distance of 4' 9", and 
elsewhere in the circle there are indications of other stones similarly 
set. Both upright stones stand with an edge towards the centre of 
the circle. Of the inner circle there appear to be five stones in 
situ and one prostrate. The upright stones are from 2' to 3' in 
height above the ground, and the ptostrate stone is 4' 2" in length. 
They appear to have been set with their broad faces in line of the 
circumference. - Slightly to the N. of 'the centre of the circle are 
signs, of a low cairn, which seems to have been excavated. 

For nearly i m. northwards along the haunch of the hill there 
are numerous small mounds. 

O_S.M., SUTH., xcvi. Visited, 18th August 19q9. 
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MISCELLANEOUS. 

519. Standing-Stones, Achnaga1'1'on.-Some 100 yards NE. of the 
westruost croft at Achnagarron, on the upper part of the N. slope 
of the rising ground, are two standing-stones, which look as if 
they might have been members of a stone circle. They stand about 
95' apart in a direction pointing 70° E. of N. The most easterly 
stands about 5' high, is about 2' 6/1 wide at base, roughly quad­
rangular in section, and pointed at the upper end. It leans slightly 
to one side. The second stone is some 4'- 8/1 high, some 2' 3/1 across 
the base, and is also pointed. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (unnoted). Visited, 21st July 1909. 

520. "Lettie's Gmve," Bla1'ich.-About 1 m. N. by W. of Blarich, 
on the flat haunch of the hill, some 150' above the Lettie River, is a 
rectangular construction bearing the name of " Lettie's Grave" (PI. X.). 
It is situated on an area which has to a great extent been under 
cultivation, and remains of crofter settlements are in the immediate 
neighbourhood. It has apparently been a square of about 7' in 
external measurement, with the sides lying N. and S. and E. and W. 
The E. side alone seems to be complete. It is formed of two 
upright stones, one at each end. One measures 2' 7/1 high by I' 2/1 
across the base, and from 7/1 to 9/1 thick; while the other is 3' 2/1 
high, 2' across base, and about 7/1 thick. Between them are two 
flat stones set on edge, 3' 6/1 and I' in length respectively, and each 
projecting about I' above the ground, and lying for a considerable 
depth beneath it. The higher of the upright stones is at the S. 
end, and stands with its broad face northwards. Along the N. 
side of the square lie two stones, one small and just visible, and 
the other at I' 11/1 from the upright, 4' 5/1 long and I' above 
ground, by I ' thick. Towards what would have been the SW. 
corner lie other three large boulders, which have probably formed 
part of the construction. 

Some 40' to the NW. there is a square, formed of boulders set 
on edge, measuring interiorly some 5' X 6', nearly the same size as 
"Lettie's Grave," but without standing-stones at the corners. 

Some 30' to the W. of "Lettie's Grave" there is the semblance 
of a third construction similar to the last. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xcvi. (unnoted). Visited, 6th August 1909. 

SITES. 

521. Ohu1'Ch, Rovie.-At Rovie, t m. W. of Rogart Station, the 
O.S. map indicates the site of a church. 

522. St Oallan's Ohapel, W. Kinnauld.-Between the railway 
and the River :Fleet, to the S. of W. Kinnauld, the O.S. map marks 
the site of St Callan's Chapel. 

523. G1'aveya1'd, On6inn nam Ma1'bh, Bla1·ich.-On a knoll about 
1 m. SE. of Blarich is a disused graveyard. 

524. Stone Oi'rele, Pittentmil.-The O.S. map indicates the site 
of a stone circle near Pittentrail Bridge. The site is now built 
over. 
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CASTELLATED AND DOMESTIC STRUCTURES. 

525. Tongue House.-This mansion is situated on the eastern 
shore of the Kyle of Tongue, about 1 m. N. of Tongue. The older 
portion, to which wings have been added, is a long, low, oblong build­
ing of one storey, with windows set in the roof. Three decorated 
pediments, which probably surmounted dormer windows before the 
roof was altered and buttresses added, are built into the wall of the 
dining-room. One pediment over the mantel-piece bears an orna­
mental shield, charged with the Mackay arms, viz., three boars' heads 
couped and muzzled: in middle base a dexter hand fessways, couped 
at the wrist, holding a dagger erect. Crest above the shield, a stag's 
head pierced through the neck by an arrow. At the top and sides of 

the shield are the initials D M R. On the sloping sides of the pedi­

ment is the motto MANU FORTI, and against them two lions, bear­
ing on their heads two thistles, whose stems cross at the apex. A 

second pediment bears the initials A M R, and the third the two 

foregoing sets of initials in a cypher between the date 1678, which is 
probably the date of the erection of the house. On the skew that 
finishes the E. end of the N. gable of the more modern wing of the 
building are cut the dates 1678 and 1750. 

See Oast. and Dam . .Anh., iv. p. 372 (illus.); Origines, ii. pt. ii. 
p. 717; Suthe1'land and the Reay Oountry, p. 61 (illns.); The Boole 
of lJfacleay, p. 282 (illus.). 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvi. Visited, 30t.h May 1909. 

526. Oastle Va1'1'ich 01' Bhurraich.-The ruins of this castle stand 
on the head of a promontory on the E. side and near the head of the 
Kyle of Tongue. It has been a small square "tower of two storeys in 
height, the masonry of which has been coarse and irregular. There 
are no signs of a stair to the first floor. Nothing but the outer walls 
now remain, 4' 6" in thickness. A great antiquity has been attri­
buted to the castle, which the character of the structure does not 
warrant. It is fully described in Oast. emd Dam. A1·ch., quoted inf1·a. 

See Oast. and Dam. A1·ch., iii. p. 253 (plan and illus.); New Sted. 
Acct. Suth., etc., xv. p. 175 ; Origines, ii. pt. ii. p. 717 ; Suthe1'Zand and 
the Reay Oount1'y, pp. 27 (illus.) and 113. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxv. Visited, 1st June 1909. 

DEFENSIVE CONSTRUCTIONS. 

527. Broch, Dun na Maigh.-On a prominent rock which rises from 
the ridge dividing the Kinloch River (Amhainn Ceann Locha) from 
the Allt Ach' an t-Strathain, at the upper end of the Kyle of Tongue, 
stand the ruins of Dun na Maigh. The situation is a very strong one. 
On the W. the rock rises precipitously for 50' or more, and on the E., 
where the entrance faces, the slope is abrupt. On the N. and S. the 
approach along the ridge is easier, and for defence in these directions 
walls have been built along the edge, enclosing the more level areas 
immediately adjoining the broch. The entrance has been from the 
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E. through a pal:\sage about 16' long, over which three or four of the 
cuvering flags -still remain in situ. For the first 5' from the exterior 
the passage is 2' 3" wide, thereafter its width is 3'. The ruination 
obscures any sign of a guard chamber. The height of the passage 
to the lintel above the debris on the inside is only 2'. The broch is 
much ruined, but does not appear to have been pillaged for stones. 
The structure is not circular, the W. side being considerably flattened, 
and it has the appearance of having been reconstructed. There is a 
chasm in the face of the cliff on the W. , the upper part of which is 
built up, and the outer wall of the broch is some feet back from the 
edge of it. The interior diameter from N. to S. is about 31' and from 
E. to W. 27'. The highest paj'."t of the wall visible above the ruins in 
the interior is 8' high, and the greatest height to the exterior, above 
several feet of debris, is on the SE., where it is 7' 6". On the NW. 
side a chamber, about 8' long, with rounded end and converging 
walls, roofed with flags, has been partially exposed in the wall. The 
slab, beneath which access is now obtained into it, is about 3' long 
and I' 3" thick. Immediately to the E. of it is another chamber, 
5' long and 3' wide, built up at the end and half filled with stones. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 

528. B1'och, l'orrisdail.-A short distance E. of the graveyard at; 
Turrisdail is a natural mound of clay about 25' high, partially exca­
vated on its N. face. On the top of this is the site of the Dun of 
TorrisdaiL Its outline and character are indiscernible, but the top 
of the mound is covered with debris, for the most part overgrown 
with grass. The scanty remains are probably those of a broch. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. (unnoted). Visited, 26th May 1909. 

529. B1'och, Dun Riaskidh.-About ~ m. E. of the footbridge 
across the River Borgie; near Torrisdail, and on the W. side of Druim 
a' Chleibh, are the remains of a broch. No outlines of walls are 
visible. The site is indicated by a structureless heap of stones.* 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. (unnoted). 

530. Broch, Kyle of Tongue.-On a hillock between Heidh theanga 
and the sea, on the E. side of the Kyle of Tongue, is the site of 
a broch. A confused mass of small stones is all that rellJains of 
the structure. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. Visited, 1st June 1909. 

531. "GTianan," Lochan Racoin.-At the S. end of Lochan Hacoin, 
on an islet within about 50 yards of the shore, are the ruins of a 
small rectangular building. The walls are built of thin flat stones, 
without mortar, and are from 6' to 7' thick, and remain upright to a 
height of from 5' to 6'. The building is oblong, and measuresinteriorly 
19' x 22'. There are no indications of a door or windows nor signs 
of floor or vaUlting. It covers the greater part of the islet, which is 
naturaL There are no signs of any causeway leading to the shore 
of the loch. 

A sketch of the structure by Mr James Horsburgh, as it appeared 

* . From information supplied by Hew Morrison, LL.D. 
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about the year 1866, is preserved in the Library of the Society of 
Antiquaries of Scotland. . 

See Torfrens (Notes), p. 92; Antiqua1'ies, vii. p. 276; Suthe1'land 
and the Reay Oountry, p. 113. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 

HUT CIRCLES, EARTH-HOUSES, AND ASSOCIATED CONSTRUCTIONS. 

532. Achnantot.-Situated on green hillocks a short distance below 
the junction of the AUt Creag an Fhithich with the Allt Ach nan 
Tot, and about 300 yards W. of the latter stream, are three hut circles 
of the usual type. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvi. (unnoted). Visited, 28th May 1909. 
533. Melness.-On the moorland behind Melness House, some 150' 

to the W. of the road, are two mounds each of about 14' diameter. 
O.S.M., SUTH., xvi. Visited, 31st May 1909. 
534. Loch 01·ocach.-On the shoulder of a hill below some steep 

rocks i m. N. of the Tongue road, at a point about i m. E. of its 
junction with the Skerray road, is a hut circle, of the usual .oval or 
pear-shaped form, measuring 30' X 32', with the entrance from the S. 
It has been divided into chamLers by rude boulder walls of similar 
construction to those of the circle itself, and about 2' 6" wide, running 
from the W. side out to the centre and then towards the left side 
of the entrance, the space enclosed being again sub-divided. The 
entrance- to the inner structure was from the N. or back. The 
thickness of the outer wall is from 4' to 5'. There are the remains 
of another circle about 100 yards S., and about a dozen small mounds 
lie in the vicinity. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvii. (unnoted). Visited, 1st June 1909. 
535. Druim na Oo'up.-On the SE. slope above the flow which 

lies between the moorland and the NW. base of Beinn Laoghal is a 
group of small round mounds of from 12' to 20' or thereby in diameter. 
They are not so thickly placed as in some other situations, but extend 
for about ~ m. In one of them, about half way along the ridge, 
measuring some 20' in diameter, and only a foot or two in height, 
there has been exposed a cist. The covering slab is 3' broad and at 
least 3' long, but its exact length is not ascertainable. The upper 
edges of the single slabs on each side are visible, and also that of the 
slab at the E. end, which has apparently slipped inwards. The width 
of the interior is 2' 6". The longest axis of the cist lies NE. and SW. 

Towards the SW. end of the ridge on which the mounds lie 
is a hut ·circle of the ordinary pear-shaped form, with an interior 
measurement across of 31'. The wall or bank, faced with flattish 
slabs on the inside, is about 4' across. In the entrance, which is 
from the S., there has been erected a small hut of comparatively 
modern type a few feet square. 

O.S.M. SUTH., xxv. and xxxiv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 
536. Lying at the base of the majestic peak which terminates 

Beinn Laoghal to the N., and set among the birch woods, is the 
shepherd's house of Conaisaite, and here, near the S. end of the field 
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dyke on the W. or outside of it, is a long stony bank known as 
"Dhiarmid's Grave." The bank appears to be formed of rather 
small stones, and is overgrown with grass. It is 59' in length 
along its central ' ridge. Its main axis lies N. and S. At the 
S. end for the first 11' it has an inclination from SSE., and there­
after for the remaining 48' it assumes a N. and S. direction. At 
the poin t where the direction alters it is 11' across. At about 
19' from the S. end, and 17' from the N., it gradually increases in 
bulk till at the centre it is 14' thick and 3' 3/1 high. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 
537. Earth-house, S/cerl'ay Mains, Ton·isdail. - At the farm of 

Skerray Mains is an earth-house, the mouth or entrance to which 
was recently exposed by the farmer. It is situated about 15' distant 
from the NE. window of the dwelling-house, and is now entirely 
covered over again. It is said that when it was first discovered there 
were found in it two" urns" or vessels of clay, which, on being 
exposed, crumbled away. 

See Morrison's G·t6ide, p. 99. 
O.S.M., SUTH., viii. Visited, 26th May 1909. 

SEPULCHRAL CONSTRUCTIONS. 

538. Ca'im, Loch Loyal.-Situated on the S. side of the ridge 
separating Loch Craggie from Loch Loyal at its extreme E. end, and 
overlooking the latter loch which lies about 50' directly beneath it, 
is a circular cairn, with a diameter of about 50'. The outline is 
definitely marked with large boulders (the largest over 2' high), laid 
contiguously point upwards. The cairn is for the most part over­
grown with heather, but towards the centre a quantity of stones have 
been pulled out, without, however, disclosing any structure. The 
height of the cairn is about 6'. Along the top of a bank which 
projects to the SE. are three large boulders, set in a row-the first 2' 
from the cairn, the next 9', and the next 16', but it is very doubtful 
if these are in situ. * 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxvi. Visited, 31st May 1909. 
539. Cairn, Kinloch.-About ! m. NW. of Kinloch Lodge, on the 

S. slope of the hill on which the broch of Dun na Maigh stands, is a 
cairn. It is overgrown with turf through which five large upright 
slabs protrude and apparently form part of the sides of a chamber or 
chambers. The greatest distance between the opposing slabs at the 
N. and S. ends is 17'. The diameter of the cairn is about :iO', and its 
height 2' to 3'. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 

MISCELLANEOUS. 

540. Ct6p-ma1'ked Stones, T01'1'isdail.-Situated on the rocky moor­
land some! m. SW. of Torrisdail, adjacent to the track that leads 
thence across the moorland to join the road from Borgie Bridge to 
Tongue, are two cup-marked stones. The largest boulder, that 
situated furthest W., is about 8' high and 14' in length. On 

* This cairn is noted as a "broch" in Antiquaries, vii. p. 278. 
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its S. side, chiefly on the flat and less abrupt face of the stone, are 
groups of cup-marks of from 2" to 3" ill diameter, the deepest being 
.about If' in depth, while a number are now almost obliterated. The 
extent of the markings is not very definite, but there appear to be 
two groups containing about twelve cup-marks each. Some 10' E. is 
the smaller stone, about 6' long and 4' high. On its NW. face are 
some twenty-six small cup-markings, and indefinite traces of others. 
The southern face is scored with deep lines crossing each other, but 
in no evident design. The extreme E. end of the stone is slightly 
concave, and in its centre is an oval boss or projection, measuring 
about 8" X 5" and I f' in depth, slightly undercut. 

See Morrison's Guide, p. 98. 
O.S.M., 8uTH., xvii. Visited, 26th May 1909. 
541. Oup-marked Stone, Lochan Hacoin.-At the S. end of Lochan 

Hacoin, to the 8E. of the islet on the top of the bank, is a large 
earth-fast boulder, on the flat upper surface of which are a number 
of cup and ring marks placed irregularly over it. The total number 
of undoubted markings is thirty-four, of which those surrounded by 
a ring number eleven. No cup with a double ring round it is observ­
able. The best defined cup-mark measures 3" across by It'' deep, 
and the enclosing ring is 7" in diameter. Eight of the markings are 
well defined; the others less noticeable. At the S. end there is a 
boss or projection, roughly rectangular, measuring 12" X 6/1. A sketch 
of this stone, made about the year 1866 by Mr James Horsburgh, 
is preserved in the library of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland. 

See Antiquaries, vii. p. 276; A1'Chaic Sculptu1'ings, p. 64. 
542. Oup-1narked Stone, Kinloch.-On the W. side of the road to 

Kinloch, about 2 m. N. of the bridge over the Kinloch River 
(Amhainn Ceann Locha), and on the N. edge of a gravel pit close to 
the road, is a large earth· fast boulder,S' in length as far as exposed, 
and 3' 10/1 in breadth, showing on its upper surface eighteen cup­
marks of various depths, of which the most distinct is towards the N. 
end of the stone, measuring about 3/1 in diameter and 1/1 in depth. 
The whole length of the stone is not visible, but the markings do not 
seem to extend to the portion covered (unnoted). 

O.S.M., 8UTH., xxv. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 
543. Prehist01'ic Midden, Fe1'1'Y House.-On the W. side of the 

Kyle of Tongue, on the shore near the Ferry House, to the N. of the 
Achmholltairaich Burn, is a prehistoric kitchen midden. There is a 
thick deposit of oyster and other shells, among which specimens of 
stone implements and coarse pottery have been found. These relics 
are in the National Museum of Antiquities, Edinburgh. 

See T1'ans. Inv. Scient. Soc., iv. p. 29. 
O.S.M., 8UTH., xvi. Visited, 31st May 1909. 

SITES. 

544. Broch, Dun Buidhe.-About i m. to the S. of Melness House 
is the site of a broch known as Dun Buidhe. The structure has 
en tirely disappeared. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvi. Visited, 31st May 1909. 
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545. Graveya?'d, Loch Loyal.-The O.S. map indicates the position 
of a disused graveyard about i m. S. of Loch Loyal Lodge. No 
sculptured or carved stones are visible. . 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxv. Visited, 31st May 1909. 
546. St Columba's Chapel, Eilean Co'omb.-The site of this Ohapel 

is also indicated Oll the O.S. map, but there are no remains to be seen. 
O.S.M., SUTH., viii. 
547. Caim, Tongue Ho·use.-In the wood to the E. of Tongue 

House, on the top of a knoll about 70 yards E. of thfl gardener's 
house, are apparently the remains of a cairn, the chamber of which.is 
referred to in Antiquaries, vii. p. 277. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xvi. 
548. Ea?·th-house, Ribigil.-In a park about i- m. N. of Ribigil 

farm-house is the site of an eart.h-house which was closed up many 
years ago. 

O.S.M., SUTH., xxxvi. Visited, 2nd June 1909. 
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(The ambic numerals refer to the pamgmphs of the Invent01'Y, 
the Roman n1tmemls to the pages of the Introduction. ) 

INDEX TO ANCIENT AND HISTORICAL MONUMENTS 
AND CONSTRUCTIONS. 

Belfry tower, 22. 
Brochs, xviii., xix., xx., xxi., xxii., xxiii., 

4, 7, 2il-28, 49-53, 106, 107; 155, 156, 
157, 168, 1H- 190, 270, 271, 272, 
307-315, 391-395, 46(,468,477,478, 
527-530. 

Burial grounds (see Graveyards). 
vault, 1. 

Cairns: 
horned, long, xxxiii. -xxxvii., 241,243. 
horned, round, xxxiii.-xxxvii., 82, 83, 
8~ 23~ 286, 367, 45~ 

ullhorned, long, xxxiii.-xxxvii., 133, 
355-361, 472. 

round, chambered, xxxiii.-xxxvii., 11, 
13, 14, 43, 44, 80, 86, 90, 132, 134, 
142, 143, 169, 172, 233, 236, 239, 
244, 246, 289, 372, 444, 447, 453, 
457, 539. 

of' uncertain type, xxxiii.-xxxvii. , 9, 10, 
12, 15, 41,42,77, 78, 79,81,83, 87, 
88, 135, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 144, 
163, 164, 166, 170, 171, 234, 235, 
237, 240, Z42, 244, 288, 362, 363, 
365, 366 , 367, 368, 369, 370, 371, 
373, 443, 445, 446, 448, 449, 45~ 
451, 452, 455, 456, 458, 459, 460, 
515, 516, 538. 

in which cists have Leen exposed, xxxiii.­
xxxvii., 41, 85, 89, 137,165,244,285, 
287, 364. 

Castellated and domestic structures, xvii., 
xviii., 2, 3, 48, 104, 105, 269, 306, 
525, 526. 

Cathedl'al, xvi., 102. 
Caves, 19, 151, 302, 303. 
Chapels (see Ecclesiastical stl'llctures). 
Churches (see Ecclesiastical structures). 
Cists, xxx., 41, 85, 89, 137 , 209, 244, 

285, 287, 29(\, 364, 517, 535. 
Crosses: 

boundary, 376. 
market or town, 145. 
mp-morial, xxxviii., 93,94,95, 146,. 248, 

250,251, 256, 258, 260,377, 380. 
Cup and ring marks, xxxvii., xxxvi ii., 

137, 147, 252, 270, 301, 375, 383, 
540, 541, 542. 

Defensive constructions, xviii.-xxiv., 4, 
5, 6, 7, 23- 29, 49-55, 106-108, 155-
158, 168, 174-194, 270, 271, 272, 
307-316, 391- 396, 467, 468, 477, 
478, 479, 527-531. 

Duns (see ]'orts). 

Earth-houses, xxvii., xxviii., xxxi., xxxii., 
xxxiii. , 159, 160, 210, 220, 232, 266, 
274, 283, 284, 3~4, 328, 342, 343, 
469, 537. 

Ecclesiastical structures, xvi., xvii., 1, 22, 
102, 103, 153. 

Effigy, recumLent, 103. 

Font, 153. 
Forts aud fortified enclosures, xxiii., xxiv., 

4, 5, 6, 29, 54, 55, 108, 157, 158, 
191- 194, 316, 396, 479, 531. 

FOlllJdations, 249. 

Gravestones (see Stones). 
Graveyards, xvi ., xvii., 16, 17,45, 173,255, 

257, 267, 268, 304, 389, 523, 545. 
" Grianan," xxiv., 531. 

Heraldic carvings, 154, 259, 525. 
Homestead, xxvii., 503. 
Houses (see Castellated and domestic 

structures ). 
Hut.ciroles, earth·houses, and associated 

constructions, xxiv.-xxxiii., 8, 30- 40, 
66-76, 109- 131, 159-162, 195-232, 
273- 284,317- 354,397-442 ,469, 470, 
471, 480-514, 532-537. 

Inscribed stones, 154, 306. 
Iron smelting (remaius of), xxxix., 99, 

262, 385, 393, 463. 
Islnnds, xviii., xxiv., 47, 101,465,466. 

Kilns (supposed), xxxi., 56,197,204,205, 
280, 317, 338, 352, 406, 502. 

Kitchen middens, 386, 543. 

Mill stones, 316. 
Miscellaneous constructions, xxxix., 17, 

18, 45, 46, 84, 98, 150, 261, 263, 382, 
520, 531. 

Mounds, xxix., xxx., xxxi. , 30-40, 42, 
56- 76, 78, 84, 109-131, 133, 135, 
136, 140, 195-232, 241, 242, 244, 
245, 263, 275-280, 287, 317-354, 
363, 364, 367-373, 384, 397-442, 
449, 451, 452, 455, 470, 480-514, 
518, 533, 634, 535. 

Piscina, 102. 

Quern (saddle), 264. 

Recumbent effigy, 103. 
Rock shelter, 151. 
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Scu I ptured crosses (see Crosses). 
stones (see Stones). 

Sepulcbral constructions (see Cail'lls and 
stone circles). 

Sbeiliogs, llxviii., xxix., 8. 
Sites, 20, 21, 47, lOO, 101, 152, 167, 173, 

264, 265, 267, 304, 305, 386, 387, 
388, 389, 390, 464, 465, 466, 475, 
476, 521, 522, 523, 524, 544, 54n, 
546, 547, 548. 

Standing-stones, xxxviii., xxxix., 96, 97, 
148, 149, 378, 379, 380, 381, 473, 
474, 519_ 

Stone circles, xxxvii., xxxviii ., 91, 92,247, 
291, 374, 37\ 461, 462, 518. 

Stone cists, xxx., 41, 85, 89, 137, 209, 
244, 285, 287, 290, 364, 517, 535. 

rows, xxxix., 378, 379, 381. 
Stones: 

cup-marked (see Cup and ring marks). 
grave, xvii., xxxviii., 93, 94, 154, 

259. 
inscrihed, 154, 306. 
mill, 316. 
rectangular settings of, xxxix., 520. 
sculptlll'ed, 253, 292-300. 

Vitrified fort, xxiv., 54. 

"Yett," xvii., 269. 

INDEX TO NAMES. 

Atbol, Maddad, Ea1'l of, xix. I 
Caithness, Bi~bop Gilbert of, xvii., 102, 

103. 
Jobn, Earl of, xvii. 
Master of, xvii. , 102. 

Constantin, King of the Picts, xvi. 

Donn, Rob., Gaelic poet, xvii. 

Erlend, xix. 

Gilbert, Bishop of Oaithness, xvii., 102, 
103. 

Gordon, Sir Alexander, of N avid ale, xviii., 
306. 

Sir Robert, xviii., 47, 103, 269, 465, 
466. 

Leslie, General, 194. 

Mackay, Angns, of Bighouse, 259. 
of Strathnaver, xvii., 102. 

Mackays, Aberach, 250, 251, 252. 
of Farr, xviii. 

Macleods, Cbief of, 18. 
of Assynt, xviii., 1. 

Mactire, Paul, 54. 
MakmUl'cbo, Donald, xvii., 154_ 
Montrose, Marquess of, xviii., 2. 
Murray, Ricbard, 103. 

Orkney, Harald, Earl of, xvi., xix., 
xxiii . 

Sigul'd, Jarl of, xvi. 

Seafol'th, 31'd Earl of, 3. 
Sigurd tbe Powerful, J arl of Orkney, 

xvi. 
Sinclair, Isobel , xvii. 
Sutberland, Countesses of, xvii., 269, 

306. 
Ducbess of, 290. 
Earls of, xvii., 47,146,269. 

Sntberlands of Dufi'ns, 105. 

Tborgerda, xxxiii. 
Thol'stein tbe Red, xvi. 

William, King, "Tbe Lyon," xvi. 

INDEX TO PLACES. 

Abcl'ach Mackays' Burial-ground, 250,251, 
252. 

Aberscross, xviii., xxxvi., xxxvii., 279, 
286,287, 288, 291. 

Acbadh na h-Uaighe, 484, 485. 
Achaidh, xxxv., 74, 81, 82. 
Ach an Duin, xxi., 156. 
AchalIoch, 493. 
Achaneas, xix., xx., xxii., 50, 51. 
Achanellan Bul'll, 216. 
Achany, xxxvi., xxxvii., xxxviii., 447-

451, 461. 
Moor, 60. 

Achcheargary, xxxvi., 244. 
Achcoillenaborgie, xxii., 183. 
Achinael, 117, 118, 133. 
Achinnearin, 343. 
AcbmhoIltairaich Burn, 543. 
.A:chnaboUl'in, 263, 266. 
Achnagarron, xxvii., 487, 492, 519. 

Achnantot, 532. 
Achness, 268. 
Achork, 495. 
Achrimsdale Hill, 385. 
Achvaich, 119. 
Ach\'l'ail BUTll, 481. 
Airdens, 70. 
AUt a' Bhealaich, 206. 

a' CbaisteiI, 182, 245. 
Ach' an t-Strathain, 527. 
a' Chaorninn, xxxvii., 163, 164. 
a' Chasaidh-ghil, 432, 433. 
a' Ohlamhain, 510. 
Ach na h-Uaigh, 373. 
Ach nam Bathaich, 38. 
Ach nan Tot, 532. 
a' Choire Mhoir, xx., 312,337,338, 339. 
u' Mhuilinn, 43. 
an Duin (Stratb na Frithe), 313, 348, 

385. 
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Allt an Duin (Strathnaver), xx., xxi. , xxii., 
182. 

an Raidhe Dhorca, 99. 
an Tuirc, 511. 
Ardbhair, xxix., 8. 
Breac (Stl'ath of Kildonan), 336, 379. 
Ceann na Coille, 208. 
Choinneis·gil, 350. 
Cille Pheadair, xxvi., xxviii., xxxii., 

325-333. 
Coire Aghaisgeig, 27. 
Creag an Fhithich, 532. 
Dail Teine, 229. 
Ralligarry, 341. 
Lochan lanan Bhuidhe, 107. 
na Cl'eadha, 206. 
nn Fearna Mol', 56. 
na h-Atha, 68. 
na Innse Mol', 488. 
nam Ban, xxxv., 44. 
nan Euu, 61,79, 80. 
nan Uamh, 19. 
Tigh N eil!, 13l. 
Truderscaig, 206. 

Alltbl'eac (Dalchork), xx., 395. 
Alltnacaillich, 155. 
Altassmore, 57. 
Amhainn Ceann Locha, 527, 542. 
A' Mheirle, 478. 
An Corr-eilean, Loch Eireboll, 167. 
An Droighneach, 135. 
An Dun, Baligill, 192. 

Dun, Clashnessie, 5. 
Dun, Loch a' Chairn Bhain, xx., 168. 
Dun, Loch Ardbhair, xx., 4. 
Dun, Stoer, 21. 

An Dunain, Culkein, xxiii., 6. 
Anglesea, Island of (cited), xxv. 
" An Leabaidh fholaich," Portnancon, 160. 
"An Rath Chrllineach," 214. 
" An Toruaidh Bhuidhe," xxiii., 193. 
An t-Sron, 423, 424, 425. 
Aodan Mhor, 158. 
Ardaigh Chonachair, 482. 
Ard na Sinnis, 441. 
Ardvreck Castle, xvii., 2. 
Armadale Burn, xx., 190, 227. 
Ascoile, 43. 
Astle, 123. 
Auchinduich, xxiv., xxxvii., xxxviii., 55, 

91, 99. 
Aultnacealgach, xxxv., 14, 15. 

Backies, xix., xx., xxi., xxii., 272, 303. 
Badbeithe, 73. 
Badcall, xxxiv., xxxv. 
Baddauloch, 354. 
Badnabay, xxxiv., xxxv., 172. 
Baile fiur, 411. 
Baile Mhargait, 184, 212. 
Bailenacille, 153, 154. 

Oldany Island, 17. 
Balhlair Wood (Cl'eich), 75. 
Balcharn, 415, 457, 464. 
Balclaggan, 516. -
Balindailish, 415. 
Balligil, xxiii., 191, 192. 
Balnacoil, 42. 
Beinn a' Bhragie, xxxii ., 284. 

Laoghal, xxx., xxxi., 535, 536. 

Ben Armine, 33. 
Benbhraggie Wood, xxxv., 289. 
Ben Griam Beg, xxiv., 316, 353. 
Bettyhill, xxiii., 183, 184, 212, 213, 234-

237. 
Bighouse, xxvii., 226. 
Birichin, 124. 
Bishop's Palace, Dornoch, xvii., 104. 
Black Water, 25. 

Wood,78. 
Blairmore, 489, 490. 
Blarich, 480, 513, 520, 523. 
Blal' na Fola, 207. 
Bonarbridge, 62, 63, 65, 66, 69, 70, 71, 

72, 85, 87, 88, 98. 
"Borg, The," Forsinajn, xix., 186. 
Borgie Bridge, 185, 2111. 

River, 221. 
Borve Castle, xviii., 264. 
Bowside, 228. 
Brae, 107, 128, 129. 
Braegrndie, xxxvii., xxxviii., 507, 508, 

518. 
Breackue, 483. 
Bruan, Caithness (cited), xxxv. 
BUllahoun, xxii., 187. 
Bllrnfoot, 350, 367, 368. 

Caen Burn, xxviii., xxxiii., 317-321, 356, 
357, 358, 359. 

Cottage, 359. 
CagaI' Feosaig, 303. 
Caisteal na Coille, 25. 

na Coire, 48. 
Calda House, 3. 
Calgarry Beg, 225. 
Cambusavie, 132. 
Cambnsmore Lodge, 110. 
Cam Loch, 12. 
Camore Wood, xxxviii., 121, 141, 148. 
Camus an Duiu, xix., xxi., xxiii., 157. 
Carnachaidh, xxx., xxxi., 150, 179, 180, 

211. 
Carnaig River (see Strath Carnaig). 
"Carn an Duin," 87. 
"Carn an Fheidh," 138. 
"Cam an Fhithich," 89. 
"Carn Bran," xx., xxi., xxii., 468. 
"Carn Laggie," 355. 
" Cam Liath" (Bonarbridge), 86. 
"Carn Liath" (Bnnahoun), xxii., 187. 
" Carn Liath" (Dunrobin), xix., xx., xxi., 

xxii., xxiii., 270. 
" Cam Liath" (Torboll), 134. 
"Cam Mol''' (Swordale), 53. 
" Carn Mol''' (Tulloch), 88. 
"Carn Tigh nan Coileach," xxxvi., 373. 
"Carradh nan CIach," 473. 
Cal'rol, xix., xx., xxi., xxii., xxxii., 27. 
Castle Cole, xix., xx., 25. 

Varrich (or Bhurraich), xvii., 526. 
Ceann na Coille, 207, 208. 
Cille Pheadair (see Kilphedir). 
"Cinn 'frolla" (Kintradwell l, xix., xx., 

xxiii., 297, 467. 
Clabran Salach, 62. 
" CIach a' Charra," xxxviii., 97. 
"CIach an Eig," 377. 
"Clach an Righ," 247. 
"Clach Mhic Mhios," xxxix., 474. 
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"Claeh na h-Uaighe," 377. 
Claehtoll, xix., xx., xxi., 7. 
Cladh Langdale, 255. 
Cladh Maireannacb, 45. 
Cladh Rivigill, 257. 
Clais Rath Fhinn, 325. 
Clashmore, 122, 142, 144. 
Clashnessie, 5. 
Clerkbill, 265. 
Clyne, xviii., 293. 
Clynekirkton, :.12, 293. 

Easter, 30. 
Wester, 26. 

Clynemilton Farm, 293. 
West, 31, 294. 

Cnoc a' Chatha, xxviii., xxix., 426-
431. 

a' Chroehaidh, 377. 
an Daimh, xxxiv., 169. 
an Liath-bhaidh, xxxvii., xxxviii., 505, 

506, 508, 509, 517, 518. 
an t-Soeaich, 511. 
Arthnr (see Knockarthur). 
Bad an Leathaid, 206. 
Blar an Dubhaidh, 507. 
Carnaehaidh, 180. 
Chealamy, 179. 
Duhh, 74, 483. 
Fhiomliadh, 510. 
na Gamhna, 204. 
na h-Iolaire, 205. 
nan N enl, 433. 
Odhal', xxxvi., 109, 132. 
Righ Shonaidh, 481. 

"Cnoe Chaisteal, " Helmsdale, 386. 
" Cnoe nan Ceanllan," 166. 
Coich Burn, 23, 36. 
Coil!' Aeh a' Chuil, xxi., 176, 
Coillenaborgie, xxxv., xxxvi., 243. 
Coille Poll na h-Airde, 59, 77. 
Colaboll, 440. 
Cole's Castle, xix" xx., 25. 
Collie burn, 299. 
Conaisaite, xxxi., 536. 
Coriefeuran Hill, 202. 
" Cosh Geavag," 469, 
Coulan Burn, 334. 
Cracknie, xxxiii., 220. 
Craggie, 340. 
Craig a' Bhlair, 126. 
Craigton, 295, 
Crask, 123. 
Creag a' Bhata, 514. 

an Alllalaidh, xxvi., xxxvi., 110, 111, 
112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 
133, 151. 

an t-Sabhail, 421, 432, 456. 
Bail a' Ohlaiginn , 516. 
Druim nan Rath, 344. 
Ruidh nan Caorach, 350, ll67. 

Creagan I olah'e, 151, 316. 
Reamhar, 72, 87. 

Creioh, xxxviii., 64, 94, 95. 
Crichton Mains, Midlothian (cited), 

xxxiii. 
" Crois," Suisgill, 376. 
Cruinn nam Marbh, 523. 
Culbuie, 415. 
Culkein, xxiii., 6. 
Culmaily (Golspie), 276, 277. 

Culmaily (Lairg), 415. 
Culnara Croft, 67. 

Dail a' Bhaite, xxvii., 230, 231. 
LanglVe.1l, xix., xx., 49. 
na Drochaide, 219. 
Teine, 229. 

Dailhal'l'aild, xxxi., xxxvii., xxxviii., 207, 
247. 

Dalchalluim, 294. 
Dalcharn, 349, 366. 
Dalchiel, 120. 
Dalchork, 394 
Dalhalvaig, xxix., 224, 
Dalnamain, xxiv., 108, 130, 149, 150. 
Dalnessie, 488. 
Dalreavoch, xxx., 509, 512. 
Dalriada, xvi. 
Dartmoor (cited), xxv., xxxix. 
" Llhiarrnid's Grave," xxxi., 536. 
Doir a' Chatha (Dnrcha), 52, 58. 
Dornoch, xvi., xvii., xxxviii., 102, 103, 

104, 137, 145, 146, 147. 
Cathedral, xvi., 102, 103. 
Firth, 54, 59. 

Dremergid, xxvii., 494, 503, 
Dmim a' Chleibh, 529. 

Raile fiur, xxxviii., 411, 448, 461. 
Buidhe, 221. 
Liath, 69, 86. 
ua Coup, xxx., 535. 

Druimban, 72. 
Duehary, xxii., xxiv., 28, 29. 
DuifllS (or Inv£rshin) Castle, xvii., 100. 
Dulaich, 416,417. 
Dulrossie, xviii. 
Dun Buidhe, 544. 

Carnaehaidh, xxii., 180. 
Chealamy, xxii ., xxiii., 179. 
Creagach, xix., xxi., 175, 198. 
Cl'eich, xxiv., 54. 
Dornaigil (or Dornadilla), xix. , xx., 155. 
Mhairtein, xxiii., 191, 193, 
na Maigh, xix., xxi" 527, 
of Torrisdail, 528, 
Pbail, 387. 
Riaskidh,. 529. 
Viden, xxi., xxii., 181, 261. 

"Dun Carn Fbarnhair," 169. 
Dunrobin Castle, xvii., 269, 290. 

Mains, 271. 
Museum, xvi., xxxviii., 14, 27,159,233, 

270, 272, 274, 290, 293-300, 301, 306, 
334, 364, 372, 467. 

Wood, xxi., xxii., 271, 292. 
Dllrcba (or Doit, a' Cbatha), 52,58. 
DUl'lless, xvii., xviii., 153, 154. 

Eal'l's Cross, Dornoch, 146. 
Easter ClYllekirkton, 30, 
East Kinnauld, xxiv., 477, 479. 

Lallgwell, 486. 
Eddraebillis, 169. 
Eileau a' Cbairn, 466. 

Co'omb, 546. 
Domhnuill, 466. 
Hoan, 167. 
na Craobbe, 466. 
na Fiodbaig, 466. 
nalll Faoileag, 47. 
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Eireboll, 159, 162. 
Eldrable, 309. 
Embo, xviii., xxxviii., 103,146. 
Evelix, 120, 141, 143. 

Fairlaraich, 280, 496. 
FaIT, xxxviii ., 214, 258, 265. 
Feadain, 20. 
Feith Mhor, 417. 

Osdail, xxix., 434-439. 
Feranach, xix., xx., 314, 349, 365. 
Ferry HOllse, 543. 
Fiscary, xxxvi., 213, 234-237. 
Fleuchary, 120. 
Forsinain, xix., xxvii., 186. 
Forsinard, xxvii., 222, 223. 
Frithe River, 313, 314. 

Gablon, 60. 
Garbh AlIt, 486, 492. 

Leathad, 71. 
Gartymore, 387, 390. 
"General Leslie's Fort," 194. 
Glencassley, xix., xx., xxii., 49, 50, 5l. 
Glen Loth, xxxix., 300, 468,) 472, 473, 

474,475. 
Glen Sletdale Burn, 473. 

o Golspie, 295, 296. 
Tower, 305. 

Greamachary, 353. 
"Griallan," Lochan Hacoin, xxiv., 531. 
Gruidie Burn, xxxvi., 447, 450. 
Gruids, 452. 
Grum·beg, xxxviii., 203, 250, 251, 252. 

·more, xix., 174. 
Gylable Burn, 311. 

Halladale River, 186, 187, 188. 
Handa Island, xvi., 173. 
Harriet Plantation; 124, 138, 139. 
Harvieston, xxxvi., 373. 
Heilem Ferry, 157. 
Helmsdale, 386-390. 

Castle, xvii., 306. 
Hope Feny, 156. 
" Hunting House," Lothbeg, 475. 

Inchnadamph, 1, 2, 3, 9, 18, 19. 
Inshlampie, xxii. , 178. 
Invershin Castle, xvii., 100. 

Mains, 96. 
Station, 75, 90. 

Kilbrare, xxi., 24, 37. 
Kildonan, xvi., xxviii., xxx., xxxii., 344, 

345, 346, 377. 
Sanctuary of, 376. 

Killin, 26. 
Kilmain, 29. 
Kilournall, xvi., 310, 36l. 
Kilphedir, xvi., xix., XX., xxi., xxii., 

xxiv., xxviii., xxxii., 307. 
Kinbrace, xxviii., xxxiv., xxxv., 350, 351, 

352, 367-373, 384. 
Kinloch, 527, 539, 542. 
Kinnanld, East, xxiv., 477, 479. 

West, 522. 

Kintradwell, XVlll., xix., xx., XXlll., 

xxxii., 297, 467, 469, 470, 47l. 
Kirkton, (Golspie), xvii., xxxii., 274, 

275, 285, 304. 
Kirktown, (Strath-halladale), 2~9, 267. 
Klibreck, xvi., 175, 195,196,248,249. 
Knock Arthur, xxvi., xxx., 496- 502. 
Kyleoag, 83. 
Kyle of Durness, xxxvii., 153, 154, 158, 

163- 166. 
of Sutherland, 52, 53, 57, 58, 62, 100. 
of Tongue, xvii., xviii., 525, 526, 527, 

530, 543. 
Kylesku, xx., xxi., 168. 
Kylestrome Lodge, 170. 

Lairg, xxviii., xxxvi., xxxvii., 56, 418, 
419, 420, 423, 453, 454, 455. 

Langdale, xxii., 177, 253, 254, 255. 
Langwell, East, 486. 

West, 485. 
Learable, xix., xxxvi., xxxvii., xxxviii., 

xxxix., 315,347, 363, 364, 374, 375, 
378, 380, 381, 383. 

Leathad an Daraich, 206. 
Ledbeg River, 11. 
Ledmore Wood, 84. 
Lettie River, 520. 
"Lettie's Grave," xxxix., 520. 
Lewis (cited), xxv. 
Linsidemore, xxxvii., 92. 
Little Ferry, 298. 

Rogart, 514. 
Swordale, 62, 63. 

Loanan, River, 19. 
Loch a' Bhainbh, 393. 

a' Chairn Bhain, xx., xxii., 168, 170, 
171. 

an Aigeil, 21. 
an treel, 141, 148. 
Ardbhair, xx., xxi., 4, 8, 16. 
Assynt, xviii., 2, 3. 
a'Vicair, 278. 
A.we, 10. 
Baddanloch, 354. 
B01'r01al1, xxxv., 13, 14, 15. . 
Brora, xviii., xxii., xxiv., xxxv., 27, 28, 

39, 40, 44, 47. 
Co ire l1am Fenran, xxix., xxxi., 200, 

201, 439. 
Craggie, 538. 
Creagach, 156, 161. 
Crocach, 534. 
Dulaich, 417, 465. 
Eireboll, xix., xxi., xxiii., xxxii., 157, 

160, 167. 
Fasg an t-seana Chlaidh, 20. 
Fleet (see Strath Fleet). 
Grudie, 510. 
Hope, xxi. 
Loyal, 538, 545. 
Lundie, 277. 
ma Naire, 215. 
Migdale, 67, 69, 101. 
Mor, 189. 
na Fnar-laraiche, 280. 
Naver, xvi., xxii., 174,175,176,195-

199, 248, 249, 250, 251, 252. 
RimsdaJe, 206. 
Roe, 20. 

13 



194 HISTORICAL MONUMENTS (SCOTLAND) COMMISSION. 

Loch Shin, 391, 392, 409, 423-431, 440, 
443, 463, 466. 

Tigh na Creige, 4]7. 
Trudefscaig, 206. 

Lochan Druim an Duin, 
Hacoin, xxiv., xxxviii., 53], 54l. 

Lothbeg, xxxiv., 300, 472, 475. 
Loth Burn, 473. 
Lyne, 11. 

"Macpherson Cham's Cave," 15l. 
Maikle, 76, 89. 
Mallart River, 204, 206. 
Market Park, Bonarbridge, 66. 
MeaH a' Gob Mor, 197. 

M or a' Bhealaich, xxix., 225. 
MelnesB, 533, 544. 
Melvich, 189, 246. 
Midgarty, 476. 
Migdale, 67, 68. 
Morness, 483. 
Morvich, 279, 287. 
Mound, The, 151, 273, 278, 288, 29l. 
Mousa, Broch of (cited), xix. 

Naver, River, xxxiv. 
Navidale, Helmsdale, 389. 
Newstead (cited), xxxiii. 
Newton Point, 59, 77. 
Northumberland (Stone rows in), xxxix. 

Oldany Island, 17. 
OldtowlI, 26, 40. 
Ordan, 62. 
Ord, The, xxiv., xxviii., xxxvi., 396-408, 

443-446. 
Orkney Cairns (cited), xxxv. 
C< Oscar's Grave," 171. 
Ospisdale, xviii., xxxviii., 60, 97. 

Pitarxie, 412. 
Pittentrail, 524. 
Portnancon, 160. 
Port Skerry, xxiii., ] 93. 
Proncy, xvii., 152. 

Raemore, 449, 450. 
Redhouse, 77. 
" Red Priest's Grave," Skail, 256. 
Reidchalmai, 515. 
Reidh theanga, 530. 
Rheafail, 257. 
Rhianbreck, 413, 460. 
Rhilochan, 504. 
Rhinovie, 182. 
Rhives, xxxv., 289. 
Rhivra, 81, 82. 
Ribigil, 548. 
Rogart, 491. 
Rosehall, 48. 
Rossal, 481. 
Rovie, 521. 
Rudha na Cloiche, 193. 

Salachadh, xix., xx., xxi., 392. 
Salscraggie, xxviii., 307, 322, 323, 324, 
. 331, 360. 
Sanctuary of Kildonan, 376. 
"Sandy Dun, The," xxii., xAiii., 184. 

Sarsgmlll, 165. 
Savalbeg, 458. 
Savalruore, 422. 
Sciberscross, xxvii., xxx., 23, 32, 33,34, 

35,41,45,46,511, 517. 
Scottarie Bum, 24, 37. 
"Seanachaisteal," xxiii., 158. 
Shiuess, 393, 442. 
Shin River, xxxvii., xxxviii., 410, 412, 

452, 459, 462. 
Silver Rock, xxxii., 283. 
Sithean Clais an Uanain, 495. 
Skail, 178, 233, 256. 
Skelbo Castle, xvii., 105. 

Wood, xxi., xxii., 106, 140. 
Skelpick, xix., xxix., xxxiv., xxxvi. , 181, 

182, 217, 218, 238, 239, 240, 241, 
242, 262. 

Skerray Mains, 537. 
Skiag, xxvii., 490, 491. 
Skibo, xviii. 
Spiuningdale, xxxiv., 61, 79, 80. 
St Callan's Chapel, W. Kinnauld, 522. 
St Columba's Chapel, Eilean CO'omb, 546. 
" St Demhan's Cross," Creich, 95. 
"St Donnan's Chair," 382. 
Stewart's Park, 248. 
Stoer, 7, 21. 
Strath Ach a' Bhathaich, 119. 

Beag, 350, 367. 
Brora, xv.-xxxix., 23-29, 32-47, 488, 

505-509, 511, 512, 517, 518. 
Carnaig, xv.-xxxix., 107, 108,125, 131, 

134, 135, 136, 149, 150. 
Fleet, xv.-xxxix., 105, 106, 109-118, 

132, 133, 140, 151, 273, 276, 277, 
278, 279, 286, 287, 288, 291, 414, 
415, 477-482, 513, 520-524. 

Halladale, xv.-xxxix., 186-189, 222-
226, 246, 259, 267. 

More, xix., xx., 155. 
Nil. Frithe, xv.-xxxix., 313, 314,348, 

349, 365, 366, 385. 
Naver, xv.-xxxix., 174,175, 176, 177, 

178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 194, 
195, 196, 197, 198, 199, 203, 207, 
208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 215, 216, 
217, 218, 219, 233, 238, 239, 240, 
241 , U2, 243, 244, 245, 247, 248, 
249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 255, 
256, 257, 261, 262, 263, 266, 268. 

of Kildonan, xv.-xxxix., 307-312, 315, 
317-339, 341-347, 352,355-364,368-
372, 374-384. 

Oykell, 48, 93. 
Shin, xix., 55, 56, 91, 99, 396-413, 

443-452, 459, 460, 461, 462. 
Steven Cove, 302. 
Tirry, 394. 

Strathy, 228-232, 260. 
"Suidhe Donnan," 382. 
Suisgill, xix., xxi., xxii., 308, 315, 342, 

343, 34~ 36~ 375, 376, 380, 383. 
" Swedish Man's Grave," 149. 
Swordale, 53, 62. 

Little, 62, 63. 
Wood, 65, 98. 

Swordly, 213, 214. 
Syre, xxiv., xxx., xxxi., 177, 194, 207, 

209, 210. 



INVENTORY OF MONUMENTS, ETC., IN COUNTY OF SUTHERLAND. 195 

Tannachy, 512. 
Tiny Ri vel', 394. 
Tomich Hill, 34'8. 
Tongue House, xviii., 625, 547. 

. Torball, xxxvi., 125, 126, 127, 134, 135, 
136. 

Torgawn, 171. 
'l'orrisdail, 528, 529, 537, 540. 
Torrish, xviii., 334. 

Burn, 335, 362, 378. 
Torroboll, 413. 
Traligill Burn, 9. 
Trantlemore, xvii., 188. 

Tressady Lodge, 482. 
Truderscaig, 206. 
Tulloch, xxix., 69, 85, 88. 
Tutim, 93 . 

Uppat, xxvii., 270, 281, 282, 301. 

Wales (Stone rows in), xxxix. 
Wester Clynekirktan, 26, 40. 
West Langwell, 485. 
" White House," Loch Assynt, 3. 
Wilkhouse, 476. 
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